CONCUSSION

EDITED BY: Jack Tsao, Jennifer R. Pryweller, Richard J. Servatius and Henrik Zetterberg PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-700-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-700-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

CONCUSSION

Topic Editors: Jack Tsao, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States Jennifer R. Pryweller, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, United States Richard J. Servatius, Syracuse VA Medical Center, United States Henrik Zetterberg, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Topic editor Dr Zetterberger is a co-founder of Brain Biomarker Solutions in Gothenburg AB, a GU Ventures-based platform company at the University of Gothenburg. All other topic editors declare no competing interests with regards to the Research Topic subject.

Citation: Tsao, J., Pryweller, J. R., Servatius, R. J., Zetterberg, H., eds. (2021). Concussion. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-700-0

Table of Contents

05 Concussion Subtype Identification With the Rivermead Post-concussion Symptoms Questionnaire

Jun Maruta, Angela Lumba-Brown and Jamshid Ghajar

12 Baseline Neurocognitive Performance and Symptoms in Those With Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorders and History of Concussion With Previous Loss of Consciousness Sarah Kaye, Mark H. Sundman, Eric E. Hall, Ethan Williams, Kirtida Patel and

Caroline J. Ketcham

17 Neuroendocrine Whiplash: Slamming the Breaks on Anabolic-Androgenic Steroids Following Repetitive Mild Traumatic Brain Injury in Rats May Worsen Outcomes

Jason Tabor, Reid Collins, Chantel T. Debert, Sandy R. Shultz and Richelle Mychasiuk

32 Disrupted White Matter Microstructure of the Cerebellar Peduncles in Scholastic Athletes After Concussion

Jacob M. Mallott, Eva M. Palacios, Jun Maruta, Jamshid Ghajar and Pratik Mukherjee

- 40 Longitudinal Assessment of Cortical Excitability in Children and Adolescents With Mild Traumatic Brain Injury and Persistent Post-concussive Symptoms Regan King, Adam Kirton, Ephrem Zewdie, Trevor A. Seeger, Patrick Ciechanski and Karen M. Barlow
- 51 Chronic Neurobehavioral Sex Differences in a Murine Model of Repetitive Concussive Brain Injury

Laura B. Tucker, Alexander G. Velosky, Amanda H. Fu and Joseph T. McCabe

- 65 Neuroimaging and Neuropsychological Studies in Sports-Related Concussions in Adolescents: Current State and Future Directions Shalini Narayana, Christopher Charles, Kassondra Collins, Jack W. Tsao, Ansley Grimes Stanfill and Brandon Baughman
- 75 Longitudinal Changes in Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy in Pediatric Concussion: A Pilot Study

Erin J. Meyer, Jeffrey N. Stout, Ai Wern Chung, P. Ellen Grant, Rebekah Mannix and Borjan Gagoski

82 Sex-Based Differences in Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound and Self-Reported Symptoms After Mild Traumatic Brain Injury

Corey M. Thibeault, Samuel Thorpe, Nicolas Canac, Seth J. Wilk and Robert B. Hamilton

- 91 Incidence of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Prospective Hospital, Emergency Room and General Practitioner-Based Study Toril Skandsen, Tom Lund Nilsen, Cathrine Einarsen, Ingunn Normann, David McDonagh, Asta Kristine Haberg and Anne Vik
- 96 Relationships Between Sleepiness, Mood, and Neurocognitive Performance in Military Personnel

F. J. Haran, Patrick Schumacher, Rachel Markwald, Justin D. Handy and Jack W. Tsao

- **104** The Role of TDP-43 in Military-Relevant TBI and Chronic Neurodegeneration Lanier Heyburn, Venkata Siva Sai Sujith Sajja and Joseph B. Long
- **110** Racial and Ethnic Differences in Emergency Department Utilization and Diagnosis for Sports-Related Head Injuries Todd W. Lyons, Kelsey A. Miller, Andrew F. Miller and Rebekah Mannix
- **118** Making Headway for Discussions About Concussions: Experiences of Former High School and Collegiate Student-Athletes Anthony Oddo, Ellen O'Conor, Sarah Shore, Mary Piraino, Kyla Gibney, Jack Tsao and Ansley Grimes Stanfill
- Preliminary Evidence for a Window of Increased Vulnerability to Sustain a Concussion in Females: A Brief Report
 Michael F. La Fountaine, Vicci Hill-Lombardi, Asante N. Hohn, Caroline L. Leahy and Anthony J. Testa
- **132** A Moderate Blast Exposure Results in Dysregulated Gene Network Activity Related to Cell Death, Survival, Structure, and Metabolism Katie A. Edwards, Vida Motamedi, Nicole D. Osier, Hyung-Suk Kim, Sijung Yun, Young-Eun Cho, Chen Lai, Kristine C. Dell, Walter Carr, Peter Walker, Stephen Ahlers, Matthew LoPresti, Angela Yarnell, Anna Tschiffley and Jessica M. Gill
- **145** Delayed Symptom Onset Following Pediatric Sport-Related Concussion Ashley Olson, Michael J. Ellis, Erin Selci and Kelly Russell
- **153** Performance on the DANA Brief Cognitive Test Correlates With MACE Cognitive Score and May Be a New Tool to Diagnose Concussion Jennifer R. Pryweller, Brandon C. Baughman, Samuel D. Frasier, Ellen C. O'Conor, Abhi Pandhi, Jiajing Wang, Aimee A. Morrison and Jack W. Tsao





Concussion Subtype Identification With the Rivermead Post-concussion Symptoms Questionnaire

Jun Maruta^{1,2,3*}, Angela Lumba-Brown⁴ and Jamshid Ghajar^{1,2}

¹ Brain Trauma Foundation, New York, NY, United States, ² Department of Neurosurgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, United States, ³ Department of Rehabilitation and Human Performance, New York, NY, United States, ⁴ Department of Emergency Medicine, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, United States

Classifying concussion in key subtypes according to presenting symptomatology at an early post-injury stage is an emerging approach that may allow prediction of clinical trajectories and delivery of targeted treatments. The Rivermead Post-concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (RPQ) is a simple, freely available, and widely used tool for assessment of the presence and severity of various post-concussion symptoms. We aimed to probe the prevalence among athletes of symptom classes associated with identified concussion phenotypes using the RPQ at baseline and acutely after a concussion. Participants of organized sports aged 12-30 years were baseline-assessed with the expectation that some would experience a concussion during the study period. Concussed athletes were re-assessed within 2 weeks of their injuries. The RPQ was supplemented with three specific questions and reworded for baseline assessment. A binomial test was used to contrast the prevalence of an attribute in the concussed cohort against the probability established by the baseline observation. Three thousand and eighty-eight athletes were baseline-assessed and eighty-nine were re-assessed post-concussion. All concussed athletes endorsed having some elevated symptoms in the RPQ, and such endorsements were more prevalent than those among normal athletes. Moderate-to-severe post-concussion symptoms of specific classes tended to be endorsed with few additional symptoms of other classes of similar intensities. Elevated symptoms detected with the RPQ within as short as 2 weeks after a concussion may help delineate patients' clinical subtypes and guide their treatment. Further refinement of symptom questionnaires and use of objective measures will be needed to properly populate the concussion subtype classification.

Keywords: mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI), epidemiology, cognitive, fatigue, vestibular, migraine, sleep

INTRODUCTION

Concussions are heterogeneous—there is a broad consensus among experts that a one-size-fits-all approach to post-concussion management is ineffective (1-4). Subtype classification is an emerging effort within the concussion-related field. Based on clinical and anecdotal evidence, it has been suggested that the six clinical phenotypes of concussion described below may be profiled according to symptoms observed within about 1 week post-concussion (5, 6). Although this particular

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jack Tsao, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, United States

Reviewed by:

Susan Elizabeth Esposito, Life University, United States Michael Sachs, Temple University, United States

> *Correspondence: Jun Maruta jun.maruta@mssm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 12 July 2018 Accepted: 16 November 2018 Published: 03 December 2018

Citation:

Maruta J, Lumba-Brown A and Ghajar J (2018) Concussion Subtype Identification With the Rivermead Post-concussion Symptoms Questionnaire. Front. Neurol. 9:1034. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01034

5

approach does not currently directly address the root-cause pathophysiology of symptoms as attempted in other approaches (7–9), such early-stage clinical profiling of concussion permits a targeted treatment by prioritizing management of most problematic issues while maximizing the initial impact on the patient's symptoms and impairment (6).

The six suggested profiles with partially overlapping symptoms are described as: (1) *cognitive-fatigue*, with symptoms of fatigue, decreased energy, non-specific headache, sleep disruption, or difficulty concentrating; (2) *vestibular*, with symptoms of dizziness, fogginess, nausea, feeling of being detached, or overstimulation in complex environments; (3) *oculomotor*, with symptoms of fatigue, distractibility, difficulties with visually based classes, pressure behind the eyes, or blurred or double vision; (4) *anxiety/mood*, with symptoms of anxiety, hypervigilance, feeling of being overwhelmed, sadness, or hopelessness; (5) *post-traumatic migraine*, with symptoms of headache with a pulsating quality associated with nausea, photosensitivity, or phonosensitivity; and (6) *cervical*, with symptoms of headache, neck pain, or numbness/tingling of the extremities.

We note that, among the six profiles, cervical attributes refer to extracranial origins and could be better conceptualized as an associated condition that affects recovery rather than a subtype of concussion. We also recognize that sleep disturbance is a condition that has emerged in the literature as affecting recovery from concussion (4, 10–12) and that it is considered to be a modifier in the recent update to this clinical profiling approach (6). We will thus distinguish sleep disturbance as a symptom class associated with concussion although not as characterizing a subtype of concussion.

The Rivermead Post-concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (RPQ) is a simple, freely available, and widely used tool for severity assessment of various post-concussion symptoms (13). The questionnaire was first of its kind when published in 1995, and has since been cited in hundreds of academic publications with an increasing trend. In its original form, the RPQ is based on a subjective five-scale rating of 0–4, relative to the premorbid levels, of 16 most commonly reported problems in the literature, with 0 indicating not experienced, and 4 severe. Respondents are also asked, if other difficulties exist, to rate on these additional symptoms. Here, we utilized slightly modified versions of the RPQ in a sports concussion study, in which more than 3,000 athletes were baseline-assessed and, in case of a subsequent concussion, re-assessed within 2 weeks post-injury.

Symptoms associated with concussion are not unique to concussion and can independently appear in normal settings (14, 15). The goal of this report is to probe the prevalence of symptom classes matching the current concussion profiling approach in a naturalistic athletic setting and during the acute post-concussion period using the RPQ. In such exploration, we also evaluate the ability of the RPQ to distinguish concussion clinical profiles.

METHODS

Data were collected as part of a larger research project on concussion with a particular focus on a normative characterization of eye movement performance in a variety of military and civilian groups. Collected data included demographic information, eye movements during visual tracking tasks, neurocognitive parameters, symptoms, and a history of previous head injuries. Some of the results from this project, not overlapping with the present report, have been published elsewhere (16, 17).

Subjects

The subject enrollment and assessment protocols were approved by the institutional review boards of Weill Cornell Medical College (WCMC) in New York, and Stanford University in California. In collaboration with school, university, and community athletic organizations in respective local areas, middle-school through adult athletes were enrolled and baseline-assessed. For equity's purpose, athletes were enrolled independently of the level of contact involved in their participating sports. The inclusion criteria were participation in organized competitive athletic activity, being of age 12-30 years, normal or corrected-to-normal vision, and for athletes over the age 18, a high school diploma or equivalent, or expected timely high school graduation. Prior to data collection, written informed consent by adult subjects, or legal guardians of minor subjects with the minors' assent, was obtained in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

During the baseline consent process, the athletes were given the option of allowing their athletic director, trainer, coach, or school nurse to contact the researchers if they sustained a concussion, as well as the research staff to contact the athletic staff to check on injury status. Acute post-concussion enrollment was based on inclusion criteria consisting of having experienced a concussion within 2 weeks that resulted in loss of consciousness, post-traumatic amnesia, dizziness, nausea, headaches, balance problems, blurred or double vision, or daze, and confusion, and on an exclusion criterion of intoxication at the time of injury. A diagnosis by a physician was not required. For the purpose of this report, we will identify athletes who were under 18 years of age when they were baseline-assessed as pediatric subjects.

Data were collected inside a parked recreational vehicle outfitted as a mobile testing site, or at the Citigroup Biomedical Imaging Center at WCMC. Data collection spanned from September of 2012 through September of 2016.

Modified RPQ

The original form of the RPQ instructs the respondent to rate problems over the last 24 h relative to the premorbid levels (13). To assess the presence and severity of symptoms typically associated with concussion but instead in an everyday athletic setting, the instruction for baseline assessments was rephrased with the following sentence—"We would like to know if you have experienced any of the symptoms given below more than usual today or in the past week." The original instruction was retained for post-concussion assessments. Further, for both implementations the "Additional Symptoms" section was replaced with three specific items: balance problems; feeling mentally "foggy;" and drowsiness. To sum up, there were a total of 19 items in the modified RPQ, with which we associated the following five subtypes of post-concussion clinical trajectories to determine the presence and severity of these symptom classes.

Cognitive-Fatigue

We identified the four items from the RPQ, "fatigue, tiring more easily," "forgetfulness, poor memory," "poor concentration," and "taking longer to think," as being associated with the cognitivefatigue profile. The presence of a severe, at-least-moderate, or at-least-mild symptom was identified if any of the four items was rated as $4, \ge 3$, or >0, respectively.

Vestibular

We identified the two items, "feeling of dizziness" and "balance problems," as being associated with the vestibular profile. The presence of a severe, at-least-moderate, or at-least-mild symptom was identified if either of the two items was rated as $4, \ge 3$, or >0, respectively.

Oculomotor

We identified the two items, "blurred vision" and "double vision," as being associated with the oculomotor profile. The presence of a severe, at-least-moderate, or at-least-mild symptom was identified if either of the two items was rated as $4, \geq 3$, or >0, respectively.

Anxiety/Mood

We identified the four items, "being irritable, easily angered," "feeling depressed or tearful," "feeling frustrated or impatient," and "restlessness," as being associated with the anxiety/mood profile. The presence of a severe, at-least-moderate, or at-leastmild symptom was identified if any of the four items was rated as $4, \geq 3$, or >0, respectively.

Migraine

We identified the four items, "headaches," "noise sensitivity, easily upset by loud noise," "nausea and/or vomiting," and "light sensitivity, easily upset by bright light," as being associated with the migraine profile. The presence of a severe, at-least-moderate, or at-least-mild-symptom was identified if the headache item was rated as $4, \ge 3$, or >0 and in addition at least one of the other three items was rated as $4, \ge 3$, or >0, respectively.

No item from the RPQ was associated with the *cervical* profile/condition. In addition to the above five profiles, the presence of a severe, at-least-moderate, or at-least-mild symptom associated with *sleep disturbance* was identified if either "sleep disturbance" or "drowsiness" was rated as 4, \geq 3, or >0, respectively. Thereby we specified a total of six symptom classes (five subtypes and one subtype-associated condition).

Statistical Analysis

A binomial test was used to contrast the prevalence of a specified attribute in the concussed cohort against the probability established by the baseline observation. A significant deviation from this probability was detected at the alpha level of 0.05. In addition, as described in the Results section below, being in the pediatric group and a history of a previous head injury (of unspecified severity) were both associated with a higher likelihood of getting concussed. To examine the association

between these two attributes, we determined the odds ratio and its confidence interval.

RESULTS

Baseline assessments were conducted in a total of 3,091 qualified athletes. Three subjects had incomplete RPQ records. Of the remaining 3,088 subjects, 1,178 (38.2%) were female and 1,910 (61.9%) were male. There were 857 pediatric subjects (mean age: 15.3 years, SD: 1.4), of whom 317 (37.0%) were female and 540 were male (63.0%). A previous head injury was reported by 180 subjects of the pediatric group (21.0%) and 722 subjects of the adult group (32.4%), totaling 902 (29.2%).

After a baseline assessment, 89 subjects experienced a concussion and were re-assessed within 2 weeks of the injury, on average at 5.8 days post-injury (SD: 3.5). Consistent with the mostly random nature of concussive accidents, the distribution of timing of injuries since the baseline assessment closely followed a negative exponential pattern, with a time constant of \sim 3 months (mean: 3.1, SD: 2.9, range: 0-15). All 89 concussed subjects had valid RPQ records at both baseline and post-concussion time points. Of the 89, 38 subjects were in the pediatric group, within which 26 were male (68.4%) and 12 were female (31.6%), and 51 subjects were in the adult group, within which 22 were male (43.1%) and 29 were female (56.9%). Four of the concussed subjects in the pediatric group were over 18 years of age at the time of post-concussion assessment, but only by at most 5 months. A previous head injury was reported by 12 of the 38 concussed pediatric subjects (31.6%) and 27 of the 51 concussed adult subjects (52.9%), totaling 39 (29.2%).

The presence and severity of six classes of symptoms identified through combinations of RPQ items are summarized in Figure 1. In the plots, the data are expressed cumulatively; thus, the percentages associated with the labels +Mod and +Mild indicate those of at-least-moderate and at-least-mild symptom presentations, respectively. In all symptom classes, problems that were present at an at-least-moderate level were more prevalent after a concussion than at baseline (Table 1). One or more of the four RPQ items related to the cognitive-fatigue profile were most prevalently endorsed by the concussed subjects, with as much as 47.2% reporting at-least-moderate symptoms (57.9% in the pediatric subgroup and 39.2% in the adult subgroup). The two RPQ items related to the oculomotor profile were least commonly endorsed by the concussed subjects. We also noted that the prevalences of vestibular- and migraine-related symptoms at the at-least-mild level were more than twice elevated after a concussion.

The identified post-concussion prevalence of at-leastmoderate oculomotor symptoms was only marginally different from the probability derived from the baseline assessment (**Table 1**), and in the pediatric subgroup specifically, the prevalence at 2.6% was not statistically greater than the corresponding probability. In the pediatric subgroup, the identified prevalence of at-least-moderate anxiety/mood symptoms at 18.4% was also not statistically greater than the probability derived from the corresponding baseline assessment



FIGURE 1 Prevalences of six classes of symptoms expressed as cumulative distributions. Open circles and filled squares indicate baseline and post-concussion findings, respectively. An asterisk indicates a statistically significant ($\rho < 0.05$) deviation of a post-concussion prevalence from the baseline-derived probability as determined by a binomial test. Also see **Table 1**.

TABLE 1 | Prevalence of moderate-to-severe symptom identification.

	Prevale	p *	
	Concussed (N = 89)	Baseline (<i>N</i> = 3088)	
Cognitive-fatigue	47.2	11.5	< 0.001
Vestibular	20.2	2.4	< 0.001
Oculomotor	4.5	1.5	0.042
Anxiety/mood	19.1	9.5	0.006
Migraine	27.0	1.4	< 0.001
Sleep	31.5	8.4	< 0.001

*as determined by a binomial test.

at 12.8%, which veered from the 9.5% overall and 8.2% adult probabilities. No substantial alteration was found between pediatric and adult subgroups in the prevalences of vestibular-, migraine-, or sleep-related symptoms.

We noted some sex-based symptom prevalence differences. All four subjects who reported severe migraine-related symptoms after a concussion were female (prevalence of 9.8 in female vs. 0% in male). Three of these subjects reported mild migrainerelated symptoms at baseline while one was initially free of such symptoms. Similarly, all three subjects who reported severe vestibular-related symptoms after a concussion were female (prevalence of 7.3 in female vs. 0% in male). All these subjects reported mild vestibular-related symptoms at baseline. There was also a higher prevalence of at-least-mild sleep-related symptoms at baseline among female subjects (67.8 vs. 54.3% in male), which was further elevated after a concussion (92.7 vs. 68.8% in male). The trends were similar between pediatric and adult subgroups.

We next examined whether the prevalences of particular individual baseline attributes were different in those who

experienced a concussion during the data collection period compared to the overall prevalences (**Table 2**). The sexes were not apportioned differently among the concussed subjects (53.9 male in the concussed vs. 61.9% male overall), but ages and previous histories of head injury were. In terms of baseline symptomatology, concussed subjects were more likely than typical to have endorsed cognitive-fatigue-, vestibular-, migraine-, , and sleep-related items of the RPQ at varying levels.

As stated above, ages and previous histories of head injury were apportioned differently among the concussed subjects. We examined the possible association between age (pediatric vs. adult) and a previous head injury within the concussed group. The odds ratio was 0.41 with a confidence interval between 0.17 and 0.99, indicating that a concussed pediatric subject was less likely to have had a previous head injury than an adult counterpart.

To evaluate the ability of the RPQ to delineate among the five profiles presumed to predict post-concussion trajectories, we examined similarities and differences with which the subjects endorsed RPQ items that we associated with these profiles. We constructed 31 logical relationships regarding the presence or absence of endorsement of each symptom class (excluding the absence of all) and sorted the subjects correspondingly (Figures 2-4). Given the size of compartmentalization, we did not subdivide the 89 concussed subjects by their baseline characteristics in this analysis. A total of 18 subjects reported severe post-concussion symptoms in the RPQ, of whom 13 (72.2%) reported those associated with the cognitive-fatigue profile, and 11 (61.1%) reported only such symptoms (Figure 2). The subjects reported few overlaps in severe symptoms, with all but one of the 18 subjects (94.4%) reporting at most two classes of symptoms with a severe rating. A total of 58 subjects reported at-leased-moderate post-concussion symptoms, of whom 42

	Prevale	p *	
	Concussed (N = 89)	Overall (<i>N</i> = 3088)	
Pediatric age	42.7	27.8	0.003
Previous head injury	43.8	29.2	0.003
COGNITIVE-FATIGUE			
At least moderate	22.5	11.5	0.004
At least mild	83.1	72.2	0.024
VESTIBULAR			
At least mild	44.9	30.2	0.004
MIGRAINE			
At least moderate	4.5	1.4	0.039
At least mild	37.1	22.1	0.001
SLEEP			
Severe	4.5	1.1	0.019
At least moderate	15.7	8.4	0.020

TABLE 2 Baseline characteristics of those who became concussed during the study period compared against those of the entire sample.

*as determined by a binomial test.

(72.4%) reported those associated with the cognitive-fatigue profile (**Figure 3**). At this severity level also, the subjects reported relatively few overlaps in symptoms in general, with 47 of 58 subjects (81.0%) reporting at most two classes of symptoms with an at-least-moderate rating. All 89 concussed subjects reported at-least-mild post-concussion symptoms, of whom 59 (66.3%) reported symptoms with overlapping associations with at least four post-concussion profiles (**Figure 4**). Only 12 subjects (13.5%) reported symptoms with overlapping associations with at most two post-concussion profiles. Therefore, the RPQ may best identify patients' post-concussion profiles with moderate-to-severe increases in symptom severities.

DISCUSSION

The sample, represented by over 3,000 subjects at baseline, was a prospective cohort from a natural setting of competitive sports. Only 2.9% of the baseline-assessed athletes subsequently became concussed during the study period, likely reflecting the fact that the athletes were enrolled independently of the level of contact involved in their participating sports.

All concussed athletes in this study endorsed having some elevated symptoms in the RPQ. Although symptoms covered by the RPQ can appear in a normal setting as we also found, endorsements of these symptoms were measurably higher acutely following concussion. Among the six post-concussion symptom classes described by clinical and anecdotal evidence (5, 6, 11) and identifiable with the current implementation of the RPQ, cognitive-fatigue-related symptoms were most prevalently endorsed by concussed athletes at all levels of severity. Postconcussion increases in the prevalences of mild vestibular- and migraine-related symptoms were likewise substantial.

Symptoms related to the oculomotor profile were least prevalently endorsed through the RPQ by concussed athletes.



FIGURE 2 | Overlaps in post-concussion profile characteristics identified with severe symptoms. Eighteen of 89 concussed subjects reported having a severe post-concussion symptom. The distribution of these 18 subjects among the various combinations of presences and absences of endorsement of the five symptom classes is shown as percentages in the Venn diagram with areas of overlap among the five pear-shaped regions.



This finding diverges from those derived from objective measures (18–21). It is possible that the low endorsement rate reflected a low representation of this profile in the study cohort. However, since the oculomotor profile were identified with only "blurred vision" and "double vision," the low endorsement rate may be better explained by the limitation of the scope of the questionnaire. Therefore, the RPQ may be supplemented with



five symptom classes is shown as percentages in the Venn diagram.

additional items such as difficulty in reading/near work and in judging distances. Similarly, the RPQ contained no item related to the cervical profile, and it may be beneficial to supplement it with additional items such as neck pain and neck/upper extremity weakness.

Adult and pediatric athletes demonstrated generally similar symptomatology both at baseline and post-concussion. The pediatric athletes had comparatively elevated anxiety/mood problems at baseline, but such symptoms at a normal or subclinical level are common in adolescence (22, 23). Our pediatric athletes had a higher rate of concussion than adult athletes. Although age may play a role in concussion risk, there are contrasting findings in the literature (24). We also found some sex-based differences in symptomatology. Since our sample size and scope of collected data do not warrant a further analysis, the basis for the tendency we found is unclear. Age and a history of head injury were associated with a subsequent concussion. These two factors were related such that concussed adult athletes were more likely to have had a previous head injury than concussed pediatric athletes. This relation may be explained by a cumulative effect of concussion-adults are more likely to have had a previous head injury than youths, and a previous head injury can increase the chance of another concussion (24, 25).

Despite being a subjective measure and possibly limited in scope, the RPQ, in addition to its original purpose, may have the ability to delineate concussion profiles. In particular, among the five prescribed subtypes, there was a "sweet spot" in atleast-moderate symptom reports, which were endorsed by the majority of the concussed athletes and at the same time were observed within individuals with relatively few overlaps among different symptom classes. On the other hand, most concussed athletes reported at-least-mild problems of many different symptom classes. Therefore, moderate-to-severe increases in symptom severities as detected by the RPQ, when combined with objective measures, may well project patients' individual clinical trajectories and guide appropriate treatment approaches that maximize the treatment impact.

We also found that, in characterizing baseline RPQ responses, pre-existing symptoms that increase the chance of concussion may be identified, namely cognitive-fatigue-, vestibular-, migraine-, and sleep-related problems. Thus, in addition to a history of previous head injury, a well-known risk factor for concussion (24, 25), consideration of these symptoms may be integrated into concussion prevention strategies, such as promoting risk awareness and guiding the choice of activities. The female sex is also a recognized risk factor for sports concussion when comparisons between the sexes are made within specialties (24, 26, 27). However, this study did not identify a sex-based difference in concussion risk, possibly because we analyzed all sports collectively, the approach imposed by the protocol for subject selection.

CONCLUSION

Classifying concussion in key subtypes according to presenting symptomatology at an early post-injury stage may allow prediction of clinical trajectories and delivery of targeted treatments. We characterized with a modified RPQ prevalences of concussion-related symptoms in baseline naturalistic and acute post-concussion contexts within an athletic setting. The sample size for those who became concussed was reduced to <3% of the baseline. Although the RPQ is composed of simple self-report measures, symptom prevalences identified with it still rendered usefulness. That is, elevated symptoms detected with the RPQ within a week or so after a concussion may help identify patients' predicted clinical trajectories and guide care prioritization. The RPQ was still found to be limited in scope for such use, and thus supplementary question items may improve its ability. Finally, any interpretation must take place within the context of multiple measures, both subjective, and objective, applied to the evaluation of patients with concussion.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JM and JG designed experiments and oversaw data collection. JM conducted the statistical analyses and drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the interpretation of data and to revising the work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Brain Trauma Foundation's clinical research staff for assistance with data collection and maintenance. This work was supported by U.S. Department of Defense contracts W911QY-12-C-0005 and W911QY-14-C-0086.

REFERENCES

- Panczykowski DM, Pardini JE. The multidisciplinary concussion management program. Prog Neurol Surg. (2014) 28:195–212. doi: 10.1159/000358780
- Collins MW, Kontos AP, Okonkwo DO, Almquist J, Bailes J, Barisa M, et al. Statements of agreement from the targeted evaluation and active management (TEAM) approaches to treating concussion meeting held in pittsburgh, October 15-16, 2015. *Neurosurgery* (2016) 79:912–29. doi: 10.1227/NEU.000000000001447
- Ellis MJ, Leddy J, Willer B. Multi-disciplinary management of athletes with post-concussion syndrome: an evolving pathophysiological approach. *Front Neurol.* (2016) 7:136. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00136
- Kenzie ES, Parks EL, Bigler ED, Lim MM, Chesnutt JC, Wakeland W. Concussion as a multi-scale complex system: an interdisciplinary synthesis of current knowledge. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:513. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00513
- Collins MW, Kontos AP, Reynolds E, Murawski CD, Fu FH. A comprehensive, targeted approach to the clinical care of athletes following sport-related concussion. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* (2014) 22:235–46. doi: 10.1007/s00167-013-2791-6
- 6. Kontos AP, Collins MW. Concussion: A Clinical Profile Approach to Assessment and Treatment. American Psychological Assocation (2018). Washington, DC.
- Rathbone AT, Tharmaradinam S, Jiang S, Rathbone MP, Kumbhare DA. A review of the neuro- and systemic inflammatory responses in post concussion symptoms: introduction of the "post-inflammatory brain syndrome" PIBS. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2015) 46:1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.02.009
- Maruta J, Lee SW, Jacobs EF, Ghajar J. A unified science of concussion. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2010) 1208:58–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05695.x
- Kenzie ES, Parks EL, Bigler ED, Wright DW, Lim MM, Chesnutt JC, et al. The dynamics of concussion: mapping pathophysiology, persistence, and recovery with causal-loop diagramming. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:203. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00203
- Mathias JL, Alvaro PK. Prevalence of sleep disturbances, disorders, and problems following traumatic brain injury: a meta-analysis. *Sleep Med.* (2012) 13:898–905. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2012.04.006
- Broglio SP, Collins MW, Williams RM, Mucha A, Kontos AP. Current and emerging rehabilitation for concussion: a review of the evidence. *Clin Sports Med.* (2015) 34:213–31. doi: 10.1016/j.csm.2014.12.005
- Wickwire EM, Williams SG, Roth T, Capaldi VF, Jaffe M, Moline M, et al. Sleep, sleep disorders, and mild traumatic brain injury. What we know and what we need to know: findings from a national working group. *Neurotherapeutics* (2016) 13:403–17. doi: 10.1007/s13311-016-0429-3
- King NS, Crawford S, Wenden FJ, Moss NE, Wade DT. The rivermead post concussion symptoms questionnaire: a measure of symptoms commonly experienced after head injury and its reliability. *J Neurol.* (1995) 242:587–92. doi: 10.1007/BF00868811
- Iverson GL, Lange RT. Examination of "postconcussion-like" symptoms in a healthy sample. *Appl Neuropsychol.* (2003) 10:137–44. doi: 10.1207/S15324826AN1003_02
- Ettenhofer ML, Barry DM. A comparison of long-term postconcussive symptoms between university students with and without a history of mild traumatic brain injury or orthopedic injury. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2012) 18:451–60. doi: 10.1017/S13556177110 01895

- Maruta J, Spielman LA, Rajashekar U, Ghajar J. Visual tracking in development and aging. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:640. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00640
- Maruta J, Spielman LA, Rajashekar U, Ghajar J. Association of visual tracking metrics with post-concussion symptomatology. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:611. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00611
- Ciuffreda KJ, Ludlam DP, Thiagarajan P, Yadav NK, Capo-Aponte J. Proposed objective visual system biomarkers for mild traumatic brain injury. *Mil Med.* (2014) 179:1212–7. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-14-00059
- Maruta J, Ghajar J. Detecting eye movement abnormalities from concussion. Prog Neurol Surg. (2014) 28:226–33. doi: 10.1159/000358786
- Ventura RE, Balcer LJ, Galetta SL, Rucker JC. Ocular motor assessment in concussion: current status and future directions. J Neurol Sci. (2016) 361:79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.010
- Capó-Aponte JE, Jorgensen-Wagers KL, Sosa JA, Walsh DV, Goodrich GL, Temme LA, et al. Visual dysfunctions at different stages after blast and non-blast mild traumatic brain injury. *Optom Vis Sci.* (2017) 94:7–15. doi: 10.1097/OPX.00000000000825
- Bell-Dolan DJ, Last CG, Strauss CC. Symptoms of anxiety disorders in normal children. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1990) 29:759–65. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199009000-00014
- Beesdo K, Knappe S, Pine DS. Anxiety and anxiety disorders in children and adolescents: developmental issues and implications for DSM-V. *Psychiatr Clin North Am.* (2009) 32:483–524. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2009.06.002
- Abrahams S, Fie SM, Patricios J, Posthumus M, September AV. Risk factors for sports concussion: an evidence-based systematic review. *Br J Sports Med.* (2014) 48:91–7. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-092734
- Guskiewicz KM, McCrea M, Marshall SW, Cantu RC, Randolph C, Barr W, et al. Cumulative effects associated with recurrent concussion in collegiate football players: the NCAA concussion study. *JAMA* (2003) 290:2549–55. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.19.2549
- 26. Covassin T, Swanik CB, Sachs ML. Sex differences and the incidence of concussions among collegiate athletes. *J Athl Train*. (2003) 38:238–44.
- Lincoln AE, Caswell SV, Almquist JL, Dunn RE, Norris JB, Hinton RY. Trends in concussion incidence in high school sports: a prospective 11-year study. Am J Sports Med. (2011) 39:958–63. doi: 10.1177/0363546510392326

Conflict of Interest Statement: JG is director of Sync-Think, Inc., and the inventor of U.S. patent 7,384,399. JM holds stock option in Sync-Think. JG and JM are inventors of pending patent applications PCT/US2014/050774, PCT/US2016/027923, and US15585057 potentially related to the subject matter described in this article.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Maruta, Lumba-Brown and Ghajar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Baseline Neurocognitive Performance and Symptoms in Those With Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorders and History of Concussion With Previous Loss of Consciousness

Sarah Kaye¹, Mark H. Sundman², Eric E. Hall^{3*}, Ethan Williams⁴, Kirtida Patel⁵ and Caroline J. Ketcham³

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Henrik Zetterberg, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Diego Forero, Universidad Antonio Nariño, Colombia Ulrika Sandvik, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden

> *Correspondence: Eric E. Hall ehall@elon.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 26 January 2019 Accepted: 01 April 2019 Published: 24 April 2019

Citation:

Kaye S, Sundman MH, Hall EE, Williams E, Patel K and Ketcham CJ (2019) Baseline Neurocognitive Performance and Symptoms in Those With Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorders and History of Concussion With Previous Loss of Consciousness. Front. Neurol. 10:396. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00396 ¹ Mailman Research Center, McLean Hospital, Belmont, MA, United States, ² Department of Psychology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States, ³ Department of Exercise Science, Elon University, Elon, NC, United States, ⁴ Office of the Dean of Students, Elon University, Elon, NC, United States, ⁵ Department of Sports Medicine, Elon University, Elon, NC, United States

Previous consensus statements on sports concussion have highlighted the importance of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and loss of consciousness (LOC) as risk factors related to concussion management. The present study investigated how self-reported history of either ADHD diagnosis or history of previous concussion resulting in LOC influence baseline neurocognitive performance and self-reported symptoms. This analysis was performed retrospectively on data collected primarily from student-athletes, both Division 1 and club sports athletes. The dataset (n = 1460) is comprised of college students (age = 19.1 ± 1.4 years). Significant differences were found for composite scores on the ImPACT for both history of concussion (p = 0.016) and ADHD (p = 0.014). For concussion history, those with a previous concussion, non-LOC, performed better on the visual motor speed (p = 0.004). Those with diagnosis of ADHD performed worse on verbal memory (p = 0.001) and visual motor speed (p = 0.033). For total symptoms, concussion history (p < 0.001) and ADHD (p = 0.001) had an influence on total symptoms. Those with ADHD reported more symptoms for concussion history; those with previous LOC concussion reported more symptoms than those with non-LOC concussion (p = 0.003) and no history (p < 0.001). These results highlight the importance of baseline measures of neurocognitive function and symptoms in concussion management in order to account for pre-existing conditions such as ADHD and LOC from previous concussion that could influence these measures.

Keywords: mild traumatic brain injury, concussion management, pre-existing conditions, ADHD, LOC

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, concussion research has quickly made its way to the forefront of the medias' attention and has been deemed a public health issue (1) and a silent, global epidemic (2). Each year it is estimated that there are between 1.6 and 3.8 million sports-related concussions (3) and they account for \sim 5–9% of all sports-related injuries (4, 5). The use of neurocognitive measures has previously been deemed a cornerstone of concussion management (6, 7). In a recent consensus statement, the implementation of baseline measures of neurocognitive performance was believed to be helpful and useful for concussion management, but not mandatory (8).

Among the factors that have been hypothesized to influence recovery from concussion and may warrant additional research include diagnosis of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and having a previous concussion that resulted in loss of consciousness (LOC) (6, 7). Recent studies have found that previous diagnosis of ADHD influences neurocognitive performance (9-13) and total symptom scores at baseline assessment (9-12). The influence of concussion history with LOC on recovery to subsequent concussions has been examined less than ADHD despite concussions at one time being graded with LOC being a main component of concussion diagnosis (14). Currently, however, it is estimated that LOC only occurs in 5-10% of sports-related concussions (7, 15, 16). Though concussions are no longer classified solely on the presence of LOC, evidence indicates that LOC is a potential modifier of concussion recovery (7, 17, 18). However, only one known study has examined whether LOC influences performance on neurocognitive measures (19). That study examined neurocognitive performance following a concussion and did not find any significant differences between groups (concussions with LOC and without LOC). This previous research suggests that those who are involved in concussion management should take into consideration factors such as ADHD and previous history of LOC when treating patients (7, 8, 20).

The current study examined the influence of self-reported diagnosis of ADHD and history of LOC at the time of concussion on neurocognitive performance and reporting of symptoms at a baseline pre-season assessment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Data was initially collected from 1514 college students, but 54 participants were taken out because of having an invalid baseline. The final sample include 1460 college students (665 females, 795 males; mean age = 19.1 ± 1.4 years). Most were student-athletes (Division I varsity = 565, club, n = 821) as well as dance majors (n = 33) who were tested as a result of university's concussion management protocol, plus an additional 41 students who were tested as controls for other projects. All participants were 18 years of age or older. The study received Institutional Review Board approval before testing began and all participants completed informed consent forms to participate in this study.

Measures

ImPACT (version 2.1) is a commonly used tool for concussion management which assesses neurocognitive performance and symptoms (21).

The self-reported demographic data was used to determine history of ADHD diagnosis, number of total concussions, and number of concussions with LOC. ImPACT contains six modules to measure neurocognitive performance; these modules include: word discrimination (measures attention and verbal memory), design memory (measures attention and visual memory), X's and O's (measures working memory, visual memory and processing speed), symbol matching (measures visual processing speed, learning and memory), color match (measures choice reaction time, impulse control, and inhibition), and three letter memory (measures working memory and visual motor response speed). From these six modules, ImPACT calculates four composite scores: verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor speed, and reaction time. Total symptom score was based on responses to the 22 symptom list which uses a 7-point likert scale (ranging from 0 to 6 on severity); therefore, the symptom score that is reported is based on number and severity of symptoms Previous research has suggested that the scores from the ImPACT may have somewhat poor reliability (21), but most studies have demonstrated good test-retest reliability for this measure (13, 15).

Procedures

The study was performed with a retrospective analysis of baseline pre-season ImPACT tests from spring 2011 until spring 2016. The Division I student-athletes, club athletes, and dancers all completed the ImPACT assessment as part of the university's concussion management protocols, which are required for athletes to complete prior to participation in their respective athletic endeavor. The "other" group were college students that participated in previous research as control subjects and had completed the same baseline ImPACT assessment. For most of the Division I student-athletes, the ImPACT was administered in a quiet computer laboratory with no more than two studentathletes at a time. For the rest of the sample the ImPACT was administered in a larger computer lab and often in a group setting. Testing was administered at various times during the day depending on availability of the participants. Generally, the ImPACT was completed in 20-30 min.

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed using SPSS 23 (IBM) with an alpha level of < 0.05. A Multivariate Analyses of Variance (MANOVA) was conducted with self-reported previous diagnosis of ADHD and history of a concussion (no history, history with LOC, history without LOC) as independent variables, with dependent variables derived from the ImPACT composite scores (e.g., verbal memory, visual memory, visual motor speed, and reaction time). Similarly, an ANOVA was conducted with self-reported previous diagnosis of ADHD and a history of concussion (no history, history with LOC, history without LOC) as independent variables, and total symptoms score derived from the ImPACT assessment as the dependent variable. LSD *post-hoc* tests were performed to determine where significant differences occurred.

RESULTS

Of the 1,460 participants, 168 (11.5%) self-reported a previous diagnosis of ADHD and 408 (27.9%) of the participants self-reported having a previous concussion. For the ADHD group, 48.2% (81 of 168) self-reported taking at least one medication typically prescribed for treatment of ADHD. Of the 408 participants with a concussion, 112 (27.4% of those with concussion and 7.7% of total sample) reported having history of concussion with LOC.

The MANOVA for the ImPACT composite scores found a statistically significant main effect for those diagnosed with ADHD [$F_{(4, 1451)} = 3.16$, Wilks' $\lambda = 0.99$, p = 0.014] as well as for concussion history [$F_{(8, 2902)} = 2.34$, Wilks' $\lambda = 0.99$, p = 0.016], but not a significant interaction for concussion history and ADHD (see **Table 1**). For those with a previous diagnosis of ADHD, there was a significant difference for performance on verbal memory [$F_{(1, 1454)} = 10.41$, p = 0.001] and visual motor speed [$F_{(1, 1454)} = 4.54$, p = 0.033] as those who reported a previous diagnosis of ADHD performed worse on those measures.

For concussion history, univariate analyses found significant differences for and visual motor speed $[F_{(2, 1454)} = 5.52, p = 0.004]$, but not for the other scales. Those with history of non-LOC concussion performed better on visual motor speed than both those who reported history of concussion with LOC (p = 0.023) and those with no history of concussion (p = 0.001). While not significant, there were some trends for verbal memory $[F_{(2, 1454)} = 2.84, p = 0.059]$ and reaction time $[F_{(2, 1454)} = 2.39, p = 0.092]$ related to concussion history.

An ANOVA for total symptoms score revealed significant main effects for ADHD [$F_{(1, 1454)} = 11.72$, p = 0.001] and LOC [$F_{(2, 1454)} = 8.69$, p < 0.001], but not a significant interaction between the two (see **Table 1**). Those with a previous diagnosis of ADHD reported more symptoms than those without ADHD. Total symptom scores were higher for those with a history of concussion resulting in LOC than those with a previous concussion absent of LOC (p = 0.003) as well as those with no history of any concussion (p < 0.001).

DISCUSSION

Previous research has explored the extent to which ADHD influences neurocognitive performance and the self-reporting

of symptoms at baseline (9–12), but there has been relatively little investigation into how history of a concussion with LOC influences these measures (19). This research study sought to further the research that has been previously performed to better understand how history of ADHD and LOC may influence baseline measures of neurocognitive performance and self-reported symptoms when student-athletes are assessed prior their participation in collegiate sports. This enables the examination of the potential residual effects of LOC and ADHD history on neurocognitive and symptom measures at baseline, which may ultimately influence concussion management strategies.

Our sample had 11.5% of our population report a previous diagnosis with ADHD, which is higher than the 4.2-8.1% reported in a recent review of literature on ADHD in athletes (20). While our percentage is higher than that with athletes, it is more consistent with previous research which shows the percentage to be around 11% in adolescents (22, 23). This could be due to the inclusion of non-varsity athletes (e.g., club athletes and dancers). In agreement with previous research, those with ADHD also reported significantly higher symptoms at baseline than participants without ADHD (9-11). The symptoms for ADHD closely resemble those that are commonly associated acutely with concussions, which may make the two difficult to distinguish. One possible explanation for this finding is a self-report bias as the population of participants with ADHD may be more accustomed to neuropsychological exams and reporting symptoms in their interactions with medical professionals. The neurocognitive test results showed that significant differences between those with ADHD and those without ADHD were that those without ADHD had significantly higher verbal memory and visual motor scores. This finding is congruent with other previous research (9-13, 24). However, it is important to note that these findings are based on self-reported diagnosis of ADHD and was not verified by a physician and could have possibly influenced our results.

Results from the neurocognitive assessments demonstrate that those reporting a history of concussions without LOC had significantly higher visual motor scores than both the LOC and no history of concussion group. However, concussion symptoms were significantly higher for those who had been concussed with LOC compared to the other two groups. These findings for the influence of LOC on neurocognitive performance is opposite of previous work which

Group	Verbal memory	Visual memory	Visual motor speed	Reaction time	Total symptoms
No concussion	84.5 ± 0.5	73.6 ± 0.7	40.3 ± 0.3^{a}	0.583 ± 0.004	4.7 ± 0.4^{a}
Concussed without LOC	86.1 ± 0.8	76.0 ± 1.1	$42.3 \pm 0.5^{a,b}$	0.568 ± 0.006	$5.7\pm0.6^{\text{b}}$
Concussed with LOC	82.2 ± 1.5	75.3 ± 1.9	40.0 ± 0.9^{b}	0.589 ± 0.011	9.4 ± 1.1 ^{a,b}
No ADHD	86.2 ± 0.4^{a}	75.8 ± 0.5	41.6 ± 0.3^{a}	0.574 ± 0.003	5.1 ± 0.3^{a}
ADHD	82.4 ± 1.1^{a}	74.2 ± 1.4	40.1 ± 0.7 ^a	0.587 ± 0.008	8.1 ± 0.8^{a}

Those with similar letters designate statistically significant differences between groups, p < 0.05.

has found history of LOC to not influence neuropsychological performance (19, 25).

These results suggest that LOC at time of concussion may lead to residual deficits and symptoms, and, further, that chronic effects from previous concussions with LOC should be investigated further. This is consistent with current recommendations that LOC should be considered in concussion management (7, 8). One future direction could be investigating which, if any, specific brain structures and/or networks are involved in LOC to help elucidate the influence of LOC on neurocognitive performance and symptom reporting (26).

This research also raises a question about the combination of ADHD and a history of concussions that resulted in LOC. ADHD is known for having an influence on axonal integrity, white matter and function of certain areas of the brain (27– 29), so it is possible that people with ADHD are more likely to experience concussions (30) or those with history of concussions to also report symptoms of ADHD (31). It might also be that these alterations in function and structure of the brain could predispose them to pathophysiology associated with LOC (26).

REFERENCES

- Moser RS. The growing public health concern of sports concussion: the new psychology practice frontier. *Prof Psychol Res Pract.* (2007) 38:699–704. doi: 10.1037/0735-7028.38.6.699
- 2. The Lancet Neurology. Traumatic brain injury: time to end the silence. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 9:331. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70069-7
- Langlois JA, Rutland-Brown W, Wald MM. The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: a brief overview. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (2006) 21:375–8. doi: 10.1097/00001199-200609000-00001
- Gessel LM, Fields SK, Collins CL, Dick RW, Comstock RD. Concussions among united states high school and collegiate athletes. J Athl Train. (2007) 42:495–503.
- Powell JW, Barber-Foss KD. Traumatic brain injury in high school athletes. JAMA. (1999) 282:958–63. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.10.958
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse WH, Aubry M, Cantu RC, Dvorák J, Echemendia RJ, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport: the 4th International Conference on Concussion in Sport, Zurich, November 2012. J Athl Train. (2013) 48:554–75. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-48.4.05
- Harmon KG, Drezner JA, Gammons M, Guskiewicz KM, Halstead M, Herring SA, et al. American medical society for sports medicine position statement: concussion in sport. Br J Sports Med Lond. (2013) 47:15. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091941
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvorák J, Aubry M, Bailes J, Broglio S, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport—the 5th international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:838–47. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699
- Cottle JE, Hall EE, Patel K, Barnes KP, Ketcham CJ. Concussion baseline testing: preexisting factors, symptoms, and neurocognitive performance. J Athl Train. (2017) 52:77–81. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-51.12.21
- Elbin RJ, Kontos AP, Kegel N, Johnson E, Burkhart S, Schatz P. Individual and combined effects of LD and ADHD on computerized neurocognitive concussion test performance: evidence for separate norms. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* (2013) 28:476–84. doi: 10.1093/arclin/act024
- Zuckerman SL, Lee YM, Odom MJ, Solomon GS, Sills AK. Baseline neurocognitive scores in athletes with attention deficit-spectrum disorders and/or learning disability. *J Neurosurg Pediatr.* (2013) 12:103–9. doi: 10.3171/2013.5.PEDS12524
- 12. Gardner RM, Yengo-Kahn A, Bonfield CM, Solomon GS. Comparison of baseline and post-concussion ImPACT test scores in young athletes with

In conclusion, this research suggests that ADHD and LOC should be considered in concussion management as both of these pathologies may influence measures from baseline concussion testing, symptoms and neurocognitive performance, that are commonly used in concussion management.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Elon University IRB 13-017; 17-008; 17-043. This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of name of guidelines, name of committee with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the name of committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SK, EH, and CK were involved in development of research idea. SK, MS, EH, and CK were involved in writing of the manuscript. All authors reviewed the manuscript and assisted in data collection.

stimulant-treated and untreated ADHD. *Phys Sportsmed.* (2017) 45:1–10. doi: 10.1080/00913847.2017.1248221

- Salinas CM, Dean P, LoGalbo A, Dougherty M, Field M, Webbe FM. Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder status and baseline neurocognitive performance in high school athletes. *Appl Neuropsychol Child*. (2016) 5:264– 72. doi: 10.1080/21622965.2015.1052814
- American Academy of Neurology. Practice parameter: the management of concussion in sports (summary statement). Report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee. *Neurology*. (1997) 48:581–5. doi: 10.1212/WNL48.3.581
- Guskiewicz KM, McCrea M, Marshall SW, Cantu RC, Randolph C, Barr W, et al. Cumulative effects associated with recurrent concussion in collegiate football players: the NCAA Concussion Study. *JAMA*. (2003) 290:2549–55. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.19.2549
- Meehan WP, d'Hemecourt P, Comstock RD. High school concussions in the 2008–2009 academic year. Am J Sports Med. (2010) 38:2405–9. doi: 10.1177/0363546510376737
- McCrea M, Kelly JP, Randolph C, Cisler R, Berger L. Immediate neurocognitive effects of concussion. *Neurosurgery*. (2002) 50:1032–40; discussion 1040–2.
- McCrea M, Guskiewicz K, Randolph C, Barr WB, Hammeke TA, Marshall SW, et al. Incidence, clinical course, and predictors of prolonged recovery time following sport-related concussion in high school and college athletes. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2013) 19:22–33. doi: 10.1017/S1355617712000872
- Lovell MR, Iverson GL, Collins MW, McKeag D, Maroon JC. Does loss of consciousness predict neuropsychological decrements after concussion? *Clin* J Sport Med. (1999) 9:193–8. doi: 10.1097/00042752-199910000-00002
- Poysophon P, Rao AL. Neurocognitive deficits associated with ADHD in athletes: a systematic review. Sports Health Multidiscip Approach. (2018) 10:317–26. doi: 10.1177/1941738117751387
- Belanger HG, Vanderploeg RD. The neuropsychological impact of sportsrelated concussion: a meta-analysis. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2005) 11:345–57. doi: 10.1017/S1355617705050411
- Danielson ML, Visser SN, Chronis-Tuscano A, DuPaul GJ. A national description of treatment among united states children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *J Pediatr.* (2018) 192:240–6.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.08.040
- Xu G, Strathearn L, Liu B, Yang B, Bao W. Twenty-year trends in diagnosed attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder among us children and adolescents, 1997-2016. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2018) 1:e181471. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.1471

- Quinlan DM, Brown TE. Assessment of short-term verbal memory impairments in adolescents and adults with ADHD. J Atten Disord. (2003) 6:143–52. doi: 10.1177/108705470300600401
- Leininger BE, Gramling SE, Farrell AD, Kreutzer JS, Peck EA. Neuropsychological deficits in symptomatic minor head injury patients after concussion and mild concussion. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1990) 53:293–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.53.4.293
- 26. Kelly JP. Loss of consciousness: pathophysiology and implications in grading and safe return to play. *J Athl Train.* (2001) 36:249–52.
- Chuang T-C, Wu M-T, Huang S-P, Weng M-J, Yang P. Diffusion tensor imaging study of white matter fiber tracts in adolescent attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2013) 211:186–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.11.008
- Nagel BJ, Bathula D, Herting M, Schmitt C, Kroenke CD, Fair D, et al. Altered white matter microstructure in children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2011) 50:283–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2010.12.003
- Cortese S, Kelly C, Chabernaud C, Proal E, Di Martino A, Milham MP, et al. Toward Systems neuroscience of ADHD: a meta-analysis of 55 fMRI studies. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2012) 169:1038–55. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.11101521

- Alosco ML, Fedor AF, Gunstad J. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder as a risk factor for concussions in NCAA division-I athletes. *Brain Inj.* (2014) 28:472–4. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2014. 887145
- Ilie G, Vingilis ER, Mann RE, Hamilton H, Toplak M, Adlaf EM, et al. The association between traumatic brain injury and ADHD in a Canadian adult sample. J Psychiatr Res. (2015) 69:174–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015. 08.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Kaye, Sundman, Hall, Williams, Patel and Ketcham. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neuroendocrine Whiplash: Slamming the Breaks on Anabolic-Androgenic Steroids Following Repetitive Mild Traumatic Brain Injury in Rats May Worsen Outcomes

Jason Tabor^{1,2}, Reid Collins^{1,2}, Chantel T. Debert^{1,3,4}, Sandy R. Shultz^{5,6*} and Richelle Mychasiuk^{1,2,4,5}

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada, ² Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada, ³ Division of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada, ⁴ Hotchkiss Brain Institute, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada, ⁵ Department of Neuroscience, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁶ Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Richard J. Servatius, Syracuse VA Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Lazzarino, Università degli Studi di Catania, Italy Lauren Jantzie, Johns Hopkins University, United States

> *Correspondence: Sandy R. Shultz sandy.shultz@monash.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 24 January 2019 Accepted: 23 April 2019 Published: 08 May 2019

Citation:

Tabor J, Collins R, Debert CT, Shultz SR and Mychasiuk R (2019) Neuroendocrine Whiplash: Slamming the Breaks on Anabolic-Androgenic Steroids Following Repetitive Mild Traumatic Brain Injury in Rats May Worsen Outcomes. Front. Neurol. 10:481. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00481

Sport-related concussion is an increasingly common injury among adolescents, with repetitive mild traumatic brain injuries (RmTBI) being a significant risk factor for long-term neurobiological and psychological consequences. It is not uncommon for younger professional athletes to consume anabolic-androgenic steroids (AAS) in an attempt to enhance their performance, subjecting their hormonally sensitive brains to potential impairment during neurodevelopment. Furthermore, RmTBI produces acute neuroendocrine dysfunction, specifically in the anterior pituitary, disrupting the hypothalamic-pituitary adrenal axis, lowering cortisol secretion that is needed to appropriately respond to injury. Some AAS users exhibit worse symptoms post-RmTBI if they quit their steroid regime. We sought to examine the pathophysiological outcomes associated with the abrupt cessation of the commonly abused AAS, Metandienone (Met) on RmTBI outcomes in rats. Prior to injury, adolescent male rats received either Met or placebo, and exercise. Rats were then administered RmTBIs or sham injuries, followed by steroid and exercise cessation (SEC) or continued treatment. A behavioral battery was conducted to measure outcomes consistent with clinical representations of post-concussion syndrome and chronic AAS exposure, followed by analysis of serum hormone levels, and gRT-PCR for mRNA expression and telomere length. RmTBI increased loss of consciousness and anxiety-like behavior, while also impairing balance and short-term working memory. SEC induced hyperactivity while Met treatment alone increased depressive-like behavior. There were cumulative effects whereby RmTBI and SEC exacerbated anxiety and short-term memory outcomes. mRNA expression in the prefrontal cortex, amygdala, hippocampus, and pituitary were modified in response to Met and SEC. Analysis of telomere length revealed the negative impact of SEC while Met and SEC produced changes in serum levels of testosterone and corticosterone.

17

We identified robust changes in mRNA to serotonergic circuitry, neuroinflammation, and an enhanced stress response. Interestingly, Met treatment promoted glucocorticoid secretion after injury, suggesting that maintained AAS may be more beneficial than abstaining after mTBI.

Keywords: concussion, adolescent, prefrontal cortex, pituitary, amygdala, HPA axis

INTRODUCTION

Mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI), or concussion, is a common form of head injury occurring mostly via falls, vehicular accidents, or by sports-related impacts to the head (1). mTBI imposes accelerative and rotational forces on the brain inside the skull that can result in structural, cellular, and mRNA expression changes (2), which are particularly disruptive during childhood and adolescence when the brain is still developing (3). While most people fully recover, a significant portion of those subjected to repetitive mTBIs (RmTBI), go on to exhibit clinical symptoms of post-concussive syndrome (PCS) (4). These symptoms include deficits in motor function, changes in mood and anxiety levels, as well as problems with complex mental processes and detriments to cognitive abilities (5). These symptoms may be brought about by the neurometabolic cascade that happens postconcussion (6). Following mTBI, the damaged cell membranes release excitatory neurotransmitters and cause ionic imbalances, contributing to a spread of depolarization and ionic flux in the brain (6,7). Membrane ion pumps work exhaustively in attempts to restore ionic balance, requiring increased cellular ATP (6). The hyperglycolysis, and increased mitochondrial activity used to meet these energy demands is followed by a state of impaired metabolism, possibly contributing to behavioral impairments (7). mTBI has been shown to induce mitochondrial metabolic and genetic changes (8), in addition to mitochondrial dysfunction (9) associated with detrimental downstream effects such as axonal damage, neuron death, and a compromised bloodbrain barrier (10). Children and adolescents are at highest risk for RmTBI (11), with adolescent athletes being a particularly vulnerable population (12). Given the long-term neurobiological and psychological consequences of RmTBI, and the increasing incidence of sport-related concussions in youth, understanding the pathology of RmTBI during this developmentally sensitive stage of brain maturation is crucial to predicting outcomes.

Further complicating this problem, it is not uncommon for adolescent athletes to consume anabolic-androgenic steroids (AAS) (13). AAS are a group of hormones including naturally produced testosterone and lab-made derivatives (14). Clinically they are used to treat various medical conditions, however they are also illicitly used to boost athletic performance (13). Global data indicate the prevalence of AAS use to be \sim 3.3%, with adolescents having higher rates of AAS use than adults (13). AAS exposure during puberty has a wide range of neurological consequences that have the potential to affect brain development. Puberty is a hormonally sensitive period where the addition of exogenous hormones can have detrimental behavioral and neurohormonal effects (15, 16). Symptoms of chronic AAS use include varying levels of anxiety (17) and depression (18), as well as increased aggression, which may persist even after individuals stop taking the drug (19).

What's more, acute neuroendocrine dysfunction has been identified after mTBI, specifically in the anterior pituitary, disrupting normal function of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis (20). Elevated cortisol levels after injury are beneficial and help the body protect itself by promoting healing mechanisms (21). However, following RmTBI there is often a decrease in cortisol due to this HPA axis disruption which likely contributes to worse symptomology and increased recovery time (22). Interestingly, athletes who abuse AAS, and experience RmTBI often opt to abstain from their drug and exercise regimes in an effort to expedite recovery. Like those experiencing withdrawal due to their AAS dependence, some athletes have reported worse outcomes after abstaining from AAS (23, 24) suggesting that AAS maybe providing neuroprotective, or possibly therapeutic effects on the injured brain. Despite the prevalence of AAS, relatively few studies have looked at the interaction between AAS and RmTBI in adolescents, and to our knowledge, none have investigated whether quitting AAS following an mTBI is the best choice.

Given that adolescent athletes are at particularly high risk for RmTBI and have a high rate of AAS use, we sought to investigate the pathophysiological outcomes associated with the abrupt cessation of both exercise and the commonly abused AAS, Metandienone (25) (Met) on RmTBI outcomes using a clinically relevant rodent model of concussion. Adolescent males are consistently reported with higher AAS usage than females (26-28), in addition to higher lifetime prevalence rates of AAS use (6.4%) over females (1.6%) (13), which is why they were the selected for this study. Male rats received either Met or placebo and were then randomly assigned to the RmTBI or sham injury group. Following the RmTBIs or sham injuries, half the rats were returned to normal drinking water and were deprived of exercise wheels, while the other half continued to exercise and receive Met. A behavioral test battery was conducted to measure outcomes consistent with clinical representations of PCS and chronic AAS exposure. Neurobiological outcomes were further examined via changes in mRNA expression in the prefrontal cortex (PFC), the amygdala (AMYG), the hippocampus (HPC), and the pituitary gland (PIT). The PFC, HPC, and AMYG were selected because both concussion and AAS affect executive function, short-term working memory, mood regulation, and impulsivity, which all involve neural circuitry in these 3 brain regions. The PIT was also selected for investigation as it has a role in normal hormonal function, which may be disrupted by AAS and RmTBI.

METHODS

Subjects

All reported experiments were carried out in accordance with the Canadian Council of Animal Care and received approval from the University of Calgary Conjoint Faculties Research Ethics Approval Board. Forty-seven male Sprague Dawley rats (Charles Rivers Laboratories) were weaned at postnatal day 21 (P21), caged in groups of 4, and housed in an animal husbandry room at 21°C with a 12:12 hr light:dark cycle (lights on at 7 a.m.). The animals had *ad libitum* access to food and water.

Exercise Protocol

At postnatal day (P) 34, rats were randomly assigned to one of the following conditions: (a) *Placebo* + *Exercise* (n = 8), (b) *Steroid* + *Exercise* (n = 8), (c) *Placebo* + *Exercise* + *Steroid and Exercise Cessation (SEC)* (n = 15), (d) *Steroid* + *Exercise* + *SEC* (n = 16). The *Exercise* groups were housed in Lafayette Activity Living Chambers (model + 80859; Lafayette, IN, USA). *SEC* groups were returned to normal cages after the third mTBI or sham injury (P46) and were deprived of Met and running wheels for the remainder of the experiment. The Activity Living Chambers were maintained in the same husbandry room as the control cages and all animals had *ad libitum* access to food and water. Activity wheel counters were used to measure the distance the rats had run, and were recorded each day.

AAS Administration Protocol

Metandienone (Met) purchased from TripleBond (Guelph, ON, Canada) was orally administered to the rats in their drinking water by dissolving the drug at a concentration of 1.5 mg/kg, body weight/day, starting at P21. This dosage was selected as it closely mimics the dosage commonly used by humans (29) and was orally administered as this is the ingestion route most commonly observed in clinical populations. Met or placebo was administered daily to all *Steroid* and *Placebo* groups for 7 weeks up until sacrifice with the amount of water consumed was measured on a daily basis. The *SEC* groups were switched to placebo water after their third mTBI or sham injury for the remainder of the experiment (P47).

RmTBI Procedure

At P41, rats in each group were randomly assigned to receive 3 mTBIs with the Lateral Impact (LI) device or 3 sham injuries. The LI technique employed a protocol described by Mychasiuk et al. (2). Briefly, animals were lightly anesthetized with isofluorane until a toe pinch drew no response and were then placed in a prone position on a low friction Teflon board. A 50 g weight was pneumatically fired toward the rat's head at an average speed of 8.95 ± 0.12 m/s, resulting in TBIs at 81.66 Gs. The weight impacted a small "helmet" that protected the skull from structural damage but propelled the rat into a horizontal 180° rotation. This LI technique subjects the brain to acceleration/deceleration and rotational forces that mimic a sports-related concussion (2, 30). mTBIs or sham injuries were performed on P41, P44, and P47. *Time-to-right* measured the time each rat took to wake and move from a supine position to a prone or standing position

following the injury, and was used as a surrogate measure for loss-of-consciousness.

Behavioral Testing

Rats underwent a behavioral test battery consisting of 6 behavioral tasks designed to measure post-concussive symptomology (31, 32). *Beam walking* is a test for balance and motor coordination used to measure hindleg foot slips on a tapered beam described in detail by Schallert et al. (33). This test was carried out at post-injury day 1 (PID1) and PID3.

On P49 or PID2 rats were tested in an *Open Field* paradigm as a measure of general locomotor activity (34). Animals were placed in the center of a circular arena with a diameter of 135 cm and allowed to explore their surroundings for 10 min. An overhead camera equipped with Noldus Ethovision XT 10.0 software tracked and analyzed the distance traveled and the time spent in the center of the arena for each rat. The arena was cleaned with Virkon between each testing session.

At PID3 (P50), rats were tested for general anxiety in the *Elevated Plus Maze* (EPM) (34). The EPM is constructed from black Plexiglas and was elevated 55 cm above ground. It contained two closed and two open arms, and each rat was permitted to explore the EPM for 5 min in a videotaped session. A research analyst blinded to the experimental conditions recorded how much time the rat spent in the center, open, and closed arms.

Novel Context Mismatch (NCM) was used to measure short term working memory. Training for the NCM occurred on P54-P56, where rats were placed in both Context A and Context B (5 min each) per training day, where Context B placement immediately followed Context A. Context A was a transparent rectangular box (70 \times 40 \times 33 cm) with 2 identical plastic cylinders; Context B was an opaque blue circular bin (36 cm high with a diameter of 47 cm), with two identical glass bottles. The probe trial for the test occured at PID10 (P57). Rats went from Context A (5 min) to Context B (5 min), into their home cage (5 min), then to the Novel Context (5 min). The novel context was a modified Context A, where the same rectangular box was used, and one object from Context A, as well as one object from Context B. The rats were videotaped exploring the novel context and a research assistant (blinded to the experimental conditions) scored the amount of time the animals investigated the novel object and the old object. All containers and objects were sanitized with Virkon between each testing session. The protocol employed was similar to that described be Spanswick & Sutherland (35).

Aggression levels were measured using the *Dominance Tube* test (36), which was administered on PID4. Rats were released into opposing ends of a clear tube, narrow enough to impede the animal's ability to turn around. The rats met in the middle of the tube, and the dominant animal would exhibit more aggression by forcing their opponent to back out of the tube. The rat was declared the winner when its opponent had all four paws out of the tube. The match ups at consisted of *RmTBI* vs. *RmTBI* & *Sham* vs. *Sham* rats, and were always *Steroid* vs. *Placebo* rats. There was a total of 3 trials per match up with trail wins, win percentage, and time spent in the tube recorded for each animal.

Finally, on PID14 rats were tested for 7 min in a modified *Forced Swim* paradigm similar to that employed by Yadid et al. (37) to examine depressive- or anxiety-like behaviors. A cylindrical tank (diameter of 30 cm, 60 cm high) filled with water (\sim 25°C) high enough that the rat's tail was unable to contact the bottom of the tank. After each session, the rats were dried with warm towels and returned to their home cages with the water being replaced before the next session. The amount of time spent immobile and number of escape attempts was scored for each rat.

Experimental duration and timepoints (P41–P61) were chosen as they are reflective of adolescence in rats (38, 39).

mRNA Analysis

Rats were euthanized at PID15 after completion of all behavioral testing. All rats were anesthetized via isoflurane inhalation, were quickly weighed and measured, and were then decapitated. Using the Zilles atlas (40) tissue from the PFC, HPC, AMYG, and PIT was removed, flash frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80° C. Total RNA was extracted from each brain region for molecular analysis with the Allprep RNA/DNA Mini Kit according to manufacturer protocols (Qiagen, Germany). Samples were tested for purity and concentration with a NanoDrop 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Purified RNA (2 μ g) was reverse transcribed into cDNA using the oligo(dT)20Superscript III First-Strand Synthesis Supermix Kit (Invitrogen, USA) according to manufacturer instructions.

A total of 6 genes were selected for analysis, which provided key information regarding the effects of AAS, RmTBI, and exercise on neuroinflammation, repair processes, and neurodevelopment. The 4 genes selected for PFC, AMYG, and HPC were: Bdnf, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; GR, Glucocoritcoid receptor; Iba1, Ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1; and Maoa, Monoamine oxidase A. A total of 6 genes were selected for analysis in PIT: Bdnf, GR, Iba1, Maoa, cAMP response-element binding protein (Creb), and Estrogen receptor (ER). Bdnf is involved in supporting the developing nervous system, with key roles in neurogenesis, neural plasticity, learning and memory (41), and is susceptible to changes in expression from mTBI (42). GR is a transcription factor activated by the stress hormone, cortisol (43). Under periods of injury or stress, sustained GR activation is toxic to neurons through increased excitotoxicity and oxidative stress (43, 44). Iba1 is a marker of microglial activation as part of the neuroinflammatory response (45), involved in proliferation, migration, and immune responses at the site of injury (46). Maoa is an enzyme responsible for breaking down monoamine neurotransmitters (47) and has been implicated in the modulation of aggressive behavior (47) and stress responses via its effects on serotonergic circuitry (48, 49). Creb is a transcription factor that mediates complex learning and memory processes (50, 51) which can be disrupted through brain injury (52). ER is present throughout multiple brain regions, allowing estrogens to induce many effects on neuroprotection, synaptogenesis, and cognitive function (53).

Primers for the qRT-PCR were designed by an in-house research technician using Primer3 (http://bioinfo.ut.ee/primer3), and purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, USA). Duplicate samples were run on a 96-well-plate and each

target gene was processed. qRT-PCR was performed and analyzed with the Applied BiosystemsTM StepOnePlusTM Real-Time PCR System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) with 10 ng of cDNA, 10 μ M of the forward and reverse primers for each target gene, and 1X SYBR Green FastMix with Rox (Quanta Biosciences, USA). Two housekeeping genes, CycA and Ywhaz (54) were used to determine relative target gene expression through the 2^{$\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method as previously described by Pfaffl (55).

Telomere Length Analysis

Immediately after each rat was euthanized a sample of ear notch tissue was taken from each rat and stored at -80° C. Extraction of genomic DNA from ear notch samples using the Sigma REDExtract N-AMP Tissue PCR kit was performed according to manufacturer's protocol. Concentration and quality were measured using the NanoDrop 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Samples were diluted to concentrations of 20 ng/µL to perform telomere analysis. A research technician designed primers for telomeres as well as the single copy 36B4 gene in-house with information previously described by Cawthorn (56). PCR reactions were run in duplicates on a 96 well-plate. Each PCR reaction was comprised of 1 µL of gDNA within a total volume of 20 µL using 1X SYBR Green FastMix with Rox (Quanta Biosciences, USA) for qRT-PCR on a CFX Connect Real Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA). The concentrations for primers were 20 µM for the forward and reverse primers of both Tel and 36B4. The telomere repeat number to single copy ratio (T/S) was calculated to determine telomere length with the single copy corresponding to the 36B4 gene. When T/S ratios = 1, the unknown DNA is equivalent to the reference DNA. If T/S > 1 there is an increase in telomere repeat number, whereas when T/S < 1, there is a decrease in telomere repeat number. T/S ratio was determined to be $[2^{Ct(telomere)}/2^{Ct(36B4)}] - 1 = -2^{\Delta Ct}$. Relative telomere length was determined using a linear regression equation, y = 1910.5x +4157 (where y = telomere length and x = $-2^{\Delta Ct}$), described by Cawthorn (56).

Serum Biomarker Analysis

Rats were euthanized via rapid decapitation on PID15, and trunk blood was collected in serum separator tubes. Samples were clotted for 30 min at room temperature then centrifuged at 1,000 g for 15 min. The serum was stored at -80° C. ELISA kits were purchased for Testosterone, Corticosterone, and Alanine Transaminase (Abcam Inc, Canada). ELISAs for each biomarker were completed according to manufacturer's instructions. Standards, positive and negative controls, and samples were all run in duplicate on a 96-well plate and measured using the BioTek Synergy H.T. plate reader and Gen5 2.00.18 software with a path length correction algorithm. Samples were all in normal range of the standard curve.

Statistical Analysis

A research analyst blinded to all experimental conditions scored each of the behavioral tests and two analysts performed the qRT-PCR analysis for each gene, carried out in duplicate. A research analyst also carried out telomere and serum biomarker analysis.

Behavioral test	Effect of RmTBI F (p)	Effect of Met Treatment F (p)	Effect of SEC F (p)	Met Treatment × RmTBI F (p)	Met Treatment × SEC F (p)	RmTBI × SEC F (p)	Met Treatment × RmTBI × SEC F (p)
Time-to-right	40.56 (<0.01)	0.93 (0.34)	6.82 (0.01)	0.85 (0.36)	0.46 (0.50)	7.42 (<0.01)	0.98 (0.33)
Beam walk	10.52 (<0.01)	0.03 (0.86)	0.12 (0.74)	0.24 (0.63)	2.59 (0.11)	1.62 (0.21)	0.27 (0.61)
Open field: distance	0.22 (0.64)	0.38 (0.54)	15.65 (<0.01)	0.68 (0.41)	1.58 (0.21)	0.60 (0.44)	0.00 (0.95)
Open field: center	0.11 (0.75)	0.68 (0.41)	0.16 (0.69)	0.28 (0.60)	0.01 (0.91)	0.00 (0.97)	1.03 (0.31)
EPM	9.73 (<0.01)	0.02 (0.88)	0.29 (0.60)	0.12 (0.73)	0.00 (0.95)	5.08 (0.03)	0.01 (0.93)
NCM	10.11 (<0.01)	0.07 (0.80)	0.08 (0.78)	0.25 (0.62)	0.73 (0.40)	5.48 (0.02)	2.31 (0.13)
Dominance tube	0.01 (0.93)	0.13 (0.72)	0.12 (0.73)	5.88 (0.02)	0.12 (0.73)	0.02 (0.88)	4.41 (0.04)
Forced swim	0.45 (0.51)	12.98 (<0.01)	0.11 (0.74)	0.03 (0.87)	0.04 (0.84)	0.06 (0.81)	0.19 (0.67)

TABLE 1 | Statistical results of the three-way anovas for the behavioral assessment of rmtbi, aas treatment, and SEC in adolescent rats.

All analyses were performed with SPSS 23.0 for Mac, and $p \le 0.05$ was considered statistically significant. Three-way ANOVAs with Injury (RmTBI vs. Sham), Treatment (Met vs. Placebo), and SEC (cessation vs. maintenance) as factors were run for each of the behavioral and molecular outcomes. *Post-hoc* pairwise comparisons (LSD), were carried out when appropriate. All error bars on graphs represent \pm SEM.

RESULTS

Animal Characteristics

Weight gain from the initial mTBI to the end of the study (P41-P61), in addition to brain weight at time of sacrifice was recorded. The three-way ANOVA of body weight gain demonstrated a main effect of SEC $[F_{(1,78)} = 13.18, p < 0.01]$, but not of RmTBI or treatment. Interestingly, steroid treatment alone had no effect on change in body weight, but cessation of treatment and exercise significantly increased the amount of weight gained between TBI and sacrifice (Steroid + SEC cessation; $125.9 \text{ g} \pm 4.9$; Steroid + SEC Maintenance; 112.3 g \pm 3.8; Placebo + SEC cessation; $123.3 \text{ g} \pm 4.9$; Placebo + SEC Maintenance; $108.3 \text{ g} \pm 3.8$). This result suggests that the weight gain was associated with a loss of running wheel access, rather than cessation of steroids. There were also no significant interactions between RmTBI, treatment, or SEC. Conversely, there were no significant effects of RmTBI, treatment, or SEC for brain weight, nor were there any significant interactions. There were also no significant differences in the average distance run per day for animals in the AAS and placebo groups.

Behavioral Testing

All statistical results from the three-way ANOVAs for the behavioral tests can be found in **Table 1** and graphical representation of these findings are in **Figure 1**. In summary, SEC affected behavioral performance on 2 of 7 measures (increased time-to-right and resulted in hyperactivity in the open-field) for both sham and RmTBI animals. The RmTBIs impaired performance on 4 of 7 tasks (increased time-to-right, increased hindleg foot slips in the beam walk task, and increased anxiety-like behavior in the elevated plus maze, while decreasing short-term working memory on the novel context mismatch task). AAS

treatment was found to produce dysfunction in the forced swim task for both sham and RmTBI animals, whereby AAS animals displayed increased depressive-like behavior. In addition, there were multiple SEC by Injury interactions; (1) for time-to-right there was a two-way interaction between SEC and RmTBI. *Post-hoc* analysis demonstrated that the Injury \times SEC interaction was driven by the animals in the RmTBI group, whereby injured animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise exhibited increased loss of consciousness, p < 0.01. (2) In the EPM there was also a two-way interaction between SEC and RmTBI. Post-hoc analysis of time in open arms of the EPM demonstrated that the Injury × SEC interaction was driven by the sham group, where animals that were exposed to sham injuries and experienced cessation of AAS and exercise displayed reduced anxiety-like behavior and increased time in the open arms of the EPM, p = 0.05. (3) In the NCM task, *post-hoc* analysis showed that the Injury × SEC interaction was driven by the RmTBI animals, whereby injured animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise exhibited worse performance on the NCM task than injured animals that maintained AAS and exercise treatment, p < 0.01. Finally, in the dominance tube task of aggression we identified a Met treatment by SEC interaction and a three-way interaction. Post-hoc analysis demonstrated that the Met Treatment by Injury interaction was driven by the RmTBI group. Animals that experienced RmTBI and placebo were more aggressive than RmTBI animals consuming AAS, p = 0.05. In addition, *post-hoc* analyses of the 3-way interaction between Met Treatment, Injury, and SEC found this interaction to be driven by animals in the S+E cessation group, whereby dominance/aggression increased in sham animals who experienced cessation of AAS and exercise (p = 0.05), but decreased in RmTBI animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise (p = 0.03).

mRNA Expression

mRNA was examined for 4 different genes (*Bdnf, GR, Iba1*, and *Maoa*) in the PFC, AMYG, and HPC, and 6 different genes (*Bdnf, GR, Iba1, Maoa, ER*, and *Creb*) in the PIT.

PFC

In the PFC expression, 2 of 4 genes were influenced by Met treatment (*GR* and *Maoa*), 2 were influenced by SEC (*Bdnf*,



FIGURE 1 Bar graphs displaying outcomes from behavioral test battery for all groups. Means \pm standard error are displayed where *main effect for SEC, #main effect of RmTBI, +main effect of Met treatment, α significant RmTBI by SEC interaction, β significant Met treatment by RmTBI interaction, and *significant Met treatment by RmTBI by SEC interaction $p \le 0.05$. (A) Displays the average time-to-right after sham injury or RmTBI. *Post hoc* analysis demonstrated that the Injury × SEC interaction was driven by the animals in the RmTBI group, whereby injured animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise exhibited increased loss of consciousness, p < 0.01. (B) Displays the mean distance traveled in the open field test. (C) Displays the average time spent in the open arms of the elevated plus maze. *Post hoc* analysis of time in open arms of the EPM demonstrated that the Injury × SEC interaction was driven by the sham group, where animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise exhibited increased loss of consciousness, p < 0.01. (B) Displays the mean distance traveled in the open field test. (C) Displays the average time spent in the open arms of the elevated plus maze. *Post hoc* analysis of time in open arms of the EPM demonstrated that the Injury × SEC interaction was driven by the sham group, where animals that were exposed to sham injuries and experienced cessation of AAS and exercise exhibited worse performance on the NCM task than injured animals that mere animals, whereby injured animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise exhibited worse performance on the NCM task than injury or RmTBI animals that experienced RmTBI animals that experienced the test. *Post hoc* analysis demonstrated that the Met Treatment by Injury interaction was driven by the RmTBI animals whereby injured animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise exhibited worse performance on the NCM task than injured animals that experienced RmTBI and placebo were more aggressive than RmTBI animals co

and *Maoa*), and 1 gene (*Iba1*) exhibited a Met treatment by SEC interaction. For *Iba1*, *post-hoc* analysis demonstrated that the Met Treatment by SEC interaction was driven by animals exposed to AAS. Rats that were exposed to AAS and exercise and then subsequently quit, exhibited increased expression of *Iba1*, when compared to rats that were exposed to AAS and exercise throughout the experiment, p = 0.04 (see **Figure 2**).

AMYG

SEC had more influence on gene expression in the AMYG, affecting 3 of 4 genes (GR, Iba1, and Maoa). The AMYG also exhibited significant interactions; (1) GR demonstrated a significant RmTBI by SEC interaction. *Post-hoc* analysis showed that the Injury by SEC interaction was driven by the sham animals, whereby expression of GR was significantly

increased in sham animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise, compared to sham animals that maintained AAS and exercise throughout the experiment, p < 0.01. (2) *Bdnf* displayed a significant three-way interaction. *Post-hoc* analysis of the three-way interaction between Injury, Met Treatment and SEC demonstrated that the effect was driven by Sham animals that received AAS, whereby expression of *Bdnf* was significantly elevated in animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise as compared to those that maintained treatment throughout the experiment, p < 0.05 (see Figure 3).

HPC

Gene expression in the HPC was the least affected of the four brain regions, with only 1 gene (*GR*) altered by Met treatment, and 1 gene (*Iba1*) influenced by SEC (see **Figure 4**).



FIGURE 2 Bar graphs displaying average mRNA expression levels in the PFC. Means \pm standard error are displayed where *main effect for SEC, +main effect of Met treatment, and δ significant Met treatment by SEC interaction $p \leq 0.05$. For *Iba1*, *post-hoc* analysis demonstrated that the Met Treatment by SEC interaction was driven by animals exposed to AAS. Rats that were exposed to AAS and exercise and then subsequently quit, exhibited increased expression of *Iba1*, when compared to rats that were exposed to AAS and exercise throughout the experiment, p = 0.04. mRNA, messenger RNA; PFC, pre-frontal cortex; RmTBI, repetitive mild traumatic brain injury; S+E, steroid and exercise.



FIGURE 3 Bar graphs displaying average mRNA expression in the AMYG. Means \pm standard error are displayed where *main effect for SEC, ^{α} significant injury by SEC interaction, and ^{ϵ} significant Met treatment by RmTBI by SEC interaction $p \le 0.05$. *Post-hoc* analysis showed that the Injury by SEC interaction of *GR* was driven by the sham animals, whereby expression of *GR* was significantly increased in sham animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise, compared to sham animals that maintained AAS and exercise throughout the experiment, p < 0.01. *Post-hoc* analysis of the three-way interaction between Injury, Met Treatment and SEC of *Bdnf* demonstrated that the effect was driven by Sham animals that received AAS, whereby expression of *Bdnf* was significantly elevated in animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise as compared to those that maintained treatment throughout the experiment, p < 0.05. mRNA, messenger RNA; AMYG, amygdala; RmTBI, repetitive mild traumatic brain injury; S+E, steroid and exercise.

PIT

Lastly, in the PIT, 2 out of 6 genes (*ER* and *GR*) were altered by treatment and 4 of 6 genes (*ER*, *Iba1*, *Maoa*, and *Creb*) were affected by SEC. Expression of 1 gene (Creb) exhibited a Met treatment by Injury interaction, as well as a Met treatment by SEC interaction. *Post-hoc* analysis demonstrated that the Met Treatment by Injury interaction was driven by animals in the Steroid group. Rats with sham injuries in the steroid group



exhibited greater expression of *Creb* than rats with RmTBI in the steroid group, p < 0.01. The second *post-hoc* analysis found that the Met Treatment by SEC interaction was driven by the placebo group, whereby cessation of AAS and exercise significantly increased expression of *Creb* in animals that did not receive AAS, p < 0.01 (see **Figure 5**).

See **Table 2** for summary of statistical results of genes in all four brain regions.

Telomere Length

Ear notch skin samples were examined at PID15 for changes in telomere length. There was a significant RmTBI by SEC interaction [$F_{(1,62)} = 4.67$, p = 0.04]. *Post-hoc* analysis demonstrated that the Injury by SEC interaction was driven by the sham animals, whereby telomere length was significantly reduced in response to cessation of AAS and exercise if the rat did not receive repetitive injuries, but was not reduced in animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise, and RmTBI, p =0.02. There were no other significant main effects or interactions. See **Figure 6**.

Serum Biomarkers

Serum levels of testosterone, corticosterone, and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) were examined at PID15. The three-way ANOVA for testosterone demonstrated a main effect of Met treatment, [$F_{(1,62)} = 12.53$, p < 0.01], but not of RmTBI, and SEC, nor were there any significant interactios between RmTBI, Met treatment, or SEC.

The three-way ANOVA for corticosterone failed to show any significant main effects of RmTBI, Met treatment, or SEC, however there was a significant Met treatment by Injury interaction, $[F_{(1,55)} = 7.92, p < 0.01]$. *Post-hoc* analysis showed that the Met Treatment by Injury interaction was driven by the placebo group, where sham animals demonstrated elevated corticosterone and animals in the placebo group that received RmTBIs exhibited reductions in corticosterone, p = 0.02.

The three-way ANOVA for ALT revealed a main effect of SEC [$F_{(1,31)} = 26.86$, p < 0.01], but not of RmTBI or treatment. However, there was a significant Injury by SEC interaction, [$F_{(1,31)} = 0.60$, p = 0.03]. *Post-hoc* analysis demonstrated that the Injury by SEC interaction was driven by animals in the RmTBI group, whereby those that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise exhibited significant decreases in ALT levels as compared to animals with RmTBI that maintained treatment throughout the experiment, p < 0.01. See **Figure 6**.

DISCUSSION

During adolescence, RmTBI, AAS use, and AAS withdrawal are all associated with changes in anxiety, depression, mood irritability, aggression, and cognitive function (5, 17, 23). As AAS-withdrawal symptoms overlap with that of PCS, we hypothesized that abrupt steroid and exercise cessation after RmTBI would potentiate behavioral impairments associated with PCS. In support of our hypothesis, SEC prolonged post-injury loss of consciousness and exacerbated, anxiety-like behaviors and short-term working memory. SEC also increased general activity in the open field and weight gain in both sham and RmTBI rats. However, these changes may have resulted from the absence of the running wheels inaccessibility, producing a need to exercise in addition to a calorie surplus induced weight gain (57, 58). Consistent with previous studies (59, 60) RmTBI alone produced loss of consciousness, motor and balance deficits, increases in anxiety-like behavior, and working memory deficits. Also, in line with previous findings, Met treatment produced increases in depressive-like behavior (61, 62). Contrary to prior studies however, we failed to identify an increase in aggression in our



Met treated rats (19, 63–65). Interestingly, when Met treatment was combined with RmTBI, we actually found a reduction in win percentage in the dominance tube, suggesting that that Met may affect the neural circuitry involved in aggression in a different manner than other commonly used AAS.

In addition to their effects on behavior, RmTBI and SEC interacted to induce changes in telomere length (TL). Previous findings in our laboratory have demonstrated mTBI induced reductions in TL (66), and shortened TL has been implicated in neurodegenerative diseases and age-related cognitive decline (67, 68). Telomeres are tandemly repeating, non-coding sequences of DNA capping the ends of eukaryotic chromosomes which are vulnerable to shortening, especially in neurons, as telomerase and other neuroprotective peptides are affected by oxidative stress (69, 70). The findings from the present study are therefore quite interesting. The SEC-sham animals had relatively similar TL to the RmTBI, suggesting that abruptly quitting Met in adolescence may have detrimental effects on TL, independent of injury. This reduction in TL may be in response to the sudden drop in androgen levels, as androgens have been shown to increase telomerase function (71), or could be associated with the absence of exercise, as exercise has also been shown to increase TL (59). Given that TL has been used as a gauge of neuronal aging and health (72), the SEC-induced shortening in TL further contributes to growing literature that AAS can potentiate neuronal impairments (17).

Typically, chronic AAS users experience a suppression of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis as a result of negative feedback inhibition, reducing the amount of naturally produced testosterone in circulation (73, 74). Met treatment was found to lower serum testosterone levels, verifying that in our study Met treatment did suppress the HPG axis. In addition, we also examined circulating corticosterone levels as previous literature suggested that AAS can alter the innate stress response, increasing circulation of glucocorticoids (75), while AAS withdrawal symptoms may be associated with changes in glucocorticoid action (23). Surprisingly, there were no effects of SEC on circulating levels of corticosterone, however there was an interaction between RmTBI and Met treatment, whereby RmTBI rats exposed to Met had increased corticosterone compared to the Met-exposed sham groups. This increase in corticosterone following RmTBI and Met treatment is likely due to injuryand AAS-induced dysfunction of the HPA axis; the HPA axis is vulnerable to increased androgen circulation (76), and

Brain region	Gene	Effect of RmTBI F (p)	Effect of met treatment F (p)	Effect of SEC F (p)	Met treatment × RmTBI F (p)	Met Treatment × SEC F (p)	RmTBI × SEC F (p)	Met Treatment × RmTBI × SEC F (p)
PFC	Bdnf	0.30 (0.59)	1.22 (0.28)	8.02 (<0.01)	0.13 (0.72)	2.15 (0.15)	0.72 (0.40)	0.01 (0.92)
	GR	0.30 (0.59)	5.16 (0.03)	0.14 (0.71)	0.00 (0.99)	1.59 (0.21)	0.15 (0.70)	0.06 (0.81)
	lba1	0.04 (0.84)	0.05 (0.82)	0.74 (0.39)	0.11 (0.74)	4.10 (0.05)	0.02 (0.89)	0.08 (0.79)
	Maoa	0.00 (0.98)	6.89 (0.01)	8.90 (<0.01)	0.21 (0.65)	4.02 (0.05)	0.10 (0.75)	0.19 (0.66)
AMYG	Bdnf	1.01 (0.32)	0.94 (0.34)	0.35 (0.56)	0.26 (0.62)	0.32 (0.58)	0.61 (0.44)	4.87 (0.03)
	GR	0.88 (0.35)	0.77 (0.39)	8.43 (<0.01)	0.00 (0.95)	0.44 (0.51)	4.70 (0.04)	0.84 (0.37)
	lba1	0.20 (0.66)	1.75 (0.20)	15.94 (<0.01)	0.32 (0.57)	0.01 (0.93)	0.02 (0.90)	0.76 (0.40)
	Maoa	0.44 (0.51)	3.04 (0.09)	8.53 (<0.01)	0.07 (0.79)	2.14 (0.15)	0.78 (0.38)	0.21 (0.65)
HPC	Bdnf	0.10 (0.75)	1.04 (0.32)	1.25 (0.27)	1.24 (0.27)	0.36 (0.56)	0.43 (0.52)	0.01 (0.92)
	GR	0.00 (0.96)	4.34 (0.04)	1.26 (0.27)	0.24 (0.63)	0.23 (0.63)	0.72 (0.40)	0.01 (0.94)
	lba1	0.00 (0.98)	0.65 (0.43)	11.18 (<0.01)	1.17 (0.29)	1.12 (0.30)	0.00 (0.99)	0.59 (0.45)
	Maoa	0.22 (0.64)	1.19 (0.28)	3.20 (0.08)	0.24 (0.63)	0.00 (0.99)	0.56 (0.46)	0.10 (0.75)
PIT	Bdnf	1.01 (0.33)	0.06 (0.81)	0.01 (0.93)	0.41 (0.53)	0.54 (0.47)	0.06 (0.81)	0.01 (0.92)
	ER	0.35 (0.56)	11.02 (<0.01)	17.58 (<0.01)	1.21 (0.29)	3.77 (0.07)	0.09 (0.77)	0.00 (0.97)
	GR	0.02 (0.90)	4.44 (0.05)	0.01 (0.93)	0.15 (0.71)	0.262 (0.61)	1.77 (0.20)	0.00 (0.97)
	lba1	1.37 (0.26)	0.13 (0.73)	7.93 (0.01)	0.42 (0.52)	0.14 (0.72)	0.46 (0.51)	0.07 (0.79)
	Maoa	0.34 (0.57)	3.62 (0.07)	9.61 (<0.01)	1.67 (0.21)	0.00 (0.96)	0.52 (0.48)	0.02 (0.88)
	Creb	2.38 (0.14)	0.56 (0.46)	5.93 (0.02)	8.16 (0.01)	7.08 (0.01)	0.47 (0.50)	0.02 (0.88)

TABLE 2 | Changes in gene expression in the pfc, amyg, hpc, and pit after rmtbi, metandienone treatment, and SEC.



FIGURE 6 Bar graphs displaying the results from telomere length analysis and serum ELISA results. Means \pm standard error are displayed where *main effect for SEC, ⁺main effect of Met treatment, ^asignificant RmTBI by SEC interaction, and ^βsignificant Met treatment by RmTBI interaction $p \le 0.05$. (A) Displays average telomere length for each of the groups at time of sacrifice. *Post-hoc* analysis demonstrated that the lnjury by SEC interaction was driven by the sham animals, whereby telomere length was significantly reduced in response to cessation of AAS and exercise if the rat did not receive repetitive injuries, but was not reduced in animals that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise, and RmTBI, p = 0.02. (B) Displays the mean serum levels of testosterone at time of sacrifice. *Post-hoc* analysis demonstrated that the lnjury by SEC interaction was driven by animals in the RmTBI group, whereby those that experienced cessation of AAS and exercise exhibited significant decreases in ALT levels as compared to animals with RmTBI that maintained treatment throughout the experiment, p < 0.01. (D) Displays mean serum levels of corticosterone at time of sacrifice. *Post-hoc* analysis demonstrated elevated corticosterone and animals in the RmTBI that maintained treatment throughout the experiment, p < 0.01. (D) Displays mean serum levels of corticosterone at time of sacrifice. *Post-hoc* analysis showed that the Met Treatment by Injury interaction was driven by the placebo group, where sham animals demonstrated elevated corticosterone and animals in the placebo group that received RmTBI sexhibited reductions in corticosterone, p = 0.02. RmTBI, repetitive mild traumatic brain injury; S+E, steroid and exercise; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; ALT, alanine aminotransferase.

RmTBI (43, 77). However, given that pediatric mTBI may lower cortisol levels (22), Met may be compensating for this loss by escalating the glucocorticoid response in adolescence and ironically providing neuroprotection to the injured brain. Finally, with Met being an orally consumed AAS, which has been shown to induce hepatotoxic effects through first pass metabolism (14, 18), we sought to examine the effects of Met treatment, SEC, and RmTBI on liver function by measuring ALT levels, a known biomarker of liver damage (78). SEC was found to decrease circulating levels of ALT in both RmTBI and sham animals, but the SEC-induced reduction of ALT was significantly greater in the RmTBI group. Given that animals in the SEC group had abstained from Met consumption for ~ 14 days prior to sacrifice, it is not surprising that they had lower ALT levels as the hepatotoxic compounds would have been removed from their systems. However, as the SEC also lowered ALT in the placebo groups, it is possible that ALT levels were more representative of exercise exposure than Met treatment, as wheel running in rodents has been shown to increase ALT (79). In addition, the intensified reductions in ALT levels we identified in the RmTBI + SEC groups, suggests that RmTBI influenced general liver health, and warrants future investigations. Overall, our results of circulating corticosterone and ALT demonstrate that Met exposure in adolescence can exacerbate the systemic response to injury and can significantly impact an individual's health.

As the PFC plays an important role in executive function, cognition (80), personality, and social behavior (81), it is particularly vulnerable to the negative consequences associated with AAS (61) and RmTBI (59). Given that the PFC matures much slower than other brain regions, undergoing significant development in adolescence, alterations to mRNA expression and protein translation may consequentially affect healthy neurodevelopment (82). In the present study mRNA expression in the PFC was examined in the context of Met treatment, SEC, and RmTBI. Bdnf plays a role in the developing PFC and is involved in brain plasticity related processes. Although not found in this study, AAS use has been shown to decrease *Bdnf* expression (61), which has been linked to abnormal social behavior (83). Therefore, SEC may have had positive effects in the PFC, as it increased levels of Bdnf expression. Maoa is involved in serotonin metabolism, and alterations in expression are associated with maladaptive behavioral responses to stress, such as depressive-like behaviors (47, 48). This increase in Maoa expression due to Met treatment and SEC would be consistent with our finding that Met promotes depressive-like behavior, in-line with existing literature on the depressive effects of AAS (62, 84). Complimentary to this finding, we also showed that Iba1, a known marker of microglial activation (45), exhibited increased expression in Met + SEC animals. Augmented inflammation in the PFC may contribute to the cognitive and withdrawal symptoms typically identified in AAS-users (85). GR expression was also increased due to Met treatment; possibly because androgens inhibit glucocorticoid binding to GRs (86, 87), or because Met treatment increased circulation of corticosterone. Nonetheless, increased GR activation is associated with alterations to the stress response, which could be responsible for increased neurotoxicity and further exacerbation of cognitive impairments (43, 44). We were able to show that Met treatment and SEC produced mRNA changes in the PFC that potentially contribute to stress, and in turn affect depressivelike behavior.

The AMYG is a brain region that is particularly vulnerable to both RmTBI and AAS action as it is heavily implicated in the stress response and emotional regulation (88, 89). Changes in gene expression in the AMYG can influence neuronal excitability and produce anxiogenic and depressive effects that may contribute to anxiety and mood-related disorders (90). SEC had substantial effects on gene expression in the AMYG. Maoa levels were affected, suggesting that serotonin levels are also altered in the AMYG, coinciding with previous literature demonstrating that AAS use may produce persistent changes to serotonergic circuitry after drug cessation in adolescence (64). In addition, increased expression of Iba1 suggests a state of oxidative stress and neuroinflammation in the AMYG (45, 91). GR expression was also increased, but those with RmTBIs exhibited less of an increase, possibly because Met treatment upregulated GR expression before treatment stopped. Interestingly *Bdnf* expression in the AMYG was influenced by an interaction between RmTBI, Met, and SEC, which warrants further investigating as altered Bdnf levels in the AMYG have been implicated in depression (92). The mRNA expression changes suggest that SEC lead to increased neuroinflammatory and stress responses in the AMYG, which could interact with many brain regions to produce anxiogenic and depressive effects, while feeding into a persistent cycle of systemic stress.

Conversely, the HPC was the least affected by SEC and Met treatment. The HPC, like the AMYG, is part of the limbic system, and is in part responsible for emotional regulation (93). However, it also plays a role in cognitive function, memory consolidation, and a key site for adult neurogenesis (94). SEC increased *Iba1* expression in the HPC which as a marker of microglial activity (45), is associated with the suppression of neurogenesis in the HPC (95), contributing to symptoms of depression (96) which are prevalent in AAS-withdrawal (18). Conversely, increased GR activation has been associated with reduced neurogenesis and HPC damage (97). *GR* expression was increased by Met treatment, likely due to the altered stress response that AAS can enact on the brain (61) as well as an attempt by the HPC to lower HPA function through negative feedback mechanisms.

Lastly, the PIT is a neuroendocrine structure, implicated in the regulation of many physiological processes including growth, reproduction, and stress (98). Notably, the PIT plays a large role in the HPA axis, receiving input from the hypothalamus and subsequently leading to the downstream activation of glucocorticoid synthesis and secretion (99). Because of its involvement in the brain's response to stress and hormonal function, it is susceptible to permutation from RmTBI and the effects of AAS-withdrawal. Given that we identified changes in anxiety and depressive-like behaviors, in addition to serum markers of stress, we examined mRNA expression in the PIT. Like the PFC and AMYG, SEC had profound effects on gene expression. Firstly, *Maoa* expression was increased, potentially affecting the HPA axis, and downstream ACTH secretion (100). Previous findings have shown that treatment with selective

serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) have increased HPA activation (101) and that general stimulation of serotonergic circuitry surrounding the HPA axis has led to increased HPA activation (102), therefore Maoa upregulation could be a function of increased serotonergic activity in the PIT. Given that ER is involved in the transcriptional control of endocrine functions such as the synthesis and release of growth hormone, prolacatin, and gonadotropin hormones (103, 104), alteration in expression levels of this gene due to SEC and Met treatment could have significant consequences during the neurodevelopmentally sensitive period of adolescence. ER can be greatly affected by AAS too since the excess androgens can aromatize in the brain to estradiols which bind to estrogen receptors, producing both genomic and non-genomic effects (14, 53). Creb was affected by SEC in the PIT, however there were also interactions between Met and SEC, and Met and RmTBI. These peculiar results likely reflect the integral role that Creb plays for healthy development of the PIT (105). Alterations to Creb levels through Met, SEC, or RmTBI could prove detrimental given the PIT is very sensitive to Creb levels, as seen in pituitary tumors or pituitary hypoplasia (105). Like the other 3 brain regions examined, SEC increased Iba1 mRNA expression. The HPA axis has bidirectional communication with the neuroimmune system (76), and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines due to microglial reactivity (106) affects PIT development and enhances HPA axis function through increased ACTH production (106). Finally, we saw increased GR expression due to Met exposure. Typically, acute HPA activation results in the release of glucocorticoids as a protective response (107) which also play a regulatory role by way of negative feedback inhibition on the PIT (108). However, AAS have been shown to alter behavior through increased glucocorticoid signaling (109) manifesting as depression and anxiety-like behaviors consistent with our behavioral findings. These effects can be further exacerbated in adolescence as previous findings have shown adolescent animals to have longer HPA responses than adults (97).

In summary, this study identified negative and alarming outcomes associated with RmTBI and SEC in adolescence. Behaviourally, we identified cumulative effects of RmTBI and SEC to loss of consciousness, anxiety-like behavior, and shortterm working memory, in addition to changes in aggression and depressive-like behavior due to Met treatment. Interestingly, we saw even more robust effects of Met treatment and SEC in mRNA expression changes across 4 different brain regions, most of which demonstrated alterations to serotonergic circuitry, neuroinflammation, and an enhanced stress response. Interestingly, although serum corticosterone levels did not reflect any change due to SEC, Met was able to increase the glucocorticoid response to RmTBI. Opposite to our findings of lower corticosterone after RmTBI, studies of severe TBI show acute increases in cortisol after injury in both children (110) and adult patients (111, 112). As cortisol levels can fluctuate depending on TBI severity, there is a need for more research on the beneficial effects of AAS on glucocorticoid secretion since previous clinical trials have found corticosterone treatments for TBI to increase mortality rates (113). To date, only 2 studies have tried to investigate the interactions between AAS abuse and mTBI with varying results (114, 115), leaving a gap in the literature on a growing problem among both adolescent and adult athletes.

Although there are numerous strengths to this article, it is not without it's limitations. For example, future studies should examine the effects of SEC on female rats; while the usage of AAS in female adolescents is well-below that of males, their lifetime prevalence is still significant (13, 26, 27). In addition, mRNA was extracted from tissue in the specified brain regions, but this was not cell specific and we were unable to attribute mRNA changes to neurons or surrounding glial cells. While an ideal study would have examined cell specific gene expression changes, protein levels, and immunohistochemistry, this would have required a substantially larger sample size, but leaves ample opportunity for future discoveries in the field. However, to our knowledge, this is also the first study to examine the affects of sudden withdrawal of AAS has on the neurological function of athletes who have sustained multiple concussion. Given the findings from this study, we believe that future research examining the affects of SEC post-injury are warranted and suggest that clinical studies be done to confirm if athletes should taper the cessation of their AAS regime rather than quit cold turkey in an effort to minimize negative outcomes. Additionally, Met's ability to promote glucocorticoid secretion after injury opens potential therapeutic avenues of exogenous hormone administration for clinical treatment of mTBL

ETHICS STATEMENT

All reported experiments were carried out in accordance with the Canadian Council of Animal Care and received approval from the University of Calgary Conjoint Faculties Research Ethics Approval Board.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JT was involved in the experimental design, data collection, and writing of the manuscript. RC was involved in data collection and writing of the manuscript. CD was involved in experimental design and manuscript writing. SS was involved in experimental design and manuscript writing. RM was involved with experimental design, data collection, data analysis, and writing of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute, Alberta Children's Hospital Foundation, the Canadian Institute for Health Research, the National Scientific and Engineering Research Council, and the Integrated Concussion Research Program for their financial support.

REFERENCES

- Faul M, Xu L, Wald MM, Coronado VG. Traumatic Brain Injury in the United States: Emergency Department Visits, Hospitalizations and Deaths 2002–2006. (2010) Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Mychasiuk R, Hehar H, Candy S, Ma I, Esser MJ. The direction of the acceleration and rotational forces associated with mild traumatic brain injury in rodents effect behavioural and molecular outcomes. *J Neurosci Methods*. (2016) 257:168–78. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2015.10.002
- 3. Vynorius KC, Paquin AM, Seichepine DR. Lifetime multiple mild traumatic brain injuries are associated with cognitive and mood symptoms in young healthy college students. *Front Neurol.* (2016) 7:188. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00188
- Ryan L, Warden DL. Post concussion syndrome. Int Rev Psychiatry. (2003) 15:310–6. doi: 10.1080/09540260310001606692
- Rose SC, Weber KD, Collen JB, Heyer GL. The diagnosis and management of concussion in children and adolescents. *Pediatric Neurol.* (2015) 53:108– 18. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2015.04.003
- Giza CC, Hovda DA. The neurometabolic cascade of concussion. J Athletic Train. (2001) 36:228–35.
- Giza CC, Hovda DA. The new neurometabolic cascade of concussion. Neurosurgery. (2014) 75:S24–33. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000000505
- Amorini AM, Lazzarino G, Di Pietro V, Signoretti S, Lazzarino G, Belli A, et al. Metabolic, enzymatic and gene involvement in cerebral glucose dysmetabolism after traumatic brain injury. *Biochem Biophys Acta*. (2016) 1862:679–87. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.01.023
- Di Pietro V, Lazzarino G, Amorini AM, Signoretti S, Hill LJ, Porto E, et al. Fusion or fission: the destiny of mitochondria in traumatic brain injury of different severities. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:9189. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09587-2
- Kim S, Han SC, Gallan AJ, Hayes JP. Neurometabolic indicators of mitochondrial dysfunction in repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. *Concussion.* (2017) 2:CNC48. doi: 10.2217/cnc-2017-0013
- Jimenez N, Quistberg A, Vavilala MS, Jaffe KM, Rivara FP. Utilization of mental health services after mild pediatric traumatic brain injury. *Pediatrics*. (2017) 139:1. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2462
- Selassie AW, Wilson DA, Pickelsimer EE, Voronca DC, Williams NR, Edwards JC. Incidence of sport-related traumatic brain injury and risk factors of severity: a population-based epidemiologic study. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2013) 23:750–6. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2013.07.022
- Sagoe D, Molde H, Andreassen CS, Torsheim T, Pallesen S. The global epidemiology of anabolic androgenic steroid use: a metaanalysis and meta-regression analysis. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2014) 24:383–98. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2014.01.009
- Hartgens F, Kuipers H. Effects of adrogenic-anabolic steroids in athletes. Sports Med. (2004) 34:513–54. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200434080-00003
- Pomara C, Neri M, Bello S, Fiore C, Riezzo I, Turillazzi E. Neurotoxicity by synthetic androgen steroids: oxidative stress, apoptosis, and neuropathology. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2015) 13:132–45. doi: 10.2174/1570159X13666141210221434
- Lumia AR, McGinnis MY. Impact of anabolic androgenic steroids on adolescent males. *Physiol Behav.* (2010) 100:199– 204. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.01.007
- Clark AS, Henderson LP. Behavioral and physiological responses to anabolic-androgenic steroids. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2003) 27:413– 36. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(03)00064-2
- Kanayama G, Hudson JI, Pope HG Jr. Long-term psychiatric and medical consequences of anabolic-androgenic steroid abuse: a looming public health concern? *Drug Alcohol Depend.* (2008) 98:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.05.004
- Salas-Rameriz K, Montalto PR, Sisk CL. Anabolic steroids have longlasting effects on male social behaviours. *Behav Brain Res.* (2010) 208:328– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2009.11.026
- Tanriverdi F, Kelestimur F. Pituitary dysfunction following traumatic brain injury: clinical perspective. *Neuropsychiatric Dis Treat.* (2015) 11:1835– 43. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S65814
- Munck A, Guyre PM, Holbrook NJ. Physiological functions of glucocorticoids in stress and their relation to pharmacological actions. *Endocr Rev.* (1984) 5:25–44. doi: 10.1210/edrv-5-1-25

- Ritchie E, Emery C, Debert CT. Analysis of serum cortisol to predict recovery in pediatric sport-related concussion. *Brain Inj.* (2018) 32:523– 8. doi: 10.1080/02699052.2018.1429662
- Kashkin KB, Kleber HD. Hooked on hormones? An anabolic steroid addiction hypothesis. J Am Med Assoc. (1989) 262:3166– 70. doi: 10.1001/jama.1989.03430220089036
- Pope HG, Katz DL. Psychiatric and medical effects of anabolicandrogenic steroid use: a controlled study of 160 athletes. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1994) 51:375–82. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1994.039500500 35004
- Germanakis I, Tsarouhas K, Fragkiadaki P, Tsitsimpikou C, Goutzourelas N, Champsas MC, et al. Oxidative stress and myocardial dysfunction in young rabbits after short-term anabolic steroid administration. *Food Chem Toxicol.* (2013) 61:101–5. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2013.03.018
- Bahrke M, Yesalis CE, Kopstein AN, Stephens JA. Risk factors associated wtih anabolic-androgenic steroid use among adolescents. *Sports Med.* (2000) 29:397–405. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200029060-00003
- Handelsman DJ, Gupta L. Prevalence and risk factors for anabolic androgenic steroid abuse in Australian high school students. *Int J Androl.* (1997) 20:159– 64. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2605.1997.d01-285.x
- Lorang M, Callahan B, Cummins KM, Achar S, Brown SA. Anabolic androgenic steroid use in teens: prevalence, demographics and perception of effects. J Child Adolescent Subst Abuse. (2011) 20:358–69. doi: 10.1080/1067828X.2011.598842
- 29. Thiblin I, Finn A, Ross SB, Stenfors C. Increased dopaminergic and 5-hydroxtryptaminergic activities in male rat brain following long-term treatment with anabolic androgenic steroids. *Br J Pharmacol.* (1999) 126:1301–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0702412
- Viano DC, Hamberger A, Bolouri H, Säljö A. Concussion in professional football: animal model of brain injury - part 15. *Neurosurgery*. (2009) 64:1162–73. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000345863.99099.C7
- 31. Salberg S, Christensen J, Yamakawa GR, Lengkeek C, Malik H, Tabor J, et al. A bump on the head or late to bed: the behavioral and pathophysiological effects of sleep deprivation after repetitive mild traumatic brain injury in adolescent rats. *J Neurotrauma*. (2018) 35:1895–1905. doi: 10.1089/neu.2018.5744
- 32. Yamakawa G, Lengkeek C, Salberg S, Spanswick SC, Mychasiuk R. Behavioural and pathophysiological outcomes associated with caffeine consumption and repetitive mild traumatic brain injury (RmTBI) in adolescent rats. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0187218. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187218
- Schallert T, Woodlee MT, Fleming SM. Disentangling multiple types of recovery from brain injury. In: Krieglstein J, Klumpp S, editors. *Pharmacology of Cerebral Ischemia*. Stuttgart: Medpharm Scientific Publishers (2002). p. 201.
- Whishaw IQ, Kolb B. The Behavior of the Laboratory Rat: A Handbook With Tests. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2005).
- Spanswick SC, Sutherland RJ. Object/context-specific memory deficits associated with loss of hippocampal granule cells after adrenalectomy in rats. *Learn Mem.* (2010) 17:241–5. doi: 10.1101/lm.1746710
- Lindzey G, Winston H, Manosevitz M. Social dominance in inbred mouse strains. *Nature*. (1961) 191:474–6. doi: 10.1038/191474a0
- Yadid G, Overstreet DH, Zangen A. Limbic dopaminergic adaptation to a stressful stimulus in a rat model of depression. *Brain Res.* (2001) 896:43– 7. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(00)03248-0
- Kolb B, Mychasiuk R, Muhammad A, Li Y, Frost DO, Gibb R. Experience and the developing prefrontal cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:17186–93. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1121251109
- Mychasiuk R, Metz GA. Epigenetic and gene expression changes in the adolescent brain: What have we learned from animal models? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 70:189. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.07.013
- 40. Zilles K. The Cortex of the Rat: A Stereotaxis Atlas. Berlin: Springer-Verlag (1985).
- Aid T, Kazantseva A, Piirsoo M, Palm K, Timmusk T. Mouse and rat BDNF gene structure and expression revisited. *J Neurosci Res.* (2007) 85:525– 35. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21139
- 42. Mychasiuk R, Hehar H, Ma I, Kolb B, Esser MJ. The development of lasting impairments: a mild pediatric brain injury alters gene expression, dendritic

morphology, and synaptic connectivity in the prefrontal cortex of rats. *Neuroscience.* (2015) 288:145–55. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.12.034

- McCullers DL, Sullivan PG, Scheff SW, Herman JP. Traumatic brain injury regulates adrenocorticosteroid receptor mRNA levels in rat hippocampus. *Brain Res.* (2002) 947:41–9. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(02) 02904-9
- Sapolsky RM, Pulsinelli WA. Glucocorticoids potentiate ischemic injury to neurons: Therapeutic implications. *Science*. (1985) 229:1397–400. doi: 10.1126/science.4035356
- 45. Imai Y, Kohsaka S. Intracellular signaling in M-CSF-induced microglia activation: role of Iba1. *Glia.* (2002) 40:164–74. doi: 10.1002/glia.10149
- Fehily B, Fitzgerald M. Repeated mild traumatic brain injury: potential mechanisms of damage. *Cell Transplant.* (2017) 26:1131–55. doi: 10.1177/0963689717714092
- Chester DS, DeWall CN, Derefinko KJ, Estus S, Peters JR, Lynam DR, et al. Monoamine oxidase A (MAOA) genotype predicts greater aggression through impulsive reactivity to negative affect. *Behav Brain Res.* (2015) 283:97–101. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.01.034
- Godar SC, Bortolato M, Richards SE, Li FG, Chen K, Wellman CL, et al. Monoamine oxidase A is required for rapid dendritic remodeling in response to stress. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2015) 18:pyv035. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyv035
- Naoi M, Maruyama W, Shamoto-Nagai M. Type A monoamine oxidase and serotonin are coordinately involved in depressive disorders: from neurotransmitter imbalance to impaired neurogenesis. J Neural Transm. (2018) 125:53–66. doi: 10.1007/s00702-017-1709-8
- Silva A, Kogan JH, Frankland PW, Kida S. CREB and memory. Annu Rev Neurosci. (1998) 21:127–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.21.1.127
- Carlezon WA, Duman RS, Nestler EJ. The many faces of CREB. Trends Neurosci. (2005) 28:436–45. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2005.06.005
- Atkins CM, Falo MC, Alonso OF, Bramlett HM, Dietrich WD. Deficits in ERK and CREB activation in the hippocampus after traumatic brain injury. *Neurosci Lett.* (2009) 459:52–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009. 04.064
- McEwen BS, Alves SE. Estrogen actions in the central nervous system. *Endocr Rev.* (1999) 20:279–307. doi: 10.1210/er.20.3.279
- 54. Bonefeld BE, Elfving B, Wegener G. Reference genes for normalization: a study of rat brain tissue. *Synapse*. (2008) 62:302–9. doi: 10.1002/syn.20496
- 55. Pfaffl MW. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in realtime RT-PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2001) 29:e45. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.9.e45
- Cawthon RM. Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. (2002) 30:e47. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.10.e47
- Sherwin CM. Voluntary wheel running: a review and novel interpretation. Anim Behav. (1998) 56:11–27. doi: 10.1006/anbe.1998.0836
- Afonso VM, Eikelboom R. Relationship between wheel running, feeding, drinking, and body weight in male rats. *Physiol Behav.* (2003) 80:19– 26. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(03)00216-6
- Mychasiuk R, Hehar H, Ma I, Candy S, Esser MJ. Reducing the time interval between concussion and voluntary exercise restores motor impairment, short-term memory, and alterations to gene expression. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2016) 44:2407–17. doi: 10.1111/ ejn.13360
- 60. Sagarkar S, Bhamburkar T, Shelkar G, Choudhary A, Kokare DM, Sakharkar AJ. Minimal traumatic brain injury causes persistent changes in DNA methylation at BDNF promoters in rat amygdala: a possible role in anxiety-like behaviors. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2017) 106:101–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2017.06.016
- 61. Matrisciano F, Modafferi AM, Togna GI, Barone Y, Pinna G, Nicoletti F, et al. Repeated anabolic-androgenic steroid treatment causes antidepressant-reversible alterations of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, BDNF levels, and behavior. *Neuropharmacology.* (2010) 58:1078–84. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.01.015
- Rainer Q, Speziali S, Rubino T, Dominguez-Lopez S, Bambico FR, Gobbi G, et al. Chronic nandrolone decanoate exposure during adolescence affects emotional behavior and monoaminergic neurotransmission in adulthood. *Neuropharmacology.* (2014) 83:79–88. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.03.015

- 63. Semple BD, Canchola SA, Noble-Haeusslein LJ. Deficits in social behavior emerge during development after pediatric traumatic brain injury in mice. J Neurotr. (2012) 29:2672–83. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2595
- Grimes JM, Melloni RH. Prolonged alterations in the serotonin neural system following the cessation of adolescent anabolicadrogenic steroid exposure in hamsters. *Behav Neurosci.* (2006) 120:1242–51. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.120.6.1242
- Ricci LA, Rasakham K, Grimes JM, Melloni RH. Serotonin-1A receptor activity and expression modulate adolescent anabolic/androgenic steroidinduced aggression in hamsters. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* (2006) 85:1– 11. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2006.06.022
- Hehar H, Mychasiuk R. The use of telomere length as a predictive biomarker for injury prognosis in juvenile rats folowing a concussion/mild traumatic brain injury. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2016) 87:11–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.12.007
- Blasco MA. Telomeres and human disease: ageing, cancer, and beyond. Nat Rev Genet. (2005) 6:611–22. doi: 10.1038/nrg1656
- Panossian LA, Porter VR, Valenzuela HF, Zhu X, Reback E, Masterman D, et al. Telomere shortening in T cells correlates with Alzheimer's disease status. *Neurobiol Aging.* (2003) 24:77–84. doi: 10.1016/S0197-4580(02)00043-X
- 69. Kawanishi S, Oikawa S. Mechanism of telomere shortening by oxidative stress. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2004) 1019:278–84. doi: 10.1196/annals.1297.047
- Wolkowitz O, Epel ES, Reus VI, Mellon SH. Depression gets old fast: do stress and depression accelerate aging? *Depress Anxiety.* (2010) 27:327– 38. doi: 10.1002/da.20686
- Calado RT, Yewdell WT, Wilkerson KL, Regal JA, Kajigaya S, Stratakis CA, et al. Sex hormones, acting on the TERT gene, increase telomerase activity in human primary hematopoietic cells. *Blood.* (2009) 114:2236– 43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-09-178871
- Eitan E, Hutchison ER, Mattson MP. Telomere shortening in neurological disorders: an abundance of unanswered questions. *Trends Neurosci.* (2014) 37:256–63. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2014.02.010
- McBride J, Coward RM. Recovery of spermatogenesis following testosterone replacement therapy or anabolic steroid use. *Asian J Androl.* (2016) 18:373– 80. doi: 10.4103/1008-682X.173938
- Jarow JP, Lipshultz LI. Anabolic steroid-induced hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. Am J Sports Med. (1990) 18:429– 31. doi: 10.1177/036354659001800417
- 75. Schlussman SD, Zhou Y, Johansson P, Kiuru A, Ho A, Nyberg F, et al. Effects of androgenic anabolic steroid, nandrolone decanoate, on adrenocorticotropin hormone, corticosterone, and proopiomelanocrtin, corticotropin releasing factor, and CRF receptor1 mRNA in the hypothalamus, pituitary and amygdala of the rat. *Neurosci Lett.* (2000) 284:190–4. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(00)01016-8
- Viau V. Functional cross-talk between the hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal and-adrenal axes. J Neuroendocrinol. (2002) 14:506–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2826.2002.00798.x
- 77. Merchant-Borna K, Lee H, Wang D, Bogner V, van Griensven M, Gill J, et al. Genome-wide changes in peripheral gene expression following sports-related concussion. J Neurotrauma. (2016) 33:1576– 85. doi: 10.1089/neu.2015.4191
- 78. Prati D, Taioli E, Zanella A, Della Torre E, Butelli S, Del Vecchio E, et al. Updated definitions of healthy ranges of serum alanine aminotransferase levels. Ann Inter Med. (2002) 137:1-10. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-137-1-200207020-00006
- 79. Li D, Wang X, Liu B, Liu Y, Zeng Z, Lu L, et al. Exercise in hot and humid environments caused liver injury in a rat model. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e11741. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0111741
- 80. Miller EK, Cohen JD. An intergrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. *Ann Rev Neurosci.* (2001) 24:167–202. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.167
- Yang Y, Raine A. Prefrontal structure and functional brain imaging findings in antisocial, violent, and psychopathic individuals: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2009) 174:81–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2009.03.012
- Crews F, He J, Hodge C. Adolescent cortical development: a critical period of vulnerability for addiction. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* (2007) 86:189–99. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2006. 12.001

- Roth TL, Lubin FD, Funk AJ, Sweatt JD. Lasting epigenetic influence of early-life adversity on the BDNF gene. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2009) 65:760– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.028
- Piacentino D, Kotzalidis GD, Del Casale A, Aromatario MR, Pomara C, Girardi P, et al. Anabolic-androgenic steroid use and psychopathology in athletes: a systematic review. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2015) 13:101– 21. doi: 10.2174/1570159X13666141210222725
- Kanayama G, Brower KJ, Wood RI, Hudson JI, Pope HG. Treatment of anabolic-androgenic steroid dependence: emerging evidence and its implications. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* (2010) 109:6–13. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.01.011
- Shahidi N. A review of the chemistry, biological action, and clinical applications of anabolic-androgenic steroids. *Clin Ther.* (2001) 23:1355– 90. doi: 10.1016/S0149-2918(01)80114-4
- 87. Wu F. Endocrine aspects of anabolic steroids. *Clin Chem.* (1997) 43:1289–92.
- Davis M. The role of the amygdala in fear and anxiety. Ann Rev Neurosci. (1992) 15:353–75. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ne.15.030192.002033
- Davidson RJ, Putnam KM, Larson CL. Dysfunction in the neural circuitry of emotion regulation-a possible prelude to violence. *Science.* (2000) 289:591– 4. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5479.591
- Broshek DK, De Marco AP, Freeman JR. A review of post-concussion syndrome and psychological factors associated with concussion. *Brain Injury*. (2015) 29:228–37. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2014.974674
- Metting Z, Wilczak N, Rodiger LA, Schaaf JM, van der Naalt J. GFAP and S100B in the acute phase of mild traumatic brain injury. *Neurology*. (2012) 78:1428–33. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318253d5c7
- 92. Guilloux JP, Douillard-Guilloux G, Kota R, Wang X, Gardier AM, Martinowich K, et al. Molecular evidence for BDNF-and GABA-related dysfunctions in the amygdala of female subjects with major depression. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2012) 17:1130–42. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.113
- Bast T. Toward an integrative perspective on hippocampal function: from the rapid encoding of experience to adaptive behavior. *Rev Neurosci.* (2007) 18:253–81. doi: 10.1515/REVNEURO.2007.18.3-4.253
- Abrous DN, Koehl M, Le Moal M. Adult neurogenesis: from precursors to network and physiology. *Physiol Rev.* (2005) 85:523–69. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00055.2003
- 95. Biscaro B, Lindvall O, Tesco G, Ekdahl CT, Nitsch RM. Inhibition of microglial activation protects hippocampal neurogenesis and improves cognitive deficits in a transgenic mouse model for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurodegener Dis.* (2012) 9:187–98. doi: 10.1159/000330363
- Sahay A, Hen R. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis in depression. Nat Neurosci. (2007) 10:1110–5. doi: 10.1038/nn1969
- McEwen BS. Physiology and neurobiology of stress and adaptation: central role of the brain. *Physiol Rev.* (2007) 87:873–904. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00041.2006
- Davis SW, Ellsworth BS, Peréz Millan MI, Gergics P, Schade V, Foyouzi N, et al. Pituitary gland development and disease: from stem cell to hormone production. *Curr Topics Dev Biol.* (2013) 106:1– 47. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-416021-7.00001-8
- Crowley S, Girdler SS. Neurosteroid, GABAergic and hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis regulation: what is the current state of knowledge in humans? *Psychopharmacology.* (2014) 231:3619–34. doi: 10.1007/s00213-014-3572-8
- 100. Jabbi M, Korf J, Kema IP, Hartman C, van der Pompe G, Minderaa RB, et al. Convergent genetic modulation of the endocrine stress response involves polymorphic variations of 5-HTT, COMT and MAOA. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2007) 12:483–90. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001975
- 101. Jensen JB, Jessop DS, Harbuz MS, Mørk A, Sánchez C, Mikkelsen JD. Acute and long-term treatments with the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor citalopram modulate the HPA axis activity at different levels in male rats. J Neuroendocrinol. (1999) 11:465–71. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2826.1999.0 0362.x
- 102. Calogero AE, Bagdy G, Szemeredi K, Tartaglia ME, Gold PW, Chrousos GP. Mechanisms of serotonin receptor agonist-induced activation of

the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the rat. *Endocrinology.* (1990) 126:1888–94. doi: 10.1210/endo-126-4-1888

- 103. Scully KM, Gleiberman AS, Lindzey J, Lubahn DB, Korach KS, Rosenfeld MG. Role of estrogen receptor-α in the anterior pituitary gland. *Mol Endocrinol.* (1997) 11:674–81. doi: 10.1210/mend.11.6.0019
- 104. Avtanski D, Novaira HJ, Wu S, Romero CJ, Kineman R, Luque RM, et al. Both estrogen receptor α and β stimulate pituitary GH gene expression. *Mol Endocrinol.* (2013) 28:40–52. doi: 10.1210/me.2013-1245
- 105. Rosenberg D, Groussin L, Jullian E, Perlemoine K, Bertagna X, Bertherat J. Role of the PKA-regulated transcription factor CREB in development and tumorigenesis of endocrine tissues. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2002) 968:65–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2002. tb04327.x
- 106. Arzt E, Pereda MP, Castro CP, Pagotto U, Renner U, Stalla GK. Pathophysiological role of the cytokine network in the anterior pituitary gland. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (1999) 20:71–95. doi: 10.1006/frne.1998. 0176
- 107. Griesbach GS, Hovda DA, Tio DL, Taylor AN. Heightening of the stress response during the first weeks after a mild traumatic brain injury. *Neuroscience*. (2011) 178:147–58. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011. 01.028
- 108. Tsigos C, Chrousos GP. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, neuroendocrine factors and stress. J Psychosom Res. (2002) 53:865–71. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00429-4
- 109. Alsiö J, Birgner C, Björkblom L, Isaksson P, Bergström L, Schiöth HB, et al. Impact of nandrolone decanoate on gene expression in endocrine systems related to the adverse effects of anabolic androgenic steroids. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol.* (2009) 105:307–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7843.2009.00439.x
- 110. Srinivas R, Brown SD, Chang YF, Garcia-Fillion P, Adelson PD. Endocrine function in children acutely following severe traumatic brain injury. *Child Nerv Syst.* (2010) 26:647–53. doi: 10.1007/s00381-009-1038-9
- 111. Wagner AK, McCullough EH, Niyonkuru C, Ozawa H, Loucks TL, Dobos JA, et al. Acute serum hormone levels: Characterization and prognosis after severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2011) 28:871– 88. doi: 10.1089/neu.2010.1586
- 112. Cernak I, Savic VJ, Lazarov A, Joksimovic M, Markovic S. Neuroendocrine responses following graded traumatic brain injury in male adults. *Brain Injury*. (1999) 13:1005–15. doi: 10.1080/026990599 121016
- 113. Santarsieri M, Niyonkuru C, McCullough EH, Dobos JA, Dixon CE, Berga SL, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid cortisol and progesterone profiles and outcomes prognostication after severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2014) 31:699–712. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3177
- 114. Mills J, Bailes JE, Turner RC, Dodson SC, Sakai J, Maroon JC. Anabolic steroids and head injuries. *Neurosurgery*. (2001) 70:205– 9. doi: 10.1227/NEU.0b013e3182250918
- 115. Namjoshi DR, Cheng WH, Carr M, Martens KM, Zareyan S, Wilkinson A, et al. Chronic exposure to androgenic-anabolic steroids exacerbates axonal injury and microgliosis in the CHIMERA mouse model of repetitive concussion. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0146540. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0146540

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tabor, Collins, Debert, Shultz and Mychasiuk. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Disrupted White Matter Microstructure of the Cerebellar Peduncles in Scholastic Athletes After Concussion

Jacob M. Mallott¹, Eva M. Palacios¹, Jun Maruta^{2,3}, Jamshid Ghajar^{3,4} and Pratik Mukherjee^{1,5*}

¹ Department of Radiology and Biomedical Imaging, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States, ² Departments of Neurology and Rehabilitation and Human Performance, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States, ³ Brain Trauma Foundation, New York, NY, United States, ⁴ Department of Neurosurgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, United States, ⁵ Department of Bioengineering and Therapeutic Sciences, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Richard J. Servatius, Syracuse VA Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Carlo Augusto Malio, Campus Bio-Medico University, Italy Kimbra Kenney, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, United States

> *Correspondence: Pratik Mukherjee pratik.mukherjee@ucsf.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 04 February 2019 Accepted: 01 May 2019 Published: 15 May 2019

Citation:

Mallott JM, Palacios EM, Maruta J, Ghajar J and Mukherjee P (2019) Disrupted White Matter Microstructure of the Cerebellar Peduncles in Scholastic Athletes After Concussion. Front. Neurol. 10:518. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00518 Concussion, or mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI), is a major public health concern, linked with persistent post-concussive syndrome, and chronic traumatic encephalopathy. At present, standard clinical imaging fails to reliably detect traumatic axonal injury associated with concussion and post-concussive symptoms. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) is an MR imaging technique that is sensitive to changes in white matter microstructure. Prior studies using DTI did not jointly investigate white matter microstructure in athletes, a population at high risk for concussive and subconcussive head traumas, with those in typical emergency room (ER) patients. In this study, we determine DTI scalar metrics in both ER patients and scholastic athletes who suffered concussions and compared them to those in age-matched healthy controls. In the early subacute post-concussion period, athletes demonstrated an elevated rate of regional decreases in axial diffusivity (AD) compared to controls. These regional decreases of AD were especially pronounced in the cerebellar peduncles, and were more frequent in athletes compared to the ER patient sample. The group differences may indicate differences in the mechanisms of the concussive impacts as well as possible compound effects of cumulative subconcussive impacts in athletes. The prevalence of white matter abnormality in cerebellar tracts lends credence to the hypothesis that post-concussive symptoms are caused by shearing of axons within an attention network mediated by the cerebellum, and warrant further study of the correlation between cerebellar DTI findings and clinical, neurocognitive, oculomotor, and vestibular outcomes in mTBI patients.

Keywords: magnetic resonance, diffusion weighted imaging, acquired brain injury, fractional anisotropy, tractbased spatial statistics

INTRODUCTION

Over 1.7 million Americans suffer a traumatic brain injury (TBI) each year (1). Moderate to severe TBI can often be diagnosed early through computed tomography (CT) and conventional magnetic resonance (MR) imaging. Concussion, or mild TBI (mTBI), however, makes up the great majority of TBI, but cannot be reliably detected by CT or conventional MR imaging techniques (2), which remain the standard of care.

The severity of a concussive injury is assessed by clinical evaluation of symptoms (3). Many concussed patients have symptoms including headaches, fatigue, insomnia, depression, attention problems, and memory problems (3), and while the majority recover within a few weeks, nearly a third continue to have persistent post-concussive symptoms (4–6). Current assessment does not reliably predict which mTBI patients will go on to suffer post-concussive symptoms (7); therefore, objective quantification of concussive injuries is needed.

Diffusion weighted imaging methods, including diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), provide useful tools for probing microstructural white matter changes in mTBI (2, 8). Traumatic axonal injury (TAI) may be inferred from CT or conventional MRI due to its association with small hemorrhages that those modalities can detect, but DTI can more directly detect changes in white matter microarchitecture (2). Past studies have found changes in DTI scalar metrics such as fractional anisotropy (FA), radial diffusivity (RD), and axial diffusivity (AD) in both acute and chronic mTBI patients, indicating microstructural alterations to white matter even in cases where CT and MRI scans were negative (7, 10). In the acute phase, FA has been seen to increase overall, while RD and AD have been seen to decrease. At chronic time points, the opposite effects are seen, with decreases in FA and increases in RD and AD (2, 9). Abnormal DTI scalar parameter values have been associated with cognitive functioning in mTBI patients (2, 8, 10, 11).

Prior DTI investigations of white matter microstructure have generally not studied different populations with concussions. However, athletes make up a population at high risk for concussive and subconcussive head traumas whose physical manifestations of injuries may differ from those due to mechanisms typically seen in the emergency room, such as motor vehicle collisions, assaults, and falls. The present study characterizes the early subacute abnormalities in DTI metrics in both athletes and ER patients after concussion, and compares the findings. In addition to the voxel-wise and tract-wise group comparisons of the conventional DTI literature, we also apply individual-patient tract-level analysis for greater clinical relevance and better robustness to the spatial heterogeneity of the white matter abnormalities associated with concussion (2, 7).

METHODS

Subject Recruitment

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the institutional review board of the Weill Cornell Medical College (WCMC). All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration

of Helsinki except, in the case of minors, legal guardians gave written informed consent with the assent of the subjects. The protocol was approved by the WCMC institutional review board, and data were collected from September of 2012 through September of 2016.

A concussion was defined as an event of blunt impact on the head with loss of consciousness (LOC), post-traumatic amnesia (PTA), or at least one of the following symptoms: dizziness, nausea, headaches, balance problems, blurred or double vision, or feeling dazed/confused. Although for the purpose of this research we did not rely on formal medical diagnosis of concussion necessary for clinical management of the injury (12), this definition is consistent with the guidance of the American Academy of Neurology (13). Eighteen scholastic athletes between ages 13 and 22 years were recruited for testing within 2 weeks of a concussion, as were 42 ER patients with concussion aged 7 years and older, of whom 18 were selected to match the age range of the athlete subjects. For the purpose of equity, athletes were enrolled independently of the level of contact involved in their participating sports. The recruited athlete and ER subjects were scanned for MR imaging as soon as possible. In addition, 38 control subjects aged 7 years and older with no prior history of head injury were recruited and received imaging, of whom 10 were selected to match the age range of the athlete subjects.

Subjects over 18 were required to have a high school diploma or GED; 18-year olds set to graduate high school on time were also included. Exclusion criteria for subjects were a prior history of eye disease, neurological/psychiatric conditions, or substance abuse (**Table 1**). Subjects with contraindications for an MRI were also excluded. For athletes and ER patients, additional exclusion criteria were acute intoxication at the time of the concussion and LOC or PTA for more than 24 h. Subjects' symptoms and cognitive performance were assessed with an extensive battery of tests as reported elsewhere (14, 15).

Magnetic Resonance Imaging

MR imaging was performed at WCMC on a 3T Siemens Trio scanner. In each imaging study, whole-brain diffusion imaging was performed using an echo-planar imaging sequence (TE = 85 ms, TR = 7,500 ms) with one b = 0 s/mm² scan and b =1,000 s/mm² in 64 diffusion directions. Imaging was performed with 128 × 128 × 60 cubic voxels of 2 mm dimensions.

Image preprocessing was performed using tools within the Functional MRI of the Brain (FMRIB, Oxford University, Oxford, UK) Software Library (16–18). Correction for eddy currents and subject motion was performed and registered to the b = 0 s/mm² volume using the FMRIB Linear Image Registration tool (19). Image volumes were checked for excessive subject movement between diffusion weighted images and were accepted if mean and median movement were <2 mm.

Non-brain voxels were then excluded using the FMRIB Brain Extraction tool (20). Using the diffusionweighted data, a diffusion tensor model was generated using the FMRIB DTIFit algorithm, from which fractional anisotropy (FA), mean diffusivity (MD), radial diffusivity (RD), and axial diffusivity (AD) were

TABLE 1 | Exclusion criteria.

Basis	Details
Neurological diagnosis	Prior Diagnosis of one or more of the following: Stroke, multiple sclerosis, epilepsy, brain tumor/cancer, encephalitis, dementia, movement disorder, spontaneous nystagmus
Eye-sight abnormalities	Amblyopia, uncorrected myopia, uncorrected presbyopia, uncorrected farsightedness, astigmatism, color blindness, macular degeneration
Eye diseases	Cataracts, glaucoma, retinal disorder
Psychiatric history	Any of the following: history of psychiatric hospitalization, history of legal trouble for violence, use of psychotropic medication othe than a stable dose of SSRI
Psychiatric diagnoses	Prior Diagnosis of one or more of the following: Bipolar disorder, eating disorder, substance abuse disorder, personality disorder, sleep disorder, depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, ADHD
Questionnaires	Pediatric Subjects: T-Score \geq 70 on Conners 3 Inattention Index or Hyperactivity Index, or T-Score \geq 65 on BAI-Y or BDI-Y. 18+ Subjects: T-Score \geq 70 on CAARS ADHD Index, \geq 27 on CES-D, \geq 26 on BAI.
Alcohol/drug abuse	 Any of the following: Score ≥ 6 on alcohol consumption survey Answering 3 of 7 yes on MINI for alcohol dependence History of daily/almost-daily use of illicit or prescription drugs Use of any illicit or prescription drugs in past week Past hospitalization/rehab for drugs Past loss of job or suspension/expulsion from school for drugs Multiple alcohol- or drug-related citation or arrest

MRI contraindications

Metal in body, claustrophobia, possibility of pregnancy



FIGURE 1 | Fractional anisotropy and Axial Diffusivity in Athlete and Control Brains. (A,B) Fractional Anisotropy (A) and Axial Diffusivity (B) maps for one of the athlete subjects in horizontal and coronal views. (C,D) FA and AD maps for one of the control subjects in horizontal and coronal views. The imaging data has undergone image preprocessing, but has not yet undergone non-linear coregistration to a common template.

determined at each voxel. Typical image quality is shown in Figure 1.

Tract-based Spatial Statistics (TBSS) were used to perform non-linear registration on the FA volumes to the FMRIB58_FA standard-space image, constructed from an average of 58 FA images taken of healthy subjects aged 20–50. After brain volumes were registered into a common space, a mean FA skeleton was generated using a threshold of FA ≥ 0.2 to limit the analysis to white matter voxels. TBSS alignment and white-matter skeleton generation was performed separately for each of the comparison groups (see *Statistical Analyses*) (21).

In addition to voxel-based analysis, masks were applied corresponding to the 27 white matter tracts previously labeled

TABLE 2 | Subject demographics.

	Athletes (18 subjects)	ER Patients (18 subjects)	Controls (10 subjects)
Age	13–22 years (17.7 ± 3.0)	13–25 years (17.1 ± 3.7)	13–25 yrs (21.2 ± 4.0)
Gender	9 Female/9 Male	11 Female/7 Male	5 Female/5 Male
Time after injury	9.4 ± 5.2 days (3–23 days)	10.4 \pm 2.7 days (4–14 days)	N/A
Inclusion criteria	All athlete subjects	Age-matched to athletes	Age-matched to athletes/ER patients

in the Johns Hopkins University (JHU) white-matter atlas (16), with bilateral tracts collapsed. Within each of these regions of interest (ROI), mean values for the four DTI scalar parameters were calculated for each subject.

Statistical Analyses

Using the FMRIB Software Library randomize tool, permutation tests (n = 5,000) were performed to evaluate significant differences between groups on a voxel-wise basis, using Threshold-Free Cluster Enhancement, with correction for family-wise error. For each comparison group, permutation tests were performed for FA, MD, RD, and AD to control for false-positive voxels (22).

Mean FA, MD, RD, and AD within each of the 27 whitematter ROIs were compared between groups with two-sided *t*tests, with false-detection rate (FDR) correction for the multiple comparisons. Comparisons were also made between the groups in terms of the number of individuals with extremely high or low parameter values for each of the four DTI metrics in each white matter tract. For this purpose, an abnormal parameter value was defined as >2.2 control group standard deviations above or below the control mean, which is the threshold used by Yuh et al. (7) in their DTI study of acute mTBI in ER patients. Significance of these group differences were determined with Pearson's χ^2 test.

RESULTS

Subject Demographics

Table 2 summarizes characteristics of the athlete and ER subjects. In our dataset, patient, and control ages were imperfectly matched, while differences in gender were not significant. Despite the best effort to have the recruited athlete and ER subjects scanned for MR imaging quickly, the timing of imaging since concussion ranged from 3 to 23 days, with an overall mean (SD) of 9.9 (4.1) days. There was no statistical difference in the timing of imaging between the athlete and ER groups.

Voxel-Wise Group Comparisons

No significant differences between athlete and ER subjects were found in the voxel-wise comparison. For athletes, significant regional decreases were observed compared to controls in AD (**Figure 2**). These differences were seen in the uncinate fasciculus, external capsule, posterior limb of the internal capsule, and regions of the thalamus. All three of the cerebellar peduncles also saw significant decreases in AD.

White Matter Tract Group Comparisons

Comparisons of white matter ROI means of DTI metrics demonstrated no significant group differences between athletes and controls or between ER patients and controls when adjusting for FDR (q = 0.2).

Outlier/Abnormal Tract Analysis Using Normative Control Subjects

For each athlete and control subject, the number of high outlier and low outlier regions were counted for each DTI parameter (**Table 3**). Athletes had more abnormally low FA and AD, and high RD ROIs. The finding of abnormal regional low AD was the only one which remained significant after applying a Bonferroni correction. In athletes, the most common tracts with abnormally low AD were the middle cerebellar peduncle (11 athletes), inferior cerebellar peduncle (8 athletes), superior cerebellar peduncle (8 athletes), uncinate fasciculus (7 athletes), and the superior fronto-occipital fasciculus (5 athletes).

The comparison of white matter ROIs in ER patients and controls showed similar trends, with significantly more ER patients demonstrating abnormally low FA and low AD in one or more ROIs compared to controls (**Table 4**). In ER patients, the most common tracts with abnormally low FA were the medial lemniscus (6 patients), posterior thalamic radiation (4 patients), and retrolenticular part of the internal capsule (4 patients). In ER patients, the most common tracts with abnormally low AD were the inferior cerebellar peduncle (6 patients), middle cerebellar peduncle (5 patients), and the uncinate fasciculus (4 patients).

Athletes vs. ER Patients

Given the above results, we also compared the 18 athletes against the 18 ER patients. For the outlier analysis, we treated the ER patients as "controls" for determining means and standard deviations in ROI.

No significant differences were seen between the patient groups in voxel-wise or tract-wise group comparisons. However, the outlier analysis at the individual-subject level showed a significant number of athletes with one or more tracts exhibiting extremely low AD compared to the group of ER patients (**Table 5**). The athletes had the most low-AD counts in the fornix/stria terminalis (4 athletes), middle cerebellar peduncle (4 athletes), and the superior cerebellar peduncle (3 athletes).

DISCUSSION

The present study shows early subacute post-concussion abnormalities in regional white matter microstructures in both scholastic athletes and ER patients. The abnormalities were observed as a greater frequency of extreme deviations in regionally defined DTI parameters, especially in the cerebellar peduncles of scholastic athletes, with our ROI-based outlier analysis. This method of analysis was modeled on that of (11) for chronic mTBI and Yuh et al. (7) for acute mTBI, in which high and low outliers in FA were compared


FIGURE 2 Cross-sectional voxel-wise comparison: Control > Patient Axial Diffusivity. Two cross-sections illustrating regions of significant decrease in athlete AD (acute post-injury time point) compared to controls. TBSS Analysis with Threshold-Free Cluster Enhancement FWE corrected at p < 0.025. ACR, Anterior Corona Radiata; EC, External Capsule; PLIC, Posterior Limb of Internal Capsule; Thal, Thalamus; SCP, Superior Cerebellar Peduncle; MCP, Medial Cerebellar Peduncle.

	Contains \geq 1 JHU tract more than 2.2 SD above control mean	Contains \geq 1 JHU tract more than 2.2 SD below control mean
Fractional anisotropy	Control: 2 (20%) Athlete: 6 (33%) (p = 0.47)	Control: 1 (10%) Athlete: 11 (61%) (p = 0.007)
Mean diffusivity	Control: 1 (10%) Athlete: 6 (33%) (p = 0.19)	Control: 2 (20%) Athlete: 10 (56%) (p = 0.07)
Radial diffusivity	Control: 0 (0%) Athlete: 8 (44%) (p = 0.011)	Control: 1 (10%) Athlete: 7 (39%) (p = 0.11)
Axial diffusivity	Control: 1 (10%) Athlete: 5 (28%) (p = 0.29)	Control: 2 (20%) Athlete: 16 (89%) (p < 0.001)

P-values determined by Pearson's χ^2 test. Significant values in bold.

TABLE 4 Proportion of 18 ER patients vs. 10 controls with one or more abnormally high/low DTI parameter value in a JHU atlas white matter tract.

	Contains \geq 1 JHU tract more than 2.2 SD above control mean	Contains \geq 1 JHU tract more than 2.2 SD below control mean
Fractional anisotropy	Control: 2 (20%) ER patient: 8 (44%) (p = 0.21)	Control: 0 (0%) ER patient: 11 (61%) (p < 0.001)
Mean diffusivity	Control: 0 (0%) ER patient: 6 (33%) (p = 0.04)	Control: 2 (20%) ER patient: 7 (39%) (p = 0.32)
Radial diffusivity	Control: 0 (0%) ER patient: 9 (50%) ($\rho = 0.005$)	Control: 1 (10%) ER patient: 5 (28%) ($p = 0.29$)
Axial diffusivity	Control: 1 (10%) ER patient: 8 (44%) (p = 0.065)	Control: 2 (20%) ER patient: 11 (61%) (p = 0.038)

P-values determined by Pearson's χ^2 test. Significant values in bold.

between controls and patient subsets (7, 11). This method of classifying individual patients as having or lacking abnormal tracts can account for the spatial heterogeneity of mTBI, which often confounds group comparisons at both the voxel and tract spatial scales. This patient-specific analysis

is also much more clinically relevant than findings at the group level.

Of particular note are our results demonstrating abnormally low AD both in the athlete and ER cohorts. The large majority of athletes had at least one white matter tract with a markedly

	Contains \geq 1 JHU tract more than 2.2 SD above ER mean	Contains \geq 1 JHU tract more than 2.2 SD below ER mean
Fractional anisotropy	Athletes: 7 (39%) ER patients: 4 (22%) ($\rho = 0.29$)	Athletes: 7 (39%) ER patients: 3 (17%) ($p = 0.15$)
Mean diffusivity	Athletes: 4 (22%) ER patients: 4 (22%) ($p = 1$)	Athletes: 5 (28%) ER patients: 2 (11%) ($p = 0.22$)
Radial diffusivity	Athletes: 5 (28%) ER patients: 3 (17%) ($p = 0.44$)	Athletes: 6 (33%) ER patients: 3 (17%) ($p = 0.26$)
Axial diffusivity	Athletes: 3 (17%) ER patients: 4 (22%) ($p = 0.68$)	Athletes: 9 (50%) ER patients: 3 (17%) (p = 0.034)

TABLE 5 | Proportion of 18 athletes vs. 18 ER patients with one or more abnormally high/low DTI parameter value in a JHU atlas white matter tract.

P-values determined by Pearson's χ^2 test. Significant values in bold.

low AD value, and while these low values were spatially heterogeneous, there was a striking consistency of having them in at least one of the three cerebellar peduncles. Some ER patients showed abnormally low AD values as well. Our direct comparison of ER patients and athletes suggests that those with sports concussions may be more prone to abnormalities in the cerebellar peduncles than typical ER concussion patients. The group differences may indicate differences in the mechanisms of the concussive impacts as well as possible compound effects of cumulative subconcussive impacts in athletes.

Our results are consistent with a prior DTI study showing decreases of white matter AD in male scholastic American football players at both 24 h and 8 days after concussion (23); however, that investigation focused on cerebral tracts and did not specifically investigate the cerebellum. A recent meta-analysis has shown variable findings from various DTI studies of sports concussions that may relate to differences in techniques and in the timing of imaging relative to the injury (24). Despite such differences, our study substantiates previous reports that suggest selective effects of TBI on the cerebellar peduncles-cerebellar white matter volume was found be reduced in children years after a TBI, implicating lasting cognitive and behavioral consequences (25), and FA alteration in cerebellum-related white matter tracts and associated cognitive deficits were found in acute-phase adult mTBI patients (26) and chronic phase combat veterans exposed to mTBI (27).

Neuropathological studies have shown cerebellar Purkinje cell loss in boxers (28) as well as in mice, non-human primates and combat veterans exposed to blast injuries (29, 30). The anatomic arrangement of the cerebellar peduncles as relatively unsupported bridges of white matter between the bulk of the cerebellum and the brainstem renders them uniquely vulnerable to shear stress from acceleration/deceleration effects, as shown in biomechanical studies (31–35).

These findings in the cerebellar peduncles provide some support to the hypothesis of predictive brain state disruption in TBI (36). By this hypothesis, the collection of clinically observed post-concussive symptoms could be explained by timing-related disruptions in an attention network mediated by the cerebellum (36), which was supported by a study that combined DTI, neurocognitive tests, and eye movement measurements (37). It should be noted that our analysis was data-driven across all of the major white matter tracts of the cerebrum and cerebellum; therefore, it was not influenced by any hypothesis regarding the location of injury such as the cerebellar peduncles. To further test the predictive brain state hypothesis, future studies can and should attempt to correlate cerebellar DTI findings to clinical, neurocognitive, oculomotor, and vestibular outcomes relevant to cerebellar function. This can pave the way toward targeted rehabilitation strategies aimed at improving the affected domains, especially attentional function which is one of the most disabling impairments in activities of daily living and can be ameliorated using goal-oriented mindfulness training regimens (38, 39).

A concern specific to our dataset is the wide window of "early subacute" post-concussion scan latencies. The differences between DTI parameters 3 days and 23 days after a concussion could be significant (9). The ROI-based outlier analysis proved to be a useful workaround for the range and variability in the timing of MR scan. Another limitation of the present study is that age matching between patients and controls was imperfect. On the whole, the control cohort was older than the concussion cohorts, as the total pool of control subjects was small. Since there are non-linear age-dependent changes in DTI measures that are also region-dependent, controlling for age by statistical regression is difficult (40). A linear regression, even done on a tract-by-tract basis, would not add any clarity to the results. Therefore, we did not attempt to use regression to adjust for age differences. However, the average age difference between the controls and mTBI patients is not expected to produce meaningful differences in the DTI measures, especially for most of the white matter tracts shown here to be significantly different between mTBI subjects and controls. Of special note, cerebellar white matter consists of early-maturing tracts (41) that reach their asymptotic DTI metric values during the first decade of life, with no significant changes in FA or MD during the rest of childhood or adolescence (42, 43). In particular, DTI metrics of all three cerebellar peduncles bilaterally plateau at 70 months of age (44). Therefore, no agerelated changes in the cerebellar peduncles would be expected in the range of 13-25 years of the subject groups that we studied. Instead, any age-related differences between groups would have been observed in slower-maturing cerebral white matter, such as that of the frontal lobes. Finally, overall sample size was small. A larger statistical power may reveal more subtle group differences.

We did not exclude patients based on lesions that would be visible on routine clinical MRI. However, these otherwise healthy young athletes suffered concussions that rarely produce visible brain lesions, especially not in the cerebellum. Also, as our results are not explained by one or two outliers, we believe our results cannot be explained by lesions that could be detected by routine clinical MRI.

In designing future studies of athlete populations, it would perhaps be best to design image acquisition protocols that allow for more advanced diffusion models than DTI. For instance, neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging (NODDI) uses high angular resolution diffusion data with multiple b-values, and applies a three-compartment model that takes into account the neural microstructure in describing the diffusion pattern within a voxel (45). The NODDI model rests on certain assumptions regarding normal brain physiology, so in studying pathology such as mTBI, it is possible that the resulting NODDI parameters do not accurately describe the underlying brain architecture. However, Palacios et al have recently shown greater sensitivity in mTBI when studying changes in NODDI parameters compared to the DTI parameters analyzed in this study (46).

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the institutional review board of the

REFERENCES

- Faul M, Xu L, Wald M, Coronado V. Traumatic Brain Injury in the United States: Emergency Department Visits, Hospitalizations and Deaths 2002–2006. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control (2010).
- Niogi SN, Mukherjee P. Diffusion tensor imaging of mild traumatic brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (2010) 25:241–55. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e52c2a
- Gardner RC, Yaffe K, Yaffe K. Epidemiology of mild traumatic brain injury and neurodegenerative disease. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* (2015) 66:75–80. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2015.03.001
- Bigler E. Neuropsychology and clinical neuroscience of persistent post-concussive syndromeJ Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2008) 14:1–22. doi: 10.1017/S135561770808017X
- McCrea M, Guskiewicz K, Marshall S, Barr W, Randolph C, Cantu R, et al. Acute effects and recovery time following concussion in collegiate football players: the NCAA Concussion Study. *JAMA*. (2003) 290:2556–63. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.19.2556
- McMahon P, Hricik A, Yue J, Puccio A, Inoue T, Lingsma H, et al. Symptomatology and functional outcome in mild traumatic brain injury: results from the prospective TRACK-TBI studyJ Neurotrauma. (2014) 31:26– 33. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.2984
- Yuh E, Cooper S, Mukherjee P, Yue J, Lingsma H, Gordon W, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging for outcome prediction in mild traumatic brain injury: a TRACK-TBI study. J Neurotrauma. (2014) 31:1457–77. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3171
- Oehr L, Anderson J. Diffusion-tensor imaging findings and cognitive function following hospitalized mixed-mechanism mild traumatic brain injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis*Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2017) 98:2308– 19. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2017.03.019
- 9. Eierud C, Craddock R, Fletcher S, Aulakh M, King-Casas B, Kuehl D, et al. Neuroimaging after mild traumatic brain injury: review and metaanalysisNeuro Clin. (2014) 4:283–94. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2013.12.009

Weill Cornell Medical College (WCMC). All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki except, in the case of minors, legal guardians gave written informed consent with the assent of the subjects. The protocol was approved by the WCMC institutional review board.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JM, JG, and PM: conception and design. JM and JG: acquisition. JMM, EP, and PM: analysis. JMM, EP, JM, JG, and PM: interpretation.

FUNDING

This work was supported by U.S. Department of Defense contracts W911QY-12-C-0005 and W911QY-14-C-0086.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Brain Trauma Foundation's clinical research staff and the staff of the Citigroup Biomedical Imaging Center at Weill Cornell Medicine for assistance with data collection and maintenance. The content of this paper is adapted from author JMM's graduate thesis.

- Niogi S, Mukherjee P, Ghajar J, Johnson C, Kolster R, Lee H, et al. Structural dissociation of attentional control and memory in adults with and without mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain.* (2008) 131:3209–21. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn247
- Niogi S, Mukherjee P, Ghajar J, Johnson C, Kolster R, Sarkar R, et al. Extent of microstructural white matter injury in post-concussive syndrome correlates with impaired cognitive reaction time: a 3T diffusion tensor imaging study of mild traumatic brain injury. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2008) 29:967–73. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A0970
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvorak J, Aubry M, Bailes J, Broglio S, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport-the 5th international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. *Br J Sports Med.* (2017) 51:838–47. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699
- Giza C, Kutcher J, Ashwal S, Barth J, Getchius T, Gioia G, et al. Summary of evidence-based guideline update: evaluation and management of concussion in sports: report of the guideline development subcommittee of the american academy of neurology*Neurology*. (2013) 80:2250–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828d57dd
- Maruta J, Lumba-Brown A, Ghajar J. Concussion subtype identification with the rivermead post-concussion symptoms questionnaire. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:1034. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01034
- Maruta J, Spielman L, Rajashekar U, Ghajar J. Association of visual tracking metrics with post-concussion symptomatology. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:611. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00611
- Mori S, Wakana S, van Zijl P, Nagae-Poetscher L. MRI Atlas of Human White Matter. Amsterdam: Elsevier (2005).
- Wakana S, Caprihan A, Panzenboeck M, Fallon J, Perry M, Gollub R, et al. Reproducibility of quantitative tractography methods applied to cerebral white matter. *NeuroImage.* (2007) 36:630–44. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.02.049
- Hua K, Zhang J, Wakana S, Jiang H, Reich D, Calabresi P, et al. Tract probability maps in stereotaxic spaces: analysis of white matter anatomy and tract-specific quantification. *NeuroImage*. (2008) 39:336–47. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.07.053

- Andersson J, Skare S, Ashburner J. How to correct susceptibility distortions in spin-echo echo-planar images: application to diffusion tensor imaging*NeuroImage*. (2003) 20:870–88. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00336-7
- Smith S. Fast robust automated brain extraction. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2002) 17:143–55. doi: 10.1002/hbm.10062
- Smith S, Jenkinson M, Johansen-Berg H, Rueckert D, Nichols T, Mackay C, et al. Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data. *NeuroImage*. (2006) 31:1487–505. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.02.024
- Winkler A, Ridgway G, Webster M, Smith S, Nichols T. Permutation inference for the general linear model. *NeuroImage*. (2014) 92:381–97. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.01.060
- Lancaster M, Olson D, McCrea M, Nelson L, AA L, Muftuler L. Acute white matter changes following sport-related concussion: a serial diffusion tensor and diffusion kurtosis tensor imaging study. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2016) 37:3821–34. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23278
- Kamins J, Bigler E, Covassin T, Henry L, Kemp S, Leddy J, et al. What is the physiological time to recovery after concussion? A systematic review. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:935–40. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-097464
- Spanos GE. Cerebellar atrophy after moderate-to-severe pediatric traumatic brain injury*Am. J. Neuroradiol.* (2007) 28:537–42. Available online at: http:// www.ajnr.org/content/28/3/537.long
- Wang ZE. Altered cerebellar white matter integrity in patients with mild traumatic brain injury in the acute stage. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0151489. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151489
- MacDonald C, Johnson A, Cooper D, Malone T, Sorrell J, Shimony J, et al. Cerebellar white matter abnormalities following primary blast injury in US military personnel. *PLOS ONE.* (2013) 8:e55823. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055823
- Corsellis J, Bruton C, Freeman Browne D. The aftermath of boxing. *Psychol Med.* (1973) 3:270–303. doi: 10.1017/S0033291700049588
- Lu J, Ng K, Ling G, Wu J, Poon D, Kan E, et al. Effect of blast exposure on the brain structure and cognition in *Macaca fascicularis*. J Neurotrauma. (2012) 29:1434–54. doi: 10.1089/neu.2010.1591
- Meabon J, Huber B, Cross D, Richards T, Minoshima S, Pagulayan K, et al. Repetitive blast exposure in mice and combat veterans causes persistent cerebellar dysfunctionSci Transl Med. (2016) 8:321. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa9585
- Lampert P, Hardman J. Morphological changes in brains of boxers. *JAMA*. (1984) 251:2676–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.1984.03340440034023
- Viano D, Casson I, Pellman E, Zhang L, King A, Yang K. Concussion in professional football: brain responses by finite element analysis: part 9. *Neurosurgery*. (2005) 57:891–915. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000186950.54075.3B
- Taylor P, Ford C. Simulation of blast-induced early-time intracranial wave physics leading to traumatic brain injury. *J Biomech Eng.* (2009) 131:061007. doi: 10.1115/1.3118765
- Krave U, Al-Olama M, Hansson H. Rotational acceleration closed head flexion trauma generates more extensive diffuse brain injury than extension trauma. J Neurotrauma. (2011) 28:57–70. doi: 10.1089/neu.2010.1431
- 35. Goldstein L, Fisher A, Tagge C, Zhang X, Velisek L, Sullivan J, et al. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in blast-exposed military veterans and a blast neurotrauma mouse model. *Sci Transl Med.* (2012) 4:134ra160. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003716
- Ghajar J, Ivry R, Consortium CA. The predictive brain state: timing deficiency in traumatic brain injury? *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. (2008) 22:217–27. doi: 10.1177/1545968308315600

- Maruta J, Suh M, Niogi S, Mukherjee P, Ghajar J. Visual tracking synchronization as a metric for concussion screening*J Head Trauma Rehabil.* (2010) 25:293–305. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e67936
- Chen A, Novakovic-Agopian T, Nycum T, Song S, Turner G, Hills N, et al. Training of goal-directed attention regulation enhances control over neural processing for individuals with brain injury. *Brain.* (2011) 134:1541–54. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr067
- Novakovic-Agopian T, Kornblith E, Abrams G, Burciaga-Rosales J, Loya F, D'Esposito M, et al. Training in goal-oriented attention self-regulation improves executive functioning in veterans with chronic traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2018) 35:2784–95. doi: 10.1089/neu.2017. 5529
- Lebel C, Beaulieu C. Longitudinal development of human brain wiring continues from childhood into adulthood. J Neurosci. (2011) 31:10937–47. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5302-10.2011
- Deoni S, Dean D, O'Muircheartaigh J, Dirks H, Jerskey B. Investigating white matter development in infancy and early childhood using myelin water faction and relaxation time mapping. *NeuroImage*. (2012) 63:1038–53. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.07.037
- 42. Travis K, Leitner Y, Feldman H, Ben-Shachar M. Cerebellar white matter pathways are associated with reading skills in children and adolescents. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2015) 36:1536–53. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 22721
- Leitner Y, Travis K, Ben-Shachar M, Yeom K, Feldman H. Tract profiles of the cerebellar white matter pathways in children and adolescents. *Cerebellum*. (2015) 14:613–23. doi: 10.1007/s12311-015-0652-1
- 44. Bruckert L, Shpanskaya K, McKenna E, Borchers L, Yablonski M, Blecher T, et al. Age-dependent white matter characteristics of the cerebellar peduncles from infancy through adolescence. *Cerebellum.* (2019). doi: 10.1007/s12311-018-1003-9. [Epub ahead of print].
- Zhang H, Schneider TCA, Alexander D. NODDI: practical *in vivo* neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging of the human brain. *Neuroimage*. (2012) 61:1000–16. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.03.072
- 46. Palacios EM, Owen J, Yuh EL, Wang MB, Vassar M, Ferguson A, et al. The evolution of white matter microstructural changes after mild traumatic brain injury: a longitudinal DTI and NODDI study. *BioRxiv [preprint]*. (2018). doi: 10.1101/345629

Conflict of Interest Statement: JG is director of Sync-Think, Inc., and the inventor of U.S. patent 7,384,399. JM holds stock option in Sync-Think. JG and JM are inventors of pending patent applications PCT/US2014/050774, PCT/US2016/027923, and US15585057 potentially related to the subject matter described in this article. PM declares research support from GE Healthcare as well as service on the Medical Advisory Board of the GE-NFL Head Health Initiative.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Mallott, Palacios, Maruta, Ghajar and Mukherjee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Longitudinal Assessment of Cortical Excitability in Children and Adolescents With Mild Traumatic Brain Injury and Persistent Post-concussive Symptoms

Regan King^{1,2,3}, Adam Kirton^{1,2,3,4}, Ephrem Zewdie^{1,2,3}, Trevor A. Seeger^{1,2}, Patrick Ciechanski^{1,2,3} and Karen M. Barlow^{1,2,3,4,5*}

¹ Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada, ² Hotchkiss Brain Institute, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada, ³ Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute, Alberta Children's Hospital, Calgary, AB, Canada, ⁴ Departments of Pediatrics, Clinical Neurosciences and Community Health Sciences, Calgary, AB, Canada, ⁵ Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jack Tsao, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States

Reviewed by:

Sergio Bagnato, Institute Foundation G. Giglio, Italy Ralph George Depalma, United States Department of Veterans Affairs, United States

> *Correspondence: Karen M. Barlow k.barlow@uq.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 18 February 2019 Accepted: 12 April 2019 Published: 17 May 2019

Citation:

King R, Kirton A, Zewdie E, Seeger TA, Ciechanski P and Barlow KM (2019) Longitudinal Assessment of Cortical Excitability in Children and Adolescents With Mild Traumatic Brain Injury and Persistent Post-concussive Symptoms. Front. Neurol. 10:451. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00451 **Introduction:** Symptoms following a mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI) usually resolve quickly but may persist past 3 months in up to 15% of children. Mechanisms of mTBI recovery are poorly understood, but may involve alterations in cortical neurophysiology. Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) can non-invasively investigate such mechanisms, but the time course of neurophysiological changes in mTBI are unknown.

Objective/Hypothesis: To determine the relationship between persistent post-concussive symptoms (PPCS) and altered motor cortex neurophysiology over time.

Methods: This was a prospective, longitudinal, controlled cohort study comparing children (8–18 years) with mTBI (symptomatic vs. asymptomatic) groups to controls. Cortical excitability was measured using TMS paradigms at 1 and 2 months post injury. The primary outcome was the cortical silent period (cSP). Secondary outcomes included short interval intracortical inhibition (SICI) and facilitation (SICF), and long-interval cortical inhibition (LICI). Generalized linear mixed model analyses were used to evaluate the effect of group and time on neurophysiological parameters.

Results: One hundred seven participants (median age 15.1, 57% female) including 78 (73%) with symptomatic PPCS and 29 with asymptomatic mTBI, were compared to 26 controls. Cortical inhibition (cSP and SICI) was reduced in the symptomatic group compared to asymptomatic group and tended to increase over time. Measures of cortical facilitation (SICF and ICF) were increased in the asymptomatic group and decreased over time. TMS was well tolerated with no serious adverse events.

Conclusions: TMS-assessed cortical excitability is altered in children following mild TBI and is dependent on recovery trajectory. Our findings support delayed return to contact sports in children even where clinical symptoms have resolved.

Keywords: transcranial magnetic stimulation, mild traumatic brain injury, pediatrics, persistent post-concussive symptoms, cortical silent period

40

INTRODUCTION

Mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI) is a significant health concern due to its frequency and the possibility that it can contribute to long-term morbidities (1–4). The pediatric population is at the highest risk of incurring a mTBI (5, 6) and \sim 30% of children will go on to have prolonged symptoms lasting 4 weeks or longer (7), referred to as Persistent Post-Concussive Symptoms (PPCS) (8–10). Children with PPCS often have difficulty returning to school and sport, and experience a significant negative impact on quality of life of both the child and family (11, 12).

Disturbances of cortical excitability and neurophysiology may be involved in the pathogenesis of ongoing post-concussive symptoms. Current understanding of the pathophysiology of mTBI includes a cascade of cellular damage that may result in excitotoxicity, neuronal death, and cellular energy crisis (13–15). Underlying many of these consequences are changes to ion concentration (16, 17) and thus, resting membrane potential (17). As resting membrane potential is altered, so too is the conductivity of the surrounding neurons. Alterations to membrane potential in broader cortical regions may have a global effect on cortical excitability.

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a useful modality for measuring neurophysiological changes after various forms of brain injury increasing our understanding of how the brain responds and changes after injury (18–20). TMS studies in adults with mTBI and PPCS have demonstrated acute alterations in primary motor cortex excitability (21–26). Findings have varied across studies but potential changes include alterations in cortical inhibitory systems such as the prolongation of the cortical silent period (cSP) (21, 22) or reduction of long interval intracortical inhibition (LICI) (23, 24, 27). Longitudinal studies examining how these alterations change over time however have been limited and none include children.

We conducted a prospective, longitudinal, controlled cohort study to determine the relationship between motor cortex excitability, and post-concussive symptoms over time in children with mTBI. We hypothesized that measurements of cortical excitability would be associated with severity of postconcussive symptoms, and that these would change over time as symptoms decreased.

METHODS

Population

Participants were recruited in the setting of a randomized controlled trial of melatonin for the treatment of PPCS following pediatric mTBI performed in the Complex Concussion Rehabilitation Program at the Alberta Children's Hospital (28) (clinicaltrials.gov/NCT01874847). Children (aged 8–18 years) were included if they presented to the Emergency Department or Concussion Clinic with a mTBI or concussion (diagnosed by a physician *and* a history of a mechanically-induced alteration of consciousness, or change in neurological function satisfying the ACRM criteria for mTBI (7, 12, 29) and persistent PPCS at 1 month post injury. Persistent PPCS was defined as an increase

in post-concussive symptoms by at least 10 points compared to baseline using the Post-Concussion Symptom Inventory (PCSI). Children were not eligible if they had a Glasgow Coma Score of <13, loss of consciousness >30 min, a previous head injury in the last 3 months, the injury was due to an assault, or if there was alcohol or illicit substance use at the time of injury. Children with a significant past medical history (e.g., epilepsy, moderate/severe developmental delay, inflammatory bowel disease) or psychiatric history (e.g., hospital admission, regular follow-up by a psychiatrist, or requiring the use of psychiatric medications) or any contraindications to TMS (30).

Eligible families were contacted by telephone at 4 weeks post injury (**Figure 1**). Typically developing controls were recruited from friends and siblings of mTBI participants who satisfied all exclusion criteria including no history of TBI. Controls were recruited to maintain equal proportions of age and sex to the case population. Participants in the TBI groups were seen at 1 and 2 months post-injury and were not receiving any study medications. Each session included symptom evaluation and TMS neurophysiology. Control participants were seen at 1 month post-injury. Written informed consent was obtained from the parents of each participant, as well as verbal assent from the participant themselves. This study was approved by the University of Calgary Conjoint Health Research Ethics Board (REB13-0372).

Clinical Outcome and Classification

The Post-Concussion Symptom Inventory (PCSI) is a validated questionnaire of 26 symptoms using a Likert scale (0-6), that provides an overall score of PPCS symptoms (range 0 to 156) (8, 31). It has four clinical domains; somatic, cognitive, affective and sleep. As PCSI symptoms are common in healthy populations, an assessment of the pre-injury PCSI score was obtained at enrollment (4 weeks post injury). Participants were designated as "symptomatic" if the PCSI score was increased by 10 or more points compared to the pre-injury PCSI score. A smaller cohort of children with clinical recovery by 4 weeks post injury was also recruited. This "asymptomatic" group had PCSI scores at or below the pre-injury score. Participants completed the PCSI at the initial TMS session (1 month post-injury), and at the followup TMS session at 2-3 months post injury. At follow-up, the symptomatic group was classified as "recovered" if their PCSI returned to pre-injury levels or below.

TMS Neurophysiology Measures

Participants attended the Alberta Children's Hospital Pediatric Non-invasive Brain Stimulation Laboratory and were oriented to the TMS procedures. Participants could watch a movie of their choice while seated comfortably. Ag-AgCl electrodes (Kendall; Chicopee, MA, USA, 1.5-cm radius) were placed on first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscles bilaterally to record surface electromyograms (EMG). Grounds were attached to a wrist band. EMG signals were amplified 1,000x and bandpass filtered from 20 to 2,000 Hz and then digitized at a rate of 5,000 Hz using CED1401 hardware and Signal 6.0 software (Cambridge Electronic Design, Cambridge, UK).



Single-Pulse TMS

Assessment of motor cortex neurophysiology was performed by eliciting motor evoked potentials (MEPs) in the dominant FDI muscle using single pulse TMS of contralateral primary motor cortex (M1). TMS was performed with a figure-of-eight coil (70 mm) connected to a Magstim Bistim² stimulator (Magstim; Dyfed, UK) which induced posterior-anterior currents in the dominant motor cortex while recording bimanual FDI. The optimal location or 'hotspot' that produced the largest and most consistent MEP was determined using suprathreshold intensities, which were then reduced. The hotspot was marked on a standard T1 MRI using neuronavigation (Brainsight 2, Rogue Research, Montreal, CA) and used for all further testing. For active TMS trials, FDI contraction was held at 20 or 50% maximum voluntary contraction with continuous visual feedback via an oscilloscope (GDS-1022, GwINSTEK, Taiwan) with the full-wave EMG rectified and smoothed (100 ms time constant, Neurolog NL703EMG Integrator, Digitimer UK).

Following localization of the motor hotspot, the resting motor threshold (RMT) was determined per published standards (32) as the minimum stimulator intensity (percentage of maximum stimulator output, MSO) required to elicit >50 μ V FDI motor-evoked potentials (MEP) in 5/10 consecutive trials. MEP were recorded by Signal software and imported into MATLAB R2014b (Mathworks, Inc., Natick MA) for scripted analysis. The EMG from each paradigm was manually inspected for artifacts and prestimulation muscle activation, with poor quality frames removed. EMG traces were blinding prior to manual analysis to eliminate

experimenter bias. All MEP analyses were performed using Matlab scripts developed by our team.

Single Pulse TMS Outcomes Stimulus Response Curve (SRC)

Ten single pulse TMS stimulations at each of six intensities (100–150% RMT, in steps of 10%) were delivered in random order to produce recruitment curves. MEP were recorded bilaterally from FDI muscles. Recruitment curves were analyzed by measuring peak to peak amplitude of 10 MEP from six intensities (100–150% RMT, in steps of 10%) then averaged to produce a sigmoidal input/output curve.

Cortical Silent Period (cSP)

Fifteen suprathreshold stimuli were applied with a three second separation while the dominant hand was contracted at 20% maximum voluntary contraction. The silent period was defined as a continuous disrupted EMG waveform beginning after the end of MEP waveform, continuing until the return of the background EMG waveform.

Ipsilateral Silent Period (iSP)

Ten suprathreshold (120% RMT) TMS stimuli were applied during 50% maximal voluntary contraction in the non-dominant hand (ipsilateral to the stimulated M1). Silent periods were measured synonymously to cSPs. The start of the silent period was manually determined as the point at which the EMG trace dropped below 25% of the background. The end of the silent period was determined when the EMG trace returned above 25% of the normal background. Silent periods were averaged to produce a mean silent period duration.

Paired Pulse TMS Outcomes

Paired-pulse TMS used two stimulators (Bistim² and 200² Magstim, UK) connected by an adaptor. Paired pulses were separated by an interstimulus interval (ISI) between an initial conditioning stimulus (CS, 80% RMT), followed by a test stimulus (TS, 120% RMT). Paired pulse outputs were expressed as a ratio of CS:TS, with >1 indicating facilitation and <1 indicating inhibition.

Short Interval Intracortical Inhibition/Intracortical Facilitation (SICI/ICF)

Ten unconditioned TS were randomly intermixed with 10 paired stimulation each at 10 ms ISI for ICF and 2 ms ISI for SICI (total of 30 stimulations). *Long Interval Intracortical Inhibition (LICI):* Here, the CS and TS were separated by a 100 ms ISI. Ten CS-TS pairs were randomized with ten TS alone. *Short Interval Intracortical Facilitation (SICF)*: Ten unconditioned and 10 conditioned stimuli at each of three separate ISIs (1.5, 2.6, 4.3 ms) were delivered in random order (40 stimulations in total).

Safety and Tolerability

After each session, participants completed a previously developed pediatric TMS tolerability questionnaire (33) that documented the presence and severity of five common potential side effects (headache, unpleasant tingling, neck pain, nausea, and lightheadedness) (34). Participants were also asked to rank their TMS experience against 7 other common childhood experiences.

Statistical Analyses

The sample size was estimated as 24 per group using the cSP data from Miller et al. (23). Demographic characteristics were compared between experimental and control groups using student *t*-tests and Chi-square tests. Between group contrasts of SRC data indicated no significant changes in activation across sessions (using a two-way ANOVA). One sample t-tests were performed to determine the presence of inhibition or facilitation, as per our stipulated paired pulse ratio criterion. Partial correlations were used to analyse the relationship between change in cortical excitability and PCSS symptoms controlling for the PCSI pre-injury scores. We used generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) were used to analyse the relationships between Group and Time characteristics in a linear mode (cSP and iSP) and log-normal mode (SICI, LICI, SICF, and ICF) in our neurophysiological data. Time and group were fitted as fixed factors and participant as a random factor. Where there was an effect of time, GLMM in logistic mode (with Satterthwaite approximation) was used to analyze the relationship between recovery and cortical excitability change in the symptomatic group. Analyses were performed using SigmaPlot (version 13.0) and SPSS (version 24) software.

RESULTS

Population

Details of participant recruitment are shown in **Figure 1**. Population demographics are summarized in **Table 1**. One hundred and sixty-one participants were enrolled, and 133 had measurable and complete stimulus response curves allowing them to complete the entire study protocol. The final experimental sample consisted of 107 participants (78 symptomatic and 29 asymptomatic) with a median age of 15.1 (range: 9.0–18.0 years, 57% female). A smaller experimental population completed a second session of TMS (see **Table 1**). The healthy control population included 26 participants (median age = 14.6 years, range: 9.9–18.0 years, 54% female). The median age of the experimental groups was comparable, as was the ratio of males to females.

Single Pulse TMS

Stimulus Response Curves

Resting SRCs were obtained from all participants across each experimental group. Sigmoidal curves are shown in **Figure 2**. Responsiveness to increased TMS intensity were similar across groups at the initial measurement (p = 0.5), and at follow-up (p = 0.9).

Cortical Silent Periods

CSP was measured in a total of 124 participants (29 asymptomatic, 69 symptomatic, 26 control). cSP did not differ between groups overall, [$F_{(2, 121)} = 0.281$, p = 0.281]. Mean MEP amplitude, which may effect cSP, did not differ

TABLE 1 Population demographics. Demographic characteristics and recovery	y
status ^a .	

	Control	Asymptomatic	Symptomatic
N at Session 1	26	29	78
N at Session 2	-	9	54
Age \pm SD, Range	$14.6 \pm 3, 9 - 18$	$14.2 \pm 2, 9 - 17$	$15.2 \pm 2, 9-17$
Gender, F%	54	48	60
Handedness, R%	88	86	90
Cause of Injury %			
• Sport		82	71
• Fall		12	7
• MVA		3	10
• Other		3	12
PCSI Δ 1mo (median)	-	1	28
PCSI Δ 2mo (median)	-	4	3
Cognitive Domain Score	0.55 (1.2)	0.93 (1.6)	11.8 (8.1)
Physical Domain Score	1.6 (2.4)	2.3 (3.4)	16.2 (10.4)
Emotional Domain Score	0.75 (1.3)	0.65 (1.5)	7.2 (6.2)
Fatigue Domain Score	0.85 (1.0)	0.9 (1.8)	5.4 (4.1)

^aTBI participants were divided into 2 groups; symptomatic and asymptomatic. Mean age was expressed in years, ± standard deviation. Dominant handedness was reported as % right hand dominant. PCSI scores were expressed as the median change from baseline. Asterisk indicates significantly different from controls.

between groups. There was no effect of age or sex on cSP change over time. Generalized linear mixed-effects model demonstrated shorter cSP durations (18.84 (SD 2.82) ms) in the symptomatic group compared to asymptomatic group at the initial timepoint $[F_{(1, 167)} = 4.838, p = 0.029]$, with a trend for cSP duration to increase over time (11.36 (SD 2.60) ms; $[F_{(1, 84.51)} = 3.27, p = 0.074]$. There was significant subject heterogeneity (random intercept) accounting for 22% of the variance (95% CIs: 12.14, 36.18). Recovery in the symptomatic group at 2–3 months post injury could be predicted by cSP duration at 1 month (OR 1.029, p = 0.049) and change in cSP over time (OR.984, p = 0.006). Although the overall model was significant (LR Chi (2) = 9.78, p < 0.001), the effect size was small.

Ipsilateral Silent Periods

ISP was measured in a total of 123 participants (28 asymptomatic, 69 symptomatic, 26 healthy controls). Significant differences in iSP across all groups were observed [$F_{(2, 119)} = 3.828$, p = 0.024]: Symptomatic EM = 18.044 (95% CI: 16.092, 19.996), Asymptomatic EM = 14.150 (95% CIs: 10.823, 17.478), Control EM = 16.263, (95% CIs 12.433, 20.093). Generalized linear mixed-effects modeling demonstrated longer iSP durations in the symptomatic group [$F_{(1, 112)} = 4.052$, p = 0.046] but no effect of time [$F_{(1, 76)} = 0.977$, p = 0.324] (**Figures 3C, D**).

Paired Pulse TMS

Short Interval Intracortical Inhibition

SICI was evaluated in 131 participants (30 asymptomatic, 76 symptomatic, 25 control). An average inhibitory effect consistent with SICI was present in all groups [$t_{(25)} = 4.372$, p < 0.001]. Generalized linear mixed-effect modeling revealed significant

differences in SICI at 1 month post injury between groups, $[F_{(2, 128)} = 3.752, p = 0.026]$: Symptomatic EM = 0.164 (95% CI:0.132, 0.202), Asymptomatic EM = 0.277 (95% CI:0.198, 0.388), Control EM = 0.161, (95% CI:112, 0.233) (Figure 4A). Change over time was analyzed in the TBI groups. Here, the effect of Group was not significant $[F_{(1, 179)} = 1.005, p = 0.317]$ but there was a significant effect of Time post injury $[F_{(1,179)} = 18.746, p < 0.001]$ and a significant Group × Time interaction $[F_{(1, 179)} = 18.746, p < 0.007]$ (Figure 4B). Logistic regression, however, failed to demonstrate a relationship between recovery and change in SICI over time in the symptomatic group (LR chi(2) = 0.59, p = 0.744).

Long Interval Intracortical Inhibition

LICI was evaluated in 128 participants (30 asymptomatic, 73 symptomatic, 25 control). A significant inhibitory effect consistent with LICI was present in each group [$t_{(25)} = 4.372$, p < 0.001]. There were no significant difference in LICI between groups, [$F_{(2, 125)} = 0.678$, p = 0.509]. Over time, GLMM demonstrated no effect of mTBI group [$F_{(1, 174)} = 1.453$, p = 0.230] or Time post-injury [$F_{(1, 174)} = 0.623$, p = 0.431].

Intracortical Facilitation

SICF was measured in 120 participants (28 asymptomatic, 69 symptomatic, 23 control). The SICF effect was present at both ISI in the control group at 1 month (ISI 1.5 ms, p = 0.05; 4.3 ms, p =0.02) (Figure 5). There was a significant effect of Group $[F_{(2, 117)}]$ = 5.46, p = 0.005 on the SICF effect: Asymptomatic estimated mean (EM) = 0.348 (95%CI:0.262, 0.463), symptomatic EM = 0.206 (95% CI:0.172, 0.247), and control EM = 0.297 (95% CI:0.217, 0.406), see Figure 5. Change was analyzed using a generalized linear mixed effects model, there was no effect of mTBI Group $[F_{(1, 168)} = 0.021, p = 0.885]$ on the SICF at 1.5 ms ISI effect but a significant effect of Time $[F_{(1, 168)} = 9.064, p =$ 0.003]. There was a significant Group \times Time interaction effect, $[F_{(1, 169)} = 10.719, p = 0.001]$. There were similar effects of Group and Group × Time on SICF at 2.6ms and 4.3 ms (data not shown). Change in SICF at 1.5 ms ISI however was not related to recovery in the symptomatic group (B = -0.959, p = 0.423).

A typical range of facilitation was observed in all groups using the 2 ms ICF paradigm (n = 131). There was a significant effect of Group at 1 month post injury, [$F_{(2, 128)} = 4.076$, p = 0.019]: Symptomatic EM = 0.328 (95% CI:0.273, 0.395), Asymptomatic estimated mean (EM) = 0.492 (95% CI:0.367, 0.660), and control EM = 0.271 (95% CI:0.196, 0.374), see **Figure 6**. When change was analyzed with GLMM, there was no longer an effect of Group [$F_{(1, 179)} = 0.785$, p = 0.377], but ICF decreased significantly over time [$F_{(1, 179)} = 11.826$, p = 0.001] with a Time × Group interaction effect [$F_{(1, 179)} = 6.347$, p = 0.013]. (**Figure 6**). Change in ICF in the symptomatic group however was not related to recovery in the symptomatic group (B = 1.226, p = 0.072).

Tolerability

No serious adverse events were reported. TMS was welltolerated with sessional tolerability measures summarized in **Table 2**. Mild headache was reported in 13% of participants with a higher proportion in the symptomatic group (27%). This







symptomatic compared to the asymptomatic group. (B) cSP durations increased over time in the symptomatic group at 1 month than 2 months post injury [$F_{(1, 167)} = 4.838$, p = 0.029]. (C) iSP durations differed across groups at 1 month post injury, [$F_{(2, 119)} = 3.828$, p = 0.0240]. (D) Generalized linear model mixed-effects modeling demonstrated longer iSP durations in the symptomatic group [$F_{(1, 112)} = 4.052$, p = 0.046] but no effect of time [$F_{(1, 76)} = 0.977$, p = 0.324]. For all boxplots, thick line is mean, thin line is median, edges are quartiles, and whiskers are 5 and 95th percentiles. *p < 0.05.

difference at 1 month did not persist to the session completed at 2-months post-injury.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we have characterized multiple aspects of motor cortex neurophysiological change in children recovering from mTBI and PPCS. The cSP is shortened at 1 month in the symptomatic children and increases over time. Overall, parameters associated with cortical inhibition (cSP and SICI) were more likely to be relatively increased in asymptomatic children. Conversely, parameters associated with cortical excitation/facilitation (SICF and ICF) were decreased in symptomatic children. Taken together, these findings suggest that longitudinal neurophysiological measurements, via TMS, over the motor cortex suggest a demonstrable change in cortical excitability between symptomatic and asymptomatic PPCS groups. Our findings substantially add to current understanding of neurophysiological alterations that occur following a pediatric mTBI, and support the safety and tolerability of TMS in this population.

There is a paucity of research regarding the neurophysiological changes occurring in PPCS in adults and especially children. Increased cSP duration has been



FIGURE 4 [Estimated means charts for SICI. SICI is expressed as a ratio of conditioning stimulus (CS, 80% RMT) to test stimulus (TS, 120% RMT) at interstimulus interval of 2 ms. Values <1 indicate inhibition. (A) Significant differences were found in SICI between groups at 1 month post injury, $[F_{(2, 128)} = 3.752, p = 0.026]$. (B) Generalized linear mixed model analysis demonstrated a significant effect of Time and Time × Group interaction on SICI in mTBI groups corrected model $[F_{(3, 179)} = 8.135, p < 0.001]$. Although both the symptomatic (red) and asymptomatic (blue) groups show decreasing SICI over time, the trajectory is steeper in the asymptomatic group. The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals of the estimated means.



FIGURE 5 | Estimated means charts for SICF effect at 1.5 ms ISI. (A) The SICF effect differed significantly across groups [$F_{(2,117)} = 5.46$, p = 0.005]. (B) There was a significant effect of Time and a Group × Time interaction effect, corrected model [$F_{(3,168)} = 6.058$, p = 0.001]. The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals of the estimated means.



FIGURE 6 [Estimated means charts for ICF. ICF is expressed as a ratio of conditioning stimulus (CS, 80% RMT) to test stimulus (TS, 120% RMT) at interstimulus interval of 10 ms. (A) There was a significant effect of Group at 1 month post injury, [$F_{(2, 128)} = 4.076$, p = 0.019]; (B) There was a significant effect of Time and Time × Group interaction on ICF [corrected model $F_{(3, 179)} = 9.154$, p < 0.001]. Although both the symptomatic (red) and asymptomatic (blue) groups show decreasing ICF over time, the trajectory is steeper in the asymptomatic group. The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals of the estimated means.

	Healthy	Asymptomatic	Symptomatic	X ²	P (2)
Headache					
1mo	1 (4)	4 (12)	21 (27)	8.1	0.02
2mo	-	4 (30)	9 (12)	0.6	0.4
Neck Pain					
1mo	1 (4)	5 (15)	11 (14)	2.2	0.3
2mo	-	1 (8)	17 (24)	0.9	0.3
Tingling					
1mo	O (O)	5 (15)	11 (14)	4.3	0.1
2mo	-	1 (8)	10 (14)	0.03	0.9
Nausea					
1mo	1mo 0 (0)		4 (5)	1.5	0.5
2mo	-	2 (15)	3 (4)	0.9	0.3
Lightheaded					
1mo	2 (8)	1 (3)	8 (10)	1.6	0.4
2mo	-	2 (15)	3 (4)	0.9	0.3

TABLE 2 | Tolerability. Longitudinal tolerability data^b.

^b Tolerability values were expressed as the total number of participants in each group that reported each side effect. The number in parentheses represented the corresponding percentage of the group.

reported previously in adults with mTBI (21, 22, 24, 35). The only other longitudinal TMS study following 15 adults with acute mTBI reported increased cSP durations at 72 h post-injury and persisted beyond 8 weeks post injury (23). Although not reported specifically, these adults seem to have experienced normal recovery trajectories with symptom scores similar to controls by 1-month post-injury i.e., similar to our asymptomatic group (21, 27, 36). Tremblay et al. (25) Other research in asymptomatic adults with a history of mTBI found increased cSP durations from 9 months to 30 years post-injury (19, 21, 23, 25). Interestingly, the cSP duration increased over time in our symptomatic group i.e., becoming similar to the asymptomatic group. However, this was not significantly related to clinical PPCS scores or recovery. Further longitudinal studies are required to elucidate the trajectory of cSP duration over time.

Short-interval intracortical inhibition was increased in the asymptomatic group and changed significantly over time. This finding is somewhat in keeping with the changes in cSP reported above and support the cortical origin of the neurophysiological changes. Indeed, inhibitory interneurons have been shown to be particularly vulnerable to injury in TBI (37). In contrast, longinterval intracortical inhibition was not significantly different between groups in our study. Previous research in smaller samples of asymptomatic athletes with concussion has reported both enhanced LICI (25) and no significant differences to controls (25). LICI and cSP have often been thought to operate by similar cellular and neurotransmitter mechanisms including alterations in GABAb receptor-mediated processes (38, 39). However, studies in other populations of acquired brain injury and neurodegeneration have suggested a dissociation between the neuronal systems reflected in these two paradigms (38, 39). Although Tremblay et al. report possible metabolic imbalances between GABA and glutamate concentrations in previously **TABLE 3** | Summary of results.

	Control	Asymptomatic	Symptomatic	
N at Session 1	20	32	72	
N at Session 2	-	12	71	
cSP				
Mean (SD) T1	110.52 (8.9)	120.38 (8.4)+	103.24 (5.4)+	
Mean (SD) T2	-	134.16 (11.87)	113.55 (5.4)	
iSP				
Mean (SD) T1	15.62 (1.9)	14.15 (1.7)*+	18.04 (0.9)*+	
Mean (SD) T2	-	19.29 (3.3)	18.12 (1.3)	
LICI				
Mean (SD) T1	0.06 (0.01)	0.08 (0.008)	0.06 (0.008)	
Mean (SD) T2	-	0.05 (0.06)	0.15 (0.03)	
SICI				
Mean (SD) T1	0.16 (0.03)	0.28 (0.05)*+	0.16 (0.02)*+	
Mean (SD) T2	-	0.0.5 (0.03)	0.15 (0.03)	
SICF				
Mean (SD) T1	0.30 (0.05)	0.35 (0.05)	0.21 (0.02)	
Mean (SD) T2	-	0.16 (0.05)	0.28 (0.03)	
ICF				
Mean (SD) T1	0.27 (0.04)	0.49 (0.07)*+	0.33 (0.03)*+	
Mean (SD) T2	-	0.1 (0.05)	0.34 (0.05)	

* indicates significantly different from control group. + indicates significantly different between symptomatic and asymptomatic groups.

concussed athletes using MR spectroscopy (25), further well-powered research is required using multimodal imaging to tease out whether this occurs in mild TBI.

Our previous pilot study examining cortical excitability at 1 month post injury found reduced LICI in children with persistent symptoms following mTBI (40). The current study follows on from this. It is likely that the main reason for the discrepant finding is likely due to sample size, especially as logarithmic transformation can underestimate the variability in the sample. This is particular important as children with mTBI have greater variability in motor cortex neurophysiology (33). This has been addressed in our current larger study by employing generalized linear mixed effect modeling in order to take into account the between and within subject variability and maximize sample size.

In keeping with changes in cortical inhibition, we also found significant differences in intracortical facilitation (ICF and SICF). This is the first study to examine SICF in pediatric mTBI. Increased ICF was present in the asymptomatic group, and decreased SICF in the symptomatic group with both groups changing toward "normal" over time. Similar SICF results were found across the different ISI intervals which supports the legitimacy of this finding. SICF is also suggested to be mediated by GABAergic systems, with increased GABA activity resulting in reduced SICF (41). Loss of facilitation in the asymptomatic group, combined with prolonged cSP in the same population, might suggest underlying differences between the normal behavior of GABA in the motor cortex compared with those of controls or symptomatic children. Interestingly, the rate of change was greatest in the asymptomatic group. This finding supports other recent literature suggesting that there is ongoing cerebral recovery despite resolution of clinical symptoms (42, 43). The change in ICF and SICF in the symptomatic group did not predict recovery of symptoms. This may be due to the slow rate of change in ICF and SICF in the symptomatic group during this time period. The next step to better elucidate these underlying mechanisms might be to quantify GABA levels using neuroimaging methodology such as MR spectroscopy. This technique would allow quantification of GABA release patterns over time, which may be involved in mediating changes in cortical neurophysiology (44).

Transcallosal inhibition was measured using iSP. Transcallosal tracts have been shown to be particularly sensitive to damage in TBI (45, 46). iSP values were significantly different between groups with the asymptomatic group having decreased transcallosal inhibition. Measurement of iSP in children has been infrequent and somewhat inconsistent, in part due to differences in methodology. We used 120% RMT, based on methods of 40, who found iSP to be associated with paired-pulse TMS measures of interhemispheric inhibition and motor performance in a pediatric population (47). Transcallosal injury provides a complex research target due to the elaborate circuitry involved. Future research into transcallosal injury using iSP, IHI and imaging measures of both structural and functional connectivity might better elucidate any alteration of interhemispheric interactions in children with mTBI.

Significant limitations of our study should be considered. Groups were comparable in age- and gender but a significant proportion lacked repeated measures, this decreased the power in the longitudinal component of our study (especially in the asymptomatic group) although this was somewhat limited by our statistical approach. Nevertheless, the intersession variability of TMS neurophysiology remains a significant challenge in this type of research (48). Pre-injury neurophysiological data was not available in our participants. Although it is it is possible that the TMS parameter changes could have been present pre-injury, the rate of change observed over time would suggest otherwise. No differences between the SRC measures of groups, or of sessions, were observed. Our population did not include children younger than 8 years of age as younger children often have thresholds too high to stimulate at 150% RMT. Our findings suggest that the cortical excitability properties reflected by SRC are similar across participants and perhaps not altered by mTBI. This finding suggests that SRC may not be sensitive to such changes and is perhaps a paradigm that is less likely to yield interesting information in future studies.

Despite these limitations, the power of our study was much higher than the previous work in this field. Additional strengths of our study included well-standardized TMS methodologies designed to deliver stimulus intensity based on each individual participants RMT, as well as a participant group displaying a broad range of PPCS phenotypes. TMS has been safe and well tolerated all participants, with no adverse events (35).

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, children with different recovery trajectories after mTBI show significant and complex alterations in TMS measures of cortical excitability which change during recovery. Cortical inhibition is increased in children who have early recovery whereas cortical excitation is decreased in children with persistent symptoms. Motor cortex neurophysiology changed significantly over time. These finding suggests that there is ongoing cerebral recovery at 1-month post-injury even where there is resolution of clinical symptoms. Further well-powered longitudinal studies of pediatric TBI can help to inform our knowledge and monitor neurophysiological recovery following pediatric mTBI.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical clearance was granted by the University of Calgary Conjoint Health Research Ethics Board (REB13-0372).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KB and AK conceived study design. RK and KB performed participant recruitment. RK, EZ, PC, and TS performed data collection. RK, KB, EZ, PC, and TS performed data analysis and drafting the manuscript. RK, AK, EZ, PC, TS, and KB revised the manuscript. KB and AK obtained funding.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (grant number: 293375); the Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary; and the Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institue (Neurotrauma initiative). These funding sources had no role in the design of this study and did not have any role during its execution, analyses, interpretation of the data, or decision to submit results.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Sultan Nelson, Dr. Liu Shi Gan, and Heather Godfrey for their contributions to this study.

REFERENCES

- Ryu WH, Feinstein A, Colantonio A, Streiner DL, Dawson DR. Early identification and incidence of mild TBI in Ontario. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2009) 36:429–35. doi: 10.1017/S0317167100007745
- Langlois JA, Rutland-Brown W, Wald MM. The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: a brief overview. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* (2006) 21:375–8. doi: 10.1097/00001199-200609000-00001
- Macpherson A, Fridman L, Scolnik M, Corallo A, Guttmann A. A populationbased study of paediatric emergency department and office visits for concussions from 2003 to 2010. *Paediatr Child Health*. (2014) 19:543–6. doi: 10.1093/pch/19.10.543
- McKinlay A, Grace RC, Horwood LJ, Fergusson DM, Ridder EM, MacFarlane MR. Prevalence of traumatic brain injury among children, adolescents and young adults: prospective evidence from a birth cohort. *Brain Inj.* (2008) 22:175–81. doi: 10.1080/02699050801888824
- Faul M, Xu L, Wald MM, Coronado VG. Traumatic Brain Injury in the United States: Emergency Department Visits, Hospitalizations, and Deaths. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control (2010).
- Corrigan JD, Selassie AW, Orman JAL. The epidemiology of traumatic brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (2010) 25:72–80. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181ccc8b4
- Barlow KM, Crawford S, Brooks BL, Turley B, Mikrogianakis A. The incidence of postconcussion syndrome remains stable following mild traumatic brain injury in children. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2015) 53:491–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2015.04.011
- Barlow KM, Crawford S, Stevenson A, Sandhu SS, Belanger F, Dewey D. Epidemiology of postconcussion syndrome in pediatric mild traumatic brain injury. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 126:e374–81. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-0925
- Zemek R, Barrowman N, Freedman SB, Gravel J, Gagnon I, McGahern C, et al. Clinical risk score for persistent postconcussion symptoms among children with acute concussion in the ED. J Am Med Assoc. (2016) 315:1014–25. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.1203
- Novak Z, Aglipay M, Barrowman N, Yeates KO, Beauchamp MH, Gravel J, et al. (2016). Association of persistent postconcussion symptoms with pediatric quality of life. *JAMA Pediatr.* 170:e162900. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.2900
- Barlow KM. Postconcussion syndrome: a review. J Child Neurol. (2016) 31:57–67. doi: 10.1177/0883073814543305
- 12. Moran LM, Taylor HG, Rusin J, Bangert B, Dietrich A, Nuss KE, et al. Quality of life in pediatric mild traumatic brain injury and its relationship to postconcussive symptoms. *J Pediatr Psychol*. (2011) 37:736–44. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsr087
- Giza CC, Hovda DA. The neurometabolic cascade of concussion. J Athl Train. (2001) 36:228.
- Prins M, Greco T, Alexander D, Giza CC. The pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury at a glance. *Dis Model Mech.* (2013) 6:1307–15. doi: 10.1242/dmm.011585
- Giza CC, Hovda DA. The new neurometabolic cascade of concussion. *Neurosurgery*. (2014) 75(suppl. 4), S24–33. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000000505
- Ommaya AK, Goldsmith W, Thibault L. Biomechanics and neuropathology of adult and paediatric head injury. *Br J Neurosurg.* (2002) 16:220–42. doi: 10.1080/02688690220148824
- Meaney DF, Smith DH. Concussion in sports biomechanics of concussion. Clin. Sports Med. (2014) 30:19–31. doi: 10.1016/j.csm.2010.08.009
- Kirton A, Andersen J, Hoyt-Hallett G, O'Byrne C, Yager J. Measuring plastic change in pediatric interventional therapies with TMS: methodology of the plastic champs clinical trial. In: *Proceedings of the First International Workshop* on Synaptic Plasticity: From Bench to Bed Side. Sicily (2010).
- Kirton A, Gunraj C, Chen R. Cortical excitability and interhemispheric inhibition after subcortical pediatric stroke: plastic organization and effects of rTMS. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2010) 121:1922–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.04.021
- Kirton A, Gunraj C, Chen R. Neurocardiogenic syncope complicating pediatric transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2008) 39:196–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2008.06.004

- De Beaumont L, Mongeon D, Tremblay S, Messier J, Prince F, Leclerc S, et al. Persistent motor system abnormalities in formerly concussed athletes. J Athl Train. (2011) 46:234–40. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-46.3.234
- 22. De Beaumont L, Tremblay S, Poirier J, Lassonde M, Théoret H. Altered bidirectional plasticity and reduced implicit motor learning in concussed athletes. *Cereb Cortex*. (2012) 22:112–21. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr096
- Miller NR, Yasen AL, Maynard LF, Chou LS, Howell DR, Christie AD. Acute and longitudinal changes in motor cortex function following mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* (2014) 28:1270–6. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2014.915987
- De Beaumont L, Lassonde M, Leclerc S, Théoret H. Long-term and cumulative effects of sports concussion on motor cortex inhibition. *Neurosurgery*. (2007) 61:329–37. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000280000.03578.B6
- Tremblay S, De Beaumont L, Lassonde M, Theoret H. PTMS14 Specificity of neurophysiologic dysfunctions in asymptomatic concussed athletes. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2011) 122:S185. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(11)60667-6
- 26. De Beaumont L, Theoret H, Mongeon D, Messier J, Leclerc S, Tremblay S, et al. *Brain* function decline in healthy retired athletes who sustained their last sports concussion in early adulthood. *Brain*. (2009) 132:695–708. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn347
- 27. Powers KC, Cinelli ME, Kalmar JM. Cortical hypoexcitability persists beyond the symptomatic phase of a concussion. *Brain Inj.* (2014) 28:465–71. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2014.888759
- Barlow KM, Brooks BL, MacMaster FP, Kirton A, Seeger T, Esser M, et al. A double-blind, placebo-controlled intervention trial of 3 and 10 mg sublingual melatonin for post-concussion syndrome in youths (PLAYGAME): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials.* (2014) 15:271. doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-15-271
- Head J. Definition of mild traumatic brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (1993) 8:86–7. doi: 10.1097/00001199-199309000-00010
- Keel JC, Smith MJ, Wassermann EM. A safety screening questionnaire for transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2001) 112:720. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(00)00518-6
- Sady MD, Vaughan CG, Gioia GA. Psychometric characteristics of the postconcussion symptom inventory in children and adolescents. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. (2014) 29:348–63. doi: 10.1093/arclin/acu014
- Rossini PM, Barker AT, Berardelli A, Caramia MD, Caruso G, Cracco RQ, et al. Non-invasive electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain, spinal cord and roots: basic principles and procedures for routine clinical application. Report of an IFCN committee. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*. (1994) 91:79–92. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(94)90029-9
- Garvey MA, Kaczynski KJ, Becker DA, Bartko JJ. Subjective reactions of children to single-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Child Neurol. (2001) 16:891–4. doi: 10.1177/088307380101601205
- 34. Garvey MA, Ziemann U, Becker DA, Barker CA, Bartko JJ. New graphical method to measure silent periods evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2001) 112:1451–60. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(01)00581-8
- 35. Zewdie E, Damji O, Ciechanski P, Seeger T, Kirton A. Contralesional corticomotor neurophysiology in hemiparetic children with perinatal stroke: developmental plasticity and clinical function. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair.* (2017) 31:261–71. doi: 10.1177/1545968316 680485
- Livingston S. Electrophysiologic evidence for the effects of acute cerebral concussion in a collegiate women's soccer player. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (2012) 27: E12–3.
- 37. Cantu D. Traumatic brain injury alters cortical glutamate network function by compromising gabaergic inhibition. *Epilepsy Curr.* (2014) 14:472.
- Berardelli A, Rona S, Inghilleri M, Manfredi M. Cortical inhibition in Parkinson's disease: a study with paired magnetic stimulation. *Brain*. (1996) 119:71–7. doi: 10.1093/brain/119.1.71
- Valzania F, Strafella AP, Quatrale R, Santangelo M, Tropeani A, Lucchi D, et al. Motor evoked responses to paired cortical magnetic stimulation in Parkinson's disease. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*. (1997) 105:37–43. doi: 10.1016/S0924-980X(96)96517-0
- Seeger TA, Kirton A, Esser MJ, Gallagher C, Dunn J, Zewdie E, et al. Cortical excitability after pediatric mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Stimul.* (2017) 10:305–14. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2016.11.011

- Ziemann U, Siebner HR. Inter-subject and inter-session variability of plasticity induction by non-invasive brain stimulation: boon or bane? *Brain Stim.* (2015) 8:662–3. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2015.01.409
- Tremblay S, Beaulé V, Proulx S, Tremblay S, Marjanska M, Doyon J, et al. (2014). Multimodal assessment of primary motor cortex integrity following sport concussion in asymptomatic athletes. *Clin Neurophysiol*. 125:1371–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013.11.040
- Maugans TA, Farley C, Altaye M, Leach J, Cecil KM. Pediatric sportsrelated concussion produces cerebral blood flow alterations. *Pediatrics*. (2012) 129:28–37. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2083
- 44. Schneider LA, Goldsworthy MR, Cole JP, Ridding MC, Pitcher JB. The influence of short-interval intracortical facilitation when assessing developmental changes in short-interval intracortical inhibition. *Neuroscience*. (2016) 312:19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.10.057
- Dennis EL, Ellis MU, Marion SD, Jin Y, Moran L, Olsen A, et al. Callosal function in pediatric traumatic brain injury linked to disrupted white matter integrity. J Neurosci. (2015) 35:10202–11. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1595-15.2015
- 46. Lao Y, Law M, Shi J, Gajawelli N, Haas L, Wang Y, et al. A T1 and DTI fused 3D Corpus Callosum analysis in pre-vs. post-season contact sports

players. Proc SPIE Int Soc Opt Eng. (2015) 9287:1e6. doi: 10.1117/12.20 72600

- Ciechanski P, Zewdie E, Kirton A. Developmental profile of motor cortex transcallosal inhibition in children and adolescents. J Neurophysiol. (2017) 118:140–8. doi: 10.1152/jn.00076.2017
- Ridding MC, Ziemann U. Determinants of the induction of cortical plasticity by non-invasive brain stimulation in healthy subjects. *J Physiol.* (2010) 588:2291–304. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2010.190314

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 King, Kirton, Zewdie, Seeger, Ciechanski and Barlow. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Chronic Neurobehavioral Sex Differences in a Murine Model of Repetitive Concussive Brain Injury

Laura B. Tucker^{1,2}, Alexander G. Velosky², Amanda H. Fu^{1,2} and Joseph T. McCabe^{1,2*}

¹ Pre-Clinical Studies Core, Center for Neuroscience and Regenerative Medicine, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD, United States, ² Department of Anatomy, Physiology & Genetics, F.E. Hébert School of Medicine, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD, United States

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) resulting from repeated head trauma is frequently characterized by diffuse axonal injury and long-term motor, cognitive and neuropsychiatric symptoms. Given the delay, often decades, between repeated head traumas and the presentation of symptoms in TBI patients, animal models of repeated injuries should be studied longitudinally to properly assess the longer-term effects of multiple concussive injuries on functional outcomes. In this study, male and cycling female C57BL/6J mice underwent repeated (three) concussive brain injuries (rCBI) delivered via a Leica ImpactOne cortical impact device and were assessed chronically on motor (open field and rotarod), cognitive (y-maze and active place avoidance), and neuropsychiatric (marble-burying, elevated zero maze and tail suspension) tests. Motor deficits were significant on the rotarod on the day following the injuries, and slight impairment remained for up to 6 months. All mice that sustained rCBI had significant cognitive deficits on the active place avoidance test and showed greater agitation (less immobility) in the tail suspension test. Only injured male mice were significantly hyperactive in the open field, and had increased time spent in the open quadrants of the elevated zero maze. One year after the injuries, mice of both sexes exhibited persistent pathological changes by the presence of Prussian blue staining (indication of prior microbleeds), primarily in the cortex at the site of the injury, and increased GFAP staining in the perilesional cortex and axonal tracts (corpus callosum and optic tracts). These data demonstrate that a pathological phenotype with motor, cognitive, and neuropsychiatric symptoms can be observed in an animal model of rCBI for at least one year post-injury, providing a pre-clinical setting for the study of the link between multiple brain injuries and neurodegenerative disorders. Furthermore, this is the first study to include both sexes in a pre-clinical long-term rCBI model, and female mice are less impaired functionally than males.

Keywords: traumatic brain injury, mouse, concussion, repetitive brain injury, behavior, active place avoidance, microbleeds, sex differences

INTRODUCTION

The effects of traumatic brain injury (TBI) are far-reaching, with a global incidence estimated in 2007 to be \sim 10 million (1). In 2013, there were \sim 2.5 million TBI-related emergency room visits in the United States alone (2). Although the majority of sustained TBIs are mild and classified as concussions (concussive brain injury; CBI), many of the millions of the survivors suffer persistent

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jennifer R. Pryweller, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States

Reviewed by:

Bruce G. Lyeth, University of California, Davis, United States Ayanabha Chakraborti, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

*Correspondence:

Joseph T. McCabe joseph.mccabe@usuhs.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 26 October 2018 Accepted: 29 April 2019 Published: 22 May 2019

Citation:

Tucker LB, Velosky AG, Fu AH and McCabe JT (2019) Chronic Neurobehavioral Sex Differences in a Murine Model of Repetitive Concussive Brain Injury. Front. Neurol. 10:509. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00509

51

post-injury complications that include cognitive, motor, and neuropsychiatric symptoms, and in some cases these issues can persist for over 10 years (3).

In recent years, more attention has been directed to the effects of repeated TBI, particularly in the context of military operations and contact sports (e.g., American football, soccer, boxing). Both military personnel and contact sports participants are at greater risk for exposure to multiple concussive and sub-concussive TBIs (repeated concussive brain injuries; rCBI). A recent study estimated the incidence of TBI in Iraq and Afghanistan veterans to be $\sim 17\%$, with half sustaining multiple head injuries (4). In the context of sports, head injuries are associated with multiple contact sports in both men and women (5), and in the National Football League up to 30% of players sustaining a concussion go on to receive repeat TBIs (6). Multiple TBIs are associated with delayed neurodegenerative conditions including chronic traumatic encephalopathy (7), a condition characterized by perivascular accumulation of hyperphosphorylated tau (8) and behavioral symptoms including (but not limited to) cognitive dysfunction, violence, depression, and suicidality (9, 10).

As there are no fully effective therapies to treat TBI, or rCBI specifically, translational studies remain of importance. Animal models that replicate at least a subset of the pathological and behavioral symptoms that are observed following clinical rCBI create a context in which therapies can be tested. Many functional symptoms (i.e., cognitive and neuropsychiatric problems) may not appear in human TBI patients for months or years following sustained injuries, and there is a critical need to develop chronic animal models with persistent functional and neuropathological symptoms to provide a context in which delayed treatments can be assessed. Many rodent models of rCBI have been developed and described, and many have clinical relevance with behavioral symptoms similar to rCBI patients, including cognitive deficits and/or neuropsychiatric changes and axonal damage [e.g., (11-16)]. However, most of the observations have been limited to more acute time periods (days, or up to a few months) following the injuries.

There are a small number of rCBI studies in mice that have extended observations to a year or longer following injuries and continue to report functional and neuropathological effects of rCBI (17–20). These studies, however, have been limited to male mice. Clinically, female athletes are at equal or greater risk of sustaining head injuries than males during participation in sports (21–26), and although many studies have demonstrated a poorer clinical outcome in women following CBI [e.g., (27, 28)], data remain inconsistent (29). Thus, there is a continued need to be inclusive of both sexes in pre-clinical rCBI research.

The goal of this study was to study sex differences in behavioral symptoms over a chronic period in a murine model of rCBI that results in axonal damage. Although prior studies included both male and female rodents in TBI behavioral studies [e.g., (15, 30–33)], most have employed the controlled cortical impact (CCI) brain injury model and evaluated outcomes at more acute time points. The injury model employed in this study has an advantage of being less invasive than traditional CCI and fluid percussion injury models that require craniectomy. Although this injury method does not include rotational acceleration, an

important component in a majority of clinical head trauma cases, CBI allows for relatively consistent control of the mechanical effects of impact injury, which can be a disadvantage in at least some rotational injuries where there is no precise control of rotational effects due to inherent differences in head response.

METHODS

Animals and Housing

All animal procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences (Bethesda, MD). Male and female mice, 8 weeks old, were obtained from Jackson Laboratories (C57BL/6J, 000664; Bar Harbor, Maine) and group-housed in Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care-Accredited facilities with a standard 12-h light-dark cycle, with food and water available *ad libitum*. Animals acclimated to facilities for at least 1 week prior to baseline behavioral testing.

Repetitive Concussive Brain Injury (rCBI) Procedures

Mice were randomly assigned to sham or injury groups. Mice in the injured group received three injuries at 24-h intervals. Concussive brain injury methods were performed as described by Velosky et al. (15). Briefly, mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and moved to a stereotaxic frame with anesthesia maintained via a flow-through nose cone. All fur was removed from the scalp with depilatory cream, Bregma was visualized under the skin with bright illumination and marked by a small dot with permanent marker. Anesthesia was discontinued with continuation of 100% oxygen, and a Leica ImpactOne impactor was immediately employed to deliver the injury to the scalp over parietal cortex (2.5 mm posterior to bregma and 2.5 mm left of bregma), with a 5-mm impact tip, 1.5 mm depth, 5.0 m/s velocity. Sham-treated mice underwent all procedures including the same duration of anesthesia, but the impactor was not activated.

Apnea and Righting Reflexes

Immediately following concussive impact (rCBI mice) or discontinuation of anesthesia (sham controls) each day, any occurrence of cessation of breathing was measured and recorded as duration of apnea. Following injury or sham procedures, each mouse was placed into an individual clean cage over a warming pad in a supine position, and the time to return to a prone position was recorded as the righting reflex. Each day after all injury and sham procedures were complete mice were returned to group-housing.

Body Weight Measurements

Baseline body weights were taken on the first day of injury, and mice were weighed at each behavioral testing time and on the day of euthanasia. Post-injury body weights are expressed as a percent of baseline measurements.

Behavioral Testing

The number of mice in each sex and injury group at each behavioral testing time point are listed in **Table 1**. Two male and

	Post-injury Day 1		Post-injury Day 1 Post-injury Day 30 Post-injury Day 90		Post-injury Day 180		Post-injury Day 360			
	n	Weight (%)	n	Weight (%)	n	Weight (%)	n	Weight (%)	n	Weight (%)
Male-Sham	19	98.51	19	113.49	19	132.76	19	152.92	19	187.66
Male-rCBI	19	91.05**	19	106.33**	19	124.81**	19	139.69**	18	169.60**
Female—Sham	17	101.36	17	117.17	17	125.16	17	144.50	17	182.14
Female-rCBI	21	93.74	21	111.25	20	130.52	20	152.63	17	186.67

TABLE 1 | Number of animals (*n*) in each group and mean body weights (expressed as a percent of baseline weight, measured on the first injury day) at each behavioral testing time point.

** Significant difference in weights between injured male and sham-treated male mice across all post-injury days (p = 0.0064).

two female mice died due to rCBI procedures. Some mice were lost throughout the year of the study prior to the final behavioral test (tail suspension test), but the deaths were spontaneous (unexplained), or veterinarian-recommended euthanasias due to skin lesions. Thus, injury could not be determined to increase mortality rate during the 1-year study period. Open field (OF) and rotarod testing were performed multiple times during the experimental period of 1 year (see below); elevated zero maze (EZM), marble burying test (MBT), y-maze, active place avoidance (APA), and tail suspension test (TST) were only performed once at the end of the experiment.

The procedures for OF and rotarod testing are found in more detail in a previous publication (32). For 3 days prior to injury, mice were trained to perform on an accelerating rotarod (4–60 rotations/min over 3 min, three trials/day); average latency to fall from the rotating rod on the final day was recorded as baseline performance. Prior to the third day of rotarod baseline testing, mice were placed in a 40 × 40 cm OF box (\sim 5 Lux) with opaque walls connected to Any-Maze software (Stoelting Co., Wood Dale, IL) that tracked the position of the animal for 20 min. The software reported the total distance traveled in the arena, as well as the distance traveled in the center zone (20 × 20 cm), expressed as a percentage of the total distance traveled. Baseline OF testing was performed prior to rCBI; mice were retested in the OF and on the rotarod (in that order) on Days 1, 30, 90, 180, and \sim 1 year following the final CBI.

The EZM and MBT were performed as previously described 1 year after the injury on the first and second days following rotarod and OF testing, respectively (33). The EZM (Stoelting) is an annular platform raised 50 cm above the floor, divided into two opposing quadrants that are darkened and enclosed (~200 Lux) and the remaining two quadrants exposed and with greater amounts of light (~1,600 Lux). Movements of the mice were tracked with Any-Maze software for 5 min. For the MBT, mice were placed in a clear Plexiglas box (45 cm long × 24 cm wide × 22 cm high) filled with wood shavings to a depth of 5 cm. Twelve glass marbles were placed in a rectangular shape 6.5–9.5 cm apart; mice were placed in the boxes for 30 min. At the end of the test session, an experimenter blinded to the injury status of the mice counted the number of marbles buried to at least 2/3 depth.

On the fifth day following rotarod and OF testing, the ymaze novel arm test of spatial episodic memory, based on rodents' preference for novelty (34), was performed. The y-maze (Stoelting) has three arms at a 120° angle to each other, with a triangular central zone. For the first 5-min trial, one of the arms is blocked and the mice can explore the remaining two arms. After a 2-h inter-trial interval, the mice are placed back into the apparatus and all three arms are available. A camera above the maze recorded the movements of the mouse and Any-Maze software calculated the percent of time the mouse spent in the novel (previously blocked) arm. A mouse will normally spend a greater percentage of time in the novel arm, given it remembers the apparatus from the first trial in which that arm was blocked.

Three days following the y-maze test, spatial learning was tested in the active place avoidance test (APA; BioSignal Group, Brooklyn, NY) using methods similar to those described by Sangobowale et al. (35). The mice were first habituated to the circular arena (40 cm diameter) for 10 min, after which they underwent four testing trials with approximately a 40-min intertrial interval. During each 10-min trial, the arena rotated slowly (\sim 1 rotation/min); a fixed 60° segment of the apparatus was software-defined such that if the mouse entered that zone for longer than 500 ms an electric shock was applied (0.2 mA, 500 ms, every 1.5 s until the mouse left the zone). Thus, the mouse had to keep moving with the arena to avoid being shocked. Visual cues placed on the room walls around the arena facilitated spatial learning. On the following day, the 60° shock zone was rotated 180° from its location the previous day, and the mice had to learn to avoid the new location in four, 10-min trials.

The final test performed approximately a year following the injuries, 4 days following APA, was the TST. This test employed the procedures described by Can et al. (36). Mice were suspended by their tails from laboratory benches with tape (12 mm wide, 24 cm long) attached approximately 1 cm from the tip of the tail. To prevent tail-climbing, a 4-cm length of hollow polycarbonate tubing (1.3 cm inner diameter; McMaster-Carr, Santa Fe Springs, CA; #8585K41) was placed around the base of the tail prior to the test. Mice remained suspended for 6 min; sessions were videotaped, and the amount of time spent immobile was later scored by an investigator blinded to the injury condition of the animals.

Histology and Immunohistochemistry

Following all behavioral testing, mice were transcardially perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde and tissue was prepared for immunohistochemistry as previously described (15). Brains from 14 injured male and 15 injured female mice (and five sham mice from each sex) were processed for Prussian blue staining combined with pararosaniline nuclear stain to detect regions of previous brain hemorrhages (manufacturer's instructions were followed for staining of mounted sections; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO; HT20). Six mice from each injury/sex group were randomly selected for glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) staining of free-floating sections as previously described (15), using a mouse monoclonal antibody (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific, MS-280-P) and a biotinylated secondary antibody (1:500; AffiniPure Goat Anti-Mouse IgG [H + L], Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, 115-065-003) with DAB staining solution (Vector Labs, SK-4100). Sections were mounted onto slides, allowed to air-dry overnight and coverslipped.

GFAP-stained slides were scanned with a Zeiss Axio Scan.Z1 with Zen 2.5 blue edition software (Zeiss) and images of the corpus callosum (CC) and right and left optic tracts (OPT) and hippocampi (HP) were imported into ImageJ software. The measurement feature was employed to determine the mean gray density of areas of the CC, OPT and HP traced via freehand selection (**Figure 1**). An area with absence of immunostaining was selected from each section to remove background. Three sections per animal for each region were averaged to calculate average density values of GFAP staining (density = mean gray density – background). Assessments were performed by a single investigator blinded to the sex and injury condition of the images.

Cortical depth near the impact site was measured using methods described previously (15). The line tool in the Zen software was employed to draw a 1.75 mm horizontal line lateral from the superior sagittal fissure. A vertical line was then placed and measured at this location, tangential to the surface of the cortex and extending to the dorsal boundary of the corpus callosum (**Figure 1**, red dashed line, "d"). A 500 μ m-wide region surrounding the vertical line, extending the depth of the cortex (CTX), was captured and imported into ImageJ for analysis of GFAP staining density as described.

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 21.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) or SAS Studio 3.71 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Righting reflex and cortical depth data did not pass the homogeneity of variance test (Levene's test of the equality of variances) and were analyzed with Kruskal-Wallis tests and adjusted pairwise comparisons (SPSS). Apnea data were analyzed with a mixed model ANOVA (PROC MIXED; SAS) with sex as a fixed factor and day as a repeated measure. For body weight data and behavioral tests performed at multiple time points, mixed model ANOVAs (PROC MIXED) were performed with sex and injury as fixed factors and time as a repeated measures factor. Distance traveled data from open field testing were converted to natural log values to meet homogeneity of variance requirements. Tests performed at one time point (ymaze, EZM, MBT, TST) were analyzed with two-way ANOVAs (PROC GLM; SAS), with sex and injury as fixed factors. GFAP staining density in the CC was also analyzed with a twoway ANOVA (sex x injury); OPT, CTX, and HP staining density were analyzed with three-way ANOVAs, with sex and injury as fixed factors and side (left vs. right) as a repeated measure. CTX GFAP data were converted to inverse values to meet homogeneity of variance requirements. Where *post-hoc* testing was necessary, Bonferroni-corrected planned contrasts were performed. Following statistically significant main effects or planned contrasts, effect size (Cohen's *d*) was calculated as $\left|\frac{\mu_1-\mu_2}{s_{pooled}}\right|$, where $s_{pooled} = \sqrt{\frac{s_1^2 + s_2^2}{2}}$. Figures were made using Microsoft Excel 2016 and Daniel's XL Toolbox 7.2.13, and data shown in all figures represent the means \pm standard error of the means unless otherwise specified.

RESULTS

Apnea and Righting Reflexes

Apnea was not observed in any mice following sham procedures; apnea in mice following CBI each day is shown in **Figure 2A**. Durations of apnea were equivalent between male and female mice and across injury days (p > 0.1406). Righting reflexes following sham and CBI procedures on the three injury days are shown in **Figure 2B**. Righting reflexes were longer in injured mice than in sham mice of the same sex on all three injury days [H(3) = 56.069, 50.479, 49.442, p < 0.0001 for injury days 1, 2, and 3, respectively]. There were no sex differences in righting reflexes in either the sham-treated mice or the injured mice on any injury days (adjusted p = 1.0).

Body Weights

There was a significant sex by injury interaction effect on post-injury body weights $[F_{(1, 73.2)} = 7.38, p = 0.0082]$. Bonferroni-adjusted planned contrasts revealed that post-injury, the body weights of injured male mice remained lower than the weights of sham-treated male mice (p = 0.0064, d = 0.30), but injury did not affect body weights of female mice (p = 1.0; Table 1).

Histological Findings

The brains from 29 injured mice and 10 sham mice underwent Prussian blue staining to detect microbleeds. Examples of Prussian blue staining in injured mice are shown in Figure 3. (No positive staining was seen in sham mice). Of the 29 injured mice, 11 of the mice were negative for Prussian blue staining (data not shown). Eleven animals (six females and five males) showed evidence of microbleeding only on the very surface of the brain near the impact site (Figure 3A), primarily observed in the glia limitans. An additional five mice (three males and two females) had surface bleeding with extension into cortical layers (Figure 3B), and two mice (one of each sex; Figure 3C) had more extensive injury, with evidence of cortex compression and bleeding that extended into the corpus callosum. Three more of the 29 mice, all female, had lateral/temporal bleeding near the rhinal sulcus as seen in Figure 3D. (Two mice had both mild surface bleeds and lateral bleeding). The more extensive injuries as assessed by Prussian blue staining were not associated with increased apnea or longer righting reflex times (data not shown).

Figure 4 is a summary of cortical atrophy, as measured by cortical thickness, and astrogliosis after rCBI. Analysis of cortical depth on the left side of the brain near the impact site showed



a significant effect of group [H(3) = 16.786, p = 0.001]; both male and female injured mice had significantly thinner CTX at the injury site than respective sham controls (p = 0.021and 0.026, respectively; Figure 4A). There was also increased GFAP staining density in the CTX beneath the impact site on the injured side of the brain [injury \times side interaction effect: $F_{(1, 19)} = 15.36, p = 0.0009$; Figure 4B]. Astrogliosis was greater in the left CTX of injured mice than on the right side of injured mice (p = 0.0012, d = 1.71) and staining density in the injured left CTX was also greater than that in the left CTX of sham-control mice (p < 0.0001, d = 2.01). There was also a main effect of sex $[F_{(1, 19)} = 12.10, p = 0.0025, d = 0.41],$ with female mice having greater levels of GFAP staining in the CTX than male mice (data not shown). Although there was an injury \times sex interaction effect on GFAP staining in the HP $[F_{(1, 19)} = 5.01, p = 0.0373]$, post-hoc tests did not reveal significant comparisons (male sham vs. male rCBI: p = 0.2248; female sham vs. female rCBI: p = 1.0; male rCBI vs. female rCBI: p = 1.0; male sham vs. female sham: p = 0.0896; data not shown).

However, rCBI increased astrogliosis in white matter tracts. Representative samples from each sex and injury group of GFAP staining in white matter tracts, the CC and OPT, are shown in **Figure 4C**. There was a significant main effect of injury on GFAP-immunostaining in the CC [$F_{(1, 20)} = 25.23$, p < 0.0001, d = 1.89]; mice that had sustained rCBI had greater GFAP-immunostaining in the CC than sham-treated mice. In the OPT, a three-way mixed-models ANOVA showed a significant main effect of injury on GFAP staining density [$F_{(1, 20.2)} = 21.54$, p = 0.0002, d = 1.79]. Injured mice had

significantly greater amounts of GFAP staining in the OPT than sham-treated animals.

Open Field

In the OF, there was a significant injury \times sex \times day interaction effect for the distance traveled in the arena $[F_{(5, 354)} = 7.55, p < 7.55]$ 0.0001] (Figure 5A). Separate two-way ANOVAs (injury \times day) were performed for each sex. In males, there was a significant injury × day interaction effect $[F_{(5, 179)} = 22.98, p < 0.0001];$ sham-treated and injured male mice were equally active in the OF during baseline testing and on the day following the final injury (p = 1.0), but injured male mice ambulated greater distances on all subsequent testing days compared to sham-treated male mice (days 30, 90, 180, and 360; *p* < 0.0001; *d* = 1.28, 1.47, 2.06, 2.02, respectively). In females, there was only a main effect of day $[F_{(5, 175)} = 28.29, p < 0.0001]$; the female mice were less active in the arena on all subsequent days compared to baseline testing (p < 0.0001, d = 1.71, 1.52, 1.58, 1.56, 2.46 for days 1, 30, 90, 180, and 360, respectively), and at the 1-year time point the female mice were less active when compared to day 1 (p =0.0078, d = 0.62, day 30 (p = 0.0001, d = 0.87), and day 90 (p = 0.0054, d = 0.71).

There was an injury × day interaction effect on the distance traveled in the center zone of the OF (expressed as a percentage of the total distance traveled) [$F_{(5, 355)} = 7.03$, p < 0.0001; **Figure 5B**]. On the day following the final injury, injured mice were less active in the center of the arena than sham controls (p = 0.0018, d = 0.98). The effect on day 360 neared significance (p = 0.0990, d = 0.44), where injured mice were more active in the center of the arena.



group medians. The legend in lower right panel applies to all plots. There were no significant differences between male and female mice in the duration of apnea following CBI on any of the injury days (**A**). On each of the injury days, mice sustaining injury had significantly longer righting reflexes than sham-treated mice of the same sex (**B**). The asterisk (***) in (**B**) represents a significant effect of injury in the given sex, where CBI > Sham, p < 0.0001. There were no significant differences in righting reflex times between male and female mice, either injured or sham-treated. CBI, concussive brain injury.

Rotarod

For rotarod testing (**Figure 5C**), there was a significant injury by day interaction effect [$F_{(5, 355)} = 11.96$, p < 0.0001] and a significant sex by day interaction effect [$F_{(5, 355)} = 3.93$, p =0.0017]. Planned Bonferroni-corrected comparisons showed that there was a main effect of rCBI on rotarod performance on days 1 (p < 0.0001, d = 1.65), 90 (p = 0.0138, d = 0.73), and 180 (p =0.0402, d = 0.57) following injury, with mice sustaining rCBI falling from the rotarod at shorter latencies than sham controls. Also, planned contrasts revealed that overall, female mice stayed on the rotarod longer than male mice at the 1-year time point (day 360; p = 0.0096, d = 0.78).

Elevated Zero Maze, Marble Burying Test, y-Maze

There was an injury by sex interaction effect on anxiety-like behaviors tested in the EZM 1 year following rCBI [$F_{(1, 68)} = 6.31$, p = 0.0144; **Figure 5D**]. Bonferroni-corrected planned contrasts showed that sham-treated females and injured females spent equivalent amounts of time in the open quadrants of the maze

(p = 1.0), but injured male mice spent significantly more time in the open quadrants than the male sham-treated mice (p < 0.0001, d = 1.48). There were no effects of injury or sex on the number of marbles buried in the MBT (p > 0.2966; data not shown). Likewise, there were no effects of injury or sex, or interaction between the two factors on the percent of time spent in the novel arm in the y-maze test $[F_{(1, 67)} < 0.942, p > 0.335;$ data not shown].

Active Place Avoidance

There was a main effect of sex on distance traveled during the 10-min acclimation trial of the APA test $[F_{(1, 66)} = 9.11, p = 0.0036, d = 0.73]$, with females ambulating greater distances in the arena (data not shown). A mixed-models analysis (injury × sex × trial) showed a significant main effect of injury on spatial learning in the APA test on the first day of testing $[F_{(1, 49.4)} = 31.23, p < 0.0001, d = 1.34$; **Figure 5E**], and an injury x trial interaction effect on the second day when the shock zone was relocated $[F_{(3, 133)} = 9.89, p < 0.0001]$. Sham-treated mice had fewer entrances to the shock zone of the apparatus on all trials



on the first day of testing demonstrating quicker learning of the location of the zone; on the second day, injured mice had equal performance to sham controls on the first trial, but shams had fewer entries to the shock zone on the remaining three trials (p < 0.0001; d = 1.33, 1.53, 1.62 for trials 2, 3, and 4, respectively).

Tail Suspension Test

There was a significant effect of injury on immobility in the TST for depressive-like behaviors [$F_{(1, 67)} = 10.62$, p = 0.0018, d = 0.78; **Figure 5F**]; sham-control mice spent greater time in an immobile state than injured mice.

DISCUSSION

Summary of Pathological and Behavioral Findings Following rCBI

This study employed a mouse model to study the effects of repetitive concussive brain injuries on behavior and brain pathology in both male and female animals up to 1 year following injuries. A summary of significant findings is found in **Table 2**. Cortical atrophy was found at the lesion site (**Figure 4A**); our previous study in which mice were euthanized at a more acute time point (32 days) found equal cortical thickness (15), suggesting this is a chronic, degenerative process rather than an immediate effect of the impacts. GFAP staining was unaffected by injury in the hippocampus but increased in the perilesional

cortex and axonal tracts (corpus callosum and optic tracts) in both male and female mice (**Figure 4B**). In addition, Prussian blue staining (**Figure 3**) showed that the injuries led to cerebral microbleeds primarily limited to the site of the injury and the cortex beneath, consistent with clinical findings following mild TBI [e.g., (37, 38)] and with prior rCBI studies in mice (39, 40). A subset of the mice also had positive Prussian blue staining distal from the primary injury site near the rhinal sulcus; Sauerbeck and colleagues recently reported pathology in similar locations following concussive-rotational injury (CHIMERA) (41).

Behaviorally, both male and female mice had motor impairments on the rotarod for up to 6 months following the concussions (**Figure 5C**), and both sexes had significant cognitive deficits at the 1-year time point on the APA task (**Figure 5E**). Injured male mice showed some behavioral differences compared to sham controls that were not seen in female mice: in the OF the injured male mice were hyperactive on post-injury days 30 and beyond (**Figure 5A**), and in the EZM 1 year following injury they spent greater amounts of time in the open/exposed quadrants (**Figure 3D**). Additionally, male mice sustained weight loss as a result of the injuries (**Table 1**), and their weights remained lower compared to uninjured mice for the duration of the study.

Axonal Injury and CBI

Axonal injury is a prominent feature of CBI, both clinically and in animal models (42, 43), and the CC may be particularly vulnerable to injury. Activated microglia, together with axonal



(uninjured) and left (injured) sides of the brain in the represented sex (Left > Right; p < 0.01). GFAP staining density was significantly increased following injuries in white matter tracts, specifically the CC and OPT (**C**). Asterisks (***) in (**C**) represent a significant main effect of injury (rCBI > sham) in the represented brain region (p < 0.001). rCBI, repetitive concussive brain injury; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; CTX, cortex; CC, corpus callosum; OPT, optic tracts.

degeneration and atrophy in the CC have been described in chronic (up to 18 years post-injury), but not acute, TBI patients (44). In a mouse model of single CBI, Marion and colleagues recently described axonal damage in the CC, including degenerating and demyelinated axons, disruption of paranodes where myelin attaches to axons, and overall CC atrophy at 8 weeks post-injury (45). Wild-type mouse models of rCBI describing axonal damage and/or neuroinflammation in the CC and other axonal tracts at more acute time periods are numerous (11–15, 40, 46–50). Gold and colleagues recently reported a decrease in CC volume 6 months following 10 CBIs (16), and there are a smaller number of studies that have extended observations to more chronic time points: CC atrophy as measured by thickness has been reported in mouse rCBI models 1 (17) and 2 (19) years following the injuries. These changes were paralleled by increases in the CC in markers for astrocytes (GFAP) and microglia (Iba1) (16, 17, 19), indicative of neuroinflammation, consistent with the current data.



FIGURE 5 | Chronic behavioral effects of rCBI. Legend in (B) applies to (A,B,C,E). Behavioral testing following rCBI revealed functional deficits in the OF (A,B), rotarod (C), EZM (D), APA (E), and TST (F) tests. Injured male mice began exhibiting a hyperactive phenotype in the OF about a month following injuries (A). All injured mice were significantly less active in the center zone of the OF the day following the final injury (expressed as a percentage of total activity), suggesting anxiety (B). On the rotarod (C), there were significant motor deficits the day following the injuries; slight impairment remained for up to 6 months. Only injured male mice had significantly different behavioral performance in the EZM (1 year; D); they spent increased time in the bright and exposed quadrants compared to sham-treated mice. One year post-injuries, all mice had significant cognitive deficits as assessed on the APA test (E), and showed significantly greater agitation (less immobility) in the TST for depressive behaviors (F). The cross signs († † †; p < 0.0001) in (A) indicate a significant effect of testing day in female mice; female mice became less active in the OF area following baseline testing. The percent signs (%% p < 0.0001) in (A,D) represent a main effect of injury on the given behavior (C: rCBI < Sham; E: rCBI > Sham); The pound sign (# p < 0.005) in (B,C,F) represents a main effect of sex (female > male). rCBI, repetitive concussive brain injury; OF, open field; EZM, elevated zero maze, APA, active place avoidance; TST, tail suspension test.

Changes in Spontaneous Activity and Motor Behaviors Following rCBI

During the year of study, the mice had significant motor deficits on the rotarod the day following the final injury but also remained slightly impaired up to 6 months following injuries, and male mice developed a hyperactive phenotype in the OF after 1 month. Rotarod deficits have been reported up to 1 year following 30 closed head injuries in mice (18). Motor deficits following experimental TBI are often acute and relatively transient compared to cognitive deficits [e.g., (14, TABLE 2 | Summary of significant findings between injured and sham mice, or main effects of sex.

Measure	Significant effect	p-value	Effect size (Cohen's d)
Post-injury weights (% baseline)	Male Sham > Male rCBI	p = 0.0064	d = 0.30
Righting reflex, Injury Days 1-3	rCBI > Sham	p < 0.0001	N/A
Cortical thickness	rCBI < Sham	<i>p</i> < 0.05	N/A
GFAP staining density			
Cortex (male vs. female)	Female > Male	p = 0.0025	d = 0.41
Cortex (injured (left) side of brain)	rCBI > Sham	p < 0.0001	d = 2.01
Corpus callosum	rCBI > Sham	p < 0.0001	d = 1.89
Optic tracts	rCBI > Sham	p = 0.0002	<i>d</i> = 1.79
Rotarod, Latency to Fall			
Day 1	Sham > rCBI	p < 0.0001	d = 1.65
Day 90	Sham > rCBI	p = 0.0138	<i>d</i> = 0.73
Day 180	Sham > rCBI	p = 0.0402	d = 0.57
Day 360	Female > Male	p = 0.0096	d = 0.78
OF, Distance traveled; Males			
Day 30	Male rCBI > Male Sham	p < 0.0001	d = 1.28
Day 90		p < 0.0001	d = 1.47
Day 180		p < 0.0001	d = 2.06
Day 360		p < 0.0001	d = 2.02
OF, Center distance traveled (% Total); Day 1	Sham > rCBI	p < 0.0018	d = 0.98
EZM, Time in open quadrants (1 year)	Male rCBI > Male Sham	p < 0.0001	d = 1.48
APA, Acclimation, Distance traveled (1 year)	Female > Male	p = 0.0036	<i>d</i> = 0.73
APA, # of entries to shock zone; Day 1 (1 year)	rCBI > Sham	p < 0.0001	d = 1.34
APA, # of entries to shock zone; Day 2 (1 year)			
Trial 2	rCBI > Sham	p < 0.0001	d = 1.33
Trial 3		p < 0.0001	d = 1.53
Trial 4		p < 0.0001	d = 1.62
TST, Time immobile (1 year)	Sham > rCBI	p = 0.0018	d = 0.78

Shown are the dependent measures in the current experiment for which significant effects of injury or sex were found. P-values from ANOVAs (or Bonferroni-corrected post hoc comparisons) or Kruskal–Wallis tests, and calculated Effect sizes (Cohen's d) are provided. Cohen's $d = \left|\frac{\mu_1 - \mu_2}{\beta_{\text{averbed}}}\right|$.

16, 51)] and here we show that motor deficits are resolved while cognitive deficits are observed 1 year following injuries. Hyperactivity in male mice has been previously reported in rCBI models (52, 53), as well as in more severe injury models such as controlled cortical impact (CCI) that result in overt damage to the hippocampus (32, 54–59). Ultimately, there are a variety of experimental manipulations that can result in increased locomotion, and it has been suggested that any lesion or damage involving a complex control system that modulates and suppresses activity, located along the axis between the entorhinal cortex and olfactory bulb, may result in hyperactive behavior (60).

Effects of rCBI on Cognition

Consistent with prior long-term rCBI studies that employed the Barnes maze as a spatial cognitive test 1 year or longer postinjuries (17, 19), all injured mice in this study had significant cognitive deficits as assessed in the APA test (a test of spatial learning and memory), despite showing no deficits on the ymaze test of novel arm recognition (a test of spatial episodic memory). Deficits in spatial learning and memory are most often attributed to hippocampal damage and dysfunction, but in the current study parietal association cortical atrophy and astrogliosis may have been a factor as the parietal cortex is involved in linking motion and visual information during the early steps of map formation in spatial tasks (61). The APA test has been shown to detect cognitive deficits following single and rCBI in mice at a more acute time period (12) and for up to 12 months following repetitive mild TBI in a human tau-expressing transgenic mouse model (62); it is a particularly difficult task as it requires the animal to attend only to stationary visual room cues, ignoring the olfactory cues on the rotating apparatus and to continue to move with the arena in order to avoid the shock zone (63). In addition, two intact hippocampi and the fimbria containing the hippocampal commissural fibers (a white matter axonal tract) are required for successful performance of the task (64). Thus, our disparate findings on the y-maze and APA are likely due to test difficulty but could also relate to test modality. Sangobowale and colleagues recently demonstrated significant deficits on the APA task 8 days following a single CBI in mice, an injury that was characterized by reduced myelin in the CC (and other white matter regions) as assessed by Luxol fast blue. Both the cognitive deficits and axonal damage were reduced by treatment administered 12 h following injury with a combination of minocycline, an agent that inhibits microglial activation and prevents myelin loss, and N-acetylcysteine, an antioxidant drug with anti-inflammatory actions (35). These results suggest that cognitive deficits associated with damage in white matter tracts may serve as useful functional and neuropathological endpoints for assessing delayed effects of potential therapeutic agents.

Chronic "Emotional Dysregulation" in Rodent Models of rCBI

Finally, we employed the EZM and TST, respectively, to assess chronic neuropsychiatric symptoms following rCBI, as anxiety and depression are among the most common long-term complaints in clinical TBI populations. Injured male, but not female, mice spent increased amounts of time in the bright and open regions of the maze compared to sham controls, suggesting reduced anxiety, consistent with other studies 1 year following rCBI in mice (17, 19), but see (18), or at more acute time periods (16, 53, 65). A curious finding of this study is increased amount of agitation (less immobility) in the TST of the injured mice compared to the sham controls. Greater amounts of immobility in this test [and in a similar test, the forced swim test (FST)], are interpreted as a state of despair or "depression" in animal models (66, 67). Although they found no differences in the TST, Gold and colleagues reported greater amounts of "highly mobile" time in the FST in a murine rCBI model with CC atrophy, microgliosis, and astrogliosis 6 months following injury (16). This finding was interpreted as a symptom of "emotional dysregulation," and in our model, together with hyperactivity in the OF and the increased amount of time in the open quadrants of the EZM, could suggest a pathological phenotype of agitation and risk-taking. However, these findings do not model the more common clinical symptoms of depression and anxiety that are diagnosed following TBI. Overall it has been noted that compared to motor and cognitive deficits that are employed in preclinical studies, findings regarding neuropsychiatric symptoms have been much more inconsistent and that further study, as well as the inclusion of different functional testing models, is needed (33, 67, 68).

Sex Differences in Functional Deficits Following TBI

Injured female mice in this study fared better than males. Unlike injured male mice their weights remained at the same level as sham controls, they did not exhibit the hyperactive phenotype in the OF, and they had normal behavior in the EZM. Chronic injury-induced astrogliosis cannot explain the long-term sex-differences in behavior in this study, as males and females showed the same neuropathological profile at the 1-year time point. However, we previously showed that male mice have increased astrogliosis compared to females at a more acute time point (\sim 1 month) following rCBI (15). Translational TBI studies are becoming more inclusive of both sexes, and there is mounting evidence that female rodents may fare better acutely (within days following injury) in measures of behavior and neuroinflammation than males (15, 30, 69-75). As noted in a recent review (76), there are also many reports showing no sex differences or that males have better outcomes than females [e.g., (32, 76-78)], and definitive conclusions from rodent studies are difficult at this point as investigators are using different species at different ages, different functional testing paradigms at varying

times following TBI, and different injury models. However, although phase III clinical trials of progesterone to date have failed, the neuroprotective effects of estrogen and progesterone are well-established in animal models of neurotrauma (79-81), and it is possible that these hormones are exerting longterm protective/therapeutic effects in this model via biological mechanisms that were unexplored in this study. In addition to developmentally programmed sex differences, the on-going effects of sex hormones in the brain are far-reaching. Sex hormone receptors are located in glial cells and throughout neurons, where they have many actions, including regulation of signaling pathways and direct and indirect effects on gene expression, leading to alteration of many physiological and behavioral functions (82). Although the initial focus of studies on sex hormones and behavior focused on the hypothalamus and sexual behaviors, it is now realized that steroids have more global effects on the brain, including regions such as the hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, cerebellum, and periacquadectal gray, resulting in sex differences in addiction, responses to stress, mood regulation, and pain sensitivity, among others (82). Ultimately, the potential effects of steroid hormones following injury, both neural and glial, genomic and non-genomic, are complex and will require dedicated, targeted study.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, this study employed a moderately severe chronic rCBI model in wild-type mice. Consistent with reports of other investigators (17–19), there were significant behavioral deficits concurrent with ongoing neuroinflammation in axonal tracts 1 year following the injuries, Furthermore, this is the first long-term rCBI study in rodents that has been inclusive of both sexes, and we have demonstrated that male mice fare worse on two behavioral tasks, despite showing a similar neuropathological profile to injured female mice. There is a need for continued development of translational models of chronic rTBI with measurable functional and pathological features that lend themselves to therapeutic intervention.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All animal procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences (Bethesda, MD) and the mice were housed in Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care-Accredited facilities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LT and JM designed and planned the study. TBI procedures were performed by AF. Behavioral testing was performed by LT and AV. Immunohistochemical processing and analyses were performed by LT, AF, and AV. Data analyses were performed by LT. Final editing of the manuscript by LT and JM.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by The Center for Neuroscience and Regenerative Medicine (Department of Defense), 65310-309318-6.01. The opinions, interpretations, conclusions and recommendations are those of the authors and are not necessarily

REFERENCES

- Hyder AA, Wunderlich CA, Puvanachandra P, Gururaj G, Kobusingye OC. The impact of traumatic brain injuries: a global perspective. *NeuroRehabilitation*. (2007) 22:341–53.
- Taylor CA, Bell JM, Breiding MJ, Xu L. Traumatic brain injuryrelated emergency department visits, hospitalizations, and deaths -United States, 2007 and 2013. MMWR Surveill Summ. (2017) 66:1–16. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.ss6609a1
- Ponsford JL, Downing MG, Olver J, Ponsford M, Acher R, Carty M, et al. Longitudinal follow-up of patients with traumatic brain injury: outcome at two, five, and ten years post-injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2014) 31:64–77. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.2997
- Lindquist LK, Love HC, Elbogen EB. Traumatic brain injury in Iraq and Afghanistan veterans: new results from a national random sample study. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2017) 29:254–9. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.16050100
- Daneshvar DH, Nowinski CJ, McKee AC, Cantu RC. The epidemiology of sport-related concussion. *Clin Sports Med.* (2011) 30:1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.csm.2010.08.006
- Casson IR, Viano DC, Powell JW, Pellman EJ. Repeat concussions in the national football league. Sports Health. (2011) 3:11–24. doi: 10.1177/1941738110391413
- Mez J, Daneshvar DH, Kiernan PT, Abdolmohammadi B, Alvarez VE, Huber BR, et al. Clinicopathological evaluation of chronic traumatic encephalopathy in players of American football. *JAMA*. (2017) 318:360–70. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.8334
- McKee AC, Cairns NJ, Dickson DW, Folkerth RD, Keene CD, Litvan I, et al. The first NINDS/NIBIB consensus meeting to define neuropathological criteria for the diagnosis of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2016) 131:75–86. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1 515-z
- Stern RA, Daneshvar DH, Baugh CM, Seichepine DR, Montenigro PH, Riley DO, et al. Clinical presentation of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Neurology*. (2013) 81:1122–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a55f7f
- Mahar I, Alosco ML, McKee AC. Psychiatric phenotypes in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2017) 83:622–30. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.08.023
- Shitaka Y, Tran HT, Bennett RE, Sanchez L, Levy MA, Dikranian K, et al. Repetitive closed-skull traumatic brain injury in mice causes persistent multifocal axonal injury and microglial reactivity. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2011) 70:551–67. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e31821f891f
- Hylin MJ, Orsi SA, Rozas NS, Hill JL, Zhao J, Redell JB, et al. Repeated mild closed head injury impairs short-term visuospatial memory and complex learning. *J Neurotrauma*. (2013) 30:716–26. doi: 10.1089/neu. 2012.2717
- Yang Z, Wang P, Morgan D, Lin D, Pan J, Lin F, et al. Temporal MRI characterization, neurobiochemical and neurobehavioral changes in a mouse repetitive concussive head injury model. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:11178. doi: 10.1038/srep15922
- Chen H, Desai A, Kim HY. Repetitive closed-head impact model of engineered rotational acceleration induces long-term cognitive impairments with persistent astrogliosis and microgliosis in mice. J Neurotrauma. (2017) 34:2291–302. doi: 10.1089/neu.2016.4870
- Velosky AG, Tucker LB, Fu AH, Liu J, McCabe JT. Cognitive performance of male and female C57BL/6J mice after repetitive concussive brain injuries. *Behav Brain Res.* (2017) 324:115–24. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017.02.017

endorsed by the U.S. Army, Department of Defense, the U.S. Government or the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences. The use of trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use of reagents or commercial hardware or software. This document may not be cited for purposes of advertisement.

- Gold EM, Vasilevko V, Hasselmann J, Tiefenthaler C, Hoa D, Ranawaka K, et al. Repeated mild closed head injuries induce long-term white matter pathology and neuronal loss that are correlated with behavioral deficits. ASN Neuro. (2018) 10:1759091418781921. doi: 10.1177/1759091418781921
- Mouzon BC, Bachmeier C, Ferro A, Ojo JO, Crynen G, Acker CM, et al. Chronic neuropathological and neurobehavioral changes in a repetitive mild traumatic brain injury model. *Ann Neurol.* (2014) 75:241–54. doi: 10.1002/ana.24064
- Winston CN, Noel A, Neustadtl A, Parsadanian M, Barton DJ, Chellappa D, et al. Dendritic spine loss and chronic white matter inflammation in a mouse model of highly repetitive head trauma. *Am J Pathol.* (2016) 186:552–67. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.11.006
- Mouzon BC, Bachmeier C, Ojo JO, Acker CM, Ferguson S, Paris D, et al. Lifelong behavioral and neuropathological consequences of repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2018) 5:64–80. doi: 10.1002/acn3.510
- Gangolli M, Benetatos J, Esparza TJ, Fountain EM, Seneviratne S, Brody DL. Repetitive concussive and subconcussive injury in a human tau mouse model results in chronic cognitive dysfunction and disruption of white matter tracts, but not tau pathology. J Neurotrauma. (2019) 36:735–55. doi: 10.1089/neu.2018.5700
- Covassin T, Swanik CB, Sachs ML. Sex differences and the incidence of concussions among collegiate athletes. J Athl Train. (2003) 38:238–44.
- Marar M, McIlvain NM, Fields SK, Comstock RD. Epidemiology of concussions among United States high school athletes in 20 sports. *Am J Sports Med.* (2012) 40:747–55. doi: 10.1177/0363546511435626
- Davis-Hayes C, Gossett JD, Levine WN, Shams T, Harada J, Mitnick J, et al. Sex-specific outcomes and predictors of concussion recovery. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. (2017) 25:818–28. doi: 10.5435/JAAOS-D-17-00276
- Resch JE, Rach A, Walton S, Broshek DK. Sport concussion and the female athlete. *Clin Sports Med.* (2017) 36:717–39. doi: 10.1016/j.csm.2017.05.002
- Bretzin AC, Covassin T, Fox ME, Petit KM, Savage JL, Walker LF, et al. Sex differences in the clinical incidence of concussions, missed school days, and time loss in high school student-athletes: Part 1. Am J Sports Med. (2018) 46:2263–9. doi: 10.1177/0363546518778251
- Prien A, Grafe A, Rossler R, Junge A, Verhagen E. Epidemiology of head injuries focusing on concussions in team contact sports: a systematic review. *Sports Med.* (2018) 48:953–69. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0854-4
- Broshek DK, Kaushik T, Freeman JR, Erlanger D, Webbe F, Barth JT. Sex differences in outcome following sports-related concussion. J Neurosurg. (2005) 102:856–63. doi: 10.3171/jns.2005.102.5.0856
- Iverson GL, Gardner AJ, Terry DP, Ponsford JL, Sills AK, Broshek DK, et al. Predictors of clinical recovery from concussion: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:941–8. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097729
- Brown DA, Elsass JA, Miller AJ, Reed LE, Reneker JC. Differences in symptom reporting between males and females at baseline and after a sportsrelated concussion: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* (2015) 45:1027–40. doi: 10.1007/s40279-015-0335-6
- O'Connor CA, Cernak I, Vink R. Interaction between anesthesia, gender, and functional outcome task following diffuse traumatic brain injury in rats. J Neurotrauma. (2003) 20:533–41. doi: 10.1089/0897715037671 68465
- Wagner AK, Ren D, Conley YP, Ma X, Kerr ME, Zafonte RD, et al. Sex and genetic associations with cerebrospinal fluid dopamine and metabolite production after severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosurg.* (2007) 106:538– 47. doi: 10.3171/jns.2007.106.4.538

- Tucker LB, Fu AH, McCabe JT. Performance of male and female C57BL/6J mice on motor and cognitive tasks commonly used in preclinical traumatic brain injury research. J Neurotrauma. (2016) 33:880–94. doi: 10.1089/neu.2015.3977
- Tucker LB, Burke JF, Fu AH, McCabe JT. Neuropsychiatric symptom modeling in male and female C57BL/6J mice after experimental traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. (2017) 34:890–905. doi: 10.1089/neu.2016.4508
- Dellu F, Contarino A, Simon H, Koob GF, Gold LH. Genetic differences in response to novelty and spatial memory using a two-trial recognition task in mice. *Neurobiol Learn Mem.* (2000) 73:31–48. doi: 10.1006/nlme.1999.3919
- Sangobowale MA, Grin'kina NM, Whitney K, Nikulina E, St Laurent-Ariot K, Ho JS, et al. Minocycline plus N-Acetylcysteine reduce behavioral deficits and improve histology with a clinically useful time window. *J Neurotrauma*. (2018) 35. doi: 10.1089/neu.2017.5348. [Epub ahead of print].
- Can A, Dao DT, Terrillion CE, Piantadosi SC, Bhat S, Gould TD. The tail suspension test. J Vis Exp. (2012). 3769. doi: 10.3791/3769
- Liu J, Kou Z, Tian Y. Diffuse axonal injury after traumatic cerebral microbleeds: an evaluation of imaging techniques. *Neural Regen Res.* (2014) 9:1222–30. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.135330
- 38. Chiara Ricciardi M, Bokkers RP, Butman JA, Hammoud DA, Pham DL, Warach S, et al. Trauma-specific brain abnormalities in suspected mild traumatic brain injury patients identified in the first 48 hours after injury: a blinded magnetic resonance imaging comparative study including suspected acute minor stroke patients. J Neurotrauma. (2017) 34:23–30. doi: 10.1089/neu.2015.4338
- Logue OC, Cramer NP, Xu X, Perl DP, Galdzicki Z. Alterations of functional properties of hippocampal networks following repetitive closed-head injury. *Exp Neurol.* (2016) 277:227–43. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.12.019
- Yang Z, Lin F, Weissman AS, Jaalouk E, Xue QS, Wang KK. A repetitive concussive head injury model in mice. J Vis Exp. (2016) e54530. doi: 10.3791/54530
- Sauerbeck AD, Fanizzi C, Kim JH, Gangolli M, Bayly PV, Wellington CL, et al. modCHIMERA: a novel murine closed-head model of moderate traumatic brain injury. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:7677. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-25737-6
- Kou Z, VandeVord PJ. Traumatic white matter injury and glial activation: from basic science to clinics. *Glia*. (2014) 62:1831–55. doi: 10.1002/glia.22690
- Armstrong RC, Mierzwa AJ, Sullivan GM, Sanchez MA. Myelin and oligodendrocyte lineage cells in white matter pathology and plasticity after traumatic brain injury. *Neuropharmacology*. (2016) 110(Pt B):654–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.04.029
- 44. Johnson VE, Stewart JE, Begbie FD, Trojanowski JQ, Smith DH, Stewart W. Inflammation and white matter degeneration persist for years after a single traumatic brain injury. *Brain.* (2013) 136(Pt 1):28–42. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws322
- 45. Marion CM, Radomski KL, Cramer NP, Galdzicki Z, Armstrong RC. Experimental traumatic brain injury identifies distinct early and late phase axonal conduction deficits of white matter pathophysiology, and reveals intervening recovery. J Neurosci. (2018) 38:8723–36. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0819-18.2018
- Mouzon B, Chaytow H, Crynen G, Bachmeier C, Stewart J, Mullan M, et al. Repetitive mild traumatic brain injury in a mouse model produces learning and memory deficits accompanied by histological changes. *J Neurotrauma*. (2012) 29:2761–73. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2498
- 47. Luo J, Nguyen A, Villeda S, Zhang H, Ding Z, Lindsey D, et al. Longterm cognitive impairments and pathological alterations in a mouse model of repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. *Front Neurol.* (2014) 5:12. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00012
- Briggs DI, Angoa-Perez M, Kuhn DM. Prolonged repetitive head trauma induces a singular chronic traumatic encephalopathy-like pathology in white matter despite transient behavioral abnormalities. *Am J Pathol.* (2016) 186:2869–86. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.07.013
- 49. Xu L, Nguyen JV, Lehar M, Menon A, Rha E, Arena J, et al. Repetitive mild traumatic brain injury with impact acceleration in the mouse: multifocal axonopathy, neuroinflammation, and neurodegeneration in the visual system. *Exp Neurol.* (2016) 275(Pt 3):436–49. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2014. 11.004
- 50. Yu F, Shukla DK, Armstrong RC, Marion CM, Radomski KL, Selwyn RG, et al. Repetitive model of mild traumatic brain injury produces

cortical abnormalities detectable by magnetic resonance diffusion imaging, histopathology, and behavior. *J Neurotrauma*. (2017) 34:1364–81. doi: 10.1089/neu.2016.4569

- Fox GB, Fan L, Levasseur RA, Faden AI. Sustained sensory/motor and cognitive deficits with neuronal apoptosis following controlled cortical impact brain injury in the mouse. *J Neurotrauma*. (1998) 15:599–614. doi: 10.1089/neu.1998.15.599
- Kane MJ, Angoa-Perez M, Briggs DI, Viano DC, Kreipke CW, Kuhn DM. A mouse model of human repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosci Methods*. (2012) 203:41–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2011.09.003
- Mannix R, Berglass J, Berkner J, Moleus P, Qiu J, Andrews N, et al. Chronic gliosis and behavioral deficits in mice following repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosurg.* (2014) 121:1342–50. doi: 10.3171/2014.7.JNS14272
- 54. Wakade C, Sukumari-Ramesh S, Laird MD, Dhandapani KM, Vender JR. Delayed reduction in hippocampal postsynaptic density protein-95 expression temporally correlates with cognitive dysfunction following controlled cortical impact in mice. *J Neurosurg.* (2010) 113:1195–201. doi: 10.3171/2010.3.JNS091212
- Amenta PS, Jallo JI, Tuma RF, Elliott MB. A cannabinoid type 2 receptor agonist attenuates blood-brain barrier damage and neurodegeneration in a murine model of traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosci Res.* (2012) 90:2293–305. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23114
- Kimbler DE, Shields J, Yanasak N, Vender JR, Dhandapani KM. Activation of P2X7 promotes cerebral edema and neurological injury after traumatic brain injury in mice. *PLOS ONE.* (2012) 7:e41229. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041229
- 57. Yu F, Wang Z, Tchantchou F, Chiu CT, Zhang Y, Chuang DM. Lithium ameliorates neurodegeneration, suppresses neuroinflammation, and improves behavioral performance in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. (2012) 29:362–74. doi: 10.1089/neu.2011.1942
- Budinich CS, Tucker LB, Lowe D, Rosenberger JG, McCabe JT. Short and long-term motor and behavioral effects of diazoxide and dimethyl sulfoxide administration in the mouse after traumatic brain injury. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* (2013) 108:66–73. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2013.04.001
- Hsieh CL, Niemi EC, Wang SH, Lee CC, Bingham D, Zhang J, et al. CCR2 deficiency impairs macrophage infiltration and improves cognitive function after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2014) 31:1677–88. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3252
- Viggiano D. The hyperactive syndrome: metanalysis of genetic alterations, pharmacological treatments and brain lesions which increase locomotor activity. *Behav Brain Res.* (2008) 194:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008.06.033
- Save E, Poucet B. Role of the parietal cortex in long-term representation of spatial information in the rat. *Neurobiol Learn Mem.* (2009) 91:172–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2008.08.005
- 62. Rubenstein R, Sharma DR, Chang B, Oumata N, Cam M, Vaucelle L, et al. Novel mouse tauopathy model for repetitive mild traumatic brain injury: evaluation of long-term effects on cognition and biomarker levels after therapeutic inhibition of tau phosphorylation. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:124. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00124
- Abdel Baki SG, Kao HY, Kelemen E, Fenton AA, Bergold PJ. A hierarchy of neurobehavioral tasks discriminates between mild and moderate brain injury in rats. *Brain Res.* (2009) 1280:98–106. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009. 05.034
- Grin'kina NM, Abdel-Baki SG, Bergold PJ. Reversible behavioral deficits in rats during a cycle of demyelination-remyelination of the fimbria. *PLOS ONE*. (2013) 8:e53775. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053775
- 65. Petraglia AL, Plog BA, Dayawansa S, Chen M, Dashnaw ML, Czerniecka K, et al. The spectrum of neurobehavioral sequelae after repetitive mild traumatic brain injury: a novel mouse model of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. J Neurotrauma. (2014) 31:1211–24. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3255
- Steru L, Chermat R, Thierry B, Simon P. The tail suspension test: a new method for screening antidepressants in mice. *Psychopharmacology*. (1985) 85:367–70. doi: 10.1007/BF00428203
- Malkesman O, Tucker LB, Ozl J, McCabe JT. Traumatic brain injury -Modeling neuropsychiatric symptoms in rodents. *Front Neurol.* (2013) 4:157. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2013.00157
- 68. Semple BD, Zamani A, Rayner G, Shultz SR, Jones NC. Affective, neurocognitive and psychosocial disorders associated with traumatic brain

injury and post-traumatic epilepsy. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2019) 123:27-41. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2018.07.018

- Wagner AK, Willard LA, Kline AE, Wenger MK, Bolinger BD, Ren D, et al. Evaluation of estrous cycle stage and gender on behavioral outcome after experimental traumatic brain injury. *Brain Res.* (2004) 998:113–21. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2003.11.027
- Wagner AK, Kline AE, Ren D, Willard LA, Wenger MK, Zafonte RD, et al. Gender associations with chronic methylphenidate treatment and behavioral performance following experimental traumatic brain injury. *Behav Brain Res.* (2007) 181:200–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2007.04.006
- 71. Xiong Y, Mahmood A, Lu D, Qu C, Goussev A, Schallert T, et al. Role of gender in outcome after traumatic brain injury and therapeutic effect of erythropoietin in mice. *Brain Res.* (2007) 1185:301–12. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.09.052
- 72. Free KE, Greene AM, Bondi CO, Lajud N, de la Tremblaye PB, Kline AE. Comparable impediment of cognitive function in female and male rats subsequent to daily administration of haloperidol after traumatic brain injury. *Exp Neurol.* (2017) 296:62–8. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2017.07.004
- Villapol S, Loane DJ, Burns MP. Sexual dimorphism in the inflammatory response to traumatic brain injury. *Glia.* (2017) 65:1423–38. doi: 10.1002/glia.23171
- Clevenger AC, Kim H, Salcedo E, Yonchek JC, Rodgers KM, Orfila JE, et al. Endogenous sex steroids dampen neuroinflammation and improve outcome of traumatic brain injury in mice. *J Mol Neurosci.* (2018) 64:410–20. doi: 10.1007/s12031-018-1038-x
- Doran SJ, Ritzel RM, Glaser EP, Henry RJ, Faden AI, Loane DJ. Sex differences in acute neuroinflammation after experimental traumatic brain injury are mediated by infiltrating myeloid cells. *J Neurotrauma*. (2019) 36:1040–53. doi: 10.1089/neu.2018.6019
- Spani CB, Braun DJ, Van Eldik LJ. Sex-related responses after traumatic brain injury: Considerations for preclinical modeling. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (2018) 50:52–66. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.03.006

- Hall ED, Gibson TR, Pavel KM. Lack of a gender difference in post-traumatic neurodegeneration in the mouse controlled cortical impact injury model. J Neurotrauma. (2005) 22:669–79. doi: 10.1089/neu.2005.22.669
- Bruce-Keller AJ, Dimayuga FO, Reed JL, Wang C, Angers R, Wilson ME, et al. Gender and estrogen manipulation do not affect traumatic brain injury in mice. *J Neurotrauma*. (2007) 24:203–15. doi: 10.1089/neu.200 6.0163
- Roof RL, Hall ED. Gender differences in acute CNS trauma and stroke: neuroprotective effects of estrogen and progesterone. *J Neurotrauma*. (2000) 17:367–88. doi: 10.1089/neu.2000.17.367
- Yao XL, Liu J, Lee E, Ling GS, McCabe JT. Progesterone differentially regulates pro- and anti-apoptotic gene expression in cerebral cortex following traumatic brain injury in rats. *J Neurotrauma*. (2005) 22:656–68. doi: 10.1089/neu.2005.22.656
- Stein DG. Progesterone exerts neuroprotective effects after brain injury. Brain Res Rev. (2008) 57:386–97. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007. 06.012
- McEwen BS, Milner TA. Understanding the broad influence of sex hormones and sex differences in the brain. J Neurosci Res. (2017) 95:24–39. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23809

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tucker, Velosky, Fu and McCabe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neuroimaging and Neuropsychological Studies in Sports-Related Concussions in Adolescents: Current State and Future Directions

Shalini Narayana^{1,2,3*}, Christopher Charles⁴, Kassondra Collins², Jack W. Tsao^{2,4,5,6}, Ansley Grimes Stanfill⁷ and Brandon Baughman^{8,9}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tony L. Strickland, Sports Concussion Institute, United States

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Lazzarino, Università degli Studi di Catania, Italy Namas Chandra, New Jersey Institute of Technology, United States

*Correspondence:

Shalini Narayana snaraya2@uthsc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 16 January 2019 Accepted: 07 May 2019 Published: 24 May 2019

Citation:

Narayana S, Charles C, Collins K, Tsao JW, Stanfill AG and Baughman B (2019) Neuroimaging and Neuropsychological Studies in Sports-Related Concussions in Adolescents: Current State and Future Directions. Front. Neurol. 10:538. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00538 ¹ Department of Pediatrics, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ² Department of Anatomy and Neurobiology, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ³ Le Bonheur Children's Hospital, The Neuroscience Institute, Memphis, TN, United States, ⁴ Department of Neurology, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ⁵ Le Bonheur Children's Foundation Research Institute, Memphis, TN, United States, ⁶ Department of Neurology, Memphis Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ⁷ Department of Acute and Tertiary Care, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ⁸ Semmes Murphey Neurologic and Spine Institute, Memphis, TN, United States, ⁹ Department of Neurosurgery, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States

Sports-related concussion, is a serious neurological concern that many adolescent athletes will face during their athletic careers. In some instances, the effects of sports-related head injury are long-lasting. Due to their still-developing brains, adolescents appear to be more vulnerable to long-term repercussions of these injuries. As all sports-related concussions are mild traumatic brain injuries (mTBI), this review we will examine the pathophysiology of mTBI, its acute effects and long-term risks from sustaining injury, and current and needed advancements in the areas of neuropsychological testing, accelerometer telemetry, and neuroimaging. Current methods do not adequately measure the extent of an injury that an athlete may sustain, potentially putting these athletes at a much greater risk for long-term effects. To better understand mTBI, neuropsychological testing best practices need to be developed, standardized, and implemented based on sound scientific evidence in order to be propagated as clinical guidelines. Wearable accelerometers can be used to assess thresholds for mTBI and cumulative effects of concussive and subconcussive injuries. Novel neuroimaging methods that can detect anatomical abnormalities and functional deficits with more specificity and sensitivity should be developed. Young athletes are particularly a vulnerable population warranting immediate and significant research aimed at protecting them against sports related injury and mitigating their long-term deficits.

Keywords: mild traumatic brain injury, neuroimaging, neuropsychological testing, accelerometers, fMRI, DTI, MEG, TMS

INTRODUCTION

Sports-related concussion (a type of mTBI) is a serious neurological concern that many adolescent athletes will face during their athletic careers. Sports-related concussion is the second most common cause of head injury in children, second only to motor vehicle accidents (1). It has been estimated that 1.6 to 3.8 million concussions occur in sports and recreational activities each year in the United States (1). The highest incidence for sports-related concussion in young male athletes is reported in high school football, whereas soccer and basketball show the highest prevalence in female athletes (2). Emerging research suggests that younger athletes take longer to recover and may be more vulnerable than adults to the effects of an mTBI (3). Thus, the problem of mTBI in youth or adolescents needs urgent and extensive investigation, especially regarding diagnosis, management, and return-to-play guidelines. Mismanagement of mTBI puts athletes at risk for the short-term risk of second impact syndrome as well as long-term neurological sequelae such as chronic traumatic encephalopathy and chronic neurocognitive impairment (4). In this article, we will review the current understanding of the pathophysiology of mTBI, and highlight neuropsychological testing and neuroimaging methods that can be used to detect and monitor recovery of a youth sustaining an mTBI.

Brain Development

Prior to discussing the potential effects of mTBI on adolescents, it is important to understand normal brain development in this population. Although a child's total brain volume reaches ~90% of its adult size by 5 years of age, the brain continues to undergo significant changes throughout childhood and adolescence (5). Studies have demonstrated an increasing volume of white matter and reorganization of synaptic connections throughout the adolescent period (6-8). Gray matter in frontal, parietal, and temporal lobes reach their maximum volume around 12-16 years of age, while the gray matter in the occipital lobe continues to increase in size and density until 21 years of age (9). While gray and white matter changes in association cortices continue through the second decade of life, the greatest delay in maturation occurs in the prefrontal cortex, where myelination and synaptic pruning continues well into adulthood (10, 11). Similarly, the posterior part of corpus callosum continues to increase during adolescence as a result of increased myelination in the interhemispheric white matter tracts (12). These processes can be altered by environmental factors, including head injury.

Thus, it is reasonable to hypothesize that young children involved in contact sports could have a more prolonged course

of recovery following mTBI due to the physiologic immaturity of their brains as compared to adults. In fact, recovery times in children average approximately 1 month while symptoms in adults generally resolve within 10 days (3). Additionally, studies of adolescents have shown impaired working memory up to 1 year from injury and impaired attention up to 2 years from injury (13). These findings suggest that children are at risk for permanent impairments following mTBI (13). In addition, children with a prior history of migraines, learning disabilities, and attention deficit disorder may experience an even further prolonged course of recovery as well as more severe symptoms (4). Furthermore, injuries sustained during childhood and adolescence has the potential to change the trajectory of brain development, resulting in long lasting effects well into adulthood.

Definition of mTBI and Its Effects

An mTBI can be defined as a temporary alteration in brain function and mental status resulting from blunt trauma to the head or body that rapidly displaces the brain within the skull (14). It is important to note two items surrounding this definition (1) all concussions are mTBI, but not all mTBI are concussions; and (2) In any blunt trauma to the head or body, load of that force is also transmitted and causes fracture, contusion, hemorrhages, which are not addressed in this review of milder injuries. A loss of consciousness can occur, but is not required for a head injury to be classified as an mTBI (14). Typically, mTBI is characterized by rapid onset of symptoms that last for a short time and resolve spontaneously. Symptoms may develop more slowly in some individuals, so athletes suspected of suffering an mTBI should be assessed multiple times following an impact (15). Headache and dizziness are the most common physical symptoms of mTBI (16). Other physical symptoms include fatigue, photosensitivity, and nausea (15). Patients with mTBI also report cognitive symptoms such as an inability to concentrate ("feeling foggy"), as well as various other problems with memory and confusion (15). Emotional symptoms can include anxiety, irritability, emotional lability, and depression (4). Patients with mTBI may also experience difficulty falling asleep, excessive drowsiness, and/or other changes in sleep habits (4).

While one instance of concussion is not ideal, those young players who sustain multiple concussions over the course of their career may have even bigger cause for concern. A history of a previous concussion is associated with a greater risk of sustaining another concussion and puts athletes at an increased risk for longer-term deficits (16). Young athletes who sustain 3 or more concussions are more likely to exhibit a greater symptom burden including loss of consciousness, post-traumatic amnesia, and confusion (17). Furthermore, on neuropsychological testing, cognitive symptoms are found to persist longer for those with a history of 2 or more concussions (18). In addition, the grade point averages of student athletes with 2 or more concussions have been shown to be significantly lower (18).

Athletes with an history of multiple concussions are more likely to suffer from long-term neurological sequelae including deficits of working memory and visuospatial processing, epilepsy, early-onset Alzheimer's disease, chronic depression, and chronic

Abbreviations: AAN, American Academy of Neurology; AMS, American Medical Society of Sports Medicine; ANAM, Automated Neurocognitive Assessment Metrics; BOLD, Blood oxygen level-dependent; CNT, Computerized neuropsychological tests; CISG, Concussion in Sports Group; CRI, Concussion Resolution Index; CT, Computed tomography; DTI, Diffusion tensor imaging; EEG, Electroencephalogram; fMRI, Functional MRI; ImPACT, Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Test; MEG, Magnetoencephalography; MRI, Magnetic resonance imaging; MRS, Magnetic resonance spectroscopy; mTBI, Mild traumatic brain injury; TMS, Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation.

traumatic encephalopathy (19). Second-impact syndrome can cause severe cerebral vascular congestion and result in death (2, 20). There are currently no long-term prospective studies that examine the effects of concussions in young athletes who participated in contact sports before the college and professional levels. Future studies should be directed at understanding the effects of concussions, and the cumulative effects of repeat concussions throughout the entire career of young athletes.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF mTBI

An mTBI can be caused by direct trauma to the head or the rotational acceleration of the brain within the skull. These changes result in cellular damage to neurons, axons, and the vasculature of the brain which disrupts neurotransmission and neurometabolism (21, see 22 for a review). Animal models have provided the majority of information regarding the pathophysiology of the damage done by mTBI (2). These studies have demonstrated that a concussive injury damages the neuronal cell membrane, beginning a cascade of abnormal neuronal events. Disruption of the membrane causes an efflux of potassium to flow back into the extracellular space coupled with influx of sodium and calcium and thereby prompting the release of glutamate, an excitatory amino acid from the neuron (2, 21). Glutamate triggers the release of potassium that in turn causes further depolarization of the cell (2). As the sodium-potassium ion pumps attempt to compensate for this ion imbalance, adenosine triphosphate and glucose stores are depleted. The accompanying decrease in cerebral blood flow then leads to an energy crisis and lactate accumulation (2, 21). In addition to the potassium imbalance, calcium builds up in cell at the same time, thereby impairing mitochondrial function and exacerbating the energy crisis (22). All of these events can also release free radicals and lead to long lasting injury to neurons making them vulnerable to repeat injury (2).

Apart from these acute changes, more protracted impairments in metabolism lasting several days are also noted. Several animal studies have investigated other molecular impacts of mTBI. Across studies, changes in brain amino acids including N-acetylaspartate (NAA), arginine and y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and ATP/ADP ratio were noted, illustrating the energy crisis resulting from mTBI (23-26). In addition the degree and duration of the changes in these amino acids correlated with the severity of mTBI (23). These results highlight the role of the initial impact has on the cascade of events that follow, including the changes to metabolism. Further, in animals sustaining multiple mTBIs, the severity of the metabolic alterations increased and, did not demonstrate complete recovery despite prolonged follow up (24). Alterations in glycolytic gene expression and enzymatic activities have been reported following mTBI, indicating to genetic factors mediating brain responses to injury (27). The results of these studies warrant further investigation, particularly to investigate how these results may be applied to the discovery of drugs that could target specific mitochondrial functions and prevent the catastrophic effects of mTBI (26).

In addition to the energy crisis, the biomechanical impact has been shown to damage the cytoskeleton in the form of collapse of neurofilaments and disruption of microtubules. Such injury to axons can lead to impairments in axonal transport, neurotransmission and even axonal disconnection (21). Emerging data also indicate that proteins like integrins that form cytoskeletal anchors in the cell membrane in both neurons and vascular endothelium likely are the main molecular target of mTBI (21). These axonal changes have been shown to correlate with impaired cognition in both animal models and human studies (21). Additional sequalae of mTBI includes disruption of excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitter balance, activation of inflammatory cytokines, and in extreme cases cell death.

It is important to note that these pathophysiological changes can persist beyond the resolution of clinical symptoms. Since the cellular functions can take several days to weeks to return to baseline, the patients remain physiologically vulnerable during this period (4). Thus, a second injury during this phase may result in a worsening of the original effects and create increased risk for additional long-term sequelae (4). It has also been shown that younger individuals are more susceptible to the cumulative effects of repeat concussions, most likely due to developmental differences such as brain size, myelination levels, and differences in cerebral blood flow (4). Further studies that examine the pathophysiology of such brain trauma in adolescents are needed to better understand the underlying mechanisms of such injury and recovery. This work is critically needed for better diagnosis and for information on when it is safe to return to normal activities.

CURRENT STATE OF DIAGNOSTIC METHODS IN mTBI

Guidelines for mTBI diagnosis, management, and return-toplay decisions have been released by the American Medical Society (AMS) of Sports Medicine, the American Academy of Neurology (AAN), and the Concussion in Sport Group (CISG). The AMS and AAN guidelines were last updated in 2013, while the CISG more recently updated its consensus statement in 2016. Despite these three highly regarded guidelines, there is no one agreed-upon protocol for when a child should returnto-play. However, they all recommend that athletes exhibiting symptoms of concussion should be seen by a licensed health care professional or neuropsychologist and that return-to-play should be gradual once symptoms both at rest and with exertion are resolved (28).

Neuropsychological Testing in mTBI

There is a longstanding history of neuropsychological testing in the objective assessment of cognitive and behavioral changes in individuals with mild traumatic brain injury. It is wellestablished that individuals with mild traumatic brain injury can suffer neurocognitive deficits, most notably in the areas of processing speed/reaction time, attention, working memory, executive function, and memory (retrieval); these domains of function are readily assessed with formal neuropsychological testing. Several case-controlled and meta-analytic reviews are available on this topic, establishing the reliability and validity of testing in this population (29–34). A detailed discussion of these meta-analytic studies is beyond the scope of the current review; however, we would note the general trend of these meta-analyses, which have suggested that neurocognitive effect sizes tend to diminish spontaneously as the post-injury window broadens. In adult samples, a majority of the variance in post-concussive cognitive complaints has been found to be primarily related to psychological distress factors and litigation.

In the context of sports-related concussion management, the seminal work of Dr. Jeffery Barth and the sports laboratory assessment model at the University of Virginia provided a model of baseline and post-injury assessment that has become a model assessment strategy in many contemporary systems (35, 36). This strategy involves measuring cognition in the asymptomatic athlete, then re-assessing cognition (with the same testing battery) in the injured patient. When baseline testing is available, one is able to not only compare scores of the injured patient to the general population (norm-referenced measurement), but also a more sophisticated intra-individual assessment of change (baseline vs. post-injury). Over time, the use of neuropsychological testing has expanded in the assessment and management of concussion, especially in the field of sports medicine. An inter-organizational neuropsychology group (American Academy of Clinical Neuropsychology, American Board of Neuropsychology, Division 40 (Neuropsychology) of the American Psychological Association, and the National Academy of Neuropsychology) produced a consensus statement suggesting neuropsychologists can provide value-added data in the assessment and management of concussed athletes (37).

The Concussion in Sports Group (CISG) is an international, multi-disciplinary clinical and research group which have published sports concussion consensus guidelines since 2001, with the most recent iteration coming from the group's 5th meeting in 2017 (38). The CISG has addressed neuropsychological/cognitive assessment in their statements. Initially, there was a recommendation that formal cognitive assessment should be an essentially universal component of concussion assessment and management. Over time, this recommendation has been tempered. Specifically, in CISG-5, the group asserted that neuropsychological testing still contributes significant information in sports concussion; however, they found limited evidence suggesting neuropsychological testing prevented concussions or altered concussion outcomes. They go on to state that the current literature fails to support mandatory global neuropsychological testing for all athletes, including both baseline and post-injury assessment. Return-to-school planning was considered to be an area where neuropsychological testing can be especially helpful. More recently, the Centers for Disease Control reviewed literature pertaining to the diagnosis and management of concussion in children. Cognitive testing was discussed, with the overall summary suggesting moderate evidence supporting the use of graded symptom checklists in distinguishing injured patients. In contrast, brief cognitive screening (e.g., Standardized Assessment of Concussion), computerized measures (e.g., CNS Vital Signs), and specific measures of motor reaction time and vestibular-ocular motor TABLE 1 | Advantages and disadvantages specific to CNT.

Advantages	Disadvantages
Easily administered to large groups (37)	Group administration could potentially alter individual results (38)
Increased availability of multiple assessments (37)	Computers introduce the potential for software and hardware failure; many tools require internet access (39)
Portability allows rapid assessment and testing in more remote environments (37)	Most CNT still require scoring and interpretation by trained neuropsychologists (40)
Electronic medium facilitates compilation of a centralized database for normative data and research (37)	Difficulties remain for interpretation in the absence of baseline data or until complete normative data has been established (42)
Improved accuracy of time-based response measurements (37)	
Test forms can be modified to adjust for individualized presentation (37)	

screening were found to be of low to very low confidence. We would note that the review did not include studies with more detailed or robust neurocognitive batteries that would commonly be use in a typical clinical neuropsychological battery.

Of course, traditional neuropsychological testing in the context of mTBI/concussion evaluation and management is not without limitations. As noted above, the ability to detect neurocognitive impairments drops off within a few days to weeks following injury, and in some cases, performance-based deficits will resolve before subjective symptoms. Thus, if a clinician is reliant on neurocognitive testing data as the primary marker of recovery, they may risk false negative errors, which further risks prolonged recovery or re-injury in a patient who may still be in the midst of neurologic recovery. Another limitation are interpretations of psychometric change scores. For example, confident interpretation relies on adequate test-retest reliability, which for some tests may be poor, include significant practice effects, or simply not be available (39). Although statistical methodologies are available to control for reliability and practice effects (i.e., reliable change indices, regressionbased change scores), the statistical knowledge required to calculate these changes scores often requires formal training, which a vast majority of clinicians may not be exposed to. Other limitations are more pragmatic in nature. For example, largescale baseline testing with traditional neuropsychological tests can be challenging as they require one-on-on administration, with scoring and interpretation of results requiring trained neuropsychologists (40). Of course, this has been shown to be feasible in some settings. For example, the National Hockey League has employed a dual-approach, employing general screening instruments, computerized assessment, and traditional neuropsychological (paper and pencil) testing (41). Of course, this protocol does not easily generalize to a majority of concussion clinics or general medical practices due to the availability of specialists, time, space, and financing.

Given the changing landscape of concussion, including increased awareness of injury and market pressures for rapid diagnosis and assessment, recent trends have seen the

development of computer-based neuropsychological testing. Overall, computerized neuropsychological tests (CNTs) is somewhat of a mixed bag with regard to advantages over traditional measures (see Table 1). In a joint position paper by the American Academy of Clinical Neuropsychology and the National Academy of Neuropsychology, the panel agreed that CNTs can be administered by a wide range of professionals and distributed to a wide clinical population; however, caution was encouraged for users potentially viewing these instruments as a "plug and play" strategy that provides a diagnosis or interpretive statement at the exclusion of meaningful factors when considering cognition (e.g., similarities between normative data setting and clinical testing environment; cultural factors; malingering and effort problems; test theory and psychometric development; degree of computer naivete) (43). The authors of the paper also encourage a clear understanding of the difference between neuropsychological testing vs. neuropsychological assessment, with the latter implying clinical activities (i.e., clinical history integration, behavioral observations, physical findings, and interpretive and diagnostic conceptualization) beyond the relatively simple task of test administration. Considering the advantages and disadvantages of CNTs, the selection of which CNT instrument to use presents its own problem. Limited studies have considered head-to-head comparisons between CNTs, limiting one's ability to optimally select an instrument with the operational characteristics for their population at hand. Numerous studies have considered psychometric properties of common CNTs, utilized in concussion populations, with results suggesting quite a bit of variability across measures and across test-retest intervals (44, 45). Select studies have attempted to address this gap in the extant literature. Resch et al. (45) examined the psychometric properties of four of the most widely employed CNTs, including the Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Test (ImPACT), Axon/CogSport, Automated Neurocognitive Assessment Metrics (ANAM), and the Concussion Resolution Index (CRI). Resch and colleagues failed to identify superiority with any specific test and found inconsistent psychometrics across instruments, including varying validity, test-retest reliability, sensitivity, and specificity. Even with ImPACT, a measure that has become ubiquitous with sports concussion assessment, demonstrated mixed validity results (r = 0.20-0.88), mixed to unacceptable reliability (r = 0.23-0.88), and a broad range of sensitivity (79.2-94.6%) and specificity (89.4-97.3%) (44-46). In another similar study, Nelson et al. (47), compared reliability and validity between the ImPACT, ANAM, and Axon Sports/CogState over 24 h and 8, 15, and 45 day intervals. Sensitivities tended to be strongest at short intervals (47.6-67.8%); however, test-retest reliabilities dropped off for all instruments over longer intervals.

The extant literature has not identified a "perfect" neuropsychological test for individuals who have suffered concussion. As such, many have advocated for a multidimensional test to manage mTBI (such as the SCAT5) that considers observable symptoms as well as cognitive and neurological screening (4, 48, 49). Within these trends, some have recommended that performance-based testing be geared toward and focused on vulnerable populations, such as children and

adolescents, when feasible; however, this data in isolation should not be used as a litmus test to determine an athlete's readiness to play (49). We would note that return-to-play decision making has received a vast majority of the attention with regard to clinical decision making. In youth athletics, we would argue that return-to-learn would be a more significant outcome. Unfortunately, there have been limited studies with respect to the value-added nature of neuropsychological testing in school decision making, which we would expect to be much greater. In order to advance the science, future efforts must work toward establishing a best practice guideline for the use, administration, and interpretation of neuropsychological tests, regardless of the modality. Although some have suggested neuropsychological testing can be helpful even in the absence of an asymptomatic baseline exam, further studies are needed to understand what populations may or may not need baseline examinations (50). Moreover, studies should also be geared toward addressing questions regarding standardization of administration practices and hardware/technology used for CNTs, as well as ongoing studies to establish psychometric and operational characteristics of various instruments, across diverse age, sex, sport, intellectual and educational levels, in order to optimize measure selection (40, 51). The establishment of these guidelines would also be best served with a clearer understanding of the relationship between variations in an individual's scores and the recovery curve for each individual assessment (45).

Accelerometer Telemetry

The biomechanics of head injury can be assessed using wearable accelerometers that precisely measure the force of impact and provide real-time assessments of linear and angular acceleration as well as g-force. Being unobtrusive, these accelerometers can be worn discretely behind the ear or within headbands and caps and allows monitoring of both helmeted and non-helmeted athletes. Since these devices transmit data in real-time, qualified professionals can be alerted in case of high impact events. While one study using accelerometers embedded in helmets in collegiate football players found no correlation between acute symptoms of mTBI, postural stability, and neuropsychological deficits and the impact magnitude or impact location (52), a more recent study found that the athletes suffering concussion who demonstrated persistent neurophysiological deficits after despite complete symptom resolution had received significantly higher number of side impacts (53). These findings indicate that number and type of impact may be just as important as the force of impact in determining the immediate and long-term sequelae following mTBI.

Neuroimaging in mTBI

Current standards of care for examining an mTBI include neuroimaging methods such as computed tomography (CT) scans and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). A CT scan is usually performed first to rule out intracranial hemorrhage and skull fracture (2). While useful in this context, artifacts caused by beam hardening and partial volume effects limits the visualization of posterior fossa, frontal, and temporal regions. Further, CT cannot effectively resolve the gray-white matter interface for mTBI, resulting in poor visualization of deep white matter tracts, hippocampus and brainstem-structures that can be better visualized by MRI (54). However, structural MRI is still not sensitive enough to identify changes in the microstructure of the white matter. Therefore, neither CT nor MRI has the sensitivity or specificity of identifying mTBI related brain injury. Furthermore, it is important not only to determine the specific structural changes, but also functional consequences that occur as a result of an mTBI. We will discuss the current state of neuroimaging methods in turn.

Structural Imaging-Diffusion Tensor Imaging (DTI)

Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) is superior to structural MRI and CT scans in detecting white matter alterations, localized lesions, and diffuse axonal damage, especially in younger children where such alterations are typically more difficult to detect (2, 55). DTI provides information regarding white matter microstructure and fiber tract integrity by measuring the motion of the water molecules within the brain. Changes in fractional anisotropy (a measure of the direction of water movement within axons) and mean diffusivity (a measure of the overall diffusion in a tissue) are able to indicate alterations in the structure of white matter after mTBI (3, 56-58). White matter abnormalities have been found in the anterior corona radiata, the uncinate fasciculus, corpus callosum, inferior longitudinal fasciculus, and the cingulum bundle of patients that exhibit persistent cognitive impairment after mTBI (55). Changes in attention and memory have also been associated with altered fractional anisotropy levels within the left anterior corona radiata and uncinate fasciculus (59).

The global changes in fractional anisotropy and radial diffusivity have been seen even months after the initial concussive injury (56). Many of these fractional anisotropy changes are localized to the temporo-occipital white matter (60), but deep white matter changes may show an even longer time course of recovery, especially for female athletes. In a study of female contact sport athletes, microstructural changes could be persistently identified, even as long as 7 months after the initial injury occurred, and despite these athletes denying the presence of post-concussive symptoms (61). These data highlight the importance of improving our current diagnostic methods to better understand structural changes related to mTBI.

Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS)

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy measures the level of metabolites in the brain non-invasively by quantifying the changes in the proton spectrum induced by the metabolites. Individual metabolites and their concentrations can be quantified by their characteristic pattern of resonance frequencies. While MRS can detect signals from many metabolites, it is limited primarily by the concentrations of these metabolites in the tissue being examined and the magnetic field strength of the MRI scanner. Most common metabolites studied using MRS include N-acetylaspartate (NAA) and creatine (indices of neuronal viability), choline (measure of cell membrane integrity), glutamate and glutamine (assess excitatory neurotransmission), and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA, an

inhibitory neurotransmitter). The main advantage of MRS is its ability to monitor alterations in metabolic function over time even in the absence of structural abnormalities.

Researchers are beginning to use MRS to examine the association between mTBI and mitochondrial metabolism. Acutely decreased levels of NAA were noted in athletes who had suffered a concussion (< 3days), similar to that observed in rodent studies. The levels of NAA returned to non-concussive levels by 30 days (62). Additional alterations in concentrations of Creatine and Choline in the frontal lobe white matter have been observed that progressively return to normal by 30–45 days post injury (63). These findings highlight the possible clinical application of MRS as a non-invasive method of assessing changes caused by mTBI that are not evident by routine clinical, neuropsychological, or imaging evaluations (62).

However, MRS does not have the spatial resolution of an anatomical MRI and provides information on metabolites in small areas of the brain. Usually, in each scanning session, one or two areas of interest as well as control regions can be studied, making a priori identification of the critical brain areas a necessity. For example, only few brain areas including the frontal white matter, primary motor cortex, cingulate cortex and thalamus have been studied using MRS (64). But, due to differences in types of sports and locations of impact, there is no clear consensus on which brain areas should be examined. This problem is further compounded by on-going developmental changes in brain metabolites in adolescent athletes as well as normal variations of metabolite concentrations across different brain areas and individuals. Recent advances in whole brain MRS imaging will be helpful in studying metabolic consequences of sports related concussion particularly in children.

Functional Imaging-Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI)

Functional MRI (fMRI) measures brain activity by detecting changes in blood flow in real time as an individual is presented with a task (2, 65). Through such functional imaging assessments it is possible to associate any alterations in this blood flow with neurocognitive dysfunction post injury. The tasks that are presented during fMRI can be personalized for detection of deficits for each individual concussive case, and thus provide the most specific and accurate information for each patient (65). Another advantage of fMRIs is the capability to run multiple cognitive tests and trials within a short period of time (65). Such multicomponent studies could potentially elucidate the effect of concussive events on the brain, and enable medical professionals to detect even very small changes in neuronal function-changes that may go undetected otherwise and which will put the individual at a greater risk for secondary complications (65).

Results from fMRI assessments are obtained by measuring changes in local blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) contrast levels (65). A prospective fMRI study conducted on eight college football players found that those athletes who experienced an mTBI during the season showed increased BOLD responses while completing memory, sequencing, and sensorimotor tasks. These responses were increased when compared to their own baseline scan at the beginning of the season, but were also increased when compared to the other players with no reports of an mTBI (65). Results from this study imply that the athletes who have sustained an mTBI require more input from neighboring neuronal networks in order to complete the same tasks as controls, probably due to axonal damage near the area of impact (65).

Another study using fMRI and the n-back paradigm (a visual working memory test) demonstrated BOLD signal changes between a preseason baseline assessment and a post-injury or an end of the season assessment. These changes were proportional to the number of head collision events and are possibly linked to alterations in glucose (66) and oxygen (67) metabolism after head impact (65). With these findings, fMRI shows promise as a valuable diagnostic and research tool in the detection, assessment, and tracking of mTBI in athletes.

Functional

Imaging-Magnetoencephalography

Magnetoencephalography (MEG) is another functional neuroimaging modality, one that can identify brain areas involved in language perception, language production, somatosensory perception, and motor performance. Like fMRI, brain activity changes are measured during the performance of a task, and so MEG can be used in mapping the functional organization of the brain. Unlike conventional electroencephalogram (EEG), the surface distributions of the magnetic signals arise mainly from the primary or source currents and are not distorted as they spread to the surface of the head. This allows MEG to provide more accurate spatial localization than EEG (68, 69). Resting state MEG data can assist in establishing normal functional connectivity patterns between different areas of the brain (68). Studies have shown that the neurological symptoms experienced following an mTBI may be a result of alterations in these functional connectivity patterns (68, 69). Healthy neuronal tissues produce resting-state MEG data with frequencies above 8 Hz, while injured tissues produce lower frequencies (70). This low-frequency imaging has shown strong potential as a diagnostic imaging biomarker for mTBI. In one study measuring frequencies of 1-4 Hz, a control group was used to generate a diagnostic threshold that allowed 87% positive detection of mTBI (70). In another study, 55 control subjects and 31 mTBI subjects participated in a MEG assessment that analyzed the proportions of long-range vs. short-range connections within functional connectivity patterns. The study showed that the long-range connections accounted for 60% of all connections in mTBI patients vs. 20% in the control group, and this characteristic could distinguish the mTBI subjects from the control group subjects with 100% accuracy (68). With further research MEG has the potential to diagnosis mTBI, as well as the potential for monitoring recovery.

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) is a non-invasive brain stimulation technique that is being increasingly used in studying mTBI. TMS introduces an external, focal magnetic field to brain areas to elicit or disrupt brain activity. Often, TMS is used in conjunction with other neuroimaging methods, such as MRI, and is quickly emerging as an important diagnostic tool in investigating motor and speech and language networks in several neurological disorders. In addition to being non-invasive, TMS can be safely used in adolescents and in the patients with head injury. Using TMS, a study found that in athletes who suffered a concussion, the severity of concussion correlated with degree of inhibition in the motor cortex. This pattern was further exaggerated in athletes who sustained a repeat concussion, indicating to the cumulative effects of repeated injuries (71). In addition, studies of motor excitatory and inhibitory networks using TMS demonstrate persistent functional abnormalities long after symptom recovery and neuropsychological tests return to baseline (72-75). These findings further highlight the need for accurate diagnosis and long term follow up well-beyond symptom recovery in patients with mTBI.

DISCUSSION

In this review, we examined the pathophysiological cascade and the neuropsychological tests and advanced neuroimaging techniques employed in studying sport related concussion or mTBI in children. A similar examination of traumatic brain injuries resulting from more direct collision was not included in this review since the injury sustained has different biomechanical mechanisms and load distribution. Such injuries are often associated with different clinical symptoms including fracture, hemorrhage, and brain contusions and likely have different metabolic and pathophysiological sequalae. However, this review is confined to sports related concussion as the research on diagnosis, treatment, and the effects of mTBI is increasing, possibly due to greater awareness of concussion in professional sports. There are many areas of progress, yet there is still much to be done. One area that is markedly lacking is the longitudinal follow-up of youth that play sports, and the incidence of longterm post-concussion sequelae. It is unclear whether, and to what extent, concussions sustained in early life increase the risk for other neurological disease processes in later life.

Diagnosis and management of concussion, while much improved over the past 20 years, still is an area that needs further research in the areas of neuropsychological testing and neuroimaging. There remains a lack of evidence speaking to the superiority within and across neuropsychological tests and modalities (e.g., paper and pencil vs. computerized; baseline model vs. norm-referenced). Current recommendations for inclusion of neuropsychological testing in vulnerable populations and in return-to-school decision making is notable; however, general assessment and management should be a multimodal strategy. Wearable accelerometers can be used to assess the threshold of impact needed to initiate an injury and further explore the cumulative effects of subconcussive impacts to the head, particularly in young children and adolescents. Additionally, neuroimaging techniques are crucial to fully understanding the extent of an injury, but advanced techniques such as DTI, fMRI, MEG, and TMS need further development before they can be used clinically to diagnose concussion or
determine return-to-play. Extensive research is needed in these areas across all age groups in order to develop more sensitive diagnosis methods, improve clinical guidelines, and prevent avoidable long-term deficits.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

A Recent study reported increased blood levels of T-tau in ice hockey players with sports-related concussion. The concentrations of T-tau were highest immediately after the injury, and the T-tau concentrations at 1 h after concussion predicted the time to recovery (76). Future studies should be directed toward replicating this promising finding in order to significantly improve the way clinicians diagnose and manage sports related concussions and make return-to-play decisions. Toward this end, the NCAA-U.S. Department of Defense Concussion Assessment, Research and Education (CARE) Consortium (http://www.ncaa.org/sport-scienceinstitute/topics/ncaa-dod-care-consortium) was launched in 2014 as the largest study on concussion and repeated head trauma in athletes. Thirty campuses across the country are participating in this study to evaluate both acute and long term effects of head injury in athletes. In particular, the study hopes to define the clinical evolution of concussion and identify the neurobiological underpinning of concussion by using accelerometer telemetry, advanced neuroimaging and biological markers including genetic testing. The long term follow-up

REFERENCES

- Langlois JA, Rutland-Brown WWald MM. The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: a brief overview. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (2006) 21:375–8. doi: 10.1097/00001199-200609000-00001
- Halstead ME, Walter KD, Council on Sports MFitness. American Academy of Pediatrics. Clinical report-sport-related concussion in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 126:597–615. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-2005
- Borich M, Makan N, Boyd LVirji-Babul N. Combining whole-brain voxelwise analysis with *in vivo* tractography of diffusion behavior after sportsrelated concussion in adolescents: a preliminary report. *J Neurotrauma*. (2013) 30:1243–9. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2818
- Harmon KG, Drezner JA, Gammons M, Guskiewicz KM, Halstead M, Herring SA, et al. American Medical Society for Sports Medicine position statement: concussion in sport. Br J Sports Med. (2013) 47:15–26. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091941
- Lenroot RKGiedd JN. Brain development in children and adolescents: insights from anatomical magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2006) 30:718–29. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.06.001
- Blakemore SJ, Choudhury S. Development of the adolescent brain: implications for executive function and social cognition. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2006) 47:296–312. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01611.x
- Barnea-Goraly N, Menon V, Eckert M, Tamm L, Bammer R, Karchemskiy A, et al. White matter development during childhood and adolescence: a crosssectional diffusion tensor imaging study. *Cereb Cortex.* (2005) 15:1848–54. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhi062
- Arain M, Haque M, Johal L, Mathur P, Nel W, Rais A, et al. Maturation of the adolescent brain. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2013) 9:449–61. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S39776

phase of the study started in the winter of 2018 and will follow the athletes for 4 years after their athletic career has ended. It is expected that the findings from this study will provide crucial information to better understand the pathophysiology of concussion as well as toward improved diagnosis and management of acute and long term effects of concussion from sport participation. It is also hoped that the neuroimaging, blood and genetic testing can help determine return-to-play. Despite being the largest such study, women athletes continue to be under represented in this consortium. Even as we await the results from this study, large scale studies must also to be initiated in children of both genders playing in a variety of organized sports from a very young age. The advances in neuroimaging hardware and computational capabilities will continue to improve the spatial and temporal resolutions of these techniques and the accuracy of these methods in the diagnosis of sports related concussion will continue to improve in the coming years.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors take responsibility for the integrity and the accuracy of the review. SN and BB: study concept and design. CC, KC, AS, SN, and BB: literature review. CC, KC, AS, JT, SN, and BB: data analysis and interpretation, drafting and editing of the manuscript, contributing important intellectual content in manuscript review.

- Giedd JN, Blumenthal J, Jeffries NO, Castellanos FX, Liu H, Zijdenbos A, et al. Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study. *Nat Neurosci.* (1999) 2:861–3. doi: 10.1038/13158
- Miller DJ, Duka T, Stimpson CD, Schapiro SJ, Baze WB, McArthur MJ, et al. Prolonged myelination in human neocortical evolution. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2012) 109:16480–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1117943109
- Whitaker KJ, Vertes PE, Romero-Garcia R, Vasa F, Moutoussis M, Prabhu G, et al. Adolescence is associated with genomically patterned consolidation of the hubs of the human brain connectome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:9105–10. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1601745113
- Westerhausen R, Fjell AM, Krogsrud SK, Rohani DA, Skranes JS, Haberg AK, et al. Selective increase in posterior corpus callosum thickness between the age of 4 and 11years. *Neuroimage*. (2016) 139:17–25. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.06.008
- Moore DR, Pindus DM, Raine LB, Drollette ES, Scudder MR, Ellemberg D, et al. The persistent influence of concussion on attention, executive control and neuroelectric function in preadolescent children. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2016) 99:85–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.11.010
- 14. Mild Brain Injury and Concussion. America BIAo. (2014). Available online at: http://www.biausa.org/mild-brain-injury.htm
- Echemendia RJ, Meeuwisse W, McCrory P, Davis GA, Putukian M, Leddy J, et al. The sport concussion assessment tool 5th edition. (SCAT5): background and rationale. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:848–50. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097506
- Marar M, McIlvain NM, Fields SKComstock RD. Epidemiology of concussions among United States high school athletes in 20 sports. *Am J Sports Med.* (2012) 40:747–55. doi: 10.1177/0363546511435626
- Collins MW, Lovell MR, Iverson GL, Cantu RC, Maroon JCField M. Cumulative effects of concussion in high school athletes. *Neurosurgery*. (2002) 51:1175–9; discussion 1180-71. doi: 10.1097/00006123-200211000-00011

- Moser RS, Schatz PJordan BD. Prolonged effects of concussion in high school athletes. *Neurosurgery*. (2005) 57:300–6; discussion 300–6. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000166663.98616.E4
- Talavage TM, Nauman EA, Breedlove EL, Yoruk U, Dye AE, Morigaki KE, et al. Functionally-detected cognitive impairment in high school football players without clinically-diagnosed concussion. *J Neurotrauma*. (2014) 31:327–38. doi: 10.1089/neu.2010.1512
- Cantu RCVoy R. Second Impact Syndrome. *Phys Sportsmed.* (1995) 23:27–34. doi: 10.1080/00913847.1995.11947799
- Giza CC, and Hovda DA. The new neurometabolic cascade of concussion. Neurosurgery. (2014) 75:S24–33. doi: 10.1227/NEU.000000000000505
- Kim HJ, Tsao JW, Stanfill AG. The current state of biomarkers of mild traumatic brain injury. JCI Insight. (2018) 3:97105. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.97105
- Amorini AM, Lazzarino G, Di Pietro V, Signoretti S, Lazzarino G, Belli A, et al. Severity of experimental traumatic brain injury modulates changes in concentrations of cerebral free amino acids. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2017) 21:530–42. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.12998
- Vagnozzi R, Tavazzi B, Signoretti S, Amorini AM, Belli A, Cimatti M, et al. Temporal Window of metabolic brain vulnerability to concussions. *Neurosurgery*. (2007) 61:379–89. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000280002.41696.D8
- Di Pietro V, Amorini AM, Tavazzi B, Vagnozzi R, Logan A, Lazzarino G, et al. The molecular mechanisms affecting N-acetylaspartate homeostasis following experimental graded traumatic brain injury. *Mol Med.* (2014) 20:147–57. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2013.00153
- Di Pietro, V, Lazzarino G, Amorini AM, Signoretti S, Hill LJ, Porto E, et al. Fusion or fission: the destiny of mitochondria in traumatic brain injury of different severities. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:2. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09587-2
- AmoriniAM, Lazzarino G, Di Pietro V, Signoretti S, Lazzarino G, Belli A, et al. Metabolic, enzymatic and gene involvement in cerebral glucose dysmetabolism after traumatic brain injury. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* (2016) 1862:679–87. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.01.023
- West TAMarion DW. Current recommendations for the diagnosis and treatment of concussion in sport: a comparison of three new guidelines. J Neurotrauma. (2014) 31:159–68. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3031
- Rohling ML, Binder LM, Demakis GJ, Larrabee GJ, Ploetz DM, Langhinrichsen-Rohling J. A meta-analysis of neuropsychological outcome after mild traumatic brain injury: re-analyses and reconsiderations of Binder et al. (1997), Frencham et al. (2005), and Pertab et al. (2009). *Clin Neuropsychol.* (2011) 25:608–23. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2011.565076
- Karr JE, Areshenkoff CNGarcia-Barrera MA. The neuropsychological outcomes of concussion: a systematic review of meta-analyses on the cognitive sequelae of mild traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology*. (2014) 28:321–36. doi: 10.1037/neu0000037
- Belanger HG, Curtiss G, Demery JA, Lebowitz BKVanderploeg RD. Factors moderating neuropsychological outcomes following mild traumatic brain injury: a meta-analysis. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2005) 11:215–27. doi: 10.1017/S1355617705050277
- Belanger HG, Spiegel EVanderploeg RD. Neuropsychological performance following a history of multiple self-reported concussions: a meta-analysis. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2010) 16:262–7. doi: 10.1017/S1355617709991287
- Schretlen DJShapiro AM. A quantitative review of the effects of traumatic brain injury on cognitive functioning. *Int Rev Psychiatry*. (2003) 15:341–9. doi: 10.1080/09540260310001606728
- Echemendia RJ, Putukian M, Mackin RS, Julian LShoss N. Neuropsychological test performance prior to and following sportsrelated mild traumatic brain injury. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2001) 11:23–31. doi: 10.1097/00042752-200101000-00005
- Maerlender A. The neuropsychology of sport and performance. Dev Neuropsychol. (2017) 42:55–7. doi: 10.1080/87565641.2017.1309656
- Barth JT, Macciocchi SN, Giordani B, Rimel R, Jane JABoll TJ. Neuropsychological sequelae of minor head injury. *Neurosurgery*. (1983) 13:529–533. doi: 10.1227/00006123-198311000-00008
- Echemendia RJ, Iverson GL, McCrea M, Broshek DK, Gioia GA, Sautter SW, et al. Role of neuropsychologists in the evaluation and management of sport-related concussion: an inter-organization position statement. *Clin Neuropsychol.* (2011) 25:1289–94. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2011. 618466

- Pusateri ME, Hockenberry BJMcGrew CA. Zurich to Berlin "Where" Are We Now with the Concussion in Sport Group? *Curr Sports Med Rep.* (2018) 17:26–30. doi: 10.1249/JSR.000000000000444
- Randolph C, McCrea MBarr WB. Is neuropsychological testing useful in the management of sport-related concussion? *J Athl Train*. (2005) 40:139–152.
- McCrea M, Guskiewicz K, Randolph C, Barr WB, Hammeke TA, Marshall SW, et al. Incidence, clinical course, and predictors of prolonged recovery time following sport-related concussion in high school and college athletes. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2013) 19:22–33. doi: 10.1017/S1355617712000872
- Concussion Evaluation and Management Protocol. NHLPA CSNa. (2016). Available online at: from https://nhl.bamcontent.com/images/assets/binary/ 282574512/binary-file/file.pdf
- Moser RS, Schatz PLichtenstein JD. The importance of proper administration and interpretation of neuropsychological baseline and postconcussion computerized testing. *Appl Neuropsychol Child*. (2015) 4:41–8. doi: 10.1080/21622965.2013.791825
- 43. Bauer RM, Iverson GL, Cernich AN, Binder LM, Ruff RMNaugle RI. Computerized neuropsychological assessment devices: joint position paper of the American Academy of Clinical Neuropsychology and the National Academy of Neuropsychology. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. (2012) 27:362–73. doi: 10.1093/arclin/acs027
- De Marco APBroshek DK. Computerized Cognitive Testing in the Management of Youth Sports-Related Concussion. J Child Neurol. (2016) 31:68–75. doi: 10.1177/0883073814559645
- Resch JE, McCrea MACullum CM. Computerized neurocognitive testing in the management of sport-related concussion: an update. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2013) 23:335–349. doi: 10.1007/s11065-013-9242-5
- Meehan WP III, d'Hemecourt P, Collins CL, Taylor AMComstock RD. Computerized neurocognitive testing for the management of sport-related concussions. *Pediatrics*. (2012) 129:38–44. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-1972
- 47. Nelson LD, Pfaller AY, Rein LE, McCrea MA. Rates and predictors of invalid baseline test performance in high school and collegiate athletes for 3 computerized neurocognitive tests: ANAM, axon sports, and ImPACT. Am J Sports Med. (2015) 43:2018–26. doi: 10.1177/0363546515587714
- Comper P, Hutchison M, Magrys S, Mainwaring LRichards D. Evaluating the methodological quality of sports neuropsychology concussion research: a systematic review. *Brain Inj.* (2010) 24:1257–71. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2010.506854
- 49. McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvorak J, Aubry M, Bailes J, Broglio S, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport-the 5(th) international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:838–47. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699
- Arnett P, Meyer J, Merritt VGuty E. Neuropsychological Testing in Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: what to do when baseline testing is not available. *Sports Med Arthrosc Rev.* (2016) 24:116–22. doi: 10.1097/JSA.00000000000123
- Bauer RM, Iverson GL, Cernich AN, Binder LM, Ruff RMNaugle RI. Computerized neuropsychological assessment devices: joint position paper of the American Academy of Clinical Neuropsychology and the National Academy of Neuropsychology. *Clin Neuropsychol.* (2012) 26:177–96. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2012.663001
- 52. Guskiewicz KM, Mihalik JP, Shankar V, Marshall SW, Crowell DH, Oliaro SM, et al. Measurement of head impacts in collegiate football players: relationship between head impact biomechanics and acute clinical outcome after concussion. *Neurosurgery*. (2007) 61:1244–52; discussion 1252–43. doi: 10.1227/01.neu.0000306103.68635.1a
- Breedlove EL, Robinson M, Talavage TM, Morigaki KE, Yoruk U, O'Keefe K, et al. Biomechanical correlates of symptomatic and asymptomatic neurophysiological impairment in high school football. J Biomech. (2012) 45:1265–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2012.01.034
- 54. Coles JP. Imaging after brain injury. Br J Anaesth. (2007) 99:49–60. doi: 10.1093/bja/aem141
- Kraus MF, Susmaras T, Caughlin BP, Walker CJ, Sweeney JALittle DM. White matter integrity and cognition in chronic traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Brain*. (2007) 130:2508–19. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm216
- Virji-Babul N, Borich MR, Makan N, Moore T, Frew K, Emery CA, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging of sports-related concussion in adolescents. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2013) 48:24–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2012.09.005

- Murugavel M, Cubon V, Putukian M, Echemendia R, Cabrera J, Osherson D, et al. A longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging study assessing white matter fiber tracts after sports-related concussion. *J Neurotrauma*. (2014) 31:1860–71. doi: 10.1089/neu.2014.3368
- Pulsipher DT, Campbell RA, Thoma RKing JH. A critical review of neuroimaging applications in sports concussion. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* (2011) 10:14–20. doi: 10.1249/JSR.0b013e31820711b8
- Niogi SN, Mukherjee P, Ghajar J, Johnson CE, Kolster R, Lee H, et al. Structural dissociation of attentional control and memory in adults with and without mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain.* (2008) 131:3209–21. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn247
- Lipton ML, Kim N, Zimmerman ME, Kim M, Stewart WF, Branch CA, et al. Soccer heading is associated with white matter microstructural and cognitive abnormalities. *Radiology*. (2013) 268:850–7. doi: 10.1148/radiol.13130545
- Chamard E, Lassonde M, Henry L, Tremblay J, Boulanger Y, De Beaumont L, et al. Neurometabolic and microstructural alterations following a sports-related concussion in female athletes. *Brain Inj.* (2013) 27:1038–46. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2013.794968
- 62. Vagnozzi R, Signoretti S, Cristofori L, Alessandrini F, Floris R, Isgrò E, et al. Assessment of metabolic brain damage and recovery following mild traumatic brain injury: a multicentre, proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic study in concussed patients. *Brain.* (2010) 133:3232–42. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq200
- 63. Vagnozzi R, Signoretti S, Floris R, Marziali S, Manara M, Amorini AM, et al. Decrease in N-acetylaspartate following concussion may be coupled to decrease in creatine. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* (2013) 28:284–92. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3182795045
- Chamard E, Lichtenstein JD. A systematic review of neuroimaging findings in children and adolescents with sports-related concussion. *Brain Inj.* (2018) 32:816–31. doi: 10.1080/02699052.2018.1463106
- Jantzen KJ, Anderson B, Steinberg FLKelso JA. A prospective functional MR imaging study of mild traumatic brain injury in college football players. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. (2004) 25:738–745.
- Wu HM, Huang SC, Hattori N, Glenn TC, Vespa PM, Yu CL, et al. Selective metabolic reduction in gray matter acutely following human traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. (2004) 21:149–61. doi: 10.1089/089771504322778613
- Xu Y, McArthur DL, Alger JR, Etchepare M, Hovda DA, Glenn TC, et al. Early nonischemic oxidative metabolic dysfunction leads to chronic brain atrophy in traumatic brain injury. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* (2010) 30:883–94. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2009.263
- Dimitriadis SI, Zouridakis G, Rezaie R, Babajani-Feremi APapanicolaou AC. Functional connectivity changes detected with magnetoencephalography after mild traumatic brain injury. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2015) 9:519–31. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2015.09.011

- Antonakakis M, Dimitriadis SI, Zervakis M, Micheloyannis S, Rezaie R, Babajani-Feremi A, et al. Altered cross-frequency coupling in resting-state MEG after mild traumatic brain injury. *Int J Psychophysiol*. (2016) 102:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2016.02.002
- Huang M, Risling MBaker DG. The role of biomarkers and MEG-based imaging markers in the diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder and blast-induced mild traumatic brain injury. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2016) 63:398–409. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.02.008
- De Beaumont L, Lassonde M, Leclerc STheoret H. Long-term and cumulative effects of sports concussion on motor cortex inhibition. *Neurosurgery*. (2007) 61:329–36; discussion 336–27. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000280000.03578.B6
- Livingston SC, Goodkin HP, Hertel JN, Saliba EN, Barth JTIngersoll CD. Differential rates of recovery after acute sport-related concussion: electrophysiologic, symptomatic, and neurocognitive indices. J Clin Neurophysiol. (2012) 29:23–32. doi: 10.1097/WNP.0b013e3182 46ae46
- Tallus J, Lioumis P, Hamalainen H, Kahkonen STenovuo O. Long-lasting TMS motor threshold elevation in mild traumatic brain injury. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2012) 126:178–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2011.01623.x
- 74. Tremblay S, de Beaumont L, Lassonde MTheoret H. Evidence for the specificity of intracortical inhibitory dysfunction in asymptomatic concussed athletes. J Neurotrauma. (2011) 28:493–502. doi: 10.1089/neu. 2010.1615
- Pearce AJ, Hoy K, Rogers MA, Corp DT, Davies CB, Maller JJ, et al. Acute motor, neurocognitive and neurophysiological change following concussion injury in Australian amateur football. A prospective multimodal investigation. J Sci Med Sport. (2015) 18:500–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2014.0 7.010
- Shahim P, Tegner Y, Wilson DH, Randall J, Skillbäck T, Pazooki D, et al. Blood Biomarkers for Brain Injury in Concussed Professional Ice Hockey Players. *JAMA Neurol.* (2014) 71:684. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.367

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Narayana, Charles, Collins, Tsao, Stanfill and Baughman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Longitudinal Changes in Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy in Pediatric Concussion: A Pilot Study

Erin J. Meyer^{1*}, Jeffrey N. Stout^{2,3}, Ai Wern Chung^{2,3}, P. Ellen Grant^{2,3,4}, Rebekah Mannix^{5,6} and Borjan Gagoski^{2,4}

¹ Department of Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ² Fetal Neonatal Neuroimaging and Developmental Science Center, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ³ Division of Newborn Medicine, Department of Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁴ Department of Radiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁵ Division of Emergency Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ⁶ Department of Pediatrics, Department of Emergency Medicine, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jack Tsao, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States

Reviewed by:

Pratik Mukherjee, University of California, San Francisco, United States Giuseppe Lazzarino, Università degli Studi di Catania, Italy

> *Correspondence: Erin J. Meyer erin.meyer@childrens.harvard.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 26 February 2019 Accepted: 09 May 2019 Published: 07 June 2019

Citation:

Meyer EJ, Stout JN, Chung AW, Grant PE, Mannix R and Gagoski B (2019) Longitudinal Changes in Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy in Pediatric Concussion: A Pilot Study. Front. Neurol. 10:556. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00556 **Background:** Nearly 20% of US adolescents report at least one lifetime concussion. Pathophysiologic models suggest that traumatic biomechanical forces caused by rotational deceleration lead to shear stress, which triggers a neurometabolic cascade beginning with excitotoxicity and leading to significant energy demands and a period of metabolic crisis for the injured brain. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (¹H MRS) offers a means for non-invasive measurement of neurometabolic changes after concussion.

Objective: Describe longitudinal changes in metabolites measured *in vivo* in the brains of adolescent patients with concussion.

Methods: We prospectively recruited 9 patients ages 11 to 20 who presented to a pediatric Emergency Department within 24 h of concussion. Patients underwent MRI scanning within 72 h (acute, n = 8), 2 weeks (subacute, n = 7), and at approximately 1 year (chronic, n = 7). Healthy, age and sex-matched controls were recruited and scanned once (n = 9). ¹H MRS was used to measure N-acetyl-aspartate, choline, creatine, glutamate + glutamine, and myo-inositol concentrations in six regions of interest: left and right frontal white matter, posterior white matter and thalamus.

Results: There was a significant increase in total thalamus glutamate+glutamine/choline at the subacute (p = 0.010) and chronic (p = 0.010) time points, and a significant decrease in total white matter myo-inositol/choline (p = 0.030) at the chronic time point as compared to controls.

Conclusion: There are no differences in ¹H MRS measurements in the acute concussive period; however, changes in glutamate+glutamine and myo-inositol concentrations detectable by ¹H MRS may develop beyond the acute period.

Keywords: pediatric, adolescent, mild traumatic brain injury, concussion, magnetic resonance spectroscopy

INTRODUCTION

Nearly 20% of US adolescents report experiencing at least one lifetime concussion, also referred to as mild traumatic brain injury (TBI), and concussion accounts for approximately 200,000 visits annually to pediatric emergency rooms (1, 2). Current guidelines for assessing and diagnosing pediatric concussion rely on clinical judgment without the use of routine laboratory or imaging tests (3, 4). While most children recover within 1 month, 20–30% will experience persistent symptoms beyond 1 month (5, 6). It remains unknown why some patients experience prolonged symptoms while others do not. Investigations into the pathophysiologic underpinnings of concussion are crucial to guide development of tools that will allow researchers and clinicians to more accurately diagnose, prognose, and guide future interventions.

Animal models suggest concussion results from shear stress caused by rotational deceleration from traumatic biomechanical forces (7). This shear stress triggers a neurometabolic cascade that begins with excitotoxicity and leads to significant energy demands and a period of metabolic crisis for the injured brain (8, 9). Non-invasive neuroimaging-based biomarkers have provided important insights into structural and functional brain abnormalities in concussion. For example, studies using advanced neuroimaging techniques in adults have shown that concussion can be associated with alterations in white matter (WM) microstructure (diffusion tensor imaging, DTI), functional connectivity (fMRI), and cerebral blood flow (MR angiography) (10, 11).

Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (¹H MRS) allows direct investigation of metabolic shifts that occur during the neurometabolic cascade of concussion. ¹H MRS enables noninvasive measurement of metabolite and neurotransmitter concentrations in brain tissue. Metabolites with distinctive prominent spectra in ¹H MRS are N-acetyl aspartate (NAA), choline-containing compounds (Cho), and creatine-containing compounds (Cr). NAA is an amino acid highly concentrated in neurons, often interpreted as a marker of neuronal integrity and density, though some have shown dynamic changes in neuronal concentrations, suggesting a role as an indirect marker of the neuronal energy state (12, 13). Cho is a marker for cellular membrane turnover. Cr is a marker for cellular energetic systems and has also been proposed to have trophic and neuroprotective roles (14, 15). ¹H MRS can also be used to measure neurotransmitter concentrations (e.g., y-aminobutyric acid [GABA], glutamate), lactate, and myo-inositol (Ins), among many other molecules with subtler, more difficult to resolve spectra. One meta-analysis of ¹H MRS data in adult TBI show decreased NAA, NAA/Cr and increased Cho/Cr at the subacute and chronic time points in moderate to severe cases, but did not reveal significant differences in mild TBI (16). One notable study, excluded from this meta-analysis, demonstrated decreased NAA/Cr at the acute post-concussive time point that normalized by 1 month (17).

Fewer neuroimaging studies have focused on pediatric concussion (18). Systematic reviews of neuroimaging in pediatric concussion have shown that DTI, fMRI and angiography findings do not always align with changes detected in adults

(18–20). The adolescent brain may be uniquely vulnerable to the neurometabolic cascade, and this population requires special attention. Only a few studies, to our knowledge, have used in ¹H MRS in the adolescent population, and the methodology and reported results are highly variable (21–25).

The purpose of our study was to use magnetic resonance spectroscopy imaging (MRSI), an advanced type of ¹H MRS that allows multi-voxel measurements as compared to single-voxel spectroscopy, to explore possible differences in an extensive array of brain metabolites in pediatric patients with concussion as compared to controls. We further explored longitudinal trends in metabolites within concussed patients. Given the variable findings in preceding studies, this study was exploratory in nature. Nonetheless, we hypothesized that findings would be relatively consistent with observations in adult concussion as described above.

METHODS

Subjects

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Boston Children's Hospital and written informed consent was obtained from parent proxies for all subjects. We prospectively recruited patients who presented to a pediatric Emergency Department within 24 h of concussion. Each patient underwent MRI scanning within 72h (acute), 2 weeks (subacute), and approximately 1 year (chronic) after the concussion. Concussion was defined as a blunt, sports-related injury to the head resulting in either (1) alteration in mental status (including loss of consciousness, disorientation, or amnesia) or (2) any of the following symptoms that started within 4h of injury and were not present before the injury: headache, nausea, vomiting, dizziness/balance problems, fatigue, drowsiness, blurred vision, memory difficulty or difficulty concentrating. Patients were excluded from the study if they presented to the Emergency Department with Glasgow Coma Scale < 14, focal symptoms or other indications for head imaging or intracranial hemorrhage seen when imaging was obtained, orthopedic fracture, co-existing intra-abdominal or intra-thoracic trauma, or spinal-cord injury, or an underlying neurologic disorder or psychiatric illness requiring medications. Healthy, age and sex-matched controls were recruited and scanned once. Controls were recruited without current neurological complaints or recent head trauma at least a year prior to scanning.

MRI Image Acquisition

Structural T1-weighted and MRSI volumes were collected at each time point. Imaging data were acquired on a 3T Siemens Tim Trio system (Erlangen, Germany), equipped with 32-channel receive coil array and maximum gradient strength and slew rate of 40 mT/m and 180 mT/m/ms, respectively. T1-weighted motion mitigated multi-echo MPRAGE (26) parameters were: TR = 2520 ms; TE = 1.74, 3.54, 5.34, and 7.14 ms; inversion time = 1,350 ms; field-of-view (FOV) = 240 mm²; voxel size = 1 mm³. For MRSI, we used an accelerated 3D MRSI sequence with spiral k-space trajectories (27), which has been fully implemented on Siemens MR platforms (28). This sequence provides for the first time in clinical settings volumetric CSI coverage of



isotropic voxel size of 2 cc in 1 min of acquisition time. Specific imaging parameters were: Matrix size (x, y, z, f) = (13, 13, 8, 512), zero-padded to (16, 16, 8, 512) and encoded over FOV_{XY} = 16 cm², FOV_Z = 10 cm, FOV_f = 1.2 KHz for an overall isotropic voxel size of 2 cc; excitation box was prescribed entirely within the brain to avoid lipid contamination from the skull, such that the center of the excitation box is centered around basal ganglia; TE = 30 ms, TR = 1.8 s, number of averages = 8 (for signal-to-noise-ratio [SNR] purposes), for an overall acquisition time of 7:48 min. An additional spectroscopy scan with no water suppression and with one average and TR = 1 s (overall acquisition time of 36 s) was acquired for the purposes of obtaining absolute quantitative estimates of brain metabolites.

MRI Image Processing

MRSI was used to measure NAA, Cho, Cr, glutamate + glutamine (Glx), Ins concentrations. MRSI data was analyzed using TARQUIN and custom Matlab (Natick, MA, USA) routines (29). We obtained a 3D MRSI acquisition with a single short TE (30 ms) and without any spectral editing, which meant that GABA and lactate signals were not analyzed/fitted due to their inherent strong coupling with other metabolites in the spectra. Spectra from individual voxels were fit using default TARQUIN parameters, except the chosen reference signals were NAA, Cr, Cho, and Lipids, and the excitation scheme was LASER(30). Absolute concentrations were calculated assuming a water attenuation factor of 0.7 (metabolite $T_2 = 200 \text{ ms}$, water $T_2 = 80 \text{ ms}$, TE = 30 ms) and water concentration of 35,880 mM (WM water concentration). Concentration ratios were also determined for each metabolite concentration relative to Cho. Data quality was evaluated on a voxel-wise basis by first visually inspecting a selection of spectra to determine SNR and Q thresholds so that low quality spectra are rejected from the remaining dataset. SNR was determined by TARQUIN by taking the ratio between the maximum in the spectrum minus baseline divided by two times the root mean squre of the residual between 0.5–4 ppm. Q is a measure of how well the spectrum was fit by TARQUIN determined by the ratio of the fit residual to the noise level of the spectrum, specifically the standard deviation of the fit residual (between around 0.5–4 ppm) divided by the standard deviation of the noise region.

For each patient and time point, the 3D MRSI excitation grid was overlaid onto the T1-weighted structural volume to allow visualization and manual selection of region of interest (ROI). Six MRSI voxels were selected as each regions of interest: left and right frontal WM, posterior WM and thalamus (Figure 1). Given the large voxel size in MRSI, voxels were selected to include as much of the desired ROI as possible. For each subject, measurements from individual thalamus and WM voxels were averaged to create total thalamus and total WM meta-ROIs, respectively. T1-weighted images were pre-processed with the FreeSurfer "recon-all" pipeline (https://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard. edu) and output were visually inspected, yielding four whole brain segmentation masks of the WM, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), cortical gray matter (cGM), and subcortical gray matter (sGM) in native space. sGM comprised bilaterally the thalamus, caudate, putamen, pallidum, hippocampus, amygdala, and insula. For each MRSI ROI, the percentages of WM, CSF, cGM, and sGM within the ROI were computed.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using STATA statistical software package (StataCorp. 2017. Stata Statistical Software: Release 15. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC). To exclude lowquality data, voxels were removed if SNR was <5 and the Qstatistic was >2.5. Fisher's exact test was used to analyze for sex differences between concussed and control patients. ANOVAs were used to analyze differences in age and partial volumes. Differences in metabolite concentrations at each time point were compared between patients and controls using Mann-Whitney U-tests. We first looked for differences in the meta-ROIs, and if a trend (p < 0.1) was detected, we further investigated for differences in the individual ROIs and for longitudinal trends. To assess longitudinal trends within the concussed patients, we used linear mixed effects models fit by maximum likelihood with metabolite concentration as the outcome and fixed and random effects of time point. Separate models were performed for each metabolite and ROI combination of interest. A threshold of p <0.05 was used to determine statistical significance. Due to the

TABLE 1 | Demographics and ROI partial volumes.

	Control (n = 9)	Concussion (n = 9)	p-value
Age, mean years (SD)	13.52 (1.26)	14.23 (2.81)	0.50
Female sex, n (%)	1 (11%)	1 (11%)	> 0.99
L thalamus, % sGM, mean (SD)	80.43 (14.90)	80.43 (12.14)	> 0.99
R thalamus, % sGM, mean (SD)	82.97 (17.19)	78.22 (11.23)	0.52
L frontal WM, % WM, mean (SD)	93.44 (6.17)	91.70 (10.97)	0.69
R frontal WM, % WM, mean (SD)	98.25 (1.97)	98.11 (1.60)	0.88
L parietal WM, % WM, mean (SD)	96.72 (2.54)	91.42 (10.73)	0.17
R parietal WM, % WM, mean (SD)	95.93 (3.01)	93.81 (5.50)	0.33

Partial volumes refer to the first (baseline) collection time point. ROI, region of interest; SD, standard deviation; L, left; R, right; sGM, subcortical gray matter; WM, white matter.

exploratory nature of our pilot study, *p*-values were not corrected for multiple comparisons.

RESULTS

Demographics

Baseline group demographics and ROI partial volume data are presented in **Table 1**. In total, spectroscopy data was collected on nine concussed subjects and nine controls. Due to inability to collect MRSI data on every subject, it must be noted that these cohorts were not perfectly age-matched. After exclusion of corrupted data and accounting for loss to follow up, six concussion subjects had full longitudinal data at all three time points, one had data at the acute and chronic time points, and two subjects had only a single time point (one acute, and one subacute). Among all voxels from all participants, only five were excluded from analysis due to poor quality spectra (SNR < 5 and Q > 2.5). There were no significant differences in sex or age between concussion and control groups. There were no significant partial volumes differences between groups.

MRSI Analyses

Spectroscopic measurements are presented in **Table 2**. On examination of the meta-ROIs, there was a significant increase in total thalamus Glx/Cho at the subacute (p = 0.010) and chronic (p = 0.010) time points as compared to controls (**Figure 2**). For total WM, there was a significant decrease in Ins/Cho (p = 0.030) and a trending decrease in Ins (p = 0.050) at the chronic time point (**Figure 3**).

Further targeted investigation into the individual ROIs revealed a significant increase in left thalamus Glx/Cho at subacute (p = 0.017) and chronic (p = 0.039) time points. There was a significant decrease in right frontal WM Ins/Cho (p = 0.011) at the chronic time point, and a trending decrease in left frontal WM Ins/Cho (p = 0.064) at the chronic time point. There were no other significant differences in metabolite absolute concentrations or ratios for any of the individual or meta-ROIs at any time point when comparing concussed patients to controls.

Within the concussed groups, there was a significant linear increase over time in total thalamus Glx/Cho (b = 0.37, CI: 0.03–0.71, p = 0.034) and in total thalamus Ins/Cho (b = 0.46, CI: 0.11–0.81, p = 0.010). There were no significant linear trends over time in total WM Glx, Glx/Cho, Ins, or Ins/Cho.

DISCUSSION

This study used MRSI to broadly explore longitudinal changes in the neurometabolic state of the brain after pediatric concussion. Our study demonstrates the feasibility of using ¹H MRS in the pediatric population to measure a range of neurometabolites. Our analyses suggest that Glx/Cho in the thalamus may be increased at the subacute time point following concussion, and this elevation may persist chronically up to 1 year. Our study also suggests that concussion may be associated with a delayed decrease in Ins that is not seen in the acute or subacute time period. These results could inform future studies investigating potential therapeutic targets or prognostic biomarkers, which are critically needed for concussion generally, but also specifically in pediatric patients who may be particularly vulnerable to these neurological insults.

Our study adds to a small but growing body of literature using ¹H MRS in pediatric concussion research. In 2012, Maugans et al. were the first group to report MRS findings in the adolescent population. Using single-voxel spectroscopy, they found no longitudinal changes in thalamus, frontal GM, or frontal WM NAA, NAA/Cr, or lactate in mild TBI, and no differences compared to controls (21). Their study looked at three time points, and final imaging for all subjects occurred < 3 months from the initial injury. While our findings align with their observations of NAA, we included imaging done approximately 1 year from injury, which offers further insight into the neurometabolic processes when symptoms have resolved for most patients.

Other pediatric studies have shown variable results. Our Ins findings are congruent with work by Poole et al. who followed football athletes longitudinally over the course of a season and found decreasing Cr and Ins in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (22). Although Poole et al. did not assess a control group, which limits comparison to the present study, we also demonstrated decreased Ins over time in our sample. Ins has been proposed to be a glial marker, among other functions, and decreased concentrations may represent glial dysfunction (15). We did not find significant differences in NAA/Cho nor the absolute concentrations of NAA, Cho, and Cr. Other studies have found increased GABA/Cr in the frontal lobe at approximately 1 month following concussion compared to controls (23), decreased Cho in the prefrontal region 3 months following concussion as compared to controls (24), decreased NAA/Cr and NAA/Cho in the corpus callosum and parietal WM at various time points ranging from 3 to 12 months post-concussion as compared to controls (25). It is important to note that the methodology and findings of these five studies are highly variable, and further studies are needed to continue to reproduce results and more deeply evaluate the neurometabolic consequences of pediatric concussion.

We also report a novel finding of increased thalamic Glx/Cho at the subacute and chronic time points. The spectra for glutamate and glutamine overlap highly, and concentrations are generally correlated, so their combined concentrations (i.e., Glx) are reported in this study. On further inspection of the quality of the spectral fitting for Glx spectra, the average Cramér-Rao-lower-bound value for all Glx peaks

		Control		Concussion		CRLB
			Acute (<i>n</i> = 8)	Subacute ($n = 7$)	Chronic ($n = 7$)	
Days since injury, mea	an (SD)	7.78 (4.29)	1.13 (0.64)	16.14 (2.73)	417.86 (19.14)	
Cho	Total WM	22.21 (2.87)	22.43 (3.80)	24.04 (5.68)	24.72 (4.60)	6.67%
	Total thalamus	25.19 (6.54)	26.01 (13.52)	21.66 (8.74)	21.80 (11.38)	
Cr	Total WM	71.87 (11.15)	61.88 (40.68)	69.69 (10.20)	66.31 (6.16)	7.07%
	Total thalamus	71.20 (17.80)	69.49 (11.56)	61.72 (11.49)	63.37 (15.47)	
NAA	Total WM	104.26 (16.22)	101.12 (9.22)	109.33 (8.11)	102.96 (4.02)	6.72%
	Total thalamus	92.54 (19.74)	90.28 (34.58)	96.50 (42.43)	82.55 (27.36)	
NAA/Cho	Total WM	4.87 (0.92)	4.72 (0.47)	4.86 (0.84)	4.43 (0.69)	-
	Total thalamus	3.30 (1.11)	3.53 (0.90)	3.50 (1.44)	3.79 (1.45)	
Glx	Total WM	72.75 (9.23)	65.07 (31.19)	63.87 (21.36)	70.34 (12.84)	16.20%
	Total thalamus	68.80 (29.00)	78.29 (53.18)	78.40 (16.82)	81.89 (7.73)	
Glx/Cho	Total WM	3.57 (1.01)	2.83 (0.55)	2.98 (0.49)	2.87 (0.70)	-
	Total thalamus	2.87 (0.30)	3.36 (1.49)	**3.75 (1.16)	**3.72 (1.30)	
Ins	Total WM	54.75 (7.50)	47.71 (12.26)	50.17 (16.25)	*49.71 (5.64)	12.91%
	Total thalamus	44.15 (16.90)	41.45 (22.16)	48.37 (20.92)	42.51 (11.62)	
Ins/Cho	Total WM	2.35 (0.89)	2.28 (1.06)	2.33 (0.69)	**1.87 (0.35)	-
	Total thalamus	1.82 (0.29)	1.59 (0.41)	2.06 (0.45)	1.88 (1.20)	

TABLE 2 | Median metabolite concentrations (mM), or concentrations ratios, and interquartile range by group and time point.

Total WM is the average of the 4 individual WM ROIs and total thalamus is the average of the 2 individual thalamic ROIs. SD, standard deviation; WM, white matter; Cho, choline compounds; Cr, creatine compounds; NAA, N-acetyl-aspartate; Glx, glutamate + glutamine; Ins, myo-inositol; CRLB, Cramér-Rao-lower-bound. *P < 0.1, **p < 0.05 by Mann-Whitney U-test.





was approximately 16%, which indicates a fair degree of certainty in the Glx concentrations. Current pathophysiologic models suggest an acute and transient period of neuronal excitotoxicity and glutamate release at the beginning of the neurometabolic cascade of concussion (7). It is possible that our acute time point did not occur soon enough after injury to detect this cascade. Additionally, our findings indicate a delayed increase in glutamate concentrations, which suggests that altered neurotransmission may persist chronically following concussion. It should be noted that the differences in absolute Glx concentrations were not significant. In fact, further inspection of the data in **Table 2** shows increasing absolute Glx values and decreasing absolute Cho values, suggesting that the trend

observed in Glx/Cho could be a product of these two insignificant, opposing trends.

Our study has several limitations. First, this study was underpowered to detect small changes in metabolite concentrations, and it remains possible that additional meaningful neurometabolic changes occur during the longitudinal course of pediatric concussion. Due to the small sample size, we did not include covariates in our statistical model, which limits the generalizability of our findings and allows for the possibility of confounders that may have impacted these results. For instance, while there is evidence that brain metabolites are relatively stable above 4 years of age, there may still be age-related effects on metabolites concentrations, and this



remains an important area for future research (30, 31). Given the limited sample size, we did not correct for multiple comparisons, and as a result our findings are preliminary and require confirmation with better-powered studies. Second, normal ranges for absolute concentrations are not well established in either pediatric or adult populations, making it difficult to interpret effect sizes. Though we believe our methodology for absolute concentration of metabolites was suitable for the longitudinal analysis we undertook, concentrations we report for GM would need to be refined for comparison to other studies that make different assumptions about metabolite T₂ values or tissue water concentrations. Finally, obtaining estimates of the GABA and lactate concentrations will also be explored in future studies, as we expect that their values might change in the event of concussion. To obtain reliable estimates of these metabolites though, we need to employ special spectral editing MRSI acquisition techniques [e.g., MEGA-PRESS 2DJ (32) or 2D COSY MRSI (33)] in order to be able to uncouple the GABA and lactate signals from the other metabolites that are spectrally overlapping with them.

The current results align with the adult literature, which has shown minimal differences in ¹H MRS measurements in the acute concussive period. Our study suggests that there may be significant longitudinal neurometabolic changes in the pediatric population leading to differences detectable beyond the acute time point, and we add to previous ¹H MRS studies of pediatric concussion by examining the chronic time point at 1 year postconcussion. It remains to be seen how these results will fit with hypothesized biological pathways implicated in pediatric concussion, and larger sample sizes are needed to further evaluate smaller effects and to determine if the observed neurometabolic changes are reproducible.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated and analyzed for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Institutional Review Board at Boston Children's Hospital with written informed consent obtained from all subjects. For minors, consent was obtained from parent proxies. All subjects or parent proxies gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Boston Children's Hospital.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PG, RM, and BG designed and supervised data collection. EM, JS, AC, and RM were responsible for imaging analysis design. EM, JS, and AC conducted the experiments. EM analyzed the results. RM and AC provided statistical analysis guidance. EM, JS, and AC wrote the manuscript, and all authors reviewed the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was conducted with support from Harvard Catalyst. The Harvard Clinical and Translational Science Center (National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences, National Institutes of Health Award UL 1TR001102) and financial contributions from Harvard University and its affiliated academic healthcare centers. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of Harvard Catalyst, Harvard University and its affiliated academic healthcare centers, or the National Institutes of Health.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank the families that participated and our colleagues at Boston Children's Hospital for their support.

REFERENCES

- Eisenberg M, Mannix R. Acute concussion: making the diagnosis and state of the art management. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2018) 30:344–9. doi: 10.1097/MOP.00000000000620
- Veliz P, McCabe SE, Eckner JT, Schulenberg JE. Prevalence of concussion among US adolescents and correlated factors. JAMA. (2017) 318:1180–2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.9087
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvorak J, Aubry M, Bailes J, Broglio S, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport-the 5(th) international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:838–47. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699
- Lumba-Brown A, Yeates KO, Sarmiento K, Breiding MJ, Haegerich TM, Gioia GA, et al. Diagnosis and management of mild traumatic brain injury in children: a systematic review. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2018) 172:e182847. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.2847
- Eisenberg MA, Meehan WP, 3rd, Mannix R. Duration and course of post-concussive symptoms. *Pediatrics*. (2014) 133:999–1006. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-0158
- Zemek R, Barrowman N, Freedman SB, Gravel J, Gagnon I, McGahern C, et al. Clinical risk score for persistent postconcussion symptoms among children with acute concussion in the ED. JAMA. (2016) 315:1014–25. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.1203
- Giza CC, Hovda DA. The new neurometabolic cascade of concussion. *Neurosurgery*. (2014) 75(Suppl 4):S24–33. doi: 10.1227/NEU.0000000000505
- Amorini AM, Lazzarino G, Di Pietro V, Signoretti S, Lazzarino G, Belli A, et al. Severity of experimental traumatic brain injury modulates changes in concentrations of cerebral free amino acids. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2017) 21:530–42. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.12998
- Di Pietro V, Lazzarino G, Amorini AM, Signoretti S, Hill LJ, Porto E, et al. Fusion or fission: the destiny of mitochondria in traumatic brain injury of different severities. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:9189. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09587-2
- McCrea M, Meier T, Huber D, Ptito A, Bigler E, Debert CT, et al. Role of advanced neuroimaging, fluid biomarkers and genetic testing in the assessment of sport-related concussion: a systematic review. *Br J Sports Med.* (2017) 51:919–29. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-097447
- Eierud C, Craddock RC, Fletcher S, Aulakh M, King-Casas B, Kuehl D, et al. Neuroimaging after mild traumatic brain injury: review and meta-analysis. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2014) 4:283–94. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2013.12.009
- Deng-Bryant Y, Prins ML, Hovda DA, Harris NG. Ketogenic diet prevents alterations in brain metabolism in young but not adult rats after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2011) 28:1813–25. doi: 10.1089/neu. 2011.1822
- Di Pietro V, Amorini AM, Tavazzi B, Vagnozzi R, Logan A, Lazzarino G, et al. The molecular mechanisms affecting N-acetylaspartate homeostasis following experimental graded traumatic brain injury. *Mol Med.* (2014) 20:147–57. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2013.00153
- Sestili P, Ambrogini P, Barbieri E, Sartini S, Fimognari C, Calcabrini C, et al. New insights into the trophic and cytoprotective effects of creatine in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of cell maturation. *Amino Acids*. (2016) 48:1897–911. doi: 10.1007/s00726-015-2161-4
- Rae CD. A guide to the metabolic pathways and function of metabolites observed in human brain 1H magnetic resonance spectra. *Neurochem Res.* (2014) 39:1–36. doi: 10.1007/s11064-013-1199-5
- Brown M, Baradaran H, Christos PJ, Wright D, Gupta A, Tsiouris AJ. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy abnormalities in traumatic brain injury: a meta-analysis. J Neuroradiol. (2018) 45:123–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neurad.2017.09.004
- Vagnozzi R, Signoretti S, Cristofori L, Alessandrini F, Floris R, Isgro E, et al. Assessment of metabolic brain damage and recovery following mild traumatic brain injury: a multicentre, proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic study in concussed patients. *Brain.* (2010) 133:3232–42. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awq200

- Schmidt J, Hayward KS, Brown KE, Zwicker JG, Ponsford J, van Donkelaar P, et al. Imaging in pediatric concussion: a systematic review. *Pediatrics*. (2018) 141:e20173406. doi: 10.1542/peds.2017-3406
- Chamard E, Lichtenstein JD. A systematic review of neuroimaging findings in children and adolescents with sports-related concussion. *Brain Inj.* (2018) 32:816–31. doi: 10.1080/02699052.2018.1463106
- Mayer AR, Kaushal M, Dodd AB, Hanlon FM, Shaff NA, Mannix R, et al. Advanced biomarkers of pediatric mild traumatic brain injury: Progress and perils. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 94:149–65. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.08.002
- Maugans TA, Farley C, Altaye M, Leach J, Cecil KM. Pediatric sportsrelated concussion produces cerebral blood flow alterations. *Pediatrics*. (2012) 129:28–37. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2083
- Poole VN, Abbas K, Shenk TE, Breedlove EL, Breedlove KM, Robinson ME, et al. MR spectroscopic evidence of brain injury in the nondiagnosed collision sport athlete. *Dev Neuropsychol.* (2014) 39:459–73. doi: 10.1080/87565641.2014.940619
- Friedman SD, Poliakov AV, Budech C, Shaw DWW, Breiger D, Jinguji T, et al. GABA alterations in pediatric sport concussion. *Neurology*. (2017) 89:2151–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000004666
- Manning KY, Schranz A, Bartha R, Dekaban GA, Barreira C, Brown A, et al. Multiparametric MRI changes persist beyond recovery in concussed adolescent hockey players. *Neurology*. (2017) 89:2157–66. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000004669
- Bartnik-Olson BL, Holshouser B, Wang H, Grube M, Tong K, Wong V, et al. Impaired neurovascular unit function contributes to persistent symptoms after concussion: a pilot study. *J Neurotrauma*. (2014) 31:1497–506. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3213
- Tisdall MD, Hess AT, Reuter M, Meintjes EM, Fischl B, van der Kouwe AJ. Volumetric navigators for prospective motion correction and selective reacquisition in neuroanatomical MRI. *Magn Reson Med.* (2012) 68:389–99. doi: 10.1002/mrm.23228
- Adalsteinsson E, Irarrazabal P, Topp S, Meyer C, Macovski A, Spielman DM. Volumetric spectroscopic imaging with spiral-based k-space trajectories. *Magn Reson Med.* (1998) 39:889–98.
- Andronesi OC, Gagoski BA, Sorensen AG. Neurologic 3D MR spectroscopic imaging with low-power adiabatic pulses and fast spiral acquisition. *Radiology*. (2012) 262:647–61. doi: 10.1148/radiol.11110277
- Wilson M, Reynolds G, Kauppinen RA, Arvanitis TN, Peet AC. A constrained least-squares approach to the automated quantitation of *in vivo* (1)H magnetic resonance spectroscopy data. *Magn Reson Med.* (2011) 65:1–12. doi: 10.1002/mrm.22579
- Soares DP, Law M. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy of the brain: review of metabolites and clinical applications. *Clin Radiol.* (2009) 64:12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.crad.2008.07.002
- Bertholdo D, Watcharakorn A, Castillo M. Brain proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy: introduction and overview. *Neuroimag Clin North Am.* (2013) 23:359–80. doi: 10.1016/j.nic.2012.10.002
- Mescher M, Merkle H, Kirsch J, Garwood M, Gruetter R. Simultaneous *in vivo* spectral editing and water suppression. *NMR Biomed.* (1998) 11:266–72.
- Andronesi OC, Gagoski BA, Adalsteinsson E, Sorensen AG. Correlation chemical shift imaging with low-power adiabatic pulses and constant-density spiral trajectories. NMR Biomed. (2012) 25:195–209. doi: 10.1002/nbm.1730

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Meyer, Stout, Chung, Grant, Mannix and Gagoski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Mever et al.





Sex-Based Differences in Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound and Self-Reported Symptoms After Mild Traumatic Brain Injury

Corey M. Thibeault*[†], Samuel Thorpe[†], Nicolas Canac, Seth J. Wilk and Robert B. Hamilton

Neural Analytics, Inc., Los Angeles, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jack Tsao, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States

Reviewed by:

Can Ozan Tan, Harvard Medical School, United States Ramona E. Von Leden, University of Texas at Austin, United States

*Correspondence:

Corey M. Thibeault corey@neuralanalytics.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 21 February 2019 Accepted: 20 May 2019 Published: 11 June 2019

Citation:

Thibeault CM, Thorpe S, Canac N, Wilk SJ and Hamilton RB (2019) Sex-Based Differences in Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound and Self-Reported Symptoms After Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. Front. Neurol. 10:590. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00590 The possibility of sex-related differences in mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI) severity and recovery remains a controversial subject. With some studies showing that female subjects suffer a longer period of symptom recovery, while others have failed to demonstrate differences. In this study, we explored the sex-related effects of mTBI on self-reported symptoms and transcranial Doppler ultrasound (TCD) measured features in an adolescent population. Fifty-eight subjects were assessed-at different points post-injury-after suffering an mTBI. Subjects answered a series of symptom questions before the velocity from the middle cerebral artery was measured. Subjects participated in breath-holding challenges to evaluate cerebrovascular reactivity. The Pulsatility Index (PI), the ratio of the first peaks (P2R), and the Breath-Hold Index (BHI), were computed. Linear mixed effects models were developed to explore the interactions between measured features, sex, and time since injury while accounting for within subject variation. Over the first 10 days post-injury, the female group had significant interactions between sex and time since injury that was not present in the TCD features. This is the first study to compare sex-related differences in self-reported symptoms and TCD measurements in adolescents suffering an mTBI. It illustrates the pitfalls clinicians face when relying on subjective measures alone during diagnosis and tracking of mTBI patients. In addition, it highlights the need for more focused research on sex-related differences in concussion pathophysiology.

Keywords: sex differences, traumatic brain injury, vascular reactivity, CBF autoregulation, blood flow

INTRODUCTION

The presence of sex-related differences in mild traumatic brain injuries or concussions (mTBI), is a contentious subject. Several studies have found increased symptoms in females (1–3), as well as increased length of recovery (4–6). In the case of Preiss-Farzanegan et al. (7), a difference existed in adults (18 years-old or older), but not in minors (17 years-old and younger). Conversely, others have failed to demonstrate increases in female symptoms at all (8–12). In general, the current state of the literature suggests that the existence of gender dependence in concussion recovery and severity is still an open question (13, 14).

One commonality between these studies however, is that they all rely on neurocognitive evaluations, patient symptoms, or physical performance testing. Although these have been shown to provide insight into concussion severity and prognosis, they do not objectively measure physiological changes resulting from concussive injury. Here, we present a study comparing features of the cerebral blood flow velocity (CBFV) as measured with Transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound in addition to self-reported symptoms to investigate sex-related differences in concussion.

With recent research demonstrating abnormalities in cerebral blood flow after a mTBI, it is clear that the microvasculature is affected (15-24). In Thibeault et al. (23), the cerebral hemodynamic changes in adolescents between 14 and 19 years old after suffering a clinically diagnosed mTBI were assessed using TCD. In that study two distinct phases of hemodynamic alterations after a concussive injury were identified. In the initial phase, beginning within an hour of injury and lasting through the first 48 h, Pulsatility Index (PI), and peak ratio (P2R), showed a significant difference from controls. After 48 h however, these differences in pulsatile features were no longer observable. At this point in their recovery the breath-holding index (BHI), a measure of the cerebral vascular reactivity (CVR), was significantly increased when compared to controls. This lasted through day seven. After which, the population level increase was no longer significant.

Although Thibeault et al. (23) was the first study to suggest the presence of multiple phases of hemodynamic dysfunction, there have been others demonstrating measurable alterations in mTBI subjects using TCD. Utilizing a hypercapnia challenge, Len et al. (15) found significant changes in a population of concussed subjects. A subsequent study found significant differences during hypocapnia (24). Similarly, the study from Albalawi et al. (25), found vasoreactivity was linearly related to both severe headaches and cognitive symptoms. Baily et al. (18), found lowered CVR in a population of subjects suffering from chronic symptoms. The present study, however, appears to be the first to explore sex specific abnormalities in mTBI subjects with both self-reported symptoms and an objective physiological measure.

METHODS

Patient Population

Participants in this study consisted of adolescents between 14 and 19 years old from the Los Angeles, California metropolitan area. Subjects classified with an mTBI were diagnosed by independent physicians and were scanned at different times post-injury. For this analysis these longitudinal measurements were restricted to 13 days post-jury from 58 unique subjects. The population was comprised of 37 male and 21 female participants, with 81 and 57 total exams for each group, respectively. Within the male group, 17 subjects had more than one scan during the course of recovery and a median number of scans of 1.0 with an IQR of 2.0. In the female group, 13 subjects had more than one scan and there as an overall median 2.0 scans with an IQR 3.0. The control group consisted of 109 age-matched subjects, 89 male and 12 female, who had no reported head-injuries in the preceding

12-months. The control group was only scanned a once. The study was approved by Western Institutional Review Board (IRB #20141111). This data was previously used in Thibeault et al. (23).

Data Collection

The TCD signals were acquired from the middle cerebral arteries (MCA) transtemporally by ultrasonographers utilizing 2 MHz probes held by an adjustable headset. End-tidal CO₂ was collected concurrently through a nasal cannula. The exam protocol, illustrated in **Figure 1**, began with a 5-min baseline period of normal breathing. This was followed by a series of 4 breath-holding challenges as an estimate of CVR. Each of these consisted of a 25-s period where the subject was instructed to hold their breath, followed by 35-s of normal breathing.

Symptom Reporting

Before each of the data collection session, subjects were asked to answer a number of questions similar to the graded symptom scale checklist. **Table 1** presents the list of questions where subjects were asked to numerically rate their current symptom state. The ratings were used both individually and summed together as an estimate of severity.

Analysis

The TCD features found to correlate with mTBI in Thibeault et al. (23), were used to compare with the self-reported symptoms. The first pulse level feature, extracted from the baseline section, was the PI. This is generally believed to be related to distal resistance however, it appears to be more modulated by a number of physiological processes (26), PI is found by

$$PI = (P_1 - D) / \overline{\mathbf{V}}_B.$$

Where P_1 , D, and V_B are defined in **Figure 1**.

The second, P2R, is the ratio of P_2 , and P_1 , as illustrated in **Figure 1**. This has been hypothesized to be related to distal bed compliance (27). This is found by

$$P2R = P_2/P_1$$

These features were individually averaged across all the extracted pulses from the baseline section.

The CVR was estimated using the BHI. This was found by first finding the highest peak of the low-pass filtered CBFV waveform between the four breath-hold sections as illustrated in **Figure 1**. This is then related to the baseline mean velocity by

$$BHI = \frac{P_{BH} - V_{BL}}{V_{BL}}.$$

Statistical Modeling

Linear mixed-effect models were developed to explore the interactions between effects of time and sex on the measured variables while compensating for the unbalanced groupings and the potential individual subject variation. The models were developed in R using the lme4 package (28). Summary statistics and significance values—using the satterthwaite method of



FIGURE 1 | Experimental Protocol and TCD Analysis. (A) The individual pulses are extracted before the systolic peak (P1), diastolic trough (D), second peak (P2), and the mean velocity (V_B) are identified. (B) The CVR protocol consists of a 5-min baseline, left of the first vertical bar, followed by the four breath-holding challenges, between the vertical bars. The low-frequency component of the global signal (solid gray line), is used to compute the baseline mean velocity (V_{BL} , dashed line) and the largest peak velocity (P_{BH}) used to calculate the BHI.

degrees of freedom and *t*-test—were computed with the lmertest package (29). Additional model analysis was completed with the Psycho library (30). Effects were considered significant if p < 0.05, and the reported beta was at least twice the standard error (SE).

The models were developed for each of the three TCD features as well as the summed symptom scores, as dependent variables. For symptoms and BHI, the random-effects were explored by fitting different models with the maximum likelihood method and comparing with the likelihood ratio test-the models with significant improvement were selected. The fixedeffects and interactions were similarly compared, and the final models were then fit with the restricted maximum likelihood method. The models for PI and P2R failed to converge with the maximum likelihood method, however, the restricted method did reach convergence. Because of this, the resulting models both used a similar structure, with days-post injury, sex, and their interactions as fixed effects, and subject specific intercepts as random effects. For the sex category, a contrast encoding of [0.5, -0.5] with males as the reference was employed. Similarly, a dummy encoding with the controls as the reference group was used for the days-post category. These were grouped similar to Thibeault et al. (23). Correlations between features were evaluated using the Pearson correlation coefficient and the sex dependent interactions of the resulting regression lines were explored using the ANCOVA method with a set of linear models fit with the ordinary least squares method from lme4 (28). A oneway ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of sex and condition (case or control), on age using the StatsModels package (31) in Python.

RESULTS

Population

There was no significant interaction between the effects of sex and condition on age $[F_{(1, 163)} = 0.08, p = 0.78]$, or main effects of either sex $[F_{(1, 163)} = 1.86, p = 0.17]$ or condition $[F_{(1, 163)} = 0.004, p = 0.96]$. All subjects identified as athletes, with the

 TABLE 1 | Subjects were asked score themselves on the following symptoms

 based on how they feel now–None (0), Mild (1,2), Moderate (3,4), Severe (5,6).

Symptoms

Headache	
Pressure in head	
Neck pain	
Nausea or vomiting	
Dizziness	
Blurred vision	
Balance problems	
Sensitivity to light	
Sensitivity to noise	
Vision problems	
Feeling like in a "fog"	
"Don't feel right"	
Difficulty concentrating	
Difficulty remembering	
Fatigue or low energy	
Confusion	
Drowsiness	
Trouble falling asleep	
More emotional	
Irritability	
Sadness	
Nervous or anxious	

majority of males, 26 (74%) subjects from the mTBI group and 77 (87%) from the control group, playing football as their primary sport. The other subjects were split between rugby, soccer, basketball, baseball, lacrosse, ice hockey, and quidditch. Although within the female population soccer was the most popular, 10 (45%) from the mTBI group and 7 (75%) subjects from the control group, the overall spread was more diverse and included volleyball, dance, track, swimming, basketball, softball and cheer. Within the mTBI population there was a slight difference in the reported mechanism of injury. For the male population 33 (89%)

TABLE 2 | Mixed effect model results for symptoms.

Variable	β (SE)	95% CI	t(DF) p
(Intercept)	2.7 (1.97)	[-1.03, 6.52]	1.37(215) <i>p</i> > 0.1
Sex	2.91 (3.94)	[-4.58, 10.51]	0.74(215) p > 0.1
0-1 Days-Post	27.54 (3.99)	[19.89, 35.06]	6.9(214) p < 0.001
2–3 Days-Post	24.4 (3.5)	[17.65, 30.99]	6.97(222) p < 0.001
4–5 Days-Post	18.84 (3.15)	[12.78, 24.78]	5.97(223) p < 0.001
6–7 Days-Post	21.98 (3.01)	[16.01, 27.64]	7.29(230) p < 0.001
8–9 Days-Post	13.34 (3.15)	[7.23, 19.28]	4.23(230) p < 0.001
10–11 Days-Post	9.42 (3.25)	[3.21, 15.56]	2.9(228) p < 0.01
12–13 Days-Post	8.56 (3.48)	[1.95, 15.14]	2.46(222) p < 0.05
Sex:0–1 Days-Post	30.85 (7.98)	[15.43, 45.85]	3.87(214) p < 0.001
Sex:2–3 Days-Post	20.4 (7.01)	[-1.08, 23.6]	2.91(222) p < 0.01
Sex:4–5 Days-Post	16.88 (6.31)	[-2.29, 24.09]	2.67(223) p < 0.01
Sex:6–7 Days-Post	27.98 (6.03)	[6.93, 33.6]	4.64(230) p < 0.001
Sex:8–9 Days-Post	23.46 (6.31)	[4.82, 28.79]	3.72(230) p < 0.001
Sex:10-11 Days-Post	11.22 (6.49)	[-1.08, 23.6]	1.73(228) p > 0.05
Sex:12-13 Days-Post	10.92 (6.95)	[-2.29, 24.09]	$1.57(222) \rho > 0.1$

The bold rows indicate significant effects or interactions.

subjects reported being injured playing a sport, while 4 (11%) did not provide a mechanism. Within the female population 16 (76%) identified their cause of injury from a sport, whereas 5 (24%) reported another mechanism or did not provide a cause.

Symptoms

The model for symptoms had an explanatory power (conditional R^2) of 76.74%, in which the fixed effects explain 49.95% of the variance (marginal R^2). Though there was no overall main effect of sex in the model ($\beta = 2.91$, SE = 3.94, 95% CI [-4.58, 10.51], $t_{(215)} = 0.74$, p > 0.1), there were significant interactions between sex and days-post groups for the first 11 days, see **Table 2**. This is illustrated by the increased self-reported summed symptoms scores in the female population in **Figure 2A**. In addition, the individual symptom averages in **Figure 3** illustrate that it was not a small subset of symptoms dominating the summed score for the female population. Additionally, there were large main effects for all days-post groupings, see **Table 2**.

TCD Features BHI

The BHI model had a total a total explanatory power (conditional R^2) of 45.16%, in which the fixed effects explain 13.83% of the variance (marginal R^2). There was no main effect of sex found in the model, ($\beta = -0.03$, SE = 0.03, 95% CI [-0.09, 0.04], $t_{(215)} = -0.73$, p > 0.1), but there was one large interaction between sex and days-post at the 0–1 days grouping ($\beta = 0.15$, SE = 0.07, 95% CI [0.01, 0.29], $t_{(215)} = 1.98$, p < 0.05), **Table 3**. However, within this grouping, all of the male subjects were collected on the day of their injury, while the female subjects were all collected the day after their injury occurred. In this instance, it seems more feasible that the interaction is a product of the female subjects being collected closer to the period of hyperreactivity found in Thibeault et al. (23), as opposed to a sex-related disparity.

TABLE 3 | Mixed effect model results for BHI.

Variable	β (SE)	95% CI	t(DF) p
(Intercept)	0.41 (0.02)	[0.37, 0.44]	23.35(215) p < 0.001
Sex	-0.03 (0.03)	[-0.09, 0.04]	-0.73(215) p > 0.1
0–1 Days-Post	-0.02 (0.04)	[-0.09, 0.05]	-0.58(215) p > 0.1
2–3 Days-Post	0.14 (0.03)	[0.08, 0.21]	4.44(224) p < 0.001
4–5 Days-Post	0.09 (0.03)	[0.04, 0.15]	3.17(222) p < 0.01
6–7 Days-Post	0.06 (0.03)	[0.01, 0.12]	2.32(231) p < 0.05
8–9 Days-Post	0.05 (0.03)	[0, 0.11]	1.81(231) <i>p</i> > 0.05
10–11 Days-Post	-0.01 (0.03)	[-0.07, 0.05]	-0.32(228) p > 0.1
12–13 Days-Post	0.01 (0.03)	[-0.05, 0.07]	0.24(223) p > 0.1
Sex:0–1 Days-Post	0.15 (0.07)	[0.01, 0.29]	1.98(215) <i>p</i> < 0.05
Sex:2–3 Days-Post	0.05 (0.07)	[-0.1, 0.12]	0.71(224) p > 0.1
Sex:4–5 Days-Post	0.05 (0.06)	[-0.05, 0.2]	0.82(222) p > 0.1
Sex:6–7 Days-Post	0 (0.06)	[-0.08, 0.17]	0.09(231) p > 0.1
Sex:8–9 Days-Post	-0.01 (0.06)	[-0.06, 0.16]	-0.23(231) p > 0.1
Sex:10-11 Days-Post	0.01 (0.06)	[-0.1, 0.12]	0.17(228) p > 0.1
Sex:12–13 Days-Post	0.08 (0.06)	[-0.05, 0.2]	1.18(223) p > 0.1

The bold rows indicate significant effects or interactions.

The overall longitudinal profile found in Thibeault et al. (23) was also predicted here by main effects for days-post 2–3 (β = 0.14, SE = 0.03, 95% CI [0.08, 0.21], $t_{(224)} = 4.44$, p < 0.001), 4–5 (β = 0.09, SE = 0.03, 95% CI [0.04, 0.15], $t_{(222)} = 3.17$, p < 0.01), and 6–7 (β = 0.06, SE = 0.03, 95% CI [0.01, 0.12], $t_{(231)} = 2.32$, p < 0.05), see **Figure 1B**.

ΡΙ

The model for PI had total explanatory power (conditional R^2) of 72.02%, in which the fixed effects explain 8.35% of the variance (marginal R^2). Here, a main effect of sex was predicted ($\beta = -0.13$, SE = 0.04, 95% CI [-0.21, -0.04], $t_{(195)} = -2.96$, p < 0.01). Exploring the population results in **Figure 2C** suggest that this effect may be a product of an inherent difference between males and females in the control population, as opposed to a sex-related difference. This is supported by the lack of significant interactions between sex and days-post injury grouping, **Table 4**. There was a significant main effect found at days-post 8–9 ($\beta = 0.07$, SE = 0.03, 95% CI [0.01, 0.13], $t_{(227)} = 2.14$, p < 0.05), that cannot be fully explained.

P2R

The model predicting P2R had a total explanatory power (conditional R^2) of 74.42%, in which the fixed effects explain 10.32% of the variance (marginal R^2). A main effect of sex was present ($\beta = 0.05$, SE = 0.02, 95% CI [0.01, 0.10], $t_{(196)} = 2.21$, p < 0.05). However, similar to PI, **Figure 2D** illustrates a difference between control groups. There were no significant interactions between sex and days-post found, see **Table 5**.

Correlations

The correlations between features provides additional information about the sex-related differences in this population, **Figures 4A,B**. Both sexes had significant negative correlations







between PI and P2R ($r_{\rm male} = -0.8$, p < 0.001; $r_{\rm female} = -0.67$, p < 0.001). For the male population there were significant correlations between BHI and PI (r = 0.27, p < 0.001), as well

as BHI and P2R (-0.18, p = 0.02), that were no present in the female population, **Table 6**. Conversely, the female population had significant correlations between symptoms and BHI (r =

TABLE 4 | Mixed effect model results for PI.

Variable	β (SE)	95% CI	t(DF) p
(Intercept)	0.77 (0.02)	[0.73, 0.81]	35.95(195) <i>p</i> < 0.001
Sex	-0.13 (0.04)	[-0.21,-0.04]	-2.96(195) p < 0.01
0–1 Days-Post	-0.05 (0.04)	[-0.13, 0.02]	−1.33(186) <i>p</i> > 0.1
2–3 Days-Post	0.03 (0.04)	[-0.04, 0.09]	0.8(205) p > 0.1
4–5 Days-Post	0.02 (0.03)	[-0.04, 0.08]	0.62(211) p > 0.1
6–7 Days-Post	0.06 (0.03)	[0, 0.12]	1.99(228) p = 0.05
8–9 Days-Post	0.07 (0.03)	[0.01, 0.13]	2.14(227) p < 0.05
10–11 Days-Post	0.03 (0.03)	[-0.04, 0.09]	0.8(220) p > 0.1
12–13 Days-Post	0.05 (0.04)	[-0.01, 0.12]	1.55(205) p > 0.1
Sex:0–1 Days-Post	0.05 (0.08)	[-0.1, 0.2]	0.68(186) p > 0.1
Sex:2–3 Days-Post	0.11 (0.07)	[-0.09, 0.16]	1.54(205) p > 0.1
Sex:4–5 Days-Post	0.05 (0.06)	[0, 0.27]	0.72(211) p > 0.1
Sex:6–7 Days-Post	0.08 (0.06)	[-0.02, 0.24]	1.23(228) p > 0.1
Sex:8–9 Days-Post	0.01 (0.07)	[-0.08, 0.17]	0.21(227) p > 0.1
Sex:10-11 Days-Post	0.04 (0.07)	[-0.09, 0.16]	0.56(220) p > 0.1
Sex:12–13 Days-Post	0.14 (0.07)	[0, 0.27]	1.96(205) p > 0.05

The bold rows indicate significant effects or interactions.

TABLE 5 | Mixed effect model results for P2R.

Variable	β (SE)	95% CI	t(DF) p
(Intercept)	0.78 (0.01)	[0.75, 0.8]	62.97(196) p < 0.001
Sex	0.05 (0.02)	[0.01, 0.1]	2.21(196) p < 0.05
0–1 Days-Post	0.04 (0.02)	[0, 0.08]	1.69(185) <i>p</i> > 0.05
2–3 Days-Post	0.01 (0.02)	[-0.02, 0.05]	0.72(205) p > 0.1
4–5 Days-Post	0 (0.02)	[-0.03, 0.04]	0.17(210) p > 0.1
6–7 Days-Post	0 (0.02)	[-0.03, 0.04]	0.28(227) p > 0.1
8–9 Days-Post	-0.01 (0.02)	[-0.05, 0.02]	−0.57(226) p > 0.1
10–11 Days-Post	0 (0.02)	[-0.03, 0.04]	0.16(220) p > 0.1
12–13 Days-Post	0 (0.02)	[-0.03, 0.04]	0.14(204) p > 0.1
Sex:0–1 Days-Post	0.02 (0.04)	[-0.06, 0.11]	0.42(185) p > 0.1
Sex:2–3 Days-Post	0.01 (0.04)	[-0.06, 0.09]	0.17(205) p > 0.1
Sex:4–5 Days-Post	0 (0.04)	[-0.1, 0.05]	0.09(210) p > 0.1
Sex:6–7 Days-Post	0 (0.04)	[-0.07, 0.08]	0.08(227) p > 0.1
Sex:8–9 Days-Post	0.01 (0.04)	[-0.07, 0.07]	0.31(226) p > 0.1
Sex:10–11 Days-Post	0.01 (0.04)	[-0.06, 0.09]	0.39(220) p > 0.1
Sex:12–13 Days-Post	-0.03 (0.04)	[-0.1, 0.05]	-0.65(204) p > 0.1

The bold rows indicate significant effects or interactions.

0.28, p < 0.01), as well as symptoms and PI (r = 0.28, p < 0.01), that were not found in the male population, **Table 6**.

Further exploring the sex-related correlation structure by an ANCOVA analysis reveals a significant difference in the slopes of the regression lines for symptoms and BHI between sexes ($\beta = 58.55$, SE = 19.07, 95% CI [20.98, 96.12], t = 3.07, p < 0.01). A difference in slopes was also found comparing symptoms and PI ($\beta = 69.08$, SE = 17.58, 95% CI [34.45, 103.70], t = 3.93, p < 0.001). For symptoms and P2R however, there was no significant difference in slope ($\beta = -56.21$, SE = 31.79, 95% CI [-118.82, 6.40], t = -1.77, p = 0.08), instead a difference in y-intercepts

was found ($\beta = 69.45$, SE = 25.11, 95% CI [20.00, 118.91], t = 2.77, p < 0.01).

DISCUSSION

Symptoms

Several studies have found a similar increase in self-reported symptoms for female subjects (1, 2). In the study from Baker et al. (4), the increased symptoms in the acute stage may have influenced recovery time—explaining the prolonged recovery for females. Although the difference between sexes here does appear more pronounced, comparing that difference to those other studies is not possible given the heterogeneity of the symptom collection.

The mechanism of injury presents a potentially confounding factor. In this study the majority of male subjects played helmeted sports (68%). The protection afforded by these helmets could have contributed to the overall lowered symptoms. However, in the study from Broshek et al. (1), female subjects were more than twice as likely to experience cognitive impairments than males in unhelmeted sports-illustrating that a difference existed even when accounting for helmets. The sex differences in reported symptoms observed in the current study were not accompanied by evidence for corresponding concussion-related differences in the TCD features. Moreover, the main effects of time observed for BHI suggest the progression of vascular injury to be similar for both sexes. A more compelling explanation would be an inherent reporting bias in the female group. Other studies have shown that female athletes tend to report more symptoms than males (7, 32). In addition, females are generally more focused on, and aware of, their health (33), suggesting that there is more of a motivation to ensure a complete recovery. Conversely, male athletes have a number of societal and cultural motivations to perceptually diminish the magnitude of their injury and return to sport as soon as possible (34). Similarly, it was shown in Kerr et al. (35), that male athletes were significantly more likely to hide a concussive injury.

There have been several studies exploring the physiological differences between sexes that contribute to the susceptibility and recovery from concussion, many of which center on the possible role of estrogen. In more severe traumatic brain injuries, estrogen has been shown to have a neuroprotective effect in male rats, but a deleterious one in females (36). In humans, the study from Gallagher et al. (5), found that female subjects suffering from a sport-related concussion who used hormonal contraceptives reported lower symptom severity than those who did not, suggesting that hormonal contraceptives may play a role in modulating the collapsing neurometabolic cascade that is a hallmark of concussive injuries (16). Another consistent theme in mTBI gender differences is decreased neck strength in women (37, 38), which has been shown to be inversely related to concussion susceptibility. A similar confound of this study is the role physical maturity plays in how someone responds to an mTBI. The study from Krix et al. (39) found that male subjects in early stages of puberty had increased odds of a prolonged recovery from a concussive injury. Although puberty clearly



TABLE 6 | Feature Correlations for the male and female groups.

	BHI	PI	P2R
MALE GROU	P		
Symptoms	0.05 (p = 0.5)	-0.12 (p = 0.12)	0.14 (p = 0.07)
BHI		0.27 (p < 0.001)	-0.18 (p < 0.05)
PI			-0.8 (p < 0.001)
FEMALE GR	OUP		
Symptoms	0.28 (p < 0.01)	0.28 (p < 0.01)	$-0.11 \ (p < 0.05)$
BHI		0.35 (p < 0.01)	$-0.01 \ (p > 0.05)$
PI			$-0.67 \ (p < 0.001)$

affects the adolescent brain (40), it is still unclear how that would contribute to the results of this work.

TCD Features

It is important to note that in this context BHI is not meant an exact measure of reactivity. Breath-holding can introduce other autonomic and sympathetic responses that can confound its use for directly quantifying reactivity. However, as illustrated in Thibeault et al. (23), and confirmed by the main effects of days-post here, BHI as measured in this population, is a robust biomarker of mTBI. The difference in slopes of the regression lines between symptoms and BHI illustrate the vulnerability of relying on subjective measures alone.

The overall sex-related main effect for both PI and P2R is most surprising aspect of this analysis. For both features that effect did not appear to be based on the injury, but rather an inherent sex-related difference in this population. Previously, when sex was ignored both were altered immediately following an mTBI (23). The alterations of these features here, as illustrated in **Figure 2**, appear to only be present in the male population. PI is a complex metric that is influenced by the combinations of cerebral perfusion pressure, cerebrovascular resistance, arterial bed compliance, heart rate, and the pulse amplitude (26). Similarly, It has proposed that P2R is associated with distal bed compliance dynamics (41), however there is no established physiological correlation. Why either of these features would have a sex-related dependence is unclear and will need to be explored further in the future. Regardless, these results illustrate that that dependence is not due to the injury.

The study from Esposito et al. (42) showed that women had higher Cerebral Blood Flow (CBF) compared to males. Although, in the population here there was no significant trend in mean velocity during injury recovery, that may be because TCD cannot measure CBF directly, only the velocity. In addition, a postconcussive change in mean velocity has not been demonstrated with TCD (23).

CONCLUSIONS

This is the first study to compare sex-related differences between clinical symptoms and TCD measurements in adolescent mTBI subjects. The objective measures highlight the need to mitigate patient heterogeneity when assessing concussion recovery and the discrepancy in clinical symptoms illustrates how difficult this can be for clinicians. In the case of males the possibility of under-reporting may need to be considered. A physiological measurement such as TCD may eventually help remove ambiguity and provide clinicians with an objective physiological measure of mTBI recovery.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Western Institutional Review Board (IRB #20141111), with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with

the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Western Institutional Review Board.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CT had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. RH: study concept and design. CT and ST: analysis. CT, ST, and RH: interpretation of data. CT and ST: drafting of the manuscript. RH, SW, and ST: critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content. CT and ST: statistical analysis. NC and SW: technical or material support. RH and CT: study supervision.

REFERENCES

- Broshek DK, Kaushik T, Freeman JR, Erlanger D, Webbe F, Barth JT. Sex differences in outcome following sports-related concussion. *J Neurosurg.* (2005) 102:856–63. doi: 10.3171/jns.2005.102.5.0856
- Henry LC, Elbin RJ, Collins MW, Marchetti G, Kontos AP. Examining recovery trajectories after sport-related concussion with a multimodal clinical assessment approach. *Neurosurgery.* (2016) 78:232–41. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000001041
- Colvin AC, Mullen J, Lovell MR, West RV, Collins MW, Groh M. The role of concussion history and gender in recovery from soccer-related concussion. *Am J Sports Med.* (2009) 37:1699–704. doi: 10.1177/0363546509332497
- Baker JG, Leddy JJ, Darling SR, Shucard J, Makdissi M, Willer BS. Gender differences in recovery from sports-related concussion in adolescents. *Clin Pediatr.* (2016) 55:771–5. doi: 10.1177/0009922815606417
- Gallagher V, Kramer N, Abbott K, Alexander J, Breiter H, Herrold A, et al. The effects of sex differences and hormonal contraception on outcomes after collegiate sports-related concussion. *J Neurotrauma*. (2018) 35:1242– 7. doi: 10.1089/neu.2017.5453
- Thomas DJ, Coxe K, Li H, Pommering TL, Young JA, Smith GA, et al. Length of recovery from sports-related concussions in pediatric patients treated at concussion clinics. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2018) 28:56– 63. doi: 10.1097/JSM.000000000000413
- Preiss-Farzanegan SJ, Chapman B, Wong TM, Wu J, Bazarian JJ. The relationship between gender and postconcussion symptoms after sport-related mild traumatic brain injury. *PMR*. (2009) 1:245–53. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2009.01.011
- Covassin T, Schatz P, Swanik CB. Sex differences in neuropsychological function and post-concussion symptoms of concussed collegiate athletes. *Neurosurgery*. (2007) 61:345–50; discussion 350– 1. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000279972.95060.CB
- Chan RC. Base rate of post-concussion symptoms among normal people and its neuropsychological correlates. *Clin Rehabil.* (2001) 15:266–73. doi: 10.1191/026921501675253420
- Kontos AP, Covassin T, Elbin RJ, Parker T. Depression and neurocognitive performance after concussion among male and female high school and collegiate athletes. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2012) 93:1751–6. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2012.03.032
- Frommer LJ, Gurka KK, Cross KM, Ingersoll CD, Dawn Comstock R, Saliba SA. Sex differences in concussion symptoms of high school Athletes. J Athl Train. (2011) 46:76–84. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-46.1.76
- Zuckerman SL, Solomon GS, Forbes JA, Haase RF, Sills AK, Lovell MR. Response to acute concussive injury in soccer players: is gender a modifying factor? J Neurosurg Pediatr. (2012) 10:504–10. doi: 10.3171/2012.8.PEDS12139
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Johnston K, Dvorak J, Aubry M, Molloy M, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport – the 3rd International conference on concussion in sport held in Zurich, november 2008. *PMR*. (2009) 1:406–20. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2009.03.010

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institute Of Neurological Disorders And Stroke of the National Institutes of Health under award numbers 1R43NS092209-01 and 2R44NS092209-02.

The NIH had no role in the design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; and decision to submit the manuscript for publication. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

- Makdissi M, Davis G, Jordan B, Patricios J, Purcell L, Putukian M. Revisiting the modifiers: how should the evaluation and management of acute concussions differ in specific groups? *Br J Sports Med.* (2013) 47:314– 20. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-092256
- Len TK, Neary JP, Asmundson GJG, Goodman DG, Bjornson B, Bhambhani YN. Cerebrovascular reactivity impairment after sport-induced concussion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2011) 43:2241–8. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182 249539
- Giza CC, Hovda DA. The new neurometabolic cascade of concussion. *Neurosurgery*. (2014) 75(Suppl. 4):S24– 33. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000000505
- Meier TB, Bellgowan PSF, Singh R, Kuplicki R, Polanski DW, Mayer AR. Recovery of cerebral blood flow following sports-related concussion. *JAMA Neurol.* (2015) 72:530–8. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.4778
- Bailey DM, Jones DW, Sinnott A, Brugniaux JV, New KJ, Hodson D, et al. Impaired cerebral haemodynamic function associated with chronic traumatic brain injury in professional boxers. *Clin Sci.* (2013) 124:177– 89. doi: 10.1042/CS20120259
- Militana AR, Donahue MJ, Sills AK, Solomon GS, Gregory AJ, Strother MK, et al. Alterations in default-mode network connectivity may be influenced by cerebrovascular changes within 1 week of sports related concussion in college varsity athletes: a pilot study. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2016) 10:559– 68. doi: 10.1007/s11682-015-9407-3
- Barkhoudarian G, Hovda DA, Giza CC. The molecular pathophysiology of concussive brain injury – an update. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am.* (2016) 27:373–93. doi: 10.1016/j.pmr.2016.01.003
- Maugans TA, Farley C, Altaye M, Leach J, Cecil KM. Pediatric sportsrelated concussion produces cerebral blood flow alterations. *Pediatrics*. (2012) 129:28–37. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2083
- Mutch WAC, Ellis MJ, Ryner LN, McDonald PJ, Morissette MP, Pries P, et al. Patient-specific alterations in CO₂ cerebrovascular responsiveness in acute and sub-acute sports-related concussion. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:23. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00023
- Thibeault CM, Thorpe S, O'Brien MJ, Canac N, Ranjbaran M, Patanam I, et al. A cross-sectional study on cerebral hemodynamics after mild traumatic brain injury in a pediatric population. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:200. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00200
- Len TK, Neary JP, Asmundson GJG, Candow DG, Goodman DG, Bjornson B, et al. Serial monitoring of CO₂ reactivity following sport concussion using hypocapnia and hypercapnia. *Brain Inj.* (2013) 27:346– 53. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2012.743185
- Albalawi T, Hamner JW, Lapointe M, Meehan WP, Tan CO. The relationship between cerebral vasoreactivity and post-concussive symptom severity. J. Neurotrauma. (2017) 34:2700–5. doi: 10.1089/neu.2017.5060
- 26. de Riva N, Budohoski KP, Smielewski P, Kasprowicz M, Zweifel C, Steiner LA, et al. Transcranial doppler pulsatility index: what it is and what it isn't. *Neurocrit Care*. (2012) 17:58–66. doi: 10.1007/s12028-012-9672-6
- 27. Hamilton R, Baldwin K, Fuller J, Vespa P, Hu X, Bergsneider M. Intracranial pressure pulse waveform correlates with aqueductal

cerebrospinal fluid stroke volume. J Appl Physiol. (2012) 113:1560-6. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00357.2012

- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Statist Softw. (2015) 2015:67. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RHB. Imertest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. J Statist Softw. (2017) 2017:82. doi: 10.18637/jss.v082.i13
- Makowski D. The psycho package: an efficient and publishingoriented workflow for psychological science. J Open Sour Softw. (2018) 3:470. doi: 10.21105/joss.00470
- Seabold S, Perktold J. Statsmodels: econometric and statistical modeling with python. In: *Proceedings of the 9th Python in Science Conference* (Austin, TX) (2010).
- Farace E, Alves WM. Do women fare worse: a metaanalysis of gender differences in traumatic brain injury outcome. J Neurosurg. (2000) 93:539– 45. doi: 10.3171/jns.2000.93.4.0539
- Niemeier JP, Perrin PB, Holcomb MG, Rolston CD, Artman LK, Lu J, et al. Gender differences in awareness and outcomes during acute traumatic brain injury recovery. J Womens Health. (2014) 23:573– 80. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2013.4535
- Yard EE, Dawn Comstock R. Compliance with return to play guidelines following concussion in US high school athletes, 2005–2008. *Brain Inj.* (2009) 23:888–98. doi: 10.1080/02699050903283171
- Kerr ZY, Register-Mihalik JK, Kroshus E, Baugh CM, Marshall SW. Motivations Associated With Nondisclosure of Self-Reported Concussions in Former Collegiate Athletes. Am J Sports Med. (2016) 44:220–5. doi: 10.1177/0363546515612082
- Emerson CS, Headrick JP, Vink R. Estrogen improves biochemical and neurologic outcome following traumatic brain injury in male rats, but not in females. *Brain Res.* (1993) 608:95–100. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(93)90778-L
- 37. Collins CL, Fletcher EN, Fields SK, Kluchurosky L, Rohrkemper MK, Comstock RD, et al. Neck strength: a protective factor reducing risk

for concussion in high school sports. J Prim Prev. (2014) 35:309–19. doi: 10.1007/s10935-014-0355-2

- Tierney RT, Sitler MR, Swanik CB, Swanik KA, Higgins M, Torg J. Gender differences in head-neck segment dynamic stabilization during head acceleration. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2005) 37:272–9. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000152734.47 516.AA
- Kriz PK, Stein C, Kent J, Ruggieri D, Dolan E, O'Brien M, et al. Physical maturity and concussion symptom duration among adolescent ice hockey players. J Pediatr. (2016) 171:234–9.e1–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2015. 12.006
- Blakemore S-J, Burnett S, Dahl RE. The role of puberty in the developing adolescent brain. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2010) 31:926–33. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21052
- Kim S, Hamilton R, Pineles S, Bergsneider M, Hu X. Noninvasive intracranial hypertension detection utilizing semisupervised learning. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng.* (2013) 60:1126–33. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2012.2227477
- Esposito G, Van Horn JD, Weinberger DR, Berman KF. Gender differences in cerebral blood flow as a function of cognitive state with PET. J Nucl Med. (1996) 37:559–64.

Conflict of Interest Statement: At the time that this research was conducted, CT, ST, NC, SW, and RH, were employees of, and either hold stock or stock options in, Neural Analytics, Inc.

Copyright © 2019 Thibeault, Thorpe, Canac, Wilk and Hamilton. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Incidence of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Prospective Hospital, Emergency Room and General Practitioner-Based Study

Toril Skandsen^{1,2*}, Tom Lund Nilsen^{3,4}, Cathrine Einarsen^{1,2}, Ingunn Normann¹, David McDonagh^{5,6}, Asta Kristine Haberg^{1,7} and Anne Vik^{1,8}

¹ Department of Neuromedicine and Movement Science, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim, Norway, ² Clinic of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway, ³ Department of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim, Norway, ⁴ Clinic of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway, ⁵ Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway, ⁶ Municipal Emergency Department, Trondheim, Norway, ⁷ Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway, ⁸ Department of Neurosurgery, St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jack Tsao, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States

Reviewed by:

Eric Peter Thelin, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden Rebekah Mannix, Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

*Correspondence:

Toril Skandsen toril.skandsen@ntnu.no

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 14 October 2018 Accepted: 30 May 2019 Published: 18 June 2019

Citation:

Skandsen T, Nilsen TL, Einarsen C, Normann I, McDonagh D, Haberg AK and Vik A (2019) Incidence of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Prospective Hospital, Emergency Room and General Practitioner-Based Study. Front. Neurol. 10:638. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00638 **Background:** There are no recent estimates of incidence rates of mild traumatic brain injury (MTBI) from Norway. Moreover, reported incidence rates rarely comprise cases of MTBI evaluated in the primary care setting. In this study, we utilized existing data collected as part of the recruitment to a large, follow-up study of patients with MTBI. We estimated the incidence rate of MTBI, including patients who visited outpatient clinics, in the age group 16–59 years in a Norwegian region.

Methods: During 81 weeks in 2014 and 2015, all persons aged 16–59 years, presenting with possible MTBI to the emergency department (ED) at St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital or to the general practitioner (GP)-run Trondheim municipal outpatient ED, were evaluated for a diagnosis of MTBI. Patients were identified by computerized tomography (CT) referrals and patient lists. Patients referred to acute CT from their primary GP with suspicion of MTBI were also recorded. This approach identified 732 patients with MTBI. Age- and sex-specific incidence rates of MTBI were calculated using population figures from the regional catchment area.

Results: Overall incidence of MTBI in people between 16 and 59 years was 302 per 100,000 person-years (95% confidence interval 281–324). The incidence rate was highest in the age group 16–20 years, where rates were 835 per 100,000 person-years in males and 726 in females.

Conclusion: The overall incidence rate of MTBI was lower than expected from existing estimates. Like other reports, the incidence was highest in the late teens.

Keywords: incidence, concussion, mild traumatic brain injury, epidemiological, glasgow coma scale, Norway, emergency room, primary care

91

INTRODUCTION

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is a complex injury comprising a spectrum from mild TBI (MTBI) with low risk of persistent disability, to the most severe TBI with devastating brain damage. However, MTBI constitutes 80-90 % of all TBI. It can therefore be appropriate to study characteristics of MTBI, such as incidence, separately. Moreover, a review recently highlighted that the monitoring of the epidemiology of MTBI was incomplete (1). Internationally, the reported incidence rates of mild traumatic brain injury (MTBI) vary extremely, from 100 to 749 cases per 100,000 person-years (2-7). This may reflect a real variation in the burden of traumatic brain injury (TBI), especially in a global context, since injuries are more common in lowincome countries (8). However, the variation also results from heterogeneity in study design and data sources (5). Importantly, patients with MTBI who are evaluated outside hospitals, are often not included in incidence estimates (9).

The Nordic countries have been considered safe communities with a decreasing number of TBI (10, 11), but reported rates vary (9, 12). Most of the existing Nordic epidemiological studies on MTBI, however, were conducted decades ago and mostly report incidence rates of hospitalized TBI, either TBI of all severities (9, 11–15) or only MTBI (16). Only a few studies included both hospitalized and non-hospitalized patients (17–19), but none of these dealt exclusively with MTBI.

In the present study, the aim was to estimate the incidence of MTBI in an adult population within a regional Norwegian catchment area. We utilized existing data collected as part of the recruitment to a large, prospective cohort study of patients with MTBI aged 16–59 years (20). Cases were persons who presented with a possible MTBI to the general practitioner (GP) run municipal emergency department (ED) or the ED at a level 1 trauma center, as well as cases referred to computerized tomography (CT) by the patient's primary GP.

METHODS

Study Period and Setting

Patients aged 16-59 years with MTBI were identified during 81 weeks between April 1st 2014 and December 5th 2015 in two emergency departments (ED): St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, a Norwegian regional level 1 trauma center and the Trondheim Municipal Emergency clinic (only outpatients), run by the GPs in the area, working shifts. This ED is co-located at the hospital. Their catchment area for MTBI is mostly urban: the city of Trondheim and four neighboring municipal entities with 229,000 residents. The EDs are state run, like most health care in Norway. During normal weekday work hours, patients can contact either their primary GP at one of the 41 GP centers in the catchment area, or one of the EDs. After 3 p.m. on workdays and the whole weekend, patients present to one of the Eds, since the GP centers are closed Mostly, however, patients with mild TBI present directly to the municipal ED at all times of the day. During the study period, indication for CT was assessed with the Scandinavian Guidelines for Head Injury Management from 2000 (21). In these, CT was recommended in patients with either amnesia/ suspected loss of consciousness (LOC) or certain risk factors. Hence, more patients have been referred to CT in Norway than in countries adhering to other, stricter, CT rules.

MTBI Criteria, and Case Ascertainment

TBI was defined as "an alteration in brain function, or other evidence of brain pathology, caused by an external force" (22), and cases identified with TBI were further categorized as mild (MTBI) according to the WHO criteria: GCS score 13-15 at presentation, LOC <30 min, and posttraumatic amnesia (PTA) <24 h (23). Patients were identified by daily manual screening of both the patient lists at the EDs and the referrals to head CT, and by daily contact with neurosurgical residents. Notably, also lists of the patients at the municipal ED, who had not been referred to CT were prospectively screened. This screening was performed 1-2 times per day by a research assistant who read the notes on all patients who had presented with injuries in the head and neck area or when location was poorly described. Our goal was to identify all patients with possible TBI and approach them for case ascertainment. If attempt to contact failed, we used information from the medical records regarding GCS score, amnesia or LOC for MTBI criteria evaluation. Patients who had been referred to head CT from their primary GPs in the catchment area, and met the diagnostic criteria for MTBI were registered, but not approached. For details regarding case ascertainment, see our previous publication (20).

During the study period, 1,095 patients were examined with head CT due to trauma, 624 of these were evaluated to have MTBI. Furthermore, 79 patients who had not been examined with head CT, but who had been clinically evaluated to meet the MTBI criteria and enrolled in the original follow-up study were included in the incidence analysis. In addition, 29 patients were retrospectively identified as being directly referred to CT from their primary GP center. Hence, 732 patients were identified with MTBI (**Figure 1**). As recently published, 517 patients (71%) were treated without hospital admittance and more than 70% had a GCS score of 15. CT showed intracranial lesions in 6%. For details on the clinical and demographic characteristics see (20).

Incidence Rate Estimation

We estimated age- and sex specific incidence per 100,000 personyears by dividing cases of MTBI during the study period by the population at risk, i.e., total population of catchment area. Cases of MTBI were identified from; (1) all patients who had head CT at the study hospital and who met the diagnostic criteria for MTBI; (2) patients meeting MTBI criteria who eventually consented to participation in the longitudinal study, but who had not been examined with head CT; and (3) patients who had been referred directly to head CT by their primary GPs in the catchment area, and were considered to meet the diagnostic criteria.

The population at risk was obtained from the Norwegian National Registry and Norwegian State Educational Loan Fund, and the total number of people, as well as number of men and women between 16.0 and 59.9 years residing in the catchment area was extracted. This figure included students attending school/college/university in the area, but who had



home address elsewhere, and conversely, excluded students with a home address in the catchment area, but who attended school/college/university elsewhere. For the computation of incidence rates, we used the Stata Statistical Software: Release 12. College Station, TX: Stata Corp LP (2011).

RESULTS

Applying the total of 732 patients who had been identified with MTBI in the catchment area, the overall incidence rate of MTBI in persons aged 16–59 years was 302 per 100,000 person-years (95% CI, 281–324). The incidence rate was 357 (95% CI, 325–391) in males and 242 (95% CI, 216–272) in females. The rate was highest in the age group 16–20 years, where males had a rate of 835 per 100,000 person-years and females a rate of 726 per 100,000 person-years. **Table 1** shows the population size, number of MTBI cases, and incidence rates by age groups and sex.

DISCUSSION

The estimated incidence rates in this study were derived from visits at all medical services available for patients with acute MTBI; the hospital, the GP-run municipal out-patient ED, and the primary GPs in the catchment area. Importantly, 71% were

TABLE 1 | Mild traumatic brain injury (MTBI) incidence by age and sex.

	Total population in the study area (n)	MTBI cases (n)	Incidence per 100,000 person years (95% Cl)
Males			
16–20	7,226	94	835 (682–1022)
21–25	15,536	96	396 (324–484)
26–30	12,358	54	280 (214–366)
31–35	8,801	44	320 (238–431)
36–40	8,219	34	265 (189–371)
41–45	8,435	26	197 (134–290)
46–50	8,122	48	379 (285–503)
51–55	6,886	32	298 (210–421)
56–59	5,198	21	259 (169–397)
Total	80,781	449	357 (325–391)
Females			
16–20	6,981	79	726 (582–905)
21–25	14,888	57	245 (189–318)
26–30	10,219	33	207 (147–291)
31–35	8,087	25	198 (134–293)
36–40	7,314	13	114 (66–196)
41–45	7,867	16	130 (79–213)
46–50	7,847	24	196 (131–292)
51–55	6,773	22	208 (137–316)
56–59	5,001	14	179 (106–303)
Total	74,977	283	242 (216–272)

treated without hospital admission. Few other epidemiological studies report such complete coverage. A population-based study from a region in New Zealand also applied case ascertainment at the community level as well as the WHO criteria for MTBI (3). They found an overall incidence rate for MTBI, of 749 per 100,000 person-years across all age groups. Based on their reported data, the incidence of MTBI in the 15-64 year age group can be calculated to 710 per 100,000 person-years, which is substantially higher than in the present study. However, in the New Zealand study, multiple overlapping sources of information about possible cases was used, such as schools and sports organizations, and not only health care providers. Still, the cases identified outside hospitals and GPs in their study constituted only 28%, which cannot explain the large discrepancy in MTBI incidence in the New Zealand study compared to the present study. In line with the estimates from New Zealand, a systematic review on MTBI concluded that the population-based MTBI rate probably is above 600 per 100,000 person-years if accounting for cases not treated at hospitals (2). Hence, in comparison with these figures, the incidence found in the current study using Norwegian data was low.

In contrast, the incidence rate found in the present study corresponds with an overall incidence rate of 354 per 100,000 person-years found in a population based Swedish study of all TBI, where the proportion of MTBI was 97.5% (18). The Swedish study also covered both the catchment hospital and a GP-run ED and assumed to capture all cases of TBI seeking medical evaluation. In that study, only 36% had a CT, while 88% were treated as in-patients, possibly reflecting that the Scandinavian guidelines for TBI from 2000 had not been fully implemented (24). The only Norwegian study covering all medically evaluated head injuries in a defined area, is a retrospective study from Northern Norway in 1993. They found an incidence rate of TBI of all severities of 229 per 100,000 person-years and a rate of hospital admittance of 74% (19) Possibly, the lower estimated incidence in that study, compared to the incidence in the present study, reflects that also in Norway, awareness and recognition of mild TBI has been increasing during the last years, like in the US (25).

In line with most previous studies (18, 19, 26), we found that adolescents in the age group of 16–20 years had much higher incidence rate of MTBI than other ages. It may well be that they have a more active, and possibly more careless, lifestyle involving a higher risk of trauma. Moreover, they typically live with their parents, and may be brought to medical evaluation for a head injury more often.

We assume, however, that the incidence of MTBI was underestimated in the present study since there will always be missed cases of MTBI in a screening process. First, our study procedures did not capture patients seen only by their primary GP unless they were referred to CT, and results must be interpreted with some caution. While it is most common that patients with acute MTBI present directly to the municipal ED, patients who present *more than 24 h* after injury, are more likely to present to their GP, and may not be examined with CT is the risk of intracranial bleeding is over.

Second, we did not register patients not examined with CT, yet meeting criteria for MTBI, unless they were enrolled in the follow-up study. In the recruitment to the follow-up study, we experienced that around 50% of eligible patients eventually got enrolled (20). Hence, the group of 79 consenting patients without CT, should at least be twice as large. If we had calculated with that, the total incidence would, however, only increase to around 330 per 100,000. Seemingly, a large proportion of the patients with MTBI were examined with CT according to our results. We believe that this result reflects the low threshold for CT in the EDs, also shown in a previous publication from our setting (27). Actually, the Nordic countries, and Norway in particular, have been recognized for an increasing use of CT (28). Moreover, only 6% had intracranial findings on CT, and many were examined with CT despite not meeting criteria for MTBI, but rather for minimal head injury, as shown in Figure 1. Third, some patients could not be reached for case assignment, and could be missed for inclusion if clinical signs of MTBI were not clearly described in the record, a recognized source of error in epidemiological studies (29). Fourth, some of the patients evaluated to have "uncertain MTBI" (Figure 1) should possibly have been included. Finally, it should also be mentioned that patients presenting to the EDs with MTBI, but who resided outside the catchment area, were not excluded, likely counterbalanced by the residents in the area who may have sustained MTBI outside the catchment area.

Since there is a large university in the catchment area, there were many students in the population at risk, and the average level of education in the population may be somewhat higher than in Norway as a whole. The incidence of MTBI might therefore not be the same in more rural parts of the country.

Taken together, MTBI was estimated to be less frequent in this Norwegian area than in many other high-income countries, especially among persons older than 20 years. A similar trend has also been shown in previous Norwegian epidemiological studies of all hospitalized (14) and all severe TBI (30). Reasons for the lower incidence might be that people tend to follow security/safety regulations, at home, at work and in the traffic. The true incidence of MTBI, however, will remain unknown, since many patients with MTBI consider it unnecessary to seek medical treatment (31, 32).

In summary, our data indicate that the incidence of medically evaluated MTBI in Norway is lower than 600 per 100,000 person-years anticipated in a recent review, but likely higher than 302 per 100,000 person-years as computed here due to inherent difficulties identifying all MTBI cases as discussed above.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The Regional committee for research ethics approved the study (approval number 2013/754). According to this approval, patients in the follow-up study gave written consent, while consent was not required for use of the information obtained via the screening and case ascertainment procedures.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TS, IN, DM, AH, and AV designed the study. TS and TN performed the analyses. TS, IN, and CE collected the data. TS drafted the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors read and approved the last version of this manuscript.

FUNDING

The study was funded by the Liaison Committee between the Central Norway Regional Health Authority and the Norwegian University of Science and Technology. TS received a separate research grant from the same committee. Helse Midt-Norge is the Norwegian name of the Central Norway Regional Health Authorities.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to the staff at the Trondheim Municipal Emergency Department, the Department of Neurosurgery and the Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine for their cooperation during patient recruitment.

REFERENCES

- Maas AIR, Menon DK, Adelson PD, Andelic N, Bell MJ, Belli A, et al. Traumatic brain injury: integrated approaches to improve prevention, clinical care, and research. *Lancet Neurol.* (2017) 16:987–1048. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30371-X
- Cassidy JD, Carroll LJ, Peloso PM, Borg J, von Holst H, Holm L, et al. Incidence, risk factors and prevention of mild traumatic brain injury: results of the WHO collaborating centre task force on mild traumatic brain injury. J Rehabil Med. (2004) 36 (Suppl. 43):28–60. doi: 10.1080/16501960410023732
- Feigin VL, Theadom A, Barker-Collo S, Starkey NJ, McPherson K, Kahan M, et al. Incidence of traumatic brain injury in New Zealand: a population-based study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:53–64. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70262-4
- Peeters W, van den Brande R, Polinder S, Brazinova A, Steyerberg EW, Lingsma HF, et al. Epidemiology of traumatic brain injury in Europe. Acta Neurochir. (2015) 157:1683–96. doi: 10.1007/s00701-015-2512-7
- Nguyen R, Fiest KM, McChesney J, Kwon CS, Jette N, Frolkis AD, et al. The international incidence of traumatic brain injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2016) 43:774–85. doi: 10.1017/cjn.2016.290
- Numminen HJ. The incidence of traumatic brain injury in an adult population-how to classify mild cases? *Eur J Neurol.* (2011) 18:460–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2010.03179.x
- Leibson CL, Brown AW, Ransom JE, Diehl NN, Perkins PK, Mandrekar J, et al. Incidence of traumatic brain injury across the full disease spectrum: a population-based medical record review study. *Epidemiology*. (2011) 22:836–44. doi: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e318231d535
- Urie Y, Velaga NR, Maji A. Cross-sectional study of road accidents and related law enforcement efficiency for 10 countries: a gap coherence analysis. *Traffic Inj Prev.* (2016) 17:686–91. doi: 10.1080/15389588.2016.1146823
- Majdan M, Plancikova D, Brazinova A, Rusnak M, Nieboer D, Feigin V, et al. Epidemiology of traumatic brain injuries in Europe: a cross-sectional analysis. *Lancet Public Health*. (2016) 1:e76–83. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(16)30017-2
- Spinks A, Turner C, Nixon J, McClure R. The 'WHO Safe Communities' model for the prevention of injury in whole populations. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2005) 3:CD004445. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004445.pub2
- Pedersen K, Fahlstedt M, Jacobsson A, Kleiven S, von Holst H. A national survey of traumatic brain injuries admitted to hospitals in sweden from 1987 to 2010. *Neuroepidemiology*. (2015) 45:20–7. doi: 10.1159/000381780
- Roozenbeek B, Maas AI, Menon DK. Changing patterns in the epidemiology of traumatic brain injury. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2013) 9:231–6. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2013.22
- Engberg A, Teasdale TW. Traumatic brain injury in Denmark 1979-1996. A national study of incidence and mortality. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2001) 17:437–42.
- Andelic N, Sigurdardottir S, Brunborg C, Roe C. Incidence of hospital-treated traumatic brain injury in the Oslo population. *Neuroepidemiology*. (2008) 30:120–8. doi: 10.1159/000120025
- Edna TH, Cappelen J. Hospital admitted head injury. a prospective study in trondelag, Norway, 1979-80. Scand J Soc Med. (1984) 12:7–14. doi: 10.1177/140349488401200103
- Peloso PM, von Holst H, Borg J. Mild traumatic brain injuries presenting to Swedish hospitals in 1987-2000. J Rehabil Med. (2004) 36 (Suppl. 43):22–7. doi: 10.1080/16501960410023714
- Andersson EH, Bjorklund R, Emanuelson I, Stalhammar D. Epidemiology of traumatic brain injury: a population based study in western Sweden. *Acta NeurolScand.* (2003) 107:256–9. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0404.2003.00112.x
- Styrke J, Stalnacke BM, Sojka P, Bjornstig U. Traumatic brain injuries in a well-defined population: epidemiological aspects and severity. *J Neurotrauma*. (2007) 24:1425–36. doi: 10.1089/neu.2007.0266
- Ingebrigtsen T, Mortensen K, Romner B. The epidemiology of hospitalreferred head injury in northern Norway. *Neuroepidemiology*. (1998) 17:139–46. doi: 10.1159/000026165

- Skandsen T, Einarsen CE, Normann I, Bjoralt S, Karlsen RH, McDonagh D, et al. The epidemiology of mild traumatic brain injury: the Trondheim MTBI follow-up study. *Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med.* (2018) 26:34. doi: 10.1186/s13049-018-0495-0
- Ingebrigtsen T, Romner B, Kock-Jensen C. Scandinavian guidelines for initial management of minimal, mild, and moderate head injuries.the scandinavian neurotrauma committee. J Trauma. (2000) 48:760–6. doi: 10.1097/00005373-200004000-00029
- Menon DK, Schwab K, Wright DW, Maas AI. Position statement: definition of traumatic brain injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2010) 91:1637–40. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2010.05.017
- Carroll LJ, Cassidy JD, Holm L, Kraus J, Coronado VG. Methodological issues and research recommendations for mild traumatic brain injury: the WHO collaborating centre task force on mild traumatic brain injury. *J Rehabil Med.* (2004) 36(Suppl. 43):113–25. doi: 10.1080/165019604100 23877
- Unden J, Ingebrigtsen T, Romner B, Scandinavian Neurotrauma C. Scandinavian guidelines for initial management of minimal, mild and moderate head injuries in adults: an evidence and consensus-based update. BMC Med. (2013) 11:50. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-50
- Zonfrillo MR, Kim KH, Arbogast KB. Emergency department visits and head computed tomography utilization for concussion patients from 2006 to 2011. *Acad Emerg Med.* (2015) 22:872–7. doi: 10.1111/acem.12696
- Colantonio A, Saverino C, Zagorski B, Swaine B, Lewko J, Jaglal S, et al. Hospitalizations and emergency department visits for TBI in Ontario. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2010) 37:783–90. doi: 10.1017/S0317167100051441
- 27. Strand IH, Solheim O, Moen KG, Vik A. Evaluation of the Scandinavian guidelines for head injuries based on a consecutive series with computed tomography from a Norwegian university hospital. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med. (2012) 20:62. doi: 10.1186/1757-7241-20-62
- Co-operation. TNRP. Statement Concerning the Increased use of Computed Tomography in the Nordic Countries 2012. Available online at: https://www. nrpa.no/publikasjon/statement-concerning-theincreased-use-of-computedtomography-in-the-nordic-countries.pdf~(2012).
- Powell JM, Ferraro JV, Dikmen SS, Temkin NR, Bell KR. Accuracy of mild traumatic brain injury diagnosis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2008) 89:1550–5. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2007.12.035
- Andelic N, Anke A, Skandsen T, Sigurdardottir S, Sandhaug M, Ader T, et al. Incidence of hospital-admitted severe traumatic brain injury and inhospital fatality in norway: a national cohort study. *Neuroepidemiology*. (2012) 38:259–67. doi: 10.1159/000338032
- Setnik L, Bazarian JJ. The characteristics of patients who do not seek medical treatment for traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* (2007) 21:1–9. doi: 10.1080/02699050601111419
- McCrea M, Hammeke T, Olsen G, Leo P, Guskiewicz K. Unreported concussion in high school football players: implications for prevention. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2004) 14:13–7. doi: 10.1097/00042752-200401000-00003

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Skandsen, Nilsen, Einarsen, Normann, McDonagh, Haberg and Vik. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Relationships Between Sleepiness, Mood, and Neurocognitive Performance in Military Personnel

F. J. Haran^{1,2*}, *Patrick Schumacher*^{3,4}, *Rachel Markwald*⁵, *Justin D. Handy*⁶ and *Jack W. Tsao*^{2,3,4}

¹ Naval Medical Research Center, Silver Spring, MD, United States, ² Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD, United States, ³ University of Tennessee–Knoxville, Knoxville, TN, United States, ⁴ Department of Neurology, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ⁵ Naval Health Research Center, San Diego, CA, United States, ⁶ Stress and Motivated Behavior Institute, Syracuse, NY, United States

Neurocognitive computerized assessment tools (NCATs) were developed to assist military clinicians with the tracking of recovery from injury and return to full duty decisions with a recent focus on the setting of post-concussion evaluations. However, there is limited data on the impact of deployment on neurocognitive functioning, sleepiness, and mood in healthy, non-concussed Service members. Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics version 4 TBI Military (ANAM) data was obtained for a sample of active duty deployed personnel (n = 72) without recent history of mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI). A linear regression was conducted to examine the effects of sleepiness and mood state on neurocognitive performance. The overall multivariate regression was statistically significant. Negative mood states were the most salient predictors of neurocognitive performance with higher levels of endorsement associated with lower scores. The findings support measures of negative mood state, but not sleepiness, as relevant predictors of neurocognitive performance as measured by the ANAM. These results indicate that mood needs to be considered when reviewing neurocognitive data to ensure that appropriate clinical decisions are made; in particular for return-to-duty decisions in deployed settings after concussion recovery.

Keywords: assessment, depression, statistical methods, sleep disorders, military

INTRODUCTION

Traumatic brain injury (TBI), specifically mild TBI (mTBI), was considered to be the signature battlefield injury of Operations Iraqi Freedom and Enduring Freedom (1). TBI is defined by the United States Department of Defense (DoD) as "a structural or physiological disturbance of the brain, caused by an outside force that is followed by clinical symptomology" (e.g., loss of memory, slowed thinking, and confusion). It is recognized that some military Service Members (SMs) diagnosed with mTBI, especially those experiencing multiple injuries, may also experience changes in personality, sleep problems, and cognitive impairment and can increase the risk for suicide, post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, and anxiety (2, 3).

Due to these immediate and long-term impacts of mTBI it has been of importance to DoD clinical personnel to properly screen for injury and to monitor recovery from injury. Neurocognitive assessment tools (NCATs), also known as computerized neuropsychological

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mattias K. Sköld, Uppsala University, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Matthew Wade Reid, Defense and Veterans Brain Injury Center (DVBIC), United States Roger Wood, Swansea University Medical School, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: F. J. Haran francis.j.haran.mil@mail.mil

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 24 January 2019 Accepted: 10 June 2019 Published: 27 June 2019

Citation:

Haran FJ, Schumacher P, Markwald R, Handy JD and Tsao JW (2019) Relationships Between Sleepiness, Mood, and Neurocognitive Performance in Military Personnel. Front. Neurol. 10:674. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00674

96

assessment devices (CNADs) and computerized neurocognitive test (CNT) batteries, are often used to assess athletes and US military service members following an mTBI. In 2008, following the lead of the sports medicine community, Congress mandated that all SMs receive a pre-deployment neurocognitive assessment using an NCAT, the Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics 4 TBI-MIL (hereafter referred to as the ANAM), prior to any deployment to a combat zone (4) for the purposes of establishing a baseline for post-injury comparative purposes. Such comparisons can be used to evaluate neurocognitive functioning to screen for deficits in cognition following an mTBI event in both the acute and post-acute phases of injury, to track recovery, and provide data to assist with return-to-duty decisions. However, it should be noted that any comparison to pre-deployment data is only valid if the assessment is an actual representation of an individual's typical neurocognitive functioning. Researchers have recently identified numerous threats to the validity of baseline assessments, including sleepiness, and mood (5).

Military personnel are especially vulnerable to any adverse effect sleepiness may have on NCAT performance as chronic insufficient sleep is prevalent among personnel deployed to combat environments (nightly average of 6.25 h) (6). Chronic insufficient sleep or sleep insufficiency occurs when sleep is insufficient to support adequate alertness, performance, and health, either because of reduced total sleep time (decreased quantity), or fragmentation of sleep by brief arousals (decreased quality). A recent meta-analysis reported sleep restriction significantly impairs cognitive functioning across a numerous cognitive domains (7). Insufficient sleep has been specifically linked to impairments in attention, reaction time, learning and memory, and decision-making (8-17). These impairments are associated with altered functioning of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and parietal regions of the brain (18). Research has shown that even one night of insufficient sleep can alter the connectivity of neural networks to the detriment of cognitive processes (19). Numerous studies have reported that when sleep is reduced to <7 h cognitive performance is lower in tests for vigilance, alertness, reaction time, memory, and decision-making (11, 12, 20, 21).

Abnormal mood may also challenge the validity of NCATs. The ANAM contains a self-report mood scale designed to assess several dimensions of mood (e.g., anger, anxiety, and depression) (22). Post-injury assessments may be useful for detecting changes in mood resulting from mTBI-related depression and heightened anxiety. Research has established that both depression and anxiety adversely affect cognitive processes (23, 24). Depression has been linked to decreases in both short and long-term memory, executive function, attention, and simple reaction time (23, 25). Similarly, anxiety has been linked to decreases in executive functioning and inhibition (24). Additional research

focusing on SMs who served in Operations Iraqi Freedom and Enduring Freedom has indicated that combat exposure is a risk factor for both anxiety and depression (26). All the studies suggest that mood should be examined as part of any postinjury assessment.

To best of our knowledge, no study has examined the degree insufficient sleep affects performance on the ANAM4 TBI-MIL; however, research involving previous iterations of the ANAM have reported that both sleep restriction and deprivation were associated with lower scores. None of these studies reported on the relationship between insufficient sleep and the ANAM moodscale, but Acheson et al. (27) reported that insufficient sleep resulted in increased fatigue and decreased positive mood states as indicated by the Profile of Mood States (POMS). Other studies focusing on military populations using NCATs other than the ANAM have indicated that insufficient sleep associated with high stress environments, such as high-stakes training, survival (28), and/or simulated operational environments, results in decreases in mood, and neurocognitive performance (29–32).

The aim of this study was to elucidate and compare the relationships among self-reported sleepiness, mood state, and neurocognitive performance in deployed service members as measured by the ANAM.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Records

The study used a retrospective cross-sectional design. A subset of healthy non-concussed SMs who received medical care for minor deployment-related orthopedic injuries at a concussion care center were extracted from an archival database containing demographic and neurocognitive assessment data from deployed Marine Corps units. Inclusion criteria was based on no history of any severity of TBI in the preceding 12 months based on the DoD and Veterans Affairs consensus criteria. History of concussion was based on the results of a self-report TBI questionnaire that is administered as part of the ANAM and determined by an endorsement of at least one of the following symptoms immediately following the injury event: feeling dazed or confused, experiencing loss of consciousness, or experiencing loss of memory for the injury. After inclusion criteria was applied, there were 72 SMs for analyses.

The original protocol was approved by the Naval Air Warfare Center Aircraft Division institutional review board, Patuxent River, MD (protocol NAWCAD.2011.0003-CR01-EMC) (33). Data from that protocol were de-identified and archived for further use. Subsequent analyses on the de-identified archival database were reviewed by the Navy Experimental Diving Unit Institutional Review Board and determined to be exempt human subject research in compliance with all applicable Federal regulations governing the protection of human subjects.

Neurocognitive Testing

The ANAM is an automated, CNT battery that includes a sleepiness scale, mood scales, a questionnaire for selfreporting TBI, and the following subtests: Code Substitution (CDS), Matching-to-Sample (M2S), Mathematical Processing

Abbreviations: ANAM, Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics version 4 TBI Military; DoD, Department of Defense; ImPACT, Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Test; NCAT, Neurocognitive Computerized Assessment Tools; NCS, Neurocognitive Composite Score; SMs, Service Members; TBI, Traumatic Brain Injury; mTBI, Mild Traumatic Brain Injury.

(MTH), Procedural Reaction Time (PRO), Simple Reaction Time (SRT), Code Substitution Delayed (CDD), and Simple Reaction Time Repeated (SR2) (34). Detailed descriptions of the TBI questionnaire and subtests can be found elsewhere (35). Throughput scores (mean correct responses per 60 s) from each subtest were used in all analyses. The ANAM has been shown to be a reliable and valid tool that has clinical utility as a population screening tool for the detection of neurocognitive dysfunction following a single, uncomplicated concussion within a 72-h window (36).

The sleep scale (i.e., sleepiness) is a self-reported measure of sleepiness rated on a 7-point Likert scale, with values closer to 7 indicating increased sleepiness and fatigue. The mood scale is a self-reported measure assessing seven mood dimensions, including happiness, vigor, restlessness, depression, anxiety, fatigue, and anger. Each dimension consists of six adjectives, rated on a 7-point Likert scale, with higher values representing greater degrees of endorsement of each mood state. Confirmatory factor analysis supports a 7-factor model of the mood scale, although there is evidence to suggest an alternative 2-factor model encompassing positive and negative mood states (22).

Statistical Analyses

All analyses were performed with MATLAB 2013b (Mathworks, Natick, MA) and SPSS Version 22 (IBM, Armonk, NY).

Normative Data

The use of normative data is a cornerstone of neuropsychological assessment (37). An extensive normative database for the ANAM exists with over a hundred thousand data points, which stratifies the performance of healthy, non-concussed SMs according to age and gender; these data were collected as part of SMs pre-deployment baseline assessments (35).

Descriptive Statistics

Examinations of histograms, normality plots, and Lilliefors statistics revealed that there were minor violations of univariate normality. Thus, non-parametric statistics were used for any comparisons of means. Outliers were assessed as three times the interquartile range above the third quartile or three times below the first quartile. All outliers were removed for the analysis.

Descriptive statistics were calculated for each subtest and it was determined if any mean was outside the normal range of functioning (i.e., normal limit; defined as within the 25th to 75th percentile ranks of previously published normative ANAM data) (35). Due to the normality violations, a series of one-sample Wilcoxon signed rank tests were used to evaluate differences in sleepiness, mood scale, and subtest data between the sample and an-age matched normative sample. Effect size was evaluated using rank biserial (r_{sb}) correlations and the results were interpreted using the following criteria for strength of association: small = 0.1, medium effect = 0.3, and large effect = 0.5 (38, 39). No adjustment was made for multiple comparisons. A *p*-value of \leq 0.05 was considered significant.

Data Reduction

All data were converted to Z-scores using age-matched (21–25 years) normative data (35). The Z-score means for CDD, CDS, M2S, MTH, PRT, SRT, and SRT2 were averaged to create a neurocognitive composite score (NCS). Use of composite scores in neuropsychological testing has been reported to minimize floor and ceiling effects and reduce the risk of a Type I error (40).

Due to multicollinearity concerns within the mood scale, a principal component analysis was conducted on the seven mood subscales to reduce the dimensionality of mood data to a smaller number of latent components. As a general rule, mood dimensions that loaded below 0.4 on all extracted components were removed and the principal component analysis was repeated. The resulting uncorrelated principal components were used as predictors in regression analyses.

Regression Models

Multiple linear regression models with simultaneous predictor entry were run for each ANAM subtest and the ANAM composite score using sleepiness and each mood scale principal component as predictors. Collinearity diagnostics were run to ensure partial regression coefficients derived from regression analyses were estimated precisely and that the relative importance of each predictor for neurocognitive performance could be assessed reliably. Multicollinearity was measured using variable inflation factors (VIF) for each predictor. Significant multicollinearity was indicated if any VIF exceeded 4 (with values approaching 10 indicating serious multicollinearity) (41). Violations of multivariate normality were checked using histograms and QQplots of the standardized residuals.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Table 1 presents descriptive data. The available demographic data for the overall record sample consisted of all males (100%), who were enlisted (100%), with a mean age of 25.4 (SD = 5.0) years. The majority of means fell within the range of normal functioning with only PRT, SRT, and SRT2 falling below the 25th percentile and anger and depression above the 75th percentile compared to the age-matched comparative norm. There was an indication toward lower scores in the deployment sample for all of the subtests, with M2S having the most prominent difference (-19%), and for vigor and happiness (one-sample Wilcoxon signed-rank tests, all p < 0.05). There were also indications of higher scores for sleepiness, restlessness, anxiety, anger, and fatigue.

Table 2 presents correlations between NCS, sleepiness, and mood. There were significant associations between NCS and each of the predictor variables, with only vigor having lower than a medium effect (r = 0.27). There were negative correlations between neurocognitive performance and sleepiness (r = -0.34), restlessness (r = -0.40), anxiety (r = -0.36), depression (r = -0.40), anger (r = -0.34), and fatigue (r = -0.39), and positive correlations between neurocognitive performance and vigor (r = 0.27) and happiness (r = 0.38).

Measures	Normati	ve data	Sam	ple		
	М	SD	М	SD	р	ES
NEUROCOGNITIVE SUBTESTS						
Code substitution delayed	48.20	15.80	42.25	17.76	0.008*	-0.37††
Code substitution	54.60	11.20	50.46	11.95	0.004*	-0.39††
Matching to sample	36.40	11.00	29.60	10.11	0.001*	-0.65 ^{‡‡}
Mathematical processing	20.80	6.20	18.30	6.10	0.001*	-0.44 ^{††}
Procedural reaction time	101.60	14.00	90.99 [†]	21.37	0.001*	0.47 ^{††}
Simple reaction time	237.80	28.40	210.69 [†]	57.03	0.002*	0.42 ^{††}
Simple reaction time repeated	237.40	30.60	204.27 [†]	64.06	0.001*	-0.44 ^{††}
Sleepiness	2.40	1.20	2.77	1.30	0.004*	-0.39††
MOOD SCALE						
Anger	16.20	20.00	26.16 [‡]	24.41	0.010*	0.35 ^{††}
Anxiety	14.80	15.00	20.46	19.92	0.049*	0.27**
Depression	12.20	17.20	17.45 [‡]	19.85	0.143	0.20**
Fatigue	24.40	19.00	30.75	21.47	0.032*	0.29**
Happiness	64.60	21.60	54.07	25.45	0.002*	-0.42 ^{††}
Restlessness	17.40	17.00	26.17	22.99	0.015*	0.33 ^{††}
Vigor	57.60	19.60	48.16	20.83	0.001*	-0.46††

M, mean; SD, standard deviation; ES, rank biserial correlations.

* Significant differences compared with the normative data (according to the Wilcoxon test).

¹ Below the 25th percentile rank of normative data.

‡Above the 75th percentile rank of normative data.

**Effect size exceeds the threshold for small effect ($r_{sb} > 0.10$).

 $^{\dagger\dagger} E\!f\!f\!ect$ size exceeds the threshold for small effect (r_{sb} > 0.30).

 $^{\pm\pm} {\rm Effect}$ size exceeds the threshold for small effect (r_{\rm sb} > 0.50).

Data Reduction

The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) Test of sampling adequacy (KMO = 0.829) indicated that enough cases were present in the dataset to support the PCA. The PCA converged on a two-factor solution, with components accounting for 65 and 22% of variance, respectively. As shown in **Table 3**, Component 1 included negative mood states (restlessness, anxiety, depression, anger, and fatigue) whereas Component 2 included positive mood states (vigor and happiness). Vigor and happiness negatively cross-loaded onto Component 1, although this was expected given negative associations between self-reported negative and positive mood states. For multiple linear regression analyses, the negative and positive mood components, along with sleepiness, were used as predictors of neurocognitive performance in lieu of individual mood subscales.

Regression Models

Results of multiple linear regression analyses are presented in **Table 4**. Only regression models for M2S, PRT, SRT, SRT2, and NCS reached statistical significance at p < 0.05. Adjusted R^2 values indicated that sleep and mood accounted for ~10–20% of the variability in ANAM throughput scores for M2S (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.11$), PRT (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.12$), SRT (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.19$), SRT2 (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.22$), and NCS (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.18$). This relationship was driven by negative mood, which emerged as the only significant predictor of ANAM throughput scores in these models. Lower throughput was

associated with higher negative mood state values. There were no indications of multicollinearity based on VIF and tolerance values for sleepiness (VIF = 2.10, tolerance = 0.48), negative mood (VIF = 1.82, tolerance = 0.55), and positive mood (VIF = 1.28, tolerance = 0.78), nor were there violations of multivariate normality.

DISCUSSION

This study was the first to examine the relationships between measures of sleepiness, mood, and neurocognitive performance in deployed SMs. Elucidating the relationships between these variables is imperative for the proper interpretation of neurocognitive assessment data as negative mood and sleepiness have been reported to adversely affect neurocognitive performance (42, 43). Thus, it is especially important for clinical personnel to consider such relationships and how mood may affect performance if the data are to be used to make post-concussive injury decisions, such as return-to-duty decisions. The primary findings of the study were that measures of mood, particularly negative mood states, within the ANAM predicted neurocognitive performance during deployment. These negative effects of mood on neurocognitive performance were most pronounced for ANAM subtests indexing sensorimotor speed (i.e., SRT, SRT2, PRT), as well as an overall ANAM composite score.

TABLE 2 Correlations between the ANAM sleepines	ss, mood, and neurocognitive composite scores.
---	--

-									
Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1. NCS	1								
2. Sleepiness	-0.365**	1							
3. Vigor	0.274*,†	-0.615**,‡	1						
4. Restlessness	-0.386**,†	0.503**,‡	-0.143, [†]	1					
5. Depression	-0.364**,†	0.534**,‡	-0.274*,†	0.827**,‡	1				
6. Anger	-0.341** ^{,†}	0.539**,‡	-0.236* ^{,†}	0.852**,‡	0.830**,‡	1			
7. Fatigue	-0.374**,†	0.684**,‡	-0.370**,†	0.765**,‡	0.784**,‡	0.714** ^{,‡}	1		
8. Anxiety	-0.329**,†	0.337**,†	0.005	0.841** ^{,‡}	0.804**,‡	0.788**,‡	0.637**,‡	1	
9. Happiness	0.375**,†	-0.592**,‡	0.834**,‡	-0.423**,†	-0.514**,‡	-0.494**,†	-0.524**,‡	-0.274*,†	1

NCS = neurocognitive composite score.

*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

** Correlation is significant at the 0.001 level (2-tailed).

[†]Effect size exceeds the threshold for small effect (r > 0.10).

 \pm Effect size exceeds the threshold for a medium effect (r > 0.50).

TABLE 3 | Component matrix loadings of unrotated components extracted by principal component analysis.

Measure	Component Matrix				
	Component 1	Component 2			
Restlessness	0.91	0.26			
Depression	0.92	0.13			
Anger	0.90	0.15			
Fatigue	0.87	-0.02			
Anxiety	0.83	0.42			
Vigor	-0.41	0.88			
Happiness	-0.66	0.70			

Bold values indicate membership of mood scales to respective principal components.

This is a key finding that needs to be considered when examining post-injury data as changes in mood; specifically changes in negative mood (e.g., fatigue, depression, anxiety, irritability, and emotional lability) are commonly associated with mTBI (44-47). Most mood-related symptoms, regardless of injury severity, remain elevated for 2 weeks postinjury (48); however, depressive symptoms have been reported to remain elevated for a month or more postinjury (49). Mood-related symptomology is so common following TBI that a mood-related symptom profile is one of the suggested symptom-based profiles for combatrelated mTBI (44) and one of the suggested clinical profiles sports-related concussion (50-53). To complicate for matters, mood-related symptoms are often comorbid with cognitive symptomology (e.g., problems with attention, multitasking, distractibility) (47) making it very difficult to parse out the specific effects of mood-related symptoms on neurocognitive functioning.

There were significant changes in our deployed sample compared to normative data with decreases in neurocognitive scoring and positive mood and increases in sleepiness and negative mood. The overall mood state of the sample compared

to the normative data was expected due to the high levels of psychological and physical stress associated with deployment (54, 55). Recent research has linked deployment stressors to negative post-deployment psychological health outcomes including, but not limited to, increased risk of physical health problems, increased fatigue, mood swings, suicidality, irritability, anxiety disorders, major depression, and substance abuse (56). Deployment-related stressors can also be compounded by other stressors distinct to military service, including mission ambiguity, engagement ambiguity, leader climate, cultural, and situational ambiguity (56). To compound matters, the sampled Marine units are known to have high rates of repeat deployments, longer deployments, and less time between deployments, both of which are associated with decreased morale, changes in mood, decreased psychological health, stress-related work problems, and sleep dysfunction (57-59).

Studies have reported that 75% of SMs rated their sleep as worse during deployment compared to pre-deployment levels (6) and that as many as 27% of SMs returning from Operations Iraqi Freedom and Enduring Freedom have reported trouble sleeping while deployed (56). The literature is clear that service members are at risk for insufficient sleep; in terms of sleep quantity and poor sleep quality and that, these risks are aggravated by deployment, especially in redeployers (6, 59, 60). Sleep dysfunction historically has been viewed as a symptom of anxiety and/or depression with insomnia being common between the two disorders. Research has shown that there is bidirectional relationship where poorer sleep quality may be a mechanism through which work stress results in increased depression and that increased depressive symptoms may result in poorer sleep (61, 62).

Ultimately, deployment-related increases in sleepiness and negative mood states, particularly those associated with depression and anxiety, are of concern as these factors may confound the results of mTBI-related neurocognitive assessments and lead to invalid patient dispositions. It should be noted that there is currently no agreement on whether anxiety and/or depression adversely affect neurocognitive

ANAM subtest	F-test	Adjusted R ²	Sleep	Negative mood state	Positive mood state
CDD	$F_{(3,68)} = 1.55, p = 0.208$	0.02	t = -0.22, p = 0.827	t = -1.74, p = 0.087	t = 0.01, p = 0.994
CDS	$F_{(3,68)} = 1.47, p = 0.231$	0.02	t = -0.18, p = 0.858	t = -1.35, p = 0.183	<i>t</i> = 0.07, <i>p</i> = 0.607
M2S	$F_{(3,68)} = 3.98, p = 0.011^*$	0.11	t = -0.65, p = 0.518	$t = -2.07, p = 0.042^*$	t = -0.08, p = 0.934
MTH	$F_{(3,68)} = 0.29, p = 0.830$	0.00	t = 0.11, p = 0.912	t = -0.12, p = 0.476	t = 0.36, p = 0.722
PRT	$F_{(3,68)} = 4.09, p = 0.01^{**}$	0.12	t = -0.30, p = 0.766	$t = -2.24, p = 0.028^*$	<i>t</i> = 0.87, <i>p</i> = 0.386
SRT	$F_{(3,68)} = 6.45, p < 0.001^{***}$	0.19	t = -0.33, p = 0.741	$t = -2.93, p = 0.005^{**}$	t = 0.81, p = 0.421
SRT2	$F_{(3,68)} = 7.59, p < 0.0001^{***}$	0.22	t = -0.37, p = 0.711	$t = -3.22, p = 0.002^{**}$	t = 0.59, p = 0.557
NCS	$F_{(3,68)} = 6.16, p < 0.001^{***}$	0.18	t = -0.30, p = 0.763	$t = -2.90, p = 0.005^{**}$	<i>t</i> = 0.66, <i>p</i> = 0.513

TABLE 4 | Summary of multiple regression models predicting ANAM test performance.

CDD, Code Substitution Delayed; CDS, Code Substitution; M2S, Match to Sample; MTH, Mathematical Processing; PRT, Procedural Reaction Time; SRT, Serial Reaction Time; SRT2, Simple Reaction Time Repeated; NCS, neurocognitive composite score.

* Coefficient is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

** Coefficient is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

*** Coefficient is significant at the 0.001 level (2-tailed).

performance, with research supporting both sides (63–66). However, there are numerous ways in which mood, depression, and anxiety can be related to decreased neurocognitive performance: changes in mood (i.e., depression and anxiety) and decreased neurocognitive performance can be direct symptoms of the same injury, the mood symptoms may be a response to decreased cognitive functioning, or that mood symptoms, in and of themselves, may adversely affect cognitive functioning (67–69).

Although it is well-accepted that there is an association between sleepiness and neurocognitive performance (9, 70), sleepiness was not predictive of NCS when controlling for the presence of negative and positive mood states in regression models. This could be suggestive of mediation by the positive mood factor for the effects of sleepiness. It also could be speculated that a single Likert scale may not accurately capture changes in sleepiness that occur during deployment and a more objective measure of sleep (i.e., quality or quantity) may have more predictive utility.

Limitations

This study has substantial limitations. First TBI history data were based on self-report rather than objective data; therefore, the results are subject to recall biases (i.e., underreporting). Second, data were not screened for invalid test performance (i.e., poor effort) as we did not have access to all metrics produced by the ANAM. Third, there was limited demographic and service-related characteristics available in the dataset. This limited our ability to examine common confounding factors of NCS (i.e., age, education, rank, time in service, and number of deployments) in the current sample. Additionally, no clinical information regarding the presence of comorbid diagnoses, such as post-traumatic stress disorder, postconcussive syndrome, depression, anxiety, and/or adjustment disorders was available, which could also confound test results. Finally, a single Likert scale may not accurately capture changes in sleepiness that would have been hypothesized to occur during deployment because of poor sleep quality or quantity.

CONCLUSION

Measures of negative mood states were found to have significant negative relationships to several neurocognitive performance domains, whereas measures of positive mood states and sleepiness did not. There were also significant differences in neurocognitive performance, sleepiness, and mood between our deployment sample and normative data. These results taken together indicate that both changes in mood, particularly negative mood states, need to be considered when reviewing data from a neurocognitive assessment, especially if the SM is deployed, to ensure that the appropriate clinical decisions are made.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The original protocol was approved by the Naval Air Warfare Center Aircraft Division institutional review board, Patuxent River, MD (protocol NAWCAD.2011.0003-CR01-EMC) (33). Data from that protocol were de-identified and archived for further use. Subsequent analyses on the de-identified archival database were reviewed by the Navy Experimental Diving Unit Institutional Review Board and determined to be exempt human subject research in compliance with all applicable Federal regulations governing the protection of human subjects.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FH and JT contributed conception and design of the study. FH retrieved and managed the data. FH and JH performed the statistical analysis. FH, PS, and JH contributed to the initial drafting of the manuscript and wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to editing and revising of the manuscript, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This project was supported by the US Navy Bureau of Medicine and Surgery Wounded, Ill, and Injured Directorate (Project #255).

REFERENCES

- Taber KH, Hurley RA. OEF/OIF deployment-related traumatic brain injury. *PTSD Res Quart.* (2010) 21:1–8. doi: 10.1037/e571972010-002
- Vanderploeg RD, Belanger HG, Horner RD, Spehar AM, Powell-Cope G, Luther SL, et al. Health outcomes associated with military deployment: mild traumatic brain injury, blast, trauma, and combat associations in the Florida National Guard. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2012) 93:1887–95. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2012.05.024
- Bryan CJ, Clemans TA. Repetitive traumatic brain injury, psychological symptoms, and suicide risk in a clinical sample of deployed military personnel. *JAMA Psychiatr.* (2013) 70:686–91. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1093
- Department of Defense Instruction (DoDI) 6490.13, Comprehensive Policy on Neurocognitive Assessments by the Military Services. In: D.o. Defense editor. Washington, DC. (2013).
- Moser RS, Schatz P, Lichtenstein JD. The importance of proper administration and interpretation of neuropsychological baseline and postconcussion computerized testing. *Appl Neuropsychol Child*. (2015) 4:41–8. doi: 10.1080/21622965.2013.791825
- Seelig AD, Jacobson IG, Smith B, Hooper TI, Boyko EJ, Gackstetter GD, et al. Sleep patterns before, during, and after deployment to Iraq and Afghanistan. Sleep. (2010) 33:1615–22. doi: 10.1093/sleep/33.12.1615
- Lowe CJ, Safati A, Hall PA. The neurocognitive consequences of sleep restriction: a meta-analytic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2017) 80:586–604. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.07.010
- Lim J, Dinges DF. A meta-analysis of the impact of short-term sleep deprivation on cognitive variables. *Psychol Bull.* (2010) 136:375–89. doi: 10.1037/a0018883
- Goel N, Rao H, Durmer JS, Dinges DF. Neurocognitive consequences of sleep deprivation. *Semin Neurol.* (2009) 29:320–39. doi: 10.1055/s-0029-12 37117
- Pilcher JJ, Huffcutt AI. Effects of sleep deprivation on performance: a metaanalysis. Sleep. (1996) 19:318–26. doi: 10.1093/sleep/19.4.318
- Van Dongen HP, Maislin G, Mullington JM, Dinges DF. The cumulative cost of additional wakefulness: dose-response effects on neurobehavioral functions and sleep physiology from chronic sleep restriction and total sleep deprivation. *Sleep*. (2003) 26:117–26. doi: 10.1093/sleep/26.2.117
- Belenky G, Wesensten NJ, Thorne DR, Thomas ML, Sing HC, Redmond DP, et al. Patterns of performance degradation and restoration during sleep restriction and subsequent recovery: a sleep dose-response study. *J Sleep Res.* (2003) 12:1–12. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2869.2003.00337.x
- 13. Balkin TJ, Rupp T, Picchioni D, Wesensten NJ. Sleep loss and sleepiness: current issues. *Chest.* (2008) 134:653–60. doi: 10.1378/chest.08-1064
- Harrison Y, Horne JA. The impact of sleep deprivation on decision making: a review. J Exp Psychol Appl. (2000) 6:236–49. doi: 10.1037//1076-898X.6.3.236
- Krueger GP. Sustained Military Performance in Continuous Operations: Combatant Fatigue, Rest and Sleep Needs, United States Army Aeromedical Research Laboratory (1990).
- Durmer JS, Dinges DF. Neurocognitive consequences of sleep deprivation. Semin Neurol. (2005) 25:117–29. doi: 10.1055/s-2005-867080
- 17. Dorrian J, Dinges DF. Sleep Deprivation and Its Effects on Cognitive Peformance, New York, NY: Wiley (2005).
- Killgore WD. Effects of sleep deprivation on cognitive. In: Kerkhof GA, Van Dongen HP, editors. *Progress in Brain Research*. New York, NY: Elsevier B.V. (2010). p. 105–29. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-53702-7.00007-5
- Killgore WD, Schwab ZJ, Weiner MR. Self-reported nocturnal sleep duration is associated with next-day resting state functional connectivity. *Neuroreport*. (2012) 23:741–5. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283565056
- Balkin TJ, Bliese PD, Belenky G, Sing H, Thorne DR, Thomas M, et al. Comparative utility of instruments for monitoring sleepiness-related performance decrements in the operational environment. J Sleep Res. (2004) 13:219–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2004.00407.x
- Axelsson J, Kecklund G, Akerstedt T, Donofrio P, Lekander M, Ingre M. Sleepiness and performance in response to repeated sleep restriction and subsequent recovery during semi-laboratory conditions. *Chronobiol Int.* (2008) 25:297–308. doi: 10.1080/07420520802107031
- 22. Johnson DR, Vincent AS, Johnson AE, Gilliland K, Schlegel RE. Reliability and construct validity of the Automated Neuropsychological Assessment

Metrics (ANAM) mood scale. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. (2008) 23:73-85. doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2007.10.001

- Marazziti D, Consoli G, Picchetti M, Carlini M, Faravelli L. Cognitive impairment in major depression. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2010) 626:83–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.08.046
- Derakshan N, Eysenck MW. Anxiety, processing efficiency, and cognitive performance: new developments from attentional control theory. *Eur Psychol.* (2009) 14:168–76. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040.14.2.168
- Iverson GL, Brooks BL, Young AH. Identifying neurocognitive impairment in depression using computerized testing. *Appl Neuropsychol.* (2009) 16:254–61. doi: 10.1080/09084280903297594
- Vasterling JJ, Proctor SP, Amoroso P, Kane R, Heeren T, White RF. Neuropsychological outcomes of army personnel following deployment to the Iraq war. JAMA. (2006) 296:519–29. doi: 10.1001/jama.296.5.519
- Acheson A, Richards JB, de Wit H. Effects of sleep deprivation on impulsive behaviors in men and women. *Physiol Behav.* (2007) 91:579–87. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.03.020
- Lieberman HR, Farina EK, Caldwell J, Williams KW, Thompson LA, Niro PJ, et al. Cognitive function, stress hormones, heart rate and nutritional status during simulated captivity in military survival training. *Physiol Behav.* (2016) 165:86–97. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.06.037
- Lieberman HR, Bathalon GP, Falco CM, Kramer FM, Morgan CA, Niro P. Severe decrements in cognition function and mood induced by sleep loss, heat, dehydration, and undernutrition during simulated combat. *Biol Psychiatr.* (2005) 57:422–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.11.014
- Lieberman HR, Tharion WJ, Shukitt-Hale B, Speckman KL, Tulley R. Effects of caffeine, sleep loss, and stress on cognitive performance and mood during US Navy SEAL training. *Psychopharmacology*. (2002) 164:250–61. doi: 10.1007/s00213-002-1217-9
- 31. Vartanian O, Fraser B, Saunders D, Ralph CS, Lieberman HR, Morgan CA, Cheung B. Changes in mood, fatigue, sleep, cognitive performance and stress hormones among instructors conducting stressful military captivity survival training. *Physiol Behav.* (2018) 194:137–43. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.05.008
- Ralph CS, Vartanian O, Lieberman HR, Morgan Iii CA, Cheung B. The effects of captivity survival training on mood, dissociation, PTSD symptoms, cognitive performance and stress hormones. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2017) 117:37–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2017.04.002
- Haran F, Alphonso AL, Creason A, Campbell JS, Johnson D, Young E, et al. Analysis of post-deployment cognitive performance and symptom recovery in US Marines. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e79595. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079595
- Reeves DL, Winter KP, Bleiberg J, Kane RL. ANAM genogram: historical perspectives, description, and current endeavors. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* (2007) 22(Suppl 1):S15–37. doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2006.10.013
- Vincent AS, Roebuck-Spencer T, Gilliland K, Schlegel R. Automated neuropsychological assessment metrics (v4) traumatic brain injury battery: military normative data. *Milit Med.* (2012) 177:256–69. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-11-00289
- Coldren RL, Russell ML, Parish RV, Dretsch M, Kelly MP. The ANAM lacks utility as a diagnostic or screening tool for concussion more than 10 days following injury. *Milit Med.* (2012) 177:179–83. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-11-00278
- Merritt VC, Meyer JE, Cadden MH, Roman CA, Ukueberuwa DM, Shapiro MD, et al. Normative data for a comprehensive neuropsychological test battery used in the assessment of sports-related concussion. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* (2017) 32:168–83. doi: 10.1093/arclin/acw090
- Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, Hillsdale, MI: Routledge (1988).
- LeBlanc V, Cox MAA. Interpretation of the point-biserial correlation coefficient in the context. *Quant Methods Psychol.* (2017) 13:p046. doi: 10.20982/tqmp.13.1.p046
- Rasmussen LS, Larsen K, Houx P, Skovgaard LT, Hanning CD, Moller JT. The assessment of postoperative cognitive function. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* (2001) 45:275–89. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-6576.2001.045003275.x
- Craney TA, Surles JG. Model-dependent variance inflation factor cutoff values. Qual Eng. (2002) 14:391–403. doi: 10.1081/QEN-120001878
- 42. Babson KA, Trainor CD, Feldner MT, Blumenthal H. A test of the effects of acute sleep deprivation on general and specific self-reported anxiety and

depressive symptoms: an experimental extension. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatr. (2010) 41:297–303. doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2010.02.008

- 43. Dinges DF, Pack F, Williams K, Gillen KA, Powell JW, Ott GE, et al. Cumulative sleepiness, mood disturbance, and psychomotor vigilance performance decrements during a week of sleep restricted to 4-5 hours per night. *Sleep.* (1997) 20:267–77.
- 44. Bailie JM, Kennedy JE, French LM, Marshall K, Prokhorenko O, Asmussen S, et al. Profile analysis of the neurobehavioral and psychiatric symptoms following combat-related mild traumatic brain injury: identification of subtypes. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* (2016) 31:2–12. doi: 10.1097/HTR.00000000000142
- Kennedy JE, Jaffee MS, Leskin GA, Stokes JW, Leal FO, Fitzpatrick PJ. Posttraumatic stress disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder-like symptoms and mild traumatic brain injury. J Rehabil Res Dev. (2007) 44:895– 920. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2006.12.0166
- Halbauer JD, Ashford JW, Zeitzer JM, Adamson MM, Lew HL, Yesavage JA. Neuropsychiatric diagnosis and management of chronic sequelae of warrelated mild to moderate traumatic brain injury. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2009) 46:757–96. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2008.08.0119
- Prince C, Bruhns ME. Evaluation and treatment of mild traumatic brain injury: the role of neuropsychology. *Brain Sci.* (2017) 7:105. doi: 10.3390/brainsci7080105
- Kontos AP, Covassin T, Elbin R, Parker T. Depression and neurocognitive performance after concussion among male and female high school and collegiate athletes. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2012) 93:1751–6. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2012.03.032
- Rao V, Mielke M, Xu X, Smith GS, McCann UD, Bergey A, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging atlas-based analyses in major depression after mild traumatic brain injury. *J Neuropsychiatr Clin Neurosci.* (2012) 24:309–15. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.11080188
- Collins MW, Kontos AP, Reynolds E, Murawski CD, Fu FH. A comprehensive, targeted approach to the clinical care of athletes following sport-related concussion. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* (2014) 22:235–46. doi: 10.1007/s00167-013-2791-6
- Henry LC, Elbin RJ, Collins MW, Marchetti G, Kontos AP. Examining recovery trajectories after sport-related concussion with a multimodal clinical assessment approach. *Neurosurgery*. (2016) 78:232–41. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000001041
- Reynolds E, Collins MW, Mucha A, Troutman-Ensecki C. Establishing a clinical service for the management of sportsrelated concussions. *Neurosurgery*. (2014) 75 (Suppl 4):S71–81. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000000471
- Sandel N, Reynolds E, Cohen PE, Gillie BL, Kontos AP. Anxiety and mood clinical profile following sport-related concussion: from risk factors to treatment. Sport Exerc Perform Psychol. (2017) 6:304–23. doi: 10.1037/spy0000098
- 54. Pietrzak RH, Johnson DC, Goldstein MB, Malley JC, Southwick SM. Psychological resilience and postdeployment social support protect against traumatic stress and depressive symptoms in soldiers returning from Operations Enduring Freedom and Iraqi Freedom. *Depress Anxiety*. (2009) 26:745–51. doi: 10.1002/da.20558
- 55. Eisen SV, Schultz MR, Glickman ME, Vogt D, Martin JA, Osei-Bonsu PE, et al. Postdeployment resilience as a predictor of mental health in operation enduring freedom/operation Iraqi freedom returnees. *Am J Prevent Med.* (2014) 47:754–61. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.07.049
- Campbell DJ, Nobel YOB. Occupational stressors in military service: a review and framework. *Military Psychol.* (2009) 21:S47–67. doi: 10.1080/08995600903249149
- 57. Hosek J, Kavanagh JE, Miller LL. *How Deployments Affect Service Members*, Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation (2006). doi: 10.1037/e660572007-001
- MHAT. V. Mental Health Advisory Team (MHAT) V Operation Iraqi Freedom 06–08. Report chartered by the Office of the Surgeon Multi-National Force-Iraq and the Office of the Surgeon General United States Army Medical Command (2008).
- Luxton DD, Greenburg D, Ryan J, Niven A, Wheeler G, Mysliwiec V. Prevalence and impact of short sleep duration in redeployed OIF soldiers. *Sleep*. (2011) 34:1189–95. doi: 10.5665/SLEEP.1236

- 60. Corporation R. Sleep in the Military: Promoting Healthy Sleep Among Servicemembers US, Santa Monica, CA. (2015).
- Franzen PL, Buysse DJ. Sleep disturbances and depression: risk relationships for subsequent depression and therapeutic implications. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2008) 10:473–81.
- 62. Bravo AJ, Kelley ML, Swinkels CM, Ulmer CS. Work stressors, depressive symptoms and sleep quality among US Navy members: a parallel process latent growth modelling approach across deployment. *J Sleep Res.* (2017) 27:e12624. doi: 10.1111/jsr.12624
- Covassin T, Elbin RJ III, Larson E, Kontos AP. Sex and age differences in depression and baseline sport-related concussion neurocognitive performance and symptoms. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2012) 22:98–104. doi: 10.1097/JSM.0b013e31823403d2
- Iverson GL. Sensitivity of computerized neuropsychological screening in depressed university students. *Clin Neuropsychol.* (2006) 20:695–701. doi: 10.1080/138540491005857
- Bailey C. The relationship between psychological distress and baseline sports-related concussion testing. Sports Med. (2010) 20:272–7. doi: 10.1097/JSM.0b013e3181e8f8d8
- Rohling ML, Green P, Allen LM, Iverson GL. The relationship between psychological distress and baseline sports-related concussion testing. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* (2002) 17:205–22. doi: 10.1093/arclin/17. 3.205
- Graham R, Rivara FP, Ford M, Spicer C. Sports-Related Concussion in Youth, National Research Council and Institute of Medicine Sports-Related Concussions in Youth: Improving the Science, Changing the Culture. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press (2014). p. 309–30.
- Chen JK, Johnston KM, Collie A, McCrory P, Ptito A. A validation of the post concussion symptom scale in the assessment of complex concussion using cognitive testing and functional MRI. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr. (2007) 78:1231–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006.110395
- Pardini JE, Pardini DA, Becker JT, Dunfee KK, Eddy WF, Lovell MR, et al. Postconcussion symptoms are associated with compensatory cortical recruitment during a working memory task. *Neurosurgery*. (2010) 64:1020– 128. doi: 10.1227/NEU.0b013e3181ee33e2
- McClure DJ, Zuckerman SL, Kutscher SJ, Gregory AJ, Solomon GS. Baseline neurocognitive testing in sports-related concussions: the importance of a prior night's sleep. Am J Sports Med. (2014) 42:472–8. doi: 10.1177/0363546513510389

Disclaimer: The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper. The views expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official policy or position of the Department of the Navy, Department of Defense or the US Government. Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

FH and JT are military service members and RM is an employee of the US Government. This work was prepared as part of their official duties. Title 17 U.S.C. § 105 provides that "Copyright protection under this title is not available for any work of the United States Government." Title 17 U.S.C. § 101 defines a US Government work as a work prepared by a military service member or employee of the US Government as part of that person's official duties.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

At least a portion of this work is authored by F. J. Haran, Rachel Markwald and Jack W. Tsao on behalf of the U.S. Government and, as regards Dr. Haran, Dr. Markwald, Dr. Tsao and the U.S. Government, is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Foreign and other copyrights may apply. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of TDP-43 in Military-Relevant TBI and Chronic Neurodegeneration

Lanier Heyburn, Venkata Siva Sai Sujith Sajja* and Joseph B. Long*

Blast Induced Neurotrauma Branch, Walter Reed Army Institute of Research, Silver Spring, MD, United States

Due largely to the use of improvised explosive devices (IEDs) and other explosives in recent military conflicts, blast-related TBI has emerged as a prominent injury sustained by warfighters. In the recent wars in Iraq and Afghanistan, traumatic brain injury (TBI) has been one of the most common types of injury sustained by soldiers and military personnel; of the \sim 380,000 TBIs reported in service members from 2000 to 2017, 82.3% were classified as mild (mTBI). While mTBI is associated with normal structural imaging, brief or no loss of consciousness, and rapid recovery of mental state, mTBI can nevertheless lead to persistent behavioral and cognitive effects. As in other cases of mTBI, exposure to low-level blast often does not cause immediate overt neurological effects, but may similarly lead to persistent behavioral and cognitive deficits. These effects are likely to be compounded when multiple exposures to blast and/or impact are sustained, since there is increasing evidence that multiple mTBIs can lead to chronic neurodegeneration. One common form of this deleterious outcome is frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD), which is a progressive neurodegenerative process marked by atrophy of the frontal and temporal lobes, leading to frontotemporal dementia, a common form of dementia affecting behavior, cognition and language. About half of all cases of FTLD are marked by TAR-DNA binding protein (TDP-43)-positive protein inclusions. TDP-43, a DNA/RNA binding protein, controls the expression of thousands of genes and is associated with several neurodegenerative diseases including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Alzheimer's disease, Huntington's disease, and chronic traumatic encephalopathy. TDP-43 abnormalities have also been associated with traumatic brain injury in both pre-clinical and clinical studies. The role of TDP-43 in the manifestation of FTLD pathology in military TBI cases is currently unclear, and to date there has been only a limited number of pre-clinical studies addressing the effects of repeated blast-related mild TBI (rbTBI) in relation to FTLD and TDP-43. This review will summarize some of these findings and address the concerns and critical knowledge gaps associated with FTLD manifestation with military populations, as well as clinical findings on other forms of mTBI.

Keywords: blast-induced brain injuries, TDP43 proteinopathy, frontotemporal lobar degeneration, TBI, Frontotemporal dementia (FTD)

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Henrik Zetterberg, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Francisco Capani, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina Jussi P. Posti, University of Turku, Finland

*Correspondence:

Venkata Siva Sai Sujith Sajja venkatasivasaisujith.sajja.ctr@mail.mil Joseph B. Long joseph.b.long.civ@mail.mil

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 25 January 2019 Accepted: 10 June 2019 Published: 27 June 2019

Citation:

Heyburn L, Sajja VSSS and Long JB (2019) The Role of TDP-43 in Military-Relevant TBI and Chronic Neurodegeneration. Front. Neurol. 10:680. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00680

INTRODUCTION

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is one of the most common types of injuries sustained by military personnel. Between 2000 and 2017, TBI was reported in more than 380,000 service members, and more than 82% of these TBIs were classified as mild (mTBI) (1). mTBI is associated with brief or no loss of consciousness, normal structural imaging, and rapid recovery of memory and mental state (2), making it difficult to diagnose, and it is likely that the incidence of mTBI in military personnel is higher than reported. A specific problem for the military population is TBI caused by blast overpressure. Blast injury likely has a different primary injury mechanism than impact TBI due to different loading conditions, but there are similar downstream neurocognitive effects. However, identification of pathological processes and post-mortem studies are at a relatively nascent stage, as discussed in this review. Blast-related TBI has been a signature of Operation Iraqi Freedom and Operation Enduring Freedom, though DVBIC does not differentiate between mTBI caused by blast vs. impact, and currently this is based on retrospective analysis of a smaller cohort of warfighters (3). Concussive and sub-concussive symptoms resulting from blast exposure are often associated with unfavorable long-term clinical outcomes (4, 5). In addition to blast from improvised explosive devices (IEDs) in combat operations, repetitive mild blast overpressure exposure sustained during training and breaching exercises is also of concern. Military and law enforcement personnel who participate in training for breaching and heavy weapon systems are often exposed to multiple low-level blast exposures throughout training (6). In addition, instructors overseeing these exercises are exposed to even more low-level blasts over a longer period of time throughout their careers and report symptomatology similar to that seen following concussion (5, 6).

Though the acute symptoms of mTBI generally resolve quickly, mTBI can lead to persistent behavioral and cognitive deficits, which are thought to be compounded cumulatively following multiple mTBIs, with a "dose"-response relationship between number of injuries and symptoms (7–9). Increasingly, TBI is being causally linked to neurodegenerative diseases. The possible relationship between repetitive injury from blast overpressure exposure and chronic neurodegeneration will be discussed, with focus on clinical and preclinical findings as well as research gaps that remain to be addressed. This review is primarily focused on the emerging evidence implicating the protein marker transactive response DNA binding protein 43 kDa (TDP-43), and its role in impact and blast TBI and chronic neurodegeneration.

ASSOCIATION OF TDP-43 WITH TBI AND NEURODEGENERATION

Among the variety of protein mediators that are of interest with respect to chronic neurodegenerative diseases, the pathological accumulation of TDP-43 has emerged as a potentially pivotal contributor. TDP-43, a DNA/RNA binding protein encoded by the *TARDBP* gene, controls the expression of thousands

of different genes. In its pathological form, TDP-43 is hyperphosphorylated, ubiquitinated, cleaved into 25 and 35 kDa fragments, and mislocalized to cytoplasmic protein inclusions (10). These inclusions are found in various neurodegenerative diseases, including chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE), and frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) (11, 12).

Preliminary research reports have shown that repetitive mTBI may cause a type of progressive neurodegeneration now known as CTE (13, 14). Neuropathological hallmarks of CTE include brain atrophy, white matter loss, and abnormal protein accumulation (14, 15). The main protein pathology and diagnostic criterion indicative of CTE is accumulation of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) of hyperphosphorylated tau, a microtubule-associated protein, in neurons and glia, particularly in perivascular regions and deep in the sulci (16). In his 1928 paper on "punch-drunk" syndrome in boxers, Martland described chronic physical deficits and, importantly, cognitive dysfunction and mental deterioration (13). More recently, clinical symptoms such as irritability, aggression, depression, memory deficits, and suicidality have been described (14, 15). Because diagnosis of CTE, which is most often observed in chronic impact cases, can only be confirmed by post-mortem pathological analysis, there is a lack of consensus in the research field as to how and if the clinical features of CTE relate to the neuropathological findings, TBI and symptomology (17). There is also debate about whether CTE can result from repeated blast exposure or whether blast leads to different chronic neurodegenerative conditions (18, 19). More epidemiology studies with comorbidities of TBI and post-mortem brain pathology could inform classification of disease pathology.

In 2010, McKee et al. found that in 12 cases of CTEdiagnosed athletes, a disease previously thought of as a tauopathy, 10 individuals showed widespread TDP-43 proteinopathy (12). They later found that TDP-43 pathology progresses with the stages of CTE, which are determined based on tau NFT pathology (20). In stage I CTE, TDP-43-positive neurites can be found in the subcortical white matter and fornix; in stage II, there are isolated TDP-43-positive neurites or inclusions in the subcortical white matter, brainstem, or medial temporal lobe; in stage III, most cases of CTE show TDP-43-positive neurites in the cortex, medial temporal lobe, or brainstem; and nearly all cases of stage IV CTE have TDP-43-positive neurites and inclusions in glia and neurons in the cortex, medial temporal lobe, diencephalon, basal ganglia, brainstem, and spinal cord (16). The strong association of CTE with repetitive impact-related TBI, along with the observation of TDP-43 pathology in many cases of CTE, may point to some association between subconcussive brain trauma and TDP-43 pathology (12), though this needs to be further supported and confirmed by more independent clinical studies.

FTLD is a neurodegenerative process characterized by selective, progressive degeneration of the frontal and temporal lobes (21). There are a variety of subtypes of FTLD, characterized by the type of intracellular protein accumulations found postmortem. The most common subtypes have accumulation of either tau (FTLD-tau) or TPD-43 (FTLD-TDP), while the remaining 10–15% have accumulation of the protein fused in sarcoma (FUS) (22).

Frontotemporal dementia (FTD), the clinical manifestation of FTLD, has been reported in military Veterans. Various epidemiological studies have found that FTD is one of the most common forms of dementia in individuals under 65 years of age, after Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia (23-25). It is a progressive neurodegenerative disease causing changes in cognition and behavior, with three clinical variants. Behavioral variant FTD (bvFTD) is the most common form of FTD and is characterized by disinhibition, apathy, and impulsivity (26). The other forms of FTD are non-fluent/agrammatic variant primary progressive aphasia (nfvPPA), characterized by difficulty in speech production, and semantic variant primary progressive aphasia (svPPA), characterized by impaired speech comprehension (27). About 40% of FTD cases are familial, with a known family history of the disease, and are caused by a variety of genetic mutations including in the MAPT, GRN, C9ORF72, and TARDBP genes (28). The remaining 60% of FTD is sporadic, with no known family history. There is overlap between the type of protein accumulation found in the brain and the FTD variant, such that, for example, FTD-tau and FTD-TDP can both cause bvFTD (29). Though cases of FTD caused by TARDBP mutation are very rare, FTLD-TDP is the most common form of FTLD and is seen in both familial and sporadic FTD (28).

Preclinical

Several preclinical studies have examined TDP-43 pathology, using various impact TBI models. These impact studies identified alterations in TDP-43 including proteolysis, phosphorylation, and formation of cytoplasmic TDP-43 granules even after only one impact. This has been shown in several studies using fluid percussion injury (FPI) or cortical contusion injury (CCI) in rodents, where TDP-43 was phosphorylated, mislocalized, and cleaved into TDP-25 and TDP-35 following injury, leading to neuronal loss (30-32). The cleavage products are also increased in astrocytes following a weight drop TBI (33). In general, these models are of moderate-to-severe impact injury rather than a mild or blast injury and involve open head surgery and a severe deformation of the brain tissue after injury. A model of repetitive mTBI, using 3 daily controlled cortical impacts, persistently increased TDP-43 expression and aggregation in the mouse cortex and hippocampus (34).

FTD-relevant behavioral and cognitive changes have also been observed in various preclinical TBI studies using single and repetitive models. Rats subjected to a single CCI display learning and memory deficits as measured by Morris water maze (30). TDP-43^{A315T} transgenic mice had significantly impaired cognition as measured by the Y maze following FPI (32). While a single mild impact causes learning impairments, repeated mTBI causes more generalized progressive impairments in cognition, learning, and behavior (35). Repetitive mild lateral FPI and weight drop models have been shown to cause learning and memory deficits, as measured by Morris water maze, novel object recognition tasks, Barnes maze, and Y maze (36, 37). Few studies of repetitive TBI and dementia have been conducted using nonrodent models, which have more similar head and brain anatomy to that of humans, leading to difficulty in scaling these studies to humans. One study using a swine model of acceleration injury, found that repeated injury causes more severe cognitive dysfunction than a single injury (38).

While the majority of studies on TBI and FTD-like symptoms have used impact injury models, there are some using blast overpressure-related TBI models. In one such study, mice exposed to low-level (2.5 psi) blast exhibited impaired memory, as measured by the novel object recognition task (39). Our research group has similarly demonstrated that blast exposure can lead to impaired learning and memory along with tau pathology (40, 41). There are few preclinical longitudinal studies investigating the relationship between blast-induced TBI, TDP-43, and FTLD. In one study, mice exposed to blast were found to develop CTE-like tau pathology and cognitive deficits (42), though this blast has high accelerative forces that are not characteristic of primary blast exposure. This study did not examine TDP-43 pathology, but it does provide a link between blast exposure and development of CTE-like symptoms. In another study, mice subjected to blast overpressure exhibited TDP-43 fragmentation and mislocalization, hallmarks of TDP-43 proteinopathy (43). A preliminary study using a rat model of blast TBI demonstrated significantly increased TDP-43 in the brain following 3 or 4 exposures to 19psi blast (44). This indicates that repetitive blast exposure may lead to disruption in TDP-43, which is likely an important aspect of neurodegenerative processes. Based upon these promising findings, further study is needed to define the relationships between brain injury sustained from blast overpressure exposure, TDP-43 proteinopathy, and the development of FTD-like symptoms. Long-term preclinical studies, particularly ones focusing on repetitive blast exposure relevant to training and breaching environment of Warfighters, are currently lacking in this field and remains an important area of research.

Clinical

There has been limited clinical research associating chronic TBI, TDP-43 and neurodegeneration, but there is some preliminary evidence that links these factors. The clinical behavioral symptoms associated with bvFTD, such as apathy and social dysfunction, are also frequently reported in cases of TBI and CTE (45) and there have been multiple studies correlating TBI with increased risk of developing FTD. Patients with a history of TBI had earlier ages of onset for symptoms and were 3.3 times more likely to develop FTD than patients with no head trauma (30, 46, 47) In a study of Veterans diagnosed with dementia, the prevalence of TBI history was significantly greater in those with FTD than in those with other types of dementia (48). A systematic review of 47 original research studies on concussion found that multiple concussions are a risk factor for development of cognitive impairment (49). A meta-analysis of 18 journal articles on the risk of neurodegeneration after TBI found that TBI is a risk factor for development of dementia (odds ratio (OR) of 1.93), TDP-43-associated diseases (OR of 4.44), and FTD (OR of 2.97), showing an association between TBI, TDP-43, and FTD (50). While there is a growing body of literature describing observations of FTD in military Veterans (48, 51), the cause, onset, and prognosis of disease is currently unclear in military populations. Similarly, although current research trends show that brain trauma could be associated with FTD

and possibly a risk factor toward sporadic FTD, a clearly defined cause-effect relationship between FTD and brain trauma is at present unclear.

A common link between repetitive impact TBI and FTD is mislocalization and aggregation of TDP-43 in neurons and glial cells. In a study of human subjects who sustained a single moderate/severe TBI, TDP-43 expression was increased in the cytoplasm, though no increase in TDP-43 phosphorylation was observed (52). A case study of a woman who sustained a single severe TBI found that she subsequently developed symptoms of dementia as well as intraneuronal TDP-43 inclusions in the frontal and temporal lobes (53). The existing reports on TDP-43 pathology following TBI are limited in both scope and number of patients, and further examination of TDP-43 in various TBI populations is necessary to establish a causal link between TBI and TDP-43 pathology.

In cases of CTE with severe TDP-43 pathology, the pattern of TDP-43 expression mimics the pattern of expression seen in FTLD-TDP, with TDP-43 proteinopathy found in all layers of the cortex, particularly in layer II, and in the dentate fascia of the hippocampus (12, 16). Additionally, among individuals with a history of repetitive mTBI who were diagnosed with CTE, 6% were diagnosed with CTE-FTLD. Of these, half had FTLD-TDP and half had FTLD-tau (20). This demonstrates that brain trauma may be a risk factor contributing to chronic neurodegeneration, potentially mediated by TDP-43 proteinopathy.

Longitudinal studies which comprehensively monitor blast overpressure exposure and resultant chronic debilitations are

currently lacking in the clinical literature. In a study of individuals with a history of repetitive mTBI, 16 of 21 military Veterans were diagnosed with CTE, three of whom were exposed to blast from IEDs (20). Of those three, one was found to have TDP-43 pathology in the brain (20). Similarly, another study of military Veterans with a history of blast exposure and/or concussion found tau pathology in the brain (42). In such studies of blast-exposed Veterans, it is difficult to ensure that the subjects have only been exposed to blast and do not have a history of impact TBI. The individuals in the McKee et al. study with a CTE diagnosis and history of IED blast exposure also had a history of playing high school football and/or motor vehicle accidents (20), and therefore likely had sustained impact mTBI(s). Likewise, in the Goldstein et al., study, the military Veterans had a history of "blast exposure and/or concussive injury" (42) and therefore, it is impossible to attribute the findings to blast exposure itself. The current state of blast/neurodegeneration literature is greatly limited by a small number of subjects and many confounding factors. There have been studies showing a divergence in CTE diagnosis and blast exposure. One study reported a unique pathological finding in chronic blast-exposed Veterans: significant perivascular astrogliosis and glial scarring at boundaries between the brain and CSF and between the gray and white matter (18). This pathology was not found in individuals with chronic impact TBI, indicating that it might be a unique consequence of blast-related brain injury (18). Further, this glial scarring is in the absence of any tau pathology, which is the current diagnostic hallmark of CTE (19). This lack of consensus

TABLE 1 | Summary of previous research conducted on TBI, TDP-43, and FTD.

	Clinical	тві	Preclinical TBI		
Cause/evidence of disease progression	Civilian TBI	Military TBI (blast exposure studies only)	Models of civilian TBI	Models of blast exposure	
FTD/FTD-like behavioral deficits	 History of TBI is linked to FTD (30, 47) TBI history leads to earlier-onset by FTD (46) Veterans with dementia: TBI prevalence higher in those with FTD than other dementias (48) Meta-analysis: TBI is a risk factor for FTD with an odds ratio of 4.44 (50) 	 Military personnel exposed to blast showed a dose-response relationship between number of exposures and symptoms (9) More clinical studies are needed on blast-specific injury 	 Repetitive impact TBI causes cognitive and behavioral deficits (34–38) Repeated injury causes more severe cognitive dysfunction than single injury (38) TDP-43^{A315T} transgenic mice have impaired cognition following TBI (30, 32) 	 Mice exposed to low-level blast exhibited impaired memory (39) Preclinical studies on repetitive bTBI are lacking 	
CTE/CTE-like symptoms	 Repetitive mild TBI was associated with CTE (12, 14, 20) More independent studies are lacking Multiple concussions are a risk factor for cognitive impairment (49) 	 Veterans exposed to blast can develop CTE* (20, 42) *subjects also had history of impact TBI 	Repetitive impact injury in mice causes CTE-like neuropathologic changes (34)	 Lack of preclinical studies linking repetitive blast and CTE neuropathology 	
TDP-43 proteinopathy	 Repetitive mild TBI leads to TDP-43 proteinopathy, including protein inclusions, cytoplasmic mislocalization, phosphorylation, and cleavage (12, 20, 32) A single TBI causes increased expression and intraneuronal inclusions of TDP-43 (52, 53) TBI is a risk factor for TDP-43 associated diseases with an odds ratio of 1.93 (50) 	 CTE is found in humans exposed to blast from IEDs* (20) *subjects also had history of impact TBI 	 Repetitive impact TBI leads to TDP-43 aggregation (34) A single impact injury causes TDP-43 pathology, including cleavage, phosphorylation, mislocalization, and cytoplasmic aggregation (30–33, 43, 54) This proteinopathy is exacerbated in transgenic mice (32, 54) 	 Single blast lead to TDP-43 cleavage (43) Lack of preclinical studies on repetitive blast and TDP-43 proteinopathy 	
of whether blast exposure can lead to CTE is an important knowledge gap to be addressed.

SUMMARY

While there is ample evidence that multiple impact head traumas resulting in TBIs can lead to neurodegeneration, longitudinal studies addressing Warfighter needs in this domain are currently lacking, despite the emergence of evidence in Veteran populations that FTD is a primary concern. Studies targeting mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of neurodegeneration using pre-clinical models addressing this Warfighter population are largely non-existent in the literature. Table 1 summarizes the work that has been conducted in this field to date and illustrates pertinent research gaps to be addressed in the future, including a need for more clinical research on blast-related TBI and independent studies to demonstrate CTE pathology. Although a number of studies have focused on repetitive impact TBI experienced by civilians, they generally do not include military populations and tend to not differentiate between TBI resulting from impact and blast. Moreover, those that do address blast exposure generally rely on self-reported history of blast exposure, which creates shortcomings due to recall and diagnostic error. There is also an increasingly recognized need to study multiple

REFERENCES

- Defense and Veterans Brain Injury Center. DoD Numbers for Traumatic Brain Injury: Worldwide Totals (2018). Available online at: https://dvbic.dcoe.mil/ dod-worldwide-numbers-tbi
- 2. Department of Defense and Veterans Affairs. *Management of Concussion/Mild Traumatic Brain Injury*. Washington, DC (2009).
- MacGregor AJ, Dougherty AL, Galarneau MR. Injury-specific correlates of combat-related traumatic brain injury in operation Iraqi freedom. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (2011) 26:312–8. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e94404
- Mac Donald CL, Barber J, Jordan M, Johnson AM, Dikmen S, Fann JR, et al. Early clinical predictors of 5-year outcome after concussive blast traumatic brain injury. *JAMA Neurol.* (2017) 74:821–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.0143
- Carr W, Polejaeva E, Grome A, Crandall B, LaValle C, Eonta SE, et al. Relation of repeated low-level blast exposure with symptomology similar to concussion. *Head Trauma Rehabil.* (2015) 30:47–55. doi: 10.1097/HTR.00000000000064
- Kamimori GH, Reilly LA, LaValle CR, Olaghere Da Silva UB. Occupational overpressure exposure of breachers and military personnel. *Shock Waves*. (2017) 27:837–47. doi: 10.1007/s00193-017-0738-4
- McKee, A. C, and Meghan E. R. Military-related traumatic brain injury and neurodegeneration. *Alzheimers Dement.* (2014) 10:S242–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.04.003
- Nelson NW, Davenport ND, SponheimSR, Anderson CR. Chapter 32: blast-related mild traumatic brain injury. In: Kobeissy FH, editor. *Brain Neurotrauma:Molecular, Neuropsychological, and Rehabilitation Aspects.* Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; Taylor and Francis (2015). Available online at: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK299235
- Kontos AP, Kotwal RS, Elbin RJ, Lutz RH, Forsten RD, Benson PJ, et al. Residual effects of combat-related mild traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2013) 30:680–6. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2506
- Neumann M, Sampathu DM, Kwong LK, Truax AC, Micsenyi MC, Chou TT, et al. Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science*. (2006) 314:130–3. doi: 10.1126/science.1134108

repetitive exposures to low-level blast such as that experienced by breachers and heavy weapons systems users. While some studies have shown associations between TDP-43, TBI, and neurodegeneration, more studies are needed to establish this paradigm. In terms of preclinical work, there has been little research on repetitive blast exposure and its effects on TDP-43 and cognitive impairment. These research gaps are areas of future study in our laboratory, using appropriate animal models. Filling these gaps will help to understand how military personnel are particularly vulnerable to neurodegenerative processes and help identify areas of possible intervention.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LH wrote the manuscript. VS and LH structured the manuscript. VS and JL edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work is partially supported by intramural JPC5-Military Operational Medicine Research Program (MOMRP), US Army Medical Research and Materiel Command (USAMRMC) and Project Agreement No. US-IN-A-16-0002, Experimental and Computational Studies of Blast and Blunt Traumatic Brain Injury.

- Baralle M, Buratti E, Baralle FE. The role of TDP-43 in the pathogenesis of ALS and FTLD. *Biochem Soc Trans.* (2013) 41:1536–40. doi: 10.1042/BST20130186
- McKee AC, Gavett BE, Stern RA, Nowinski CJ, Cantu RC, Kowall NW, et al. TDP-43 proteinopathy and motor neuron disease in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2010) 69:918–29. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181ee7d85
- 13. Martland HS. Punch drunk. JAMA. (1928) 91:1103-7.
- McKee AC, Cantu RC, Nowinski CJ, Hedley-Whyte ET, Gavett BE, Budson AE, et al. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in athletes: progressive tauopathy following repetitive head injury. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2009) 68:709–35. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181a9d503
- Stern RA, Riley DO, Daneshvar DH, Nowinski CJ, Cantu RC, McKee AC, et al. Long-term consequences of repetitive brain trauma: chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *PMandR*. (2011) 3:S460–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2011. 08.008
- McKee AC, Stein TD, Kiernan PT, Alvarez VE, et al. The neuropathology of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Brain Pathol.* (2015) 25:350–64. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12248
- Asken BM, Sullan MJ, DeKosky ST, Jaffee MS, Bauer RM. Research gaps and controversies in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *JAMA Neurol.* (2017) 74:1255–62. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.2396
- Shively S, Horkayne-Szakaly I, Jones RV, Kelly JP, Armstrong RC, Perl DP, et al. Characterization of interface astroglial scarring in the human brain after blast exposure: a post-mortem case series. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:944–53. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30057-6
- Perl DP, Iacono D, Rhodes H. Lack of evidence of chronic traumatic encephalopathy in some blast-exposed post-deploted service members with prominent behavioral/neurologic symptomatology who commit suicide. In: *MHSRS*. Kissimmee, FL (2018).
- McKee AC, Stern RA, Nowinski CJ, Stein TD, Alvarez VE, Daneshvar DH, et al. The spectrum of disease in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Brain*. (2013) 136:43–64. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws307
- Mackenzie IR, Neumann M, Bigio EH, Cairns NJ, Alafuzoff I, Kril J, et al. Nomenclature for neuropathologic subtypes of frontotemporal lobar degeneration: consensus recommendations. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2009) 117:15– 8. doi: 10.1007/s00401-008-0460-5

- Mackenzie IR, Neumann M, Bigio EH, Cairns NJ, Alafuzoff I, Kril J, et al. Nomenclature and nosology for neuropathologic subtypes of frontotemporal lobar degeneration: an update. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2010) 119:1–4. doi: 10.1007/s00401-009-0612-2
- Harvey RJ, Skelton-Robinson M, Rossor MN. The prevalence and causes of dementia in people under the age of 65 years. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2003) 74:1206–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.9.1206
- Snowden JS, Neary D, Mann DM. Frontotemporal dementia. Br J Psychiatry. (2002) 180:140–3. doi: 10.1192/bjp.180.2.140
- Vieira RT, Caixeta L, Machado S, Silva AC, Nardi AE, Arias-Carrión O, et al. Epidemiology if early-onset dementia: a review of the literature. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health.* (2013) 9:88–95. doi: 10.2174/1745017901309010088
- Rascovsky K, Hodges JR, Knopman D, Mendez MF, Kramer JH, Neuhaus J, et al. (2011). Sensitivity of revised diagnostic criteria for the behavioral variant of frontotemporal dementia. *Brain*. 134:2456–77. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr179
- Gorno-Tempini ML, Hillis AE, Weintraub S, Kertesz A, Mendez M, Cappa SF, et al. Classification of primary progressive aphasia and its variants. *Neurology*. (2011) 76:1006–14. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31821103e6
- Deleon J, Bruce L. Chapter 27—frontotemporal dementia. In: Daniel HG, Henry LP, Christine K, editors. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*. Amsterdam: Elsevier (2018). p. 409–430. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-64076-5.00027-2
- Olney N, Spina S, Miller BL. Frontotemporal dementia. Neurol Clin. (2018) 35:339–74. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2017.01.008
- Wang HK, Lee YC, Huang CY, Liliang PC, Lu K, Chen HJ, et al. Traumatic brain injury causes frontotemporal dementia and TDP-43 proteolysis. *Neuroscience*. (2015) 300:94–103. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.05.013
- Wright DK, Liu S, van der Poel C, McDonald SJ, Brady RD, Taylor L, et al. Traumatic brain injury results in cellular, structural and functional changes resembling motor neuron disease. *Cereb Cortex.* (2016) 27:1–13. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhw254
- Tan XL, Sun M, Brady RD, Liu S, Llanos R, Cheung S, et al. Transactive response DNA-binding protein 43 abnormalities after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2019) 36:87–99. doi: 10.1089/neu.2017.5491
- 33. Huang CY, Lee YC, Li PC, Liliang PC, Lu K, Wang KW, et al. TDP-43 proteolysis is associated with astrocyte reactivity after traumatic brain injury in rodents. J Neuroimmunol. (2017) 313:61–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.10.011
- Zhang, J, Teng Z, Song Y, Hu M, Chen C. Inhibition of monoacylglycerol lipase prevents chronic traumatic encephalopathy-like neuropathology in a mouse model of repetitive mild close head injury. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metabol.* (2015) 35:443–53. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2014.216
- Mouzon BC, Bachmeier C, Ferro A, Ojo JO, Crynen G, Acker CM, et al. Chronic neuropathological and neurobehavioral changes in a repetitive mild traumatic brain injury model. *Ann Neurol.* (2013) 75:241–54. doi: 10.1002/ana.24064
- 36. Aungst SL, Kabadi SV, Thompson SM, Stoica BA, Faden AI. Repeated mild traumatic brain injury causes chronic neuroinflammation, changes in hippocampal synaptic plasticity, and associated cognitive deficits. J Cereb Blood Flow Metabol. (2014) 34:1223–32. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2014.75
- 37. McAteer KM, Corrigan F, Thornton E, Turner RJ, Vink R. Short and long term behavioral and pathological changes in a novel rodent model of repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0160220. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0160220
- Friess SH, Ichord RN, Ralston J, Ryall K, Helfaer MA, Smith C, et al. Repeated traumatic brain injury affects composite cognitive function in piglets. J Neurotrauma. (2009) 26:1111–21. doi: 10.1089/neu.2008.0845
- 39. Tweedie, D, Rachmany L, Rubovitch V, Li Y, Holloway HW, Lehrmann E, et al. Blast traumatic brain injury induced cognitive deficits are attenuated by pre- and post-injury treatment with the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist, exendin-4. *Alzheimers Dement*. (2016) 12:34–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2015.07.489
- Arun P, Abu-Taleb R, Oguntayo S, Tanaka M, Wang Y, Valiyaveettil M, et al. Distinct patterns of expression of traumatic brain injury biomarkers after blast exposure: role of compromised cell membrane integrity. *Neurosci Lett.* (2013) 552:87–91. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2013.07.047
- Sajja VS, Hubbard WB, Hall CS, Ghoddoussi F, Galloway MP, VandeVord PJ. Enduring deficits in memory and neuronal pathology after blast-induced traumatic brain injury. *Nat Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:15075. doi: 10.1038/srep15075

- 42. Goldstein LE, Fisher AM, Tagge CA, Zhang XL, Velisek L, Sullivan JA, et al. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in blast-exposed military veterans and a blast neurotrauma mouse model. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 4:134ra60. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003716
- Yang Z, Lin F, Robertson CS, Wang KK. Dual vulnerability of TDP-43 to calpain and caspase-3 proteolysis after neurotoxic conditions and traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metabol. (2014) 34:1444–52. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2014.105
- 44. Heyburn L, Wilder DM, Van Albert S, Ahlers S, Long J, Sajja S. Repetitive blast exposure leads to increased expression of TDP-43 and neuroinflammation in a rat model of blast TBI. In: *Neurotrauma Symposium*. Toronto, ON (2018).
- Tartaglia MC, Hazrati LN, Davis KD, Green RE, Wennberg R, Mikulis D, et al. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy and other neurodegenerative proteinopathies. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2014) 8:30. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00030
- LoBue C, Wilmoth K, Cullum CM, Rossetti HC, Lacritz LH, Hynan LS, et al. Traumatic brain injury history is associated with earlier age of onset in frontotemporal dementia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2016) 87:817–20. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-311438
- Rosso SM, Landweer EJ, Houterman M, Donker Kaat L, van Duijn CM, van Swieten JC. Medical and environmental risk factors for sporadic frontotemporal dementia: a retrospective case-control study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2003) 74:1574–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.11.1574
- Kalkonde YV, Jawaid A, Qureshi SU, Shirani P, Wheaton M, Pinto-Patarroyo GP, et al. Medical and environmental risk factors associated with frontotemporal dementia: a case-control study in a veteran population. *Alzheimer Dement.* (2012) 8:204–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.011
- Manley, G, Gardner AJ, Schneider KJ, Guskiewicz KM, Bailes J, Cantu RC, et al. A systematic review of potential long-term effects of sports-related concussion. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:969–77. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097791
- Huang CH, Lin CW, Lee YC, Huang CY, Huang RY, Tai YC, et al. Is traumatic brain injury a risk factor for neurodegeneration? A metaanalysis of population-based studies. *BMC Neurol.* (2018) 18:184. doi: 10.1186/s12883-018-1187-0
- Lai AX, Kaup AR, Yaffe K, Byers AL. High occurrence of psychiatric disorders and suicidal behavior across dementia subtypes. *Am J Geriatric Psychiatry*. (2018) 26:1191–1201. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2018.08.012
- Johnson V, Stewart W, Trojanowski JQ, Smith DH. Acute and chronically increased immunoreactivity to phosphorylation-independent but not pathological TDP-43 after a single traumatic brain injury in humans. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2011) 122:715–26. doi: 10.1007/s00401-011-0909-9
- Kenney K, Iacono D, Edlow BL, Katz DI, Diaz-Arrastia R, Dams-O'Connor K, et al. Dementia after moderate-severe traumatic brain injury: coexistence of multiple proteinopathies. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2018) 77:50–63. doi: 10.1093/jnen/nlx101
- Wiesner D, Tar L, Linkus B, Chandrasekar A, Olde Heuvel F, Dupuis L, et al. Reversible induction of TDP-43 granules in cortical neurons after traumatic injury. *Exp Neurol.* (2018) 299:15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2017. 09.011

Disclaimer: Material has been reviewed by the Walter Reed Army Institute of Research. There is no objection to its presentation and/or publication. The opinions or assertions contained herein are the private views of the author, and are not to be construed as official, or as reflecting true views of the Department of the Army or the Department of Defense.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Heyburn, Sajja and Long. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Racial and Ethnic Differences in Emergency Department Utilization and Diagnosis for Sports-Related Head Injuries

Todd W. Lyons*, Kelsey A. Miller, Andrew F. Miller and Rebekah Mannix

Division of Emergency Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

Background: Prior studies have shown racial differences in concussion awareness and outcome.

Objective: To assess if racial or ethnic differences exist in Emergency Department (ED) utilization and diagnosis for children with sports-related head injuries.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Richard J. Servatius, Syracuse VA Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Scott Lawrence Zuckerman, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States Alicia Morgan Sufrinko, University of Pittsburgh, United States

> *Correspondence: Todd W. Lyons todd.lyons@childrens.harvard.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 25 January 2019 Accepted: 13 June 2019 Published: 02 July 2019

Citation:

Lyons TW, Miller KA, Miller AF and Mannix R (2019) Racial and Ethnic Differences in Emergency Department Utilization and Diagnosis for Sports-Related Head Injuries. Front. Neurol. 10:690. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00690 **Methods:** We performed a retrospective, cross-sectional analysis of ED visits from 2008 to 2017 using National Electronic Injury Surveillance System (NEISS) data. Population-weighted ED visits for children age 7–18 years with a sport-related injury were included. We compared the probability of an ED visit being for an injury to the head or diagnosed as a concussion between children of different races/ethnicities. Analyses were adjusted for age, gender, sport, year, and location where the injury occurred.

Results: We identified 11,529,994 population-weighted ED visits for pediatric sports-related injuries, of which 1,497,717 (13.0%) were injuries to the head and 619,714 (5.4%) received a diagnosis of concussion. Black children were significantly less likely than non-Hispanic white children to have their ED visit be for an injury to the head [Odds Ratio (OR) 0.72, 95%CI 0.65–0.79] or concussion (OR 0.58, 95%CI 0.50–0.68). Black children presenting to the ED with an injury to their head were less likely than non-Hispanic white children to be diagnosed with a concussion (OR = 0.71, 95%CI 0.59–0.85).

Conclusions: Racial differences exist in both ED utilization for pediatric sports-related head injuries and in the diagnosis of concussion. Further work is needed to understand these differences to ensure all brain injured athletes receive optimal care, regardless of race.

Keywords: concussion, head injury, children, emergency department, race, ethnicity, disparities

INTRODUCTION

Sports-related injuries are one of the most common causes of head injuries and concussions in children in the United States (1, 2). Recently, concerns have been raised about the long-term effects of concussions on neurocognitive function, including the risk of chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE) and other neurodegenerative disorders (3–6). As a result, there have been significant efforts to increase awareness and recognition of sports-related head injuries, as well as to define protocols for concussion management and return-to-play guidelines (7, 8). Without proper recognition and

diagnosis, athletes may prematurely return to play, potentially exacerbating their underlying head injury and putting themselves at increased risk of second-impact syndrome (7, 9, 10). Therefore, the identification of patients with sports-related head injuries and concussion has important implications for how young athletes, parents, and coaches approach return to play, rehabilitation, as well as the long-term risks/benefits of continued sports participation after a sports-related head injury. The Emergency Department (ED) represents a common location of initial evaluation of sports-related head injuries and concussions for children, with ED visits for young athletes increasing (1, 11).

Previous data demonstrate racial disparities in recognition of concussion symptoms and knowledge about the significance of concussion, with white athletes having higher knowledge about concussions then their African American counterparts (12). Furthermore, racial differences have been observed in the management of pediatric head injuries, with race being an important predictor of which children with head injuries undergo emergent neuroimaging (13, 14). However, it is not known whether these disparities translate into differences in patterns of ED utilization for sports-related head injuries. Nor is it known if race impacts the probability that a head-injured child will be diagnosed with a concussion. Therefore, our objectives were to: (1) assess if race/ethnicity affects the likelihood that a sports-related ED visit is for a head injury; (2) to determine if race/ethnicity impacts the likelihood that an athlete presenting to the ED with a head injury is diagnosed with a concussion.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

We performed a retrospective, cross-sectional analysis of ED visits from the National Electronic Injury Surveillance System (NEISS) over 10 years between 2008 and 2017. The NEISS is a division of the United States Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC) and reports population-weighted estimates of injuries and consumer product related injuries. The NEISS collects data from approximately 100 hospitals located throughout all geographic regions of the United States (15, 16). Emergency Department records are reviewed at the end of each day by study research coordinators and coded according to the NEISS coding manual. Clinical information including diagnostic evaluations such as laboratory testing and diagnostic imaging results are not available in NEISS. The NEISS has been utilized for multiple published reports on the epidemiology of injury (17-20). Included in the NEISS are ED visits for sports-related injuries, coded by sport of participation. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Boston Children's Hospital.

Study Population

The unit of analysis for our study was the population-weighted ED visit. We included all ED visits for children age 7–18 years with an ED visit that occurred while participating in the following sports: baseball, basketball, cheerleading, field hockey, football (American), gymnastics, ice hockey, lacrosse, rugby, soccer, softball, tennis, track and field, volleyball, and wrestling. Included in the NEISS are ED visits for injuries, as well as

for medical problems such as heat-exhaustion. ED visits in our analysis include those that occurred in both organized as well as recreational sports participation, as these are not distinguished in the NEISS database.

Study Definitions and Outcomes

We abstracted the following data elements from the NEISS database: age, sex, race, ethnicity, year of presentation, sport of participation, location where the injury occurred, body part injured, and final diagnosis. The NEISS classifies each ED visit by both body part involved and final diagnosis. We categorized injuries by the involved body region into: head, neck, torso, upper extremity, lower extremity, and other. "Other body region injuries" included heat-stroke/exhaustion, cardiac events and injuries to the ear, eye, and face. ED visits were categorized into the following final diagnoses: concussions, fractures/dislocations, sprains/strains/contusions, internal injuries, and other. "Other diagnoses" included: accidental poisonings, amputation, anoxia, avulsion and crush injuries, dental injuries, dermatitis, foreign bodies, frostbite, hematoma, hemorrhage, lacerations, nerve damage, puncture wounds, heat-related injuries, and injuries not otherwise classified. Final diagnoses were assigned by the treating ED provider and classified based on the previously defined NEISS methodology. When multiple injuries or diagnoses are present, NEISS classifies the visit according to the most severe injury (15).

NEISS classified race as White, Black/African American, Asian, American Indian/Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, and other. In NEISS "other" includes patients who indicate more than one race or for whom none of the above categories applies. A patient's ethnicity is separately coded in NEISS as Hispanic or non-Hispanic. For our analysis, we categorized race and ethnicity into the following categories: non-Hispanic white, Hispanic, black, Asian, and other (included all patients not categorized by our aforementioned categories) (21).

The primary outcomes for our analysis were an ED visit for an injury to the head region of the body, or an ED visit for an injury diagnosed as a concussion.

Analysis

We first compared patient characteristics between ED visits for all reasons to those for head injuries and injuries diagnosed as concussions. We describe continuous variables using medians and interquartile ranges and categorical variables using proportions and 95% confidence intervals (CI). For our primary outcome, we calculated the odds of an ED visit being for an injury to the head region or diagnosed as a concussion by race/ethnicity. For our secondary outcome, we calculated the odds of a patient with an injury to the head region being diagnosed as a concussion by race/ethnicity. We performed subanalyses stratified by sport of participation to evaluate if sport of participation was an important confounder in the relationship between race and head injury/concussion diagnoses.

Our analyses were performed using survey-weighted logistic regression with statistical weighting provided by the NEISS (15) and results are reported as odds ratios and associated 95% CIs. Multivariate analyses evaluating the association between race/ethnicity and ED visits for injuries to the head region or

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of population-weighted Emergency Department (ED) visits for pediatric sports-related injuries.

	All ED visits <i>N</i> = 11,529,994	Head injury ED visits <i>N</i> = 1,497,717	ED visits diagnosed as concussion $N = 619,714$
Age, median (IQR)	13.5 (11.3-15.4)	13.5 (11.2-15.3)	13.9 (11.9-15.5)
Male sex, n (%)	8,218,044 (71.3)	1,080,753 (72.2)	452,299 (73.0)
Race/ethnicity, <i>n</i> (%)			
White, non-hispanic	5,676,695 (49.2)	780,448 (52.1)	342,904 (55.3)
Hispanic	754,286 (6.5)	93,408 (6.2)	37,005 (6.0)
Black	1,779,354 (15.4)	176,553 (11.8)	64,124 (10.3)
Asian	91,256 (0.8)	14,997 (1.0)	5,735 (0.9)
Other	163,154 (1.4)	21,065 (1.4)	9,048 (1.5)
Missing	3,065,248 (26.6)	411,245 (27.5)	160,879 (26.0)
Year, n (%)			
2008	1,140,558 (9.9)	98,252 (6.6)	39,866 (6.4)
2009	1,133,525 (9.8)	121,480 (8.1)	43,045 (6.9)
2010	1,221,117 (10.6)	145,356 (9.7)	51,198 (8.3)
2011	1,203,043 (10.4)	151,872 (10.1)	59,768 (9.6)
2012	1,260,242 (10.9)	174,270 (11.6)	71,299 (11.5)
2013	1,157,985 (10.0)	167,983 (11.2)	72,485 (11.7)
2014	1,144,094 (9.9)	164,812 (11.0)	72,556 (11.7)
2015	1,124,372 (9.8)	162,507 (10.9)	69,413 (11.2)
2016	1,084,923 (9.4)	158,513 (10.6)	69,283 (11.2)
2017	1,060,134 (9.2)	152,672 (10.2)	70,800 (11.4)
-ocation of injury, n (%)			
Place of recreation	5,857,505 (50.8)	784,291 (52.4)	347,746 (56.1)
School	2,668,799 (23.1)	387,834 (25.9)	174,694 (28.2)
Not recorded	2,379,814 (20.6)	259,186 (17.3)	80,766 (13.0)
Home	494,912 (4.3)	50,626 (3.4)	11,791 (1.9)
Other	128,694 (1.1)	15,780 (1.1)	4,717 (0.8)
Sport, <i>n</i> (%)			
Baseball	935,242 (8.1)	132,139 (8.8)	34,306 (5.5)
Basketball	3,173,919 (27.5)	312,136 (20.8)	108,840 (17.6)
Cheerleading	331,063 (2.9)	50,564 (3.4)	19,597 (3.2)
Field hockey	36,940 (0.3)	5,202 (0.3)	2,210 (0.4)
Football	3,442,602 (29.9)	522,011 (34.9)	259,025 (41.8)
Gymnastics	253,909 (2.2)	16,682 (1.1)	4,911 (0.8)
Ice hockey	114,487 (1.0)	32,475 (2.2)	15,436 (2.5)
Lacrosse	151,669 (1.3)	29,909 (2.0)	12,673 (2.0)
Rugby	48,566 (0.4)	11,944 (0.8)	5,235 (0.8)
Soccer	1,531,774 (13.3)	222,474 (14.9)	93,386 (15.1)
Softball	512,320 (4.4)	63,608 (4.2)	22,183 (3.6)
Tennis	58,056 (0.5)	5,824 (0.4)	1,245 (0.2)
Track and field	222,201 (1.9)	12,955 (0.9)	3,884 (0.6)
Volleyball	362,986 (3.1)	33,147 (2.2)	13,115 (2.1)
Wrestling	354,260 (3.1)	46,646 (3.1)	23,667 (3.9)

diagnosis of concussion were adjusted for age, sex, year of visit, location where the injury occurred, and sport (22–24). These were determined *a priori* to be important factors in determining the types of injuries that present to an ED. Sport-specific analyses were adjusted for age, sex, year of visit, and location of injury. Due to the small number of male participants in field hockey, sex was not included in models evaluating associations between field hockey and our outcomes of interest. Secondary to the small number of female and young participants in rugby, both sex and age were not included in models evaluating associations between rugby and our outcomes of interest. In our analysis of the relationship between race and having an ED visit be for a head injury or concussion, an odds ratio of <1 represents decreased odds of the ED visit being for a head injury/concussion

relative to non-Hispanic white athletes. In our analysis of the relationship between race and a diagnosis of concussion among head injured athletes, an odds ratio of <1 represents decreased odds of being diagnosed with a concussion relative to non-Hispanic white athletes.

All statistical analyses were performed using SAS software, copyright© 2012 SAS Institute Inc.

RESULTS

We identified 360,103 unweighted ED visits for pediatric sports-related injuries. These visits correspond to 11,529,994 population-weighted ED visits, including 1,497,717 (13.0%) visits for injuries to the head region and 619,714 (5.4%) visits for injuries diagnosed as concussions (**Table 1**). Data on race and ethnicity were available for 8,464,746 (73.4%) ED visits. We found no association between not reporting race/ethnicity and ED visits for injuries to the head region [Odds ratio (OR): 1.05,

95%CI 0.91–1.22] or injuries diagnosed as concussions (OR: 0.97, 95%CI 0.74–1.26).

After adjustment for age, gender, sport, year of ED presentation, and location of injury, black children were less likely to have their ED visit be for an injury to the head region or for an injury that was diagnosed as a concussion relative to non-Hispanic white children (**Table 2**). Similar findings were not observed for Hispanic children, Asian children or children who identified as other races. In sport-specific analyses, black children were significantly less likely than white children to have their ED visit be for a head injury if playing: basketball, football, cheerleading, soccer, or volleyball. Asian children injured playing baseball were more likely than white athletes to have their ED visits be for a head injury (**Table 3**).

Among the sub-set of children presenting to the ED with an injury to their head region, black children were less likely than non-Hispanic white children to be diagnosed with a concussion (**Table 4**). In contrast, we found no significant difference in rates

TABLE 2 Associations between race and having an emergency department visit for a sports-related injury be for an injury to the head region or diagnosed as a concussion (compared to other body regions and diagnoses, respectively).

Race/ethnicity	Injuries to the	e head region	Concussions		
	Unadjusted	Adjusted ^a	Unadjusted	Adjusted ^a	
White, non-hispanic	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Hispanic	0.89 (0.60-1.30)	0.89 (0.64–1.24)	0.80 (0.46-1.36)	0.83 (0.54–1.28)	
Black	0.69 (0.63–0.76)	0.72 (0.65–0.79)	0.58 (0.50-0.68)	0.58 (0.50-0.68)	
Asian	1.23 (0.92-1.66)	1.25 (0.92–1.69)	1.05 (0.72–1.52)	1.08 (0.72-1.62)	
Other	0.93 (0.78–1.11)	0.93 (0.78–1.11)	0.91 (0.72–1.16)	0.86 (0.68–1.10)	

^aAdjusted for age, sex, location of injury, sport, and year of ED presentation.

TABLE 3 | Sports-specific adjusted associations between race and having and emergency department visit for a sports-related injury be for an injury to the brian/head region.

Sport	White	Hispanic	Black	Asian	Other
Baseball ^a	Ref	1.21 (0.84–1.75)	0.91 (0.69–1.21)	1.44 (1.02–2.03)	0.73 (0.38–1.39)
Basketball ^a	Ref	0.88 (0.50-1.19)	0.71 (0.63-0.79)	1.42 (0.90-2.24)	0.86 (0.59–1.25)
Cheerleading ^a	Ref	1.31 (0.90-1.92)	0.61 (0.46-0.81)	1.77 (0.83–3.77)	0.91 (0.41–2.03)
Field hockey ^b	Ref	0.10 (0.01-1.13)	1.16 (0.38–3.53)	***	0.16 (0.03–1.01)
Football ^a	Ref	1.05 (0.74-1.48)	0.71 (0.63-0.80)	1.38 (0.92-2.06)	1.10 (0.90–1.35)
Gymnastics ^a	Ref	0.93 (0.47-1.81)	0.98 (0.58-1.64)	1.42 (0.70-2.88)	0.69 (0.28-1.69)
lce hockey ^a	Ref	1.64 (0.21–12.72)	0.96 (0.32-2.87)	1.86 (0.50-6.89)	1.92 (0.72–5.11)
Lacrosse ^a	Ref	0.55 (0.30-1.02)	1.10 (0.65–1.86)	1.90 (0.73-4.91)	0.74 (0.33–1.66)
Rugby ^c	Ref	0.75 (0.27-2.07)	0.60 (0.28-1.30)	0.31 (0.07-1.44)	2.32 (0.89-6.0)
Softball ^a	Ref	1.44 (0.90-2.29)	0.79 (0.57-1.10)	0.89 (0.46-1.74)	1.10 (0.47–2.56)
Soccer ^a	Ref	0.67 (0.54–0.84)	0.72 (0.57-0.92)	0.92 (0.60-1.39)	0.70 (0.57–0.87)
Tennis ^a	Ref	0.54 (0.21-1.44)	1.33 (0.64-2.79)	1.39 (0.35–5.58)	0.90 (0.16-5.12)
Track and field ^a	Ref	0.56 (0.30-1.07)	0.81 (0.53-1.24)	0.84 (0.43-1.62)	1.14 (0.47–2.81)
Volleyball ^a	Ref	0.88 (0.51-1.53)	0.67 (0.45-0.98)	1.23 (0.63-2.41)	0.74 (0.36–1.51)
Wrestling ^a	Ref	1.09 (0.77-1.55)	0.79 (0.56-1.10)	0.79 (0.52-1.19)	0.94 (0.38-2.23)

^aAdjusted for age, sex, location of injury, and year of ED presentation.

^bAdjusted for age, location of injury, and year of ED presentation.

^cAdjusted for location of injury and year of ED presentation.

*** Unable to calculate due to small number of weighted ED visits.

TABLE 4 Association between race and having an ED visit with an injury to the
head region be diagnosed as a concussion.

Race/ethnicity	Unadjusted	Adjusted ^a
White, non-hispanic	Ref	Ref
Hispanic	0.84 (0.61-1.14)	0.84 (0.65–1.10)
Black	0.73 (0.62–0.86)	0.71 (0.59–0.85)
Asian	0.79 (0.62-1.02)	0.85 (0.65–1.12)
Other	0.96 (0.73–1.27)	0.86 (0.64–1.17)

^aAdjusted for age, sex, sport, location of injury, and year of ED presentation.

of concussion diagnoses between head-injured, non-Hispanic white children and Hispanic children, Asian children or children who identified as other races. In adjusted analyses, other factors associated with receiving a diagnosis of concussion among pediatric patients presenting to the ED with an injury to the head region included: age (OR 1.08, 95%CI 1.07–1.10 for each year over age 7), female gender (OR 1.18, 95%CI 1.09–1.29), injuries that occurred at places of recreation (OR 2.06, 95%CI 1.58–2.67) or school (OR 2.08, 95%CI 1.58–2.67) compared to those injuries occurring at home, and year of presentation (OR 1.08, 95%CI 1.04–1.10 for each year after 2008). Among children presenting to the ED with a head injury, the greatest differences in the diagnosis of concussion were found in basketball, cheerleading, football, gymnastics, and soccer (**Table 5**).

Differences in the percent of children presenting with a head region injury and those diagnosed as a concussion are summarized in **Figure 1**. The difference in diagnoses was driven by a higher percentage of black children with head injuries receiving a diagnosis of contusion, internal injury, or "other injury." We found no significant differences in the rates of diagnosis of fracture among children with injuries to the head region.

DISCUSSION

Among ED visits for sports-related injuries, black children were nearly 30% less likely than non-Hispanic white children to have their ED visit be for an injury to the head region and over 40% less likely to have their ED visit be for the diagnosis of a concussion. Among children presenting to the ED with an injury to the head region, black children were more than 30% less likely to be diagnosed with a concussion. In addition, we found increasing rates of ED visits for sports-related head injuries and concussion over time. These findings are consistent with prior data and may represent increased awareness and diagnosis rather than an absolute increase in the actual number of concussions. The results of our analysis raise important questions about how race affects the decision to seek ED level care for a sports-related head injury, as well as how race impacts the likelihood that a head-injured athlete receives a diagnosis of concussion.

Prior research has demonstrated racial differences in concussion knowledge and recognition of concussion symptoms (12). Specifically, white athletes in a prior study demonstrated increased concussion knowledge and more frequently recognized

the signs and symptoms of concussion. In addition, racial disparities in the use of neuroimaging in evaluation of head injuries in the ED have been reported (13, 14). In these two studies, white children were more likely to have emergent neuroimaging (MRI or CT) performed than black children. Finally, racial differences have been reported in the site of initial care for brain-injured children (25), with black children more likely to have their point of entry into the health care system for a concussion be in the ED. Our study is consistent with these prior data, demonstrating racial differences in the evaluation and management of head injured children. However, while prior data have shown the ED is a common site of initial care for brain-injured black children, our data demonstrate significant racial differences in care utilization and diagnosis in the ED setting, with black children less likely to have an ED visit be for a head injury or concussion. Taken together, these findings suggest the magnitude of underutilization and underdiagnosis may be even greater than we observed. Finally, our study is the first to our knowledge to demonstrate how race affected ED utilization and diagnosis for athletes with head injuries.

We found that among athletes with an ED visit for a sportsrelated injury, black children were less likely to have that visit be for a head injury or diagnosed as a concussion. While our study demonstrates racial differences in ED utilization, our findings could represent either overutilization of the ED for head-injured non-Hispanic white athletes or underutilization by black athletes. The observed racial differences in ED utilization could be due to a variety of factors including differences in the recognition of signs and symptoms of head injuries, differences in level of concern about head injuries, access to certified athletic trainers, differences in where patients seek initial care for head injuries, and differences in referral patterns to the ED for head injuries (12, 25, 26).

We found that black children were 30% less likely than their non-Hispanic white counterparts to be diagnosed with a concussion when presenting with an injury to the head region. Head injured black children were more likely than their white counterparts to receive a general diagnosis of head contusion or internal injury. It is possible that many of these children receiving these diagnoses did in fact have a concussion. These findings raise important questions about potential racial bias in the evaluation and diagnosis of head-injured athletes (27). It is not clear if our finding represents under-diagnosis of concussion in young, black athletes, or over- diagnosis in non-Hispanic white athletes. Importantly, the differences were most pronounced for football, soccer, basketball, and cheerleading. These results are significant as these sports have been associated with high rates of head trauma, including repetitive head trauma (24). Because most clinically important traumatic brain injuries can be ruled out without the need for emergent neuroimaging (28), most ED visits for children with sports-related concussions focus on education regarding cognitive rehabilitation and return to play guidelines (7). With increasing research and guidelines around concussion management and return to play, diagnostic precision is becoming increasingly important. Racial differences in the clinical diagnosis of concussion could result in disparities in the post-injury care of children with sports-related head injuries and

TABLE 5 | Sport-specific adjusted associations between race and the diagnosis of concussion in athletes presenting to the emergency department with an injury to the head region.

	White	Hispanic	Black	Asian	Other
Baseball ^a	Ref	0.98 (0.60-1.61)	0.60–1.61) 0.72 (0.50–1.04) 1.03 (0.55–1.93)		1.06 (0.44–2.56)
Basketball ^a	Ref	0.61 (0.40-0.94)	0.71 (0.57–0.90)	1.12 (0.63-2.01)	1.00 (0.61–1.63)
Cheerleading ^a	Ref	1.28 (0.70-2.35)	0.56 (0.32-0.99)	0.87 (0.32-2.35)	1.44 (0.47-4.47)
Field hockey ^b	Ref	***	***	***	***
Football ^a	Ref	0.88 (0.63-1.24)	0.68 (0.54–0.85)	0.65 (0.47-0.88)	0.77 (0.48-1.24)
Gymnastics ^a	Ref	2.39 (0.50-11.3)	0.22 (0.07-0.68)	0.80 (0.11-5.92)	21.57 (1.93–241.35)
lce hockey ^a	Ref	1.07 (0.08–13.89)	0.52 (0.14-1.98)	0.56 (0.09-3.59)	18.50 (1.88–181.74)
Lacrosse ^a	Ref	0.60 (0.12-2.99)	0.71 (0.30-1.68)	0.07 (0.02-0.25)	0.44 (0.13-1.52)
Rugby ^c	Ref	0.56 (0.10-3.06)	0.80 (0.23-2.75)	1.57 (0.05–46.52)	2.71 (0.43–16.92)
Softball ^a	Ref	1.05 (0.60-1.84)	1.39 (0.77–2.51)	0.29 (0.05-1.81)	0.87 (0.12-6.61)
Soccer ^a	Ref	0.78 (0.63-0.97)	0.76 (0.47-1.20)	0.91 (0.64-1.30)	0.71 (0.36–1.38)
Tennis ^a	Ref	***	***	***	***
Track and field ^a	Ref	0.71 (0.05–9.78)	0.62 (0.26-1.47)	0.24 (0.02-2.95)	0.45 (0.12-1.62)
Volleyball ^a	Ref	1.20 (0.57–2.53)	0.57 (0.28-1.17)	0.81 (0.30-2.23)	1.47 (0.54–4.04)
Wrestling ^a	Ref	1.18 (0.66-2.09)	1.16 (0.51-2.66)	0.70 (0.23-2.13)	0.28 (0.05-1.73)

^aAdjusted for age, sex, location of injury, and year of ED presentation.

^bAdjusted for age, location of injury, and year of ED presentation.

^cAdjusted for location of injury and year of ED presentation.

*** Unable to calculate due to small number of weighted ED visits.



concussions. Specifically, broad diagnoses like head "contusion" or "internal injury" may not signal to athletes, their parents, trainers, and coaches that a concussion has occurred. In the absence of a diagnosis of concussion, these athletes may return to play prematurely, and risk repeat head injury before the brain has had adequate time to recover. Conversely, if over diagnosed, children with concussion could be inappropriately held out of play. Therefore, clinicians must ensure that all athletes receive the appropriate diagnosis and return to play instructions, regardless of race.

The findings of our study must be interpreted in the context of its limitations. First, a significant proportion of children in our study did not report race. However, we found no significant association between not reporting race and having an ED visit be for a head injury or concussion. Second, we only evaluated care in the ED, meaning our findings may not be generalizable to

other care settings. Prior work has suggested that only evaluating ED care for concussion may significantly underestimate the incidence of pediatric head trauma (25). Third, we had limited clinical data on children in our analysis and could not assess what clinical factors contributed to the diagnosis of concussion. However, it is unlikely that patterns of head injuries vary by race, after adjustment for age, gender, sport, year, and location where the injury occurred. Fourth, we are unable to assess if sports-related head injuries occurred in the context of organized or recreational sport participation. Last, some of the observed differences in the diagnosis of concussion among athletes with injury to the head region may reflect race-related differences in case-mix. However, the observed difference in our study was driven by an increased proportion of head-injured black children being diagnosed with "internal injuries," "contusion," or "other." While it is possible these differences may represent an increased incidence of intracranial hemorrhages in head-injured black children, these diagnoses in sports are rare and unlikely to vary to by race or ethnicity. Therefore, the observed disparities likely represent differences in how the diagnosis of concussion is given to head-injured athletes in the absence of other more significant clinical diagnoses.

In conclusion, we identified race-based differences in ED utilization for injuries to the head region and injuries diagnosed as concussions. We also found race-based differences in the diagnosis of concussion among young athletes who presented to the ED with injuries to their head region. Further work is needed

REFERENCES

- Meehan WP, Mannix R. Pediatric concussions in United States emergency departments in the years 2002 to 2006. J Pediatr. (2010) 157:889–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.06.040
- Daneshvar DH, Nowinski CJ, McKee AC, Cantu RC. The epidemiology of sport-related concussion. *Clin Sports Med.* (2011) 30:1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.csm.2010.08.006
- Bazarian JJ, Zhu T, Blyth B, Borrino A, Zhong J. Subject-specific changes in brain white matter on diffusion tensor imaging after sports-related concussion. *Magn Reson Imaging*. (2012) 30:171–80. doi: 10.1016/j.mri.2011.10.001
- Bailes JE, Petraglia AL, Omalu BI, Nauman E, Talavage T. Role of subconcussion in repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosurg.* (2013) 119:1235–45. doi: 10.3171/2013.7.JNS121822
- Broglio SP, Eckner JT, Paulson HL, Kutcher JS. Cognitive decline and aging: the role of concussive and subconcussive impacts. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* (2012) 40:138–44. doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e3182524273
- Omalu BI, DeKosky ST, Hamilton RL, Minster RL, Kamboh MI, Shakir AM, et al. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in a national football league player: part II. *Neurosurgery*. (2006) 59:1086–92. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000245601.69451.27
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Aubry M, Cantu B, Dvorak J, Echemendia R, et al. Consensus statement on Concussion in Sport-the 4th International Conference on Concussion in Sport held in Zurich, November 2012. J Sci Med Sport. (2013) 16:178–89. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2013. 02.009
- Stillman A, Alexander M, Mannix R, Madigan N, Pascual-Leone A, Meehan WP. Concussion: evaluation and management. *Cleve Clin J Med.* (2017) 84:623–30. doi: 10.3949/ccjm.84a.16013
- McCrory PR, Berkovic SF. Second impact syndrome. Neurology. (1998) 50:677–83. doi: 10.1212/WNL.50.3.677

to understand factors leading to these observed differences to help ensure that all head-injured athletes receive optimal care, regardless of race.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of our hospital with a waiver of informed consent, given the anonymous nature of the dataset.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TL conceptualized and deigned the study, performed the data analyses, drafted the initial manuscript, and reviewed and revised the manuscript. KM and AM aided in the conceptualization and design of the study, reviewed data analyses, and reviewed and revised the manuscript. RM conceptualization and designed the study, supervised data analyses, and reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript as submitted and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

TL was supported by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (National Institutes of Health) T32 Training Grant (5T32HD040128-12).

- Majerske CW, Mihalik JP, Ren D, Collins MW, Reddy CC, Lovell MR, et al. Concussion in sports: postconcussive activity levels, symptoms, and neurocognitive performance. *J Athl Train.* (2008) 43:265–74. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-43.3.265
- Bakhos LL, Lockhart GR, Myers R, Linakis JG. Emergency department visits for concussion in young child athletes. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 126:e550–6. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-3101
- Wallace J, Covassin T, Moran R. Racial disparities in concussion knowledge and symptom recognition in American adolescent athletes. J Racial Ethn Heal Disparities. (2018) 5:221–8. doi: 10.1007/s40615-017-0361-1
- Mannix R, Bourgeois FT, Schutzman SA, Bernstein A, Lee LK. Neuroimaging for pediatric head trauma: do patient and hospital characteristics influence who gets imaged? *Acad Emerg Med.* (2010) 17:694–700. doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2010.00797.x
- Natale JE, Joseph JG, Rogers AJ, Mahajan P, Cooper A, Wisner DH, et al. Cranial computed tomography use among children with minor blunt head trauma: association with race/ethnicity. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2012) 166:732–7. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2012.307
- United States Consumer Product Safety Commission. National Electronic Injury Surveillance System (NEISS). (2017). Available online at: https:// www.cpsc.gov/Research--Statistics/NEISS-Injury-Data (accessed February 8, 2018).
- Frame T, Buzas D, Jacobson NA, Morawa LG. Concussions from 9 youth organized sports: results from NEISS hospitals over an 11year time frame. Orthop J Sports Med. (2014) 2:2325967114528460. doi: 10.1177/2325967114528460
- Sanford T, McCulloch CE, Callcut RA, Carroll PR, Breyer BN. Bicycle trauma injuries and hospital admissions in the United States, 1998-2013. *JAMA*. (2015) 314:947–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.8295
- Trofa DP, Park CN, Noticewala MS, Lynch TS, Ahmad CS, Popkin CA. The impact of body checking on youth ice hockey injuries. *Orthop J Sport Med.* (2017) 5:2325967117741647. doi: 10.1177/2325967117741647

- Richards JA, Loder RT. All-terrain vehicle use related fracture rates, patterns, and associations from 2002 to 2015 in the USA. *Injury*. (2019) 50:324–31. doi: 10.1016/j.injury.2018.12.005
- Miller KN, Collins CL, Chounthirath T, Smith GA. Pediatric sportsand recreation-related eye injuries treated in US emergency departments. *Pediatrics*. (2018) 141:e20173083. doi: 10.1542/peds.2017-3083
- Cheng TL, Goodman E, Committee on pediatric research. Race, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status in research on child health. *Pediatrics*. (2015) 135:e225–37. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-3109
- Comstock DR, Currie DW, Pierpoint LA. National High School Sports-Related Injury Surveillance Study: 2015-2016 School Year. Aurora, CO (2017). Available online at: http://www.ucdenver.edu/academics/colleges/ PublicHealth/research/ResearchProjects/piper/projects/RIO/Documents/ Original Report_Final 2015 16 09 03 16.pdf
- Gaw CE, Zonfrillo MR. Emergency department visits for head trauma in the United States. BMC Emerg Med. (2016) 16:5. doi: 10.1186/s12873-016-0071-8
- Mannix R, Meehan W, Pascual-Leone A. Concussion: media, science and policy. Nat Rev Neurol. (2016) 12:486–90. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.20 16.99
- Arbogast KB, Curry AE, Pfeiffer MR, Zonfrillo MR, Haarbauer-Krupa J, Breiding MJ, et al. Point of health care entry for youth with concussion within a large pediatric care network. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2016) 170:e160294. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0294

- Kroshus E, Rivara FP, Whitlock KB, Herring SA, Chrisman SPD. Disparities in athletic trainer staffing in secondary school sport: implications for concussion identification. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2017) 27:542–7. doi: 10.1097/JSM.00000000000409
- van Ryn M, Fu SS. Paved with good intentions: do public health and human service providers contribute to racial/ethnic disparities in health? *Am J Public Health*. (2003) 93:248–55. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.93.2.248
- Kuppermann N, Holmes JF, Dayan PS, Hoyle JD, Atabaki SM, Holubkov R, et al. Identification of children at very low risk of clinically-important brain injuries after head trauma: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2009) 374:1160–70. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61558-0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lyons, Miller, Miller and Mannix. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Making Headway for Discussions About Concussions: Experiences of Former High School and Collegiate Student-Athletes

Anthony Oddo¹, Ellen O'Conor², Sarah Shore², Mary Piraino³, Kyla Gibney², Jack Tsao² and Ansley Grimes Stanfill^{3*}

¹ Department of Pediatrics, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ² Department of Neurology, College of Medicine, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ³ Department of Acute and Tertiary Care, College of Nursing, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cameron Bass, Duke University, United States

Reviewed by:

Jason Luck, Duke University, United States Scott Lawrence Zuckerman, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Ansley Grimes Stanfill astanfi4@uthsc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 24 January 2019 Accepted: 14 June 2019 Published: 05 July 2019

Citation:

Oddo A, O'Conor E, Shore S, Piraino M, Gibney K, Tsao J and Stanfill AG (2019) Making Headway for Discussions About Concussions: Experiences of Former High School and Collegiate Student-Athletes. Front. Neurol. 10:698. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00698 In order to better understand how to identify and treat student-athletes who experience concussions, better insight into reporting behavior of athletes is needed. This study aims to identify information influencing athletes' attitudes toward reporting their concussions and the perceived trajectory of their recovery both athletically and academically. Twenty-five former high school and collegiate athletes who experienced concussions in a wide variety of sports, organizational levels, and time periods gave insight through structured, qualitative interviews. A number of factors regarding education about concussions, proper diagnosis of concussions, and motivational pressures within high school and collegiate athletics were assessed. Eight major themes were identified regarding the participants' experiences with sport-related concussion: optimism bias, invisibility of the injury, diagnostic barriers, desire to play, external support and pressures, uncertainty of long-term prognosis, generational factors, and protection of future athletes. The findings support that underreporting of concussions among those players interviewed is related to misperceived risk, lack of education, and a struggle between internal and external pressures to play through injury. However, those who did seek medical and academic support, often did receive the necessary aid.

Keywords: concussion, traumatic brain injury, athlete, sports, adolescent

INTRODUCTION

Despite mandated concussion education programs and increasing media attention to the risks of playing while concussed, many high school and collegiate athletes continue to misrepresent and underreport concussion symptoms (1). Several factors lead to this underreporting behavior. Clinical diagnosis of concussion is highly dependent on self-reported symptoms, including subjective neurological signs such as headaches, confusion, and amnesia. In addition, athletes' current understanding of concussion often does not coincide with the accepted medical definition (2, 3). Motivational issues also contribute to the underreporting of symptoms and continuing to play through injuries (4).

Some have suggested that targeted concussion education may increase reporting, but there is also evidence to suggest that such efforts may not equate to increased reporting; possibly due to some of the reporting motivation issues as previously mentioned (4-8). High school and collegiate athletes continue to have some of the highest rates of unreported concussion (9-11).

But concussive injuries during adolescence and early adulthood can have serious medical repercussions for the developing brain, though most notably in the subacute phase of the injury (12, 13). Although removal from play decisions are of immediate importance post-injury, in the absence of clear guidelines for return to classes, some student athletes may suffer academically as well. Few studies have been done to establish more effective removal/return to play or return to school guidelines (14, 15).

The purpose of this work was to gain information about reasons that they did or did not report their injury and the perceived trajectory of recovery athletically and academically. The sample was not limited to those that were more recent athletes, allowing analysis of the effect of increasing media attention and concussion education efforts on recent experiences and comparison to older individuals. The goal of this work is to enhance the knowledge of these factors in order to design effective educational interventions that will increase reporting behavior for these athletes and to establish more effective guidelines for supporting a concussed student athlete during their recovery process.

METHODS

Design

A retrospective, survey study was performed and individual, face-to-face, structured interviews were conducted with former high school and college student athletes that sustained a sportsrelated concussion while playing organized sports. The interview responses were reviewed to identify key themes. These themes were further analyzed as they may have or have not related to the demographic background of the participants in order to reveal any trends, consistencies, or differences in the athletes' concussion experiences and reporting behaviors.

Participants

Participants were recruited by university email announcements to faculty, staff, and students, and by fliers placed on campus and in local coffee shops and gyms. Inclusion criteria consisted of English-speaking, over the age of 18, having participated in organized athletics during their high school and collegiate career and having sustained one or more sport-related concussions through this participation. Additionally, the former athletes must have access to an email account for initial contact and scheduling purposes. Exclusion criteria was a history of severe head trauma or neurologic disease (e.g., headache disorder/migraines, mood disorder, epilepsy/seizure disorder, etc.) prior to the experience of sports related concussion. The study staff explained the study procedures, risks, benefits, and alternatives to participation, and the participants signed an informed consent document. This protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB#16-04937-XP).

Procedures

All participants were interviewed face to face with a single examiner in an office suite. Interview questions were read verbatim by the interviewer and are provided in **Table 1**. Individual interviews' content validity was established at the end of each session. Then, the interviewer verbally summarized the subjects' comments. Subjects were allowed to clarify any comments and to add any further thoughts on their concussion experience. Each interview was recorded by an audiotape recorder by the interviewer. All audiotapes were transcribed and verified by a second member of the study staff.

Analysis

The data analysis team followed the method that is described in the "Long Table Approach" (15). Briefly, 6 of the authors individually read the transcripts multiple times and summarized the main points and key quotes from each interview. From these items, individual team members identified themes in the data. Then the team met as a group, debated and provided evidence for each of the identified themes until a consensus was reached. From this iterative process, the research team developed major and minor overarching themes and recommendations for factors to be considered when designing future guidelines for student athletes experiencing a concussion.

RESULTS

Demographic Characteristics of the Study Participants

The study cohort included 25 former high school and college athletes. Demographics of these participants are described in **Table 2**.

Eight major themes were identified regarding the participants' experiences with sport-related concussion: optimism bias, invisibility of the injury, diagnostic barriers, desire to play, external support and pressures, uncertainty of long-term prognosis, generational factors, and protection of future athletes. A list of these themes can be found in **Table 3**, and each of these is described below.

Optimism Bias

Participants expressed varying levels of understanding regarding the chances of experiencing a sports-related concussion. However, those who were familiar with the risk of concussion displayed an ignorant awareness, with numerous athletes stating that they did not believe that they themselves would sustain a concussion: "It just happened out of nowhere... I never thought that it would happen to me."

Eighty-four percent (21/25) of subjects felt that concussions were not preventable, often explaining that their own experiences were out of their control: "My particular accident was a pretty random accident, and there wasn't anything necessarily that could have been done."

TABLE 1 | Structured interview script.

The first set of questions ask you to describe the circumstances of your concussion. If you have had multiple concussions, please answer the questions for each instance of injury.

- Please tell me about the type of athletics you participated in, how it was organized by your school (such as club or varsity athletics) and the sport or sports you were playing when you experienced a concussion.
- Please tell me general details about the size, location, and athletic division ranking of the school that sponsored these athletic activities, but do NOT tell me the name of the specific school.
- 3. About how old were you when you experienced your concussion or concussions? What year or years were you in school?
- 4. How long has it been since then?
- 5. How old were you when you first started playing this sport?
- 6. Prior to your concussion in high school or college, were you aware of the risk of head injury in playing your particular sport or sports?
- 7. Would you rate your particular sport or sports as being high risk, medium risk, or low risk for head injury?
- 8. What education have you received regarding concussions? Would you say that this education has come from your school or schools in general, your coaches, your parents, the media, or some other source?
- 9. Do you feel that there is anything that could have prevented your concussion (such as different safety equipment, more or less intense practices, etc.)?
- 10. What were the circumstances of your injury?
- 11. How was your injury discovered? Did you lose consciousness?
- 12. What other kinds of symptoms do you remember having? How long did these symptoms last, and how bothersome were they in your daily life?
- 13. How were you evaluated immediately after your injury?
- 14. Did you receive any medical care or other special evaluation in the days following the injury?
- 15. Did you receive any additional information about concussion in the days following the injury?
- 16. If you reported the event, did you feel comfortable going to your coach or trainer? Would you say that your teammates, or others in your sport felt the same way?

The next set of questions ask you to describe the recovery after your concussion.

- 17. When were you able to return to play after your injury? Were there any restrictions once you were allowed to return to practice or competition?
- Did you feel that there were any repercussions from your coach or trainer because of your injury? If so, please describe.
- 19. Were you concerned about repercussions for athletic or academic scholarships because of your injury? In what way?
- 20. How long do you feel that full recovery took?
- 21. What changes did you, your professors or teachers, or school administrators have to make to ensure your academic success during the recovery period?
- 22. Were there any other changes you had to make in your daily life in the time right after your concussion?
- 23. What kind of social support network did you have during your recovery? Who were the members of that network? What did this network specifically help you with during the recovery period?
- 24. Did you have to withdraw or drop any courses related to your injury?
- 25. Did you feel that your academics were affected by your concussion? If so, how were they affected?
- 26. Do you have any lasting effects now that you feel are due to your concussion or concussions? Would you say that these are problems that you have daily, occasionally, or rarely?

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

The first set of questions ask you to describe the circumstances of your concussion. If you have had multiple concussions, please answer the questions for each instance of injury.

- 27. Have you ever been diagnosed with post-concussion syndrome or any other health issues related to your concussion?
- 28. Do you feel that the current media attention surrounding concussion (such as the Concussion movie featuring Will Smith, and litigation in NCAA and NFL athletes) has changed any of your perceptions or feelings about your past injury? In what way?
- 29. Do you have any other thoughts about sports-related concussion that you would like to share with us?

Before we leave today, I am going to briefly summarize what I feel are the most important themes of your comments. Please stop me or correct me if I have misunderstood anything that you have said. [Insert summary of the subject's comments and allow for subject agreement].

TABLE 2 | Characteristics of the sample.

Characteristic	Category	п
Gender	Male Female	21 4
Time since concussion	< 10 Years > 10 Years	13 12
Sport played	Football Basketball Soccer Softball/Baseball Rugby Cheerleading Polo Running Roller derby Wrestling	8 5 4 3 1 1 1 1 1
Type of school	High school College Other	13 14 2
Organizational level	High school Junior varsity	13 3
	Varsity Collegiate	8
	Intramural/Club Junior college Division I	6 1 1
	Division II Division II	5

N.B. Subtotals of individual categories may not add up to 25, as some participants may have reported concussions during involvement in multiple sports, at multiple ages, or in multiple organizational levels.

Invisibility of the Injury

Student athletes often reported that because of the lack of visible signs or symptoms, it was easy for the concussion to not be recognized not only in diagnosis, but also in the post-injury recovery setting: "It's because it is such an invisible injury. You know I didn't have a cast. I didn't have a broken leg."

TABLE 3 | Interview response themes and supporting quotations.

Optimism bias

- \circ "It just happened out of nowhere... I never thought that it would happen to me."
- o "My particular accident was a pretty random accident."
- Invisibility of the injury
 - "You know I didn't have a cast. I didn't have a broken leg."
- Desire to play
- $\circ\,$ "I wanted to be out there every single play, regardless of how I felt."
- Diagnostic barriers
- "My coaches knew to ask me repetitively, "Are you okay?" and I just didn't know the correct answer. I just didn't know to say "No." I just felt like I had to say "Yes.""
- "You just got hit in the head, so you are not thinking real clearly. You need other people to watch out for you."

• External support and pressures

- "I almost felt like it was held against me-that I had to miss a week because I had a concussion. It wasn't my fault."
- "The teachers and professors were very helpful...they gave me a good program to get me back in."

Uncertainty of long-term prognosis

- "I don't think we thought much about head injuries or being turned into a vegetable or something from it."
- "It would be useful to make it more clear like we do for smoking, like what is the risk...they give you a very vivid picture of the down side, and I don't feel like you get that at all..."

Generational factors

- "I'm kind of jealous of the medical care that players get now compared to what my era of players got. So, I am really jealous about...what kind of impact that might have had on my life."
- \circ "It was "Rub some dirt on it, get back out there, let's go!""
- $\circ~$ "I felt okay going to the trainer because that's what he's there for."

Protection of future athletes

- "Some of the things that happened to me, I don't want them to happen to other athletes."
- o "I think the more restrictions put on it, the better."

This lack of a visual indicator for injury led many participants to describe circumstances where coaches and peers did not fully comprehend the severity of the concussion. These circumstances led to feelings of isolation. One participant said "My coaches didn't understand, my trainer didn't understand, my teammates certainly didn't understand. They don't know anything about head injuries... I felt like I was on my own."

Desire to Play

Some athletes utilized the invisibility of concussion to allow them to participate in sports while injured, as depicted by this remark: "I didn't really have any limitations because I was silent about [my concussion]."

Participants shared feelings that they were unaware of the seriousness of their injury or simply did not care about the consequences of continuing to play. One commented "I was asked if I was all right, and I just said I was, and did not say anything further."

Other justifications for not reporting concussion symptoms included wanting to keep their starting role and sensing an obligation as a team player, depicted by this response: "There is this internal pressure...because I didn't want to let my team down... I wanted to be out there every single play, regardless of how I felt."

Diagnostic Barriers

As previously mentioned, concussions pose unique barriers for diagnosis. If a head trauma is not witnessed or if no loss of consciousness takes place, recognition and diagnosis of a concussion is reliant only on an athlete's self-reported symptoms. Many athletes often did not recognize their symptoms and continued to play: "I could tell something was wrong because I couldn't remember the play...I didn't know what to do. I had to ask a teammate what I did on each play."

Many symptoms that participants reported (such as headaches, fatigue, or light sensitivity) can be difficult to recognize by coaches or medical staff. Several former student athletes stressed the importance of someone else recognizing their concussion, as described by the following response: "You just got hit in the head, so you are not thinking real clearly. You need other people to watch out for you."

External Support and Pressure

Participants gave a variety of responses in terms of describing external support and pressure in sharing their symptoms after experiencing a concussion. Some described a continued lack of understanding from coaches. One participant stated, "I almost felt like it was held against me-that I had to miss a week because I had a concussion. It wasn't my fault." Even with athletic staff who recognized a concussive injury, one participant shared their internal struggle to balance pressures from coaches: "My coaches knew to ask me repetitively, 'Are you okay?' and I just didn't know the correct answer. I just didn't know to say 'No.' I just felt like I had to say 'Yes'." Also, a sense of comradery among teammates led to athletes playing through injury both in support of their peers, as well as out of fear of judgment from their peers if they were to sit out.

The former student athletes did consistently report that they received many academic accommodations after reporting their concussion, whether it meant missing class, delaying tests, or even receiving one-on-one tutoring. One participant describes their academic experience after suffering a concussion: "The teachers and professors were very helpful... they gave me a good program to get me back in."

Uncertainty of Long-Term Effects

Former athletes shared their concern about the increased media attention for concussions, and the potential for more lasting effects post-concussion. The recent studies on NFL football players have often been highlighted (16), although there may be dangers in overstating some of these claims (17). One person said, "You know we got injured all the time in football, but I don't think we thought much about head injuries or being turned into a vegetable or something from it." Another participant alluded to the greater certainty of risk with other disease processes and behaviors "It would be useful to make it more clear like we do for smoking, like what is the risk…they give you a very vivid picture of the down side, and I don't feel like you get that at all, especially if you are doing it at my level." While many participants were very competitive in high school and collegiate athletics, it is currently unclear what the actual risk of long-term sequelae is for them.

Many interviewees voiced discontent with the knowledge of their coaches and medical staff when they were playing. One participant stated the following: "When they say, 'You got a concussion,' you just shook it off. You just got up and you got going. The medical care was very poor and the knowledge of the long-term was nonexistent."

Generational Factors

Interviewees displayed a dichotomy in responses between those that experienced their concussion greater than 10 years ago, and those that experienced their sports-related concussion within the past 10 years. Twelve of the 25 interviewees sustained a concussion over 10 years ago, with 5 having sustained their concussions more than 20 years ago. Common trends for these older individuals suggested a general lack of education and awareness regarding concussion risks. One interviewee, who sustained a sports-related concussion over 20 years ago stated, "I'm kind of jealous of the medical care that players get now compared to what my era of players got. So, I am really jealous about...what kind of impact that might have had on my life." These injured athletes returned to play almost immediately, with very few mentioning any type of restrictions. One older participant explained, "It was 'Rub some dirt on it, get back out there, let's go'!"

In comparison, players who sustained a concussion within the last decade reported a more positive outlook regarding these same questions. Younger participants mentioned receiving education on concussions prior to injury, as well as feeling more comfortable reporting the injury to athletic staff members. One participant commented, "I felt okay going to the trainer because that's what he's there for." Athletes also described receiving formal evaluations from athletic trainers and/or physicians following the injury, and underwent a more progressive, delayed return to play.

Protection of Future Athletes

The majority of participants across all age groups expressed support for the strategies being implemented to address concussive injuries. Several individuals reflected on their own injuries when discussing the protection of future athletes, such as one interviewee who commented: "Some of the things that happened to me, I don't want them to happen to other athletes, and having the media attention... and the litigations that are happening I think have helped educate many parents, coaches, trainers, everybody that is involved within organized sports, to be more aware and attentive to what needs to be done."

Various participants shared feelings of concern for their own children playing certain sports that they judged to be at high risk for concussion, such as the parent who said, "I will probably never let my kids play football." Other former athletes advocated for more stringent concussion-prevention protocols and rules, with one person stating, "I think the more restrictions put on it, the better."

DISCUSSION

Prior qualitative studies have explored student-athletes' education regarding concussion, past or present personal experiences of concussion, and support of concussed individuals as they return to school. From this work, it becomes very apparent that healthcare providers, coaches, athletic trainers,

teachers, and parents should learn more about concussions, understand that they can occur in all sports, and recognize signs or symptoms of injury (18). The current study is consistent with, but adds to, this prior literature. The themes identified reveal that multiple barriers still exist for athletes to recognize, report, and safely recover from concussions. Overall, participants described several ideas that are amenable to future intervention, leading to better concussion reporting behaviors.

Foremost, educational interventions must be done to help athletes recognize a concussion and its associated symptoms. Even though the participants were responding to a call for individuals that had experienced concussion, there was still confusion on what constituted such an injury. One participant asked "When you say concussion what's the definition? Are you talking about where I black out and had to be woken up? Or are you talking about bell-ringers? What is the definition of a concussion?" This lack of clarity occurs within the context of the diversity of concussion symptoms (including sleepiness, headache, photosensitivity, and short-term memory loss). Often, no two concussions are exactly alike, even when experienced by the same athlete. Until there is a truly objective and accurate assessment method (such as a concrete and measurable biomarker), medical personnel remain dependent on reported symptoms.

Concussion diagnosis remains subjective, and so there must be self-advocacy of the athlete to get the care they require. Beyond being able to recognize appropriate symptoms of concussion, athletic training staff and coaches must remain approachable and supportive for an athlete to report an injury that may have not been witnessed. Ultimately, the burden of reporting currently still falls to the athlete, not only during the acute period, but also for seeking out appropriate medical follow up. Nearly all participants stated that they did not receive additional medical care or education regarding concussion in the days following injury. The participants who did seek medical attention reported receiving a thorough work up, one which included radiological imaging and observational stays in the hospital. Of note, some younger athletes did refer to new protocols in place that included re-evaluation by medical professionals periodically after their initial assessment at the time of injury.

In the area of academics, student-athletes reported concussions to have little impact on their academics once certain accommodations were made. School professionals see other barriers. For instance, school nurses and athletic trainers report that legislative efforts supported their management of return-to-play and return-to-school, but barriers still included lack of educator knowledge and inconsistent care from physicians (19), as well as established social norms for recognition and underreporting of concussions (20). Still, none of the interviewees provided any indication of educational staff opposition to academic workload modifications. Only one athlete reported a significant negative impact on their academic performance even after modifications were made. Currently, there is no legislative enforcement for clearance in returning to classwork.

Overall, there still remains a clear barrier in that many athletes are simply not motivated to report symptoms of concussion.

When educational efforts about concussion safety are directed at the athletes themselves, one study reported an increased desire to avoid collisions, but behaviors for reporting concussions that occur may still be unchanged (21). Indeed, many athletes want to play despite any potential cost to their own health, an attitude which creates ethical conflicts between the needs of the player, the needs of the team, and the goals of the medical community (22). Kuhn has shown that participation in some sports, such as football, is a risk factor for not disclosing injury (23). In certain sports, there can be a cultural trend to "tough it out." Another factor driving this desire to play is the comradery felt among teammates, and continued play may happen to avoid being isolated from this social structure (24). Adolescence is commonly noted for increased peer influence, especially regarding risk-taking behaviors, however, other studies demonstrate peer influence on positive behaviors as well (25, 26). Future interventions would be wise to capitalize on this relationship in order to increase reporting behavior, perhaps by focusing on the safety of the team or peer-group as a whole. Healthcare providers could advocate for this developmental consideration to be made in educational efforts. Perhaps a push for "buddy-system" type efforts could increase reporting compliance. Such a peer-based approach could aid in targeting the motivational struggle in reporting concussions, and over time improve social customs that could lead to safer behaviors.

Regarding limitations of the study, despite efforts to recruit off-campus, many participants had university affiliations and higher educational backgrounds which limited the diversity for these demographics. Furthermore, the respondents were mostly male (21/25), which limits the generalizability of these findings for female athletes that sustain a concussion. Also, all former athletes experienced concussions during team athletics, so these responses may have limited applicability to individual sports. These features of the recruitment method and sample limit generalizability. One advantage of this method was that it allowed both athletes from club and intramural level sports to be included in this study, which often do not have formal coaches and/or training staff present during activities. These subgroups were included in hopes of creating a diverse array of athletic backgrounds, and they emphasize the barriers of recognizing and treating concussion in these various settings.

As the study is within the qualitative field of research, the themes identified are subject to the bias of those analyzing the interview responses. This bias is somewhat unavoidable. Still, the authors minimized potential bias by repeating analyses with each member of the team, each of whom is familiar with Long Table Approach, and then iteratively and collectively agreeing upon themes that were reflective of subject responses.

There are several avenues of future inquiry that are possible based upon these results, and which could influence effective interventions toward increasing reporting behavior. First, continued inquiries into the motivational aspects of reporting behavior remain relevant, and this study should ideally be repeated with a larger study population, as the current group only had 25 individuals. A larger group would be more representative of a collective concussed population, and, therefore, would be helpful in general education and demographic-specific education, alike. More specifically targeted recruitment (i.e., for a particular sport) would likewise enhance educational efforts. Further studies should be conducted involving: evaluations of the risk-taking behavior of those athletes who continue to play while concussed (despite adequate knowledge of the risks); the nature of coach-athlete relationships and their changing influences on reporting behavior; and the influence of team vs. individual sports on reporting behavior. In addition, there is little investigation regarding appropriate timing for a return to academics for student athletes, nor modifications to academic workload. Ultimately, the search for an objective and definitive biomarker of concussion is ongoing and should be continued (27).

Interventions recommended based on these current findings include: (1) continuing student-athlete education on recognizing concussion symptoms in themselves and their peers, (2) encouraging coaching staff and athletic trainers to create a team culture where athletes feel comfortable reporting their injuries and symptoms after injury, (3) stressing to all members of the athletic community, including athletes, family members, coaches, and training staff the value of player safety over player performance, (4) stressing the importance of requesting academic support after a concussion and (5) continuing research both in barriers and facilitators of reporting concussion symptoms as well as objective measures, such as biomarkers.

Many former athletes were aware of the potential for concussions in athletics, yet they felt that such injuries would still not happen to them. Once a concussion did occur, many athletes did not report their injury due to lack of education regarding concussions, an internal drive to play and/or external pressure to play by coaching staff. From the individuals captured, academic needs were met, however, this study included participants from a relatively well-educated background. Participants continued to be plagued by the lack of information regarding long term effects of concussions, and as more information is revealed, many of these former athletes support increased awareness and steps taken to protect future athletes.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of UTHSC Institutional Review Board with written informed consent from all subjects. The study staff explained the study procedures, risks, benefits, and alternatives to participation, and the participants signed an informed consent document in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. This protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB#16-04937-XP).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JT and AS contributed conception and design of the study. EO performed the structured interviews. AO, EO, SS, MP, KG, and AS performed qualitative analysis. AO wrote the first draft of the manuscript. AO, EO, SS, MP, KG, and AS wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the University of Tennessee Health Science Center College of Nursing Dean's Research Fellowship Award (PI:AS).

REFERENCES

- Rivara FP, Schiff MA, Chrisman SP, Chung SK, Ellenbogen RG, Herring SA. The effect of coach education on reporting of concussions among high school athletes after passage of a concussion law. *Am J Sports Med.* (2014) 42:1197–203. doi: 10.1177/0363546514521774
- Robbins CA, Daneshvar DH, Picano JD, Gavett BE, Baugh CM, Riley DO, et al. Self-reported concussion history: impact of providing a definition of concussion. Open Access J Sports Med. (2014) 5:99–103. doi: 10.2147/OAJSM.S58005
- Leitch H, Ayers E, Andrews A. A review of concussion management in the young adult; the importance of baseline testing and caregiver education. J Natl Med Assoc. (2015) 107:60–5. doi: 10.1016/S0027-9684(15)30053-5
- Chinn NR, Porter P. Concussion reporting behaviours of community college student-athletes and limits of transferring concussion knowledge during the stress of competition. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med.* (2016) 2:e000118. doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2016-000118
- Carroll-Alfano M. Mandated high school concussion education and collegiate athletes' understanding of concussion. J Athl Train. (2017) 52:689–97. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-52.3.08
- Greenwald RM, Chu JJ, Beckwith JG, Crisco JJ. A proposed method to reduce underreporting of brain injury in sports. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2012) 22:83–5. doi: 10.1097/JSM.0b013e31824cc5d3
- Anderson BL, Gittelman MA, Mann JK, Cyriac RL, Pomerantz WJ. High school football players' knowledge and attitudes about concussions. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2016) 26:206–9. doi: 10.1097/JSM.000000000 0000214
- Mrazik M, Dennison CR, Brooks BL, Yeates KO, Babul S, Naidu D. A qualitative review of sports concussion education: prime time for evidence-based knowledge translation. Br J Sports Med. (2015) 49:1548–53. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-094848
- McDonald T, Burghart MA, Nazir N. Underreporting of concussions and concussion-like symptoms in female high school athletes. J Trauma Nurs. (2016) 23:241–6. doi: 10.1097/JTN.00000000000227
- Meier TB, Brummel BJ, Singh R, Nerio CJ, Polanski DW, Bellgowan PS. The underreporting of self-reported symptoms following sports-related concussion. J Sci Med Sport. (2015) 18:507–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2014.07.008
- Register-Mihalik JK, Guskiewicz KM, McLeod TC, Linnan LA, Mueller FO, Marshall SW. Knowledge, attitude, and concussion-reporting behaviors among high school athletes: a preliminary study. *J Athl Train.* (2013) 48:645– 53. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-48.3.20
- Borich M, Makan N, Boyd L, Virji-Babul N. Combining whole-brain voxelwise analysis with *in vivo* tractography of diffusion behavior after sportsrelated concussion in adolescents: a preliminary report. *J Neurotrauma*. (2013) 30:1243–9. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2818
- Miller DJ, Duka T, Stimpson CD, Schapiro SJ, Baze WB, McArthur MJ, et al. Prolonged myelination in human neocortical evolution. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2012) 109:16480–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1117943109
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Aubry M, Cantu B, Dvorak J, Echemendia R, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport–the 4th International conference on concussion in sport held in Zurich, November 2012. *Phys Ther Sport*. (2013) 14:e1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.ptsp.2013.03.002
- Schneider KJ, Iverson GL, Emery CA, McCrory P, Herring SA, Meeuwisse WH. The effects of rest and treatment following sport-related concussion:

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Ms. Ryan Blue for her transcription assistance, and Mr. Curtis Roby for his editorial assistance with this manuscript.

a systematic review of the literature. Br J Sports Med. (2013) 47:304-7. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-092190

- Mez J, Daneshvar DH, Kiernan PT, Abdolmohammadi B, Alvarez VE, Huber BR, et al. Clinicopathological evaluation of chronic traumatic encephalopathy in players of American football. *JAMA*. (2017) 318:360–70. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.16687
- Stewart W, Allinson K, Al-Sarraj S, Bachmeier C, Barlow K, Belli A, et al. Primum non nocere: a call for balance when reporting on CTE. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:231–3. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30020-1
- Beverly EA, Fredricks TR, Leubitz A, Oldach BR, Kana D, Grant MD, et al. What can family medicine providers learn about concussion nondisclosure from former collegiate athletes? *BMC Fam Pract.* (2018) 19:128. doi: 10.1186/s12875-018-0818-2
- Howland J, Hackman H, Taylor A, Brown L, Gapinski MA, Mills JK, et al. Evaluation of implementation of massachusetts sports concussion regulations: results of focus groups with school nurses and athletic trainers. *J Sch Nurs.* (2018) 34:344–9. doi: 10.1177/1059840517702697
- Sarmiento K, Donnell Z, Bell E, Hoffman R. From the CDC: a qualitative study of middle and high school professionals' experiences and views on concussion: identifying opportunities to support the return to school process. *J Safety Res.* (2019) 68:223–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jsr.2018.10.010
- Caron JG, Rathwell S, Delaney JS, Johnston KM, Ptito A, Bloom GA. Development, implementation and assessment of a concussion education programme for high school student-athletes. J Sports Sci. (2018) 36:48–55. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2017.1280180
- Devitt BM. Fundamental ethical principles in sports medicine. Clin Sports Med. (2016) 35:195–204. doi: 10.1016/j.csm.2015.10.004
- Kuhn AW, Zuckerman SL, Yengo-Kahn AM, Kerr ZY, Totten DJ, Rubel KE, et al. Factors associated with playing through a sport-related concussion. *Neurosurgery*. (2017) 64(Suppl.1):211–6. doi: 10.1093/neuros/nyx294
- 24. Delaney JS, Lamfookon C, Bloom GA, Al-Kashmiri A, Correa JA. Why university athletes choose not to reveal their concussion symptoms during a practice or game. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2015) 25:113–25. doi: 10.1097/JSM.00000000000112
- Knoll LJ, Magis-Weinberg L, Speekenbrink M, Blakemore SJ. Social influence on risk perception during adolescence. *Psychol Sci.* (2015) 26:583–92. doi: 10.1177/0956797615569578
- Pringle J, Doi L, Jindal-Snape D, Jepson R, McAteer J. Adolescents and health-related behaviour: using a framework to develop interventions to support positive behaviours. *Pilot Feasibility Stud.* (2018) 4:69. doi: 10.1186/s40814-018-0259-7
- 27. Kim HJ, Tsao JW, Stanfill AG. The current state of biomarkers of mild traumatic brain injury. *JCI Insight*. (2018) 3:105. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.97105

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Oddo, O'Conor, Shore, Piraino, Gibney, Tsao and Stanfill. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Preliminary Evidence for a Window of Increased Vulnerability to Sustain a Concussion in Females: A Brief Report

Michael F. La Fountaine^{1,2,3,4*}, Vicci Hill-Lombardi^{1,2,3,5}, Asante N. Hohn¹, Caroline L. Leahy¹ and Anthony J. Testa⁶

¹ Department of Physical Therapy, School of Health and Medical Sciences, Seton Hall University, Nutley, NJ, United States, ² The Institute for Advanced Study of Rehabilitation and Sports Science, Seton Hall University, Nutley, NJ, United States, ³ Department of Medical Sciences, Hackensack Meridian School of Medicine at Seton Hall University, Nutley, NJ, United States, ⁴ Department of Neurology, Hackensack Meridian School of Medicine at Seton Hall University, Nutley, NJ, United States, ⁵ Department of Athletic Training, School of Health and Medical Sciences, Seton Hall University, Nutley, NJ, United States, ⁶ Center for Sports Medicine, Seton Hall University, South Orange, NJ, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Richard J. Servatius, Syracuse VA Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Eric Hall, Elon University, United States Ramona E. Von Leden, University of Texas at Austin, United States

> *Correspondence: Michael F. La Fountaine Iafounmi@shu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 13 March 2019 Accepted: 13 June 2019 Published: 09 July 2019

Citation:

La Fountaine MF, Hill-Lombardi V, Hohn AN, Leahy CL and Testa AJ (2019) Preliminary Evidence for a Window of Increased Vulnerability to Sustain a Concussion in Females: A Brief Report. Front. Neurol. 10:691. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00691

A difference exists between sexes for the incidence of concussion injuries and severity of post-injury outcomes with females having a higher incidence rate (in comparable sports) and experience more robust symptoms than males. The basis for this disparity has remained largely unresolved. Recent findings point to a potential biological mechanism that may be related to the menstrual cycle as an arbiter of post-injury outcomes. What has not been addressed, is whether the phase of menstrual cycle (inferred fluctuations of ovarian hormones) contributes to an increased vulnerability to sustain a concussion injury. This prospective, observational study sought to determine if concussions occurred at different frequencies throughout the phase of the menstrual cycle. Female athletes who sustained a concussion injury were queried three times over the 7-day study (e.g., within 48h of injury, and 4 and 7 days after injury) to recall the number of days that have elapsed since the beginning of their most recent menstruation. Twenty female athletes enrolled after sustaining a concussion; 18 were eumenorrheic and 2 amenorrheic. Among eumenorrheic participants at the time of injury, 2 were in the follicular phase, 4 were in the early luteal phase and 9 were in the late luteal phase. Two athletes were injured on the first and 1 was injured on the second day of menstruation. The greatest number of concussions were sustained during the late luteal phase and during the first 2 days of menstruation. This 9-day window accounted for 2/3rd of the sustained concussions in our study.

Keywords: menstrual cycle, luteal phase, concussion, brain injury-traumatic, womens health

INTRODUCTION

A longstanding discussion in the field of concussion injury and management centers on whether a difference exists between sexes for the incidence of injury and severity of post-injury outcomes (1-6). In short, does the athlete's sex contribute to the risk for sustaining a concussion when participating in similar sports, or exaggerate symptoms and recovery following an injury?

125

From a pure incidence perspective, epidemiological studies report that females (e.g., high school and college-aged athletes) have a higher rate of concussion injuries than males in comparable sports (5, 7). In high school aged girls, the overall concussion rate per 10,000 athlete exposures, defined as one athlete participating in one practice or competition, was 2.64 (95% confidence interval: 2.37, 2.90) compared to 1.69 (1.51, 1.88) in boys competing in similar sports (7). In college-aged athletes, the respective concussion rate per 1,000 athlete exposures was consistently higher in females than males in basketball [e.g., 0.53 (0.43, 0.64) vs. 0.38 (0.29, 0.46)], lacrosse [e.g., 0.45 (0.32, 0.57) vs. 0.30 (0.22, 0.39)], and soccer [e.g., 0.54 (0.43, 0.64) vs. 0.26 (0.17, 0.35)], respectively, (5).

The presentation and range of symptomatic experiences after a concussion are well-documented and include potential impairment to affect (8-11), cognition (12-15), sleep (16-18), vesitbular-occulomotor (19-21), and cardiovascular autonomic function (22, 23). The challenge for clinicians has been a limited ability to predict the type, number, and severity of symptoms that may emerge, and equally important, how long they persist after a concussion. A snapshot of evidence suggests that females are more likely than males to present with reduced performance on visual memory tasks (3), experience more discomfort after injury, and are more likely to seek treatment for post-concussion headaches (24), while other studies have shown no differences in symptom burden between males and females (3, 25-27). But, the question remains as to why an applied mechanical force to the head or body is more likely to cause a concussion or lead to differing post-injury symptoms in females vs. males?

A few recent reports (28, 29) demonstrated that a biological basis for these observations may arise from the menstrual cycle as a potential arbiter for the post-injury symptomatic experience from concussion. In one study (29), women who sustained a mild traumatic brain injury (MTBI) during the luteal phase of their menstrual cycle had a significantly lower quality of life and indicators of health 1 month after discharge than those females who were in the follicular phase of the cycle or were taking hormone contraceptives. In a separate study (28), authors found that males tended to recover from injury more quickly than females and that the initial symptom severity after concussion in male athletes was correlated to the length of recovery. In females, however, the symptom burden after concussion was more closely associated to the use of hormone contraceptives. In other words, females, who were not taking hormone contraceptives at the time of injury experienced more severe symptoms compared to those taking hormone contraceptives. Thus, a differential in effective hormone concentrations at the time of injury partially contributed to the post-injury symptomatic experience in females who were taking hormone contraceptives vs. those who were not. But, what has not been addressed, is whether the inferred changes in circulating hormone concentrations throughout the menstrual cycle, and its respective phases, contribute to a difference in the frequency of concussion injuries that occur in female athletes. The purpose of this study was, therefore, to document the frequency of concussion injuries across the respective phases of the menstrual cycle (e.g., menstruation, follicular phase, early luteal phase, and late luteal phase) in college-age female athletes. Based on the available evidence, we hypothesized that the greatest number of concussions would be sustained during the late luteal phase when hormone concentrations that are speculated to impart neuroprotective effects are anticipated to be on the decline to their monthly nadir.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A prospective, cross-sectional institutional review board (IRB) approved study, which is part of a larger on-going initiative with separate outcome measures, was performed in female collegiate athletes aged 18-22 years old. A player suspected of sustaining a head injury was evaluated using clinically accepted practices of concussion assessment for both immediate on-field and subsequent office-based follow-up evaluations. Prospective participants were alerted to the existence of the research study through IRB approved means including recruitment flyers and word-of-mouth referrals. Upon initial contact between the researchers and the prospective participant, the study aims and expectations of participating were described. If, at that time, there were any questions, they were addressed. If not, a study visit was scheduled and written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to initiating the study procedures. To be eligible for study participation, the concussed athlete must have sustained a concussion within the previous 48 h, demonstrate capacity to provide written informed consent, not be taking medications or substances with direct or indirect actions on the cardiovascular or central nervous systems, and be free of acute illness or trauma that would otherwise preclude their participation. During the intake examination at each of 3 study visits occurring within the first post-injury week after sustaining a concussion (e.g., within 48 h of injury/symptom presentation, 4 and 7 days later), participants were asked to indicate the number of days since the beginning of their most recent menstruation. All participants provided the start date of the most recent menstruation after reviewing a calendar, by immediate recall, or in some cases, an athlete referred to an application on her personal smart phone specific to tracking menstrual function/ patterns. Each athlete provided the identical dates for the start of their most recent menstrual cycle. The participants were also asked to provide their age of menarche, use/nonuse of hormone contraceptives and characterize their recent menstrual cycle history (e.g., prior 3 months) as being regular (eumenorrhea: \sim 1 cycle per month), or irregular (amenorrhea: absence of menstruation; oligomenorrhea: >35 to <90 days between successive cycles). For the purposes of this report, a normal menstrual cycle was defined as 28 days and the phases were standardized: menstruation (0-4 days); follicular phase (5-14 days); early luteal phase (15-21 days); and late luteal phase (22-28 days) (Figure 1). As part of the research intake, participants were asked to recall their past concussion history and were evaluated at each visit by the same rater with the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool (SCAT) version 3 (SCAT 3) (30) to characterize their post-injury affect and symptom presentation. Due to the descriptive nature of this report and small sample sizes, statistical analyses were not performed.



RESULTS

As of this report, 20 female athletes enrolled in our study after sustaining a concussion; 18 were eumenorrheic and 2 were amenorrheic. Of the eumenorrheic females, 12 participants reported that they did not take hormone contraceptives, while 6 reported that they took oral hormone contraceptives (Table 1). All eumenorrheic participants reported having a routine, predictable monthly cycle in the months preceding their enrollment in the study. Two athletes taking hormone contraceptives were found to be amenorrheic; upon further discussion it was revealed that this was a voluntary decision to continuously suppress ovulation. Table 1 provides information about the participants including the phase of menstrual cycle, use/non-use of hormone contraceptives, number of past diagnosed concussions and the SCAT 3 symptom score for each visit. Specific demographic detail and sports played are not included to maintain the confidentiality of the athletes in this small cohort study.

Upon review of the data, it was revealed that 3 participants sustained their injury on the first or second day of menstruation (1 taking hormone contraceptives), 2 participants were in the follicular phase (1 taking hormone contraceptives), 4 participants were in the early luteal phase (2 taking hormone contraceptives), and 9 participants were in the late luteal phase (2 taking hormone contraceptives) at the time of injury. In total, 9 of 18 (50%) eumenorrheic participants sustained their concussion during a 7-day window characterized by the late luteal phase and no other phase exceeded a 22% injury rate. We hypothesized that the occurrence of concussion injuries would be the greatest when hormone concentrations were expected to be on the decline or were at their monthly nadir. In this context and in consideration for the timing of the concussion injuries early in the menstrual phase, it may be argued that when including these 3 injuries to the 9 from the late luteal phase, 66.7% (12/18 eumoenrrheic athletes) of the concussions occurred during a narrow 9-day window. There was a wide range of early symptom severity, but no emerging trends as to whether the symptom burden was attributable to the phase of menstrual in this small cohort. Similarly, all but 6 participants had a past history of at least 1 diagnosed concussion injury. Because the composition of injury occurrence varied during the menstrual phase in our cohort of concussed female athletes, the use of statistics to evaluate the potential role for past concussion history on our outcomes would be inappropriate. However, as presently constituted, the average number of past concussions for each cohort are provided: late luteal phase = 1.2; menstrual phase = 1.3; early luteal phase = 1.8; and, follicular phase = 2.0.

DISCUSSION

This preliminary observation demonstrates that 50% of concussions experienced in our cohort of college-aged female athletes occurred during a 7-day window characterized by the late luteal phase. If including cases where females sustained their concussion on the first or second day of menstruation, 66.7% of concussions happened during a 9-day window. The significance of this window of time, is that the hormones estrogen and progesterone are declining to, or are at their monthly nadir. For those taking oral hormone contraceptives, this window of time corresponds to when the placebo pill is often taken (or skipped), and as such, there is no exogenous support of circulating hormone concentrations.

The role of menstrual cycle phase at the time of MTBI was explored by Wunderle and colleagues who followed 144 females (16-60 years old) for 1 month after emergency department discharge (29). The investigators found that women who sustained a MTBI during the luteal phase of injury (n = 37)had a significantly lower quality of life and indicators of health 1 month after discharge than those females who were in the follicular phase of the cycle (n = 72) or were taking hormone contraceptives (n = 35). To describe their 1-month post-injury observation of more adverse outcomes in women who sustained a MTBI during the luteal phase despite a presumed increase in circulating progesterone concentrations at the time of injury, Wunderle et al. proposed the "withdrawal hypothesis" (29). Specifically, the hypothesis stated that a "...TBI occurring in the setting of high progesterone results in a sudden decrease of progesterone." The basis for the decline in progesterone among their luteal phase injury participants was not specified, nor was a blood concentration obtained to verify it. However, secondary hypopituitarism has been shown to emerge following MTBI across a wide range of clinical presentations (31-37). In their study cohort, nearly twice as many females who met the inclusion criterion sustained the MTBI during the follicular phase than in the luteal phase, and women taking hormone contraceptives were separated into their own group without consideration for the phase of the cycle that they were in (e.g., where they were in the pill pack), if they had a monthly menstruation or were suppressing menstruation altogether. This latter observation challenges our hypothesis for the presence of a narrow window of increased vulnerability to sustain a concussion during the menstrual phase. However, it should be noted that the

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of study participants.

Subject #	Phase of menstrual cycle upon injury	Use of hormone contraceptives	Age of menarche	# of past diagnosed concussions	SCAT 3 symptom score visit 1	SCAT 3 symptom score visit 2	SCAT 3 symptom score visit 3
1	ELP	No	12	1	48	51	34
2	FP	Yes	13	1	5	0	0
3	MP	Yes	13	2	30	26	13
4	LLP	No	10	3	19	17	16
5	LLP	No	11	1	51	12	0
6	LLP	No	14	0	55	29	10
7	MP	No	12	0	20	0	0
8	FP	No	12	3	18	0	0
9	LLP	No	13	2	13	3	7
10	LLP	No	13	0	36	10	8
11	Amenorrhea	Yes	13	1	41	18	3
12	Amenorrhea	Yes	11	0	29	32	11
13	ELP	No	12	1	23	12	6
14	LLP	Yes	15	0	32	16	23
15	ELP	Yes	13	5	6	4	0
16	MP	No	14	2	36	22	5
17	LLP	No	12	2	65	41	24
18	LLP	No	14	0	8	0	0
19	LLP	Yes	12	3	33	25	26
20	ELP	Yes	12	0	24	12	8

ELP, early luteal phases; FP, follicular phase; LLP, late luteal phase; MP, menstrual phase; SCAT, sport concussion assessment tool.

etiology for the MTBI in their participants was not disclosed (e.g., motor vehicle accident, fall, occupational, sports, violence, etc.). And, unlike organized sporting activities where any suspected head trauma is promptly evaluated by a qualified healthcare professional within the university setting, the experience of an injury occurring under free-living conditions in the community may result in individuals not seeking medical attention, or going to a provider/facility other than where the research study was performed. As a result, there are challenges in comparing the inclusive findings to that from the Wunderle study.

In a report by Gallagher et al. entitled, "The Effects of Sex Differences and Hormonal Contraception on Outcomes after Collegiate Sports-Related Concussion," the authors demonstrated that males tended to recover from injury more quickly than females and that the initial symptom severity after concussion in male athletes was correlated to the length of recovery (28). In females, however, the symptom burden after concussion was more closely associated to the use of hormone contraceptives such that females who were not taking hormone contraceptives at the time of injury experienced more severe symptoms compared to those taking hormone contraceptives. The postinjury consequences of concussion injuries on menstrual cycle dysregulation were recently highlighted in an article by Snook et al. (38) entitled "Association of Concussion with abnormal menstrual patterns in adolescent and young women." The authors demonstrated that ~ 1 in 4 females (12–21 years old) with concussion experienced at least 2 abnormal menstrual patterns within the first 120 days after injury, compared to only 5% of participants with non-head sport-related orthopedic injury; this disparity contributed to a significantly elevated odds ratio of 5.85 (95% confidence interval: 1.61–21.22) for the occurrence of menstrual dysfunction after concussion injury. The collection of evidence highlights an interesting inter-related paradigm: hormones that regulate the menstrual cycle and their circulating concentrations at the time of head injury appear to influence the post-injury symptomatic experience; a head injury may influence the post-injury secretory patterns of hormones that regulate the menstrual cycle leading to an increased risk of dysfunction in subsequent months; and, with our findings, concussion injuries appear to occur more frequently during the phase of the menstrual cycle commonly associated with declining or low estrogen and progesterone concentrations.

In addition to having a very specific and potent effect on the uterus, ovarian hormones (e.g., estrogen and progesterone) are demonstrated to exert neuroprotective effects (39-42). Estrogen and progesterone-mediated neuroprotection is thought to be related to their effects on hormone receptors, direct antioxidant effects, effects on astrocytes and microglia, modulation of the inflammatory response to injury, and effects on mediating glutamate excitotoxicity, among others (40-42). Neuroprotection by testosterone has also been explored, and appears to be related to its action on androgen receptors (43-45). However, neuroprotection by testosterone has been suggested to be difficult to directly study because the hormone can aromatize to estrogen through the action of enzymes (46). Because testosterone concentrations in females are generally about 10% or less than

that of males, the focus of hormonally-mediated neuroprotection will focus on estrogens and progesterone. The luteal phase of the ovarian cycle is characterized by two distinct patterns of change in estrogen and progesterone concentrations; in the early phase after ovulation, these hormones ascend to their peak concentration (during the phase), and then steadily decline through the late phase until the initiation of menstruation where they stay low for the first few days (estrogen) or ~10 days (progesterone).

If we appreciate the time-course of progesterone secretion as part of the normal menstrual cycle and our 66.7% incidence rate of concussion during the late luteal phase and early menstruation, it stands within reason to expect that progesterone concentrations would continue to fall or remain low for an \sim 2–3-week window after injury. Under these circumstances, the ability to mobilize and exploit neuroprotection (40-42) or repair via increasing estrogen or progesterone concentrations may be constrained because of the intrinsic secretory patterns that regulate the menstrual cycle or the potential for hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal axis impairment following concussion. For those taking oral hormone contraceptives, the initiation of the next cycle of pills would exogenously support hormone concentrations, and perhaps facilitate changes to ameliorate symptoms. As such, these circumstances and the potential role(s) of ovarian hormones in recovery from injury may have contributed to the protracted symptoms and reductions to quality of life and health described by Wunderle et al. (29). This position may also assist in explaining the past observation of females who were not taking hormone contraceptives at the time of injury experiencing more severe symptoms compared to those taking hormone contraceptives (28).

Caution should be exercised against presuming that increasing concentrations of estrogen and/or progesterone through exogenous supplementation would facilitate healing, or recovery or management of post-injury symptoms, as there is no evidence to suggest that such an intervention would be warranted, unless, of course, the presence of a clinically-significant hormone deficiency has been identified after screening by an endocrinologist. In addition, the synthesis of this collective evidence does not mean that higher ovarian hormones are prophylactic against sustaining a concussion or attenuating the post-injury symptomology because we know that injuries can occur at any time. At this time, one can only conclude that that lower hormone concentrations that may be associated with the late luteal phase or early menstruation appears to create a window of vulnerability where females sustain concussion at a greater rate than other intervals during the menstrual cycle.

There are several limitations from this preliminary analysis of an on-going study. First, we are reporting outcomes from a small cohort of female athletes who participated in varsity athletics and sustained an injury at a single site. Second, we are working under the assumption that each eumenorrheic female had a consistent 28-day cycle. Third, we did not obtain blood samples to support the narrative of the potential role for low hormone concentrations. Finally, we relied on the participant's self-reported accounting for the number of days since their last cycle; to minimize bias, we asked each participant to recall the date at each visit without prompting for the information previously provided. There was only 1 participant who sustained a concussion on a transitional day (e.g., last day of one cycle) for the phase of the cycle; in this case, she sustained the injury 14 days since the first day of her most recent menstruation and is described as being in the follicular phase in our dataset.

In conclusion, there appears to be a 9-day window of increased vulnerability to sustain a concussion during the late luteal phase of the menstrual cycle and the first few days of menstruation. This risk may be associated with declining or low concentrations of estrogen and progesterone that could be speculated to reduce neuroprotection, and perhaps, blunt the recovery time from symptoms. Because of the inferred reduction to neuroprotection as a result of the declining hormone concentrations during these phases of the menstrual cycle, we speculate that females participating in sporting activities during this epoch of time may be more vulnerable to sustain a concussion injury when exposed to a diverse magnitude of applied mechanical forces to the head and/or body compared to other phases where circulating hormone concentrations may be higher and impart greater neuroprotection. Whether or not these hormonal changes contribute to the differences in concussion between sexes previously described for the incidence and severity of outcomes remains to be seen. In order for the field to develop a substantive base of knowledge on this topic, a more comprehensive study is needed and should include comparisons of the frequency of injuries across the phases of menstrual cycle to other forms of traumatic sports injury (e.g., soft-tissue tear and/or rupture, fractures, etc.) and what role, if any, past concussion history, or use/type of hormone contraceptive (e.g., oral, implant, injection, etc.) has on the reported outcomes. To facilitate this narrative, stakeholders responsible for clinical surveillance or those engaging in prospective research should consider incorporating the following measurements to their prospective practices and observations:

- 1. Screen for health/behavior indicators that may negatively impact eumenorrhea,
- 2. Ask females to disclose their use/non-use of hormone contraceptives during the pre-participation physical examination and alert clinical staff to changes in their medication(s),
- 3. Ask females who sustain a concussion to disclose the first day of their last menstruation, and,
- 4. Follow-up with and document menstrual cycle patterns (e.g., time of arrival, length of cycle, changes to flow/discharge of fluids, associated symptoms) for several cycles after a concussion injury.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The data supporting the findings presented in this study are available within the article. Because the primary study is ongoing, data will not be shared at this time.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of name of guidelines, name of committee with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the name of committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ML: conceptualization, funding acquisition, formal analysis, and writing original draft. ML, VH-L, AH, CL, and AT: investigation and writing, review and editing, formal

REFERENCES

- Dvorak J, McCrory P, Kirkendall DT. Head injuries in the female football player: incidence, mechanisms, risk factors and management. *Br J Sports Med.* (2007) 41 (Suppl 1):i44–6. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2007.037960
- Covassin T, Moran R, Elbin RJ. Sex differences in reported concussion injury rates and time loss from participation: an update of the national collegiate athletic association injury surveillance program from 2004-2005 through 2008-2009. J Athl Train. (2016) 51:189–94. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-51.3.05
- Covassin T, Schatz P, Swanik CB. Sex differences in neuropsychological function and post-concussion symptoms of concussed collegiate athletes. *Neurosurgery*. (2007) 61:345–50; discussion 350–1. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000279972.95060.CB
- Covassin T, Swanik CB, Sachs M, Kendrick Z, Schatz P, Zillmer et al. Sex differences in baseline neuropsychological function and concussion symptoms of collegiate athletes. *Br J Sports Med.* (2006) 40:923–7; discussion 927. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2006.029496
- Kerr ZY, Roos KG, Djoko A, Dalton SL, Broglio SP, Marshall SW, et al. Epidemiologic measures for quantifying the incidence of concussion in national collegiate athletic association sports. *J Athl Train*. (2017) 52:167–174. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-51.6.05
- Mollayeva T, El-Khechen-Richandi G, Colantonio A. Sex & gender considerations in concussion research. *Concussion*. (2018) 3:CNC51. doi: 10.2217/cnc-2017-0015
- O'Connor KL, Baker MM, Dalton SL, Dompier TP, Broglio SP, Kerr ZY. Epidemiology of sport-related concussions in high school athletes: national athletic treatment, injury and outcomes network (NATION), 2011-2012 through 2013-2014. J Athl Train. (2017) 52:175–85. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-52.1.15
- Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, Bailes J, McCrea M, Harding HP Jr, Matthews A, et al. Recurrent concussion and risk of depression in retired professional football players. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2007) 39:903–9. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e3180383da5
- 9. Vynorius KC, Paquin AM, Seichepine DR. Lifetime multiple mild traumatic brain injuries are associated with cognitive and mood symptoms in young healthy college students. *Front Neurol.* (2016) 7:188. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00188
- Decq P, Gault N, Blandeau M, Kerdraon T, Berkal M, ElHelou A, et al. Longterm consequences of recurrent sports concussion. *Acta Neurochirurgica*. (2016) 158:289–300. doi: 10.1007/s00701-015-2681-4
- Solomon GS, Kuhn AW, Zuckerman SL. Depression as a modifying factor in sport-related concussion: a critical review of the literature. *Phys Sports Med.* (2016) 44:14–9. doi: 10.1080/00913847.2016.1121091
- Broglio SP, Eckner JT, Paulson HL, Kutcher JS. Cognitive decline and aging: the role of concussive and subconcussive impacts. *Exer Sport Sci Rev.* (2012) 40:138–44. doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e3182524273
- 13. Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, Bailes J, McCrea M, Cantu RC, Randolph C, et al. Association between recurrent concussion and late-life cognitive

approval of final draft. ML and AT: methodology. ML, VH-L, AH, and CL: project administration. ML, VH-L, and AT: supervision.

FUNDING

Data presented in this report was collected in a prospective research investigation supported by the New Jersey Commission for Brain Injury Research Individual Research Grant #CBIR16IRG025. The funding agency had no input on the study design, data analysis, or preparation of the manuscript. Open access publication fees are provided by the budget of the aforementioned grant.

impairment in retired professional football players. *Neurosurgery.* (2005) 57:719–26. doi: 10.1093/neurosurgery/57.4.719

- Broglio SP, Pontifex MB, O'Connor P, Hillman CH. The persistent effects of concussion on neuroelectric indices of attention. J Neurotrauma. (2009) 26:1463–70. doi: 10.1089/neu.2008.0766
- Rabinowitz AR, Levin HS. Cognitive sequelae of traumatic brain injury. Psychiatric Clin N Am. (2014) 37:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2013.11.004
- Sullivan KA, Berndt SL, Edmed SL, Smith SS, Allan AC. Poor sleep predicts subacute postconcussion symptoms following mild traumatic brain injury. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult*. (2016) 23:426–35. doi: 10.1080/23279095.2016.1172229
- Tkachenko N, Singh K, Hasanaj L, Serrano L, Kothare SV. Sleep disorders associated with mild traumatic brain injury using sport concussion assessment tool 3. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2016) 57:46–50 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2015.12.019
- Kostyun R. Sleep disturbances in concussed athletes: a review of the literature. Conn Med. (2015) 79:161–5.
- Ellis MJ, Ritchie L, Cordingley D, Essig M, Mansouri B. Traumatic optic neuropathy: a potentially unrecognized diagnosis after sports-related concussion. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* (2016) 15:27–32. doi: 10.1249/JSR.00000000000223
- Ellis MJ, Cordingley D, Vis S, Reimer K, Leiter J, Russell K. Vestibulo-ocular dysfunction in pediatric sports-related concussion. J Neurosurg Pediatrics. (2015) 16:248–55. doi: 10.3171/2015.1.PEDS14524
- 21. Samadani U, Ritlop R, Reyes M, Nehrbass E, Li M, Lamm E, et al. Eye tracking detects disconjugate eye movements associated with structural traumatic brain injury and concussion. *J Neurotrauma*. (2015) 32:548–56. doi: 10.1089/neu.2014.3687
- Blake TA, McKay CD, Meeuwisse WH, Emery CA. The impact of concussion on cardiac autonomic function: a systematic review. *Brain Inj.* (2016) 30:132– 45. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2015.1093659
- La Fountaine MF, Hohn AN, Testa AJ, Weir JP. Attenuation of spontaneous baroreceptor sensitivity after concussion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2019) 51:792– 797. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001833
- Tanveer S, Zecavati N, Delasobera EB, Oyegbile TO. Gender differences in concussion and postinjury cognitive findings in an older and younger pediatric population. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2017) 70:44–49. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2017.02.001
- Kontos AP, Covassin T, Elbin RJ, Parker T. Depression and neurocognitive performance after concussion among male and female high school and collegiate athletes. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2012) 93:1751–6. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2012.03.032
- Frommer LJ, Gurka KK, Cross KM, Ingersoll CD, Comstock RD, Saliba SA. Sex differences in concussion symptoms of high school athletes. *J Athl Train*. (2011) 46:76–84. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-46.1.76
- McCrea M, Guskiewicz K, Randolph C, Barr WB, Hammeke TA, Marshall SW, et al. Incidence, clinical course, and predictors of prolonged recovery time following sport-related concussion in high school and college athletes. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2013) 19:22–33. doi: 10.1017/S1355617712000872

- Gallagher V, Kramer N, Abbott K, Alexander J, Breiter H, Herrold A, et al. The effects of sex differences and hormonal contraception on outcomes after collegiate sports-related concussion. *J Neurotrauma*. (2018) 35:1242–7. doi: 10.1089/neu.2017.5453
- 29. Wunderle K, Hoeger KM, Wasserman E, Bazarian JJ. Menstrual phase as predictor of outcome after mild traumatic brain injury in women. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* (2014) 29:E1–8. doi: 10.1097/HTR.000000000000006
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse WH, Aubry M, Cantu RC, Dvorak J, Echemendia RJ, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport: the 4th International Conference on Concussion in Sport, Zurich, November 2012. J Athl Train. (2013) 48:554–75. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-48.4.05
- La Fountaine MF, Toda M, Testa A, Bauman WA. Suppression of serum prolactin levels after sports concussion with prompt resolution upon independent clinical assessment to permit return-to-play. *J Neurotrauma*. (2016) 33:904–6. doi: 10.1089/neu.2015.3968
- Foley CM, Wang DH. Central diabetes insipidus following a sportsrelated concussion: a case report. Sports Health. (2012) 4:139–41. doi: 10.1177/1941738111434275
- Ives JC, Alderman M, Stred SE. Hypopituitarism after multiple concussions: a retrospective case study in an adolescent male. J Athl Train. (2007) 42:431–9.
- 34. Tanriverdi F, Unluhizarci K, Kocyigit I, Tuna IS, Karaca Z, Durak AC, et al. Brief communication: pituitary volume and function in competing and retired male boxers. Ann Intern Med. (2008) 148:827–31. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-148-11-200806030-00005
- 35. Kelly DF, Chaloner C, Evans D, Mathews A, Cohan P, Wang C, et al. Prevalence of pituitary hormone dysfunction, metabolic syndrome, and impaired quality of life in retired professional football players: a prospective study. J Neurotrauma. (2014) 31:1161–71. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3212
- Wilkinson CW, Pagulayan KF, Petrie EC, Mayer CL, Colasurdo EA, Shofer JB, et al. High prevalence of chronic pituitary and target-organ hormone abnormalities after blast-related mild traumatic brain injury. *Front Neurol.* (2012) 3:11. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2012.00011
- 37. Undurti A, Colasurdo EA, Sikkema CL, Schultz JS, Peskind ER, Pagulayan KF, et al. Chronic hypopituitarism associated with increased postconcussive symptoms is prevalent after blast-induced mild traumatic brain injury. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:72. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00072
- Snook ML, Henry LC, Sanfilippo JS, Zeleznik AJ, Kontos AP. Association of concussion with abnormal menstrual patterns in adolescent and young women. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2017) 171:879–86. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.1140

- Siddiqui AN, Siddiqui N, Khan RA, Kalam A, Jabir NR, Kamal MA, et al. Neuroprotective role of steroidal sex hormones: an overview. CNS Neurosci Therape. (2016) 22:342–50. doi: 10.1111/cns.12538
- Brotfain E, Gruenbaum SE, Boyko M, Kutz R, Zlotnik A, Klein M. Neuroprotection by estrogen and progesterone in traumatic brain injury and spinal cord injury. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2016) 14:641–53. doi: 10.2174/1570159X14666160309 123554
- Correia SC, Santos RX, Cardoso S, Carvalho C, Santos MS, Oliveira CR, et al. Effects of estrogen in the brain: is it a neuroprotective agent in Alzheimer's disease? *Curr Aging Sci.* (2010) 3:113–26. doi: 10.2174/187460981100 3020113
- Green PS and Simpkins JW. Neuroprotective effects of estrogens: potential mechanisms of action. *Int J Dev Neurosci.* (2000) 18:347–58. doi: 10.1016/S0736-5748(00)00017-4
- Hammond J, Le Q, Goodyer C, Gelfand M, Trifiro M, LeBlanc A. Testosterone-mediated neuroprotection through the androgen receptor in human primary neurons. *J Neurochem.* (2001) 77:1319–26. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00345.x
- 44. Little CM, Coons KD, Sengelaub DR. Neuroprotective effects of testosterone on the morphology and function of somatic motoneurons following the death of neighboring motoneurons. *J Comp Neurol.* (2009) 512:359–72. doi: 10.1002/cne.21885
- Bialek M, Zaremba P, Borowicz KK and Czuczwar SJ. Neuroprotective role of testosterone in the nervous system. *Polish J Pharmacol.* (2004) 56:509–18.
- Spence RD, Voskuhl RR. Neuroprotective effects of estrogens and androgens in CNS inflammation and neurodegeneration. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (2012) 33:105–15. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2011.12.001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 La Fountaine, Hill-Lombardi, Hohn, Leahy and Testa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Moderate Blast Exposure Results in Dysregulated Gene Network Activity Related to Cell Death, Survival, Structure, and Metabolism

Katie A. Edwards^{1,2*}, Vida Motamedi³, Nicole D. Osier^{4,5}, Hyung-Suk Kim¹, Sijung Yun¹, Young-Eun Cho⁶, Chen Lai¹, Kristine C. Dell⁷, Walter Carr⁷, Peter Walker⁸, Stephen Ahlers⁸, Matthew LoPresti⁷, Angela Yarnell⁷, Anna Tschiffley⁸ and Jessica M. Gill^{1,9}

¹ National Institute of Nursing Research, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States, ² The Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the Advancement of Military Medicine, Bethesda, MD, United States, ³ Wake Forest School of Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States, ⁴ School of Nursing, University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States, ⁵ Department of Neurology, University of Texas, Austin, TX, United States, ⁶ College of Nursing, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States, ⁷ Walter Reed Army Institute of Research, Silver Spring, MD, United States, ⁸ Naval Medical Research Center, Silver Spring, MD, United States, ⁹ CNRM Co-Director Biomarkers Core, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Henrik Zetterberg, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Francisco Capani, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina Nicholas Ashton, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

> *Correspondence: Katie A. Edwards katie.edwards@nih.gov

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 24 January 2019 Accepted: 27 January 2020 Published: 26 February 2020

Citation:

Edwards KA, Motamedi V, Osier ND, Kim H-S, Yun S, Cho Y-E, Lai C, Dell KC, Carr W, Walker P, Ahlers S, LoPresti M, Yarnell A, Tschiffley A and Gill JM (2020) A Moderate Blast Exposure Results in Dysregulated Gene Network Activity Related to Cell Death, Survival, Structure, and Metabolism. Front. Neurol. 11:91. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00091

Blast exposure is common in military personnel during training and combat operations, yet biological mechanisms related to cell survival and function that coordinate recovery remain poorly understood. This study explored how moderate blast exposure influences gene expression; specifically, gene-network changes following moderate blast exposure. On day 1 (baseline) of a 10-day military training program, blood samples were drawn, and health and demographic information collected. Helmets equipped with bilateral sensors worn throughout training measured overpressure in pounds per square inch (psi). On day 7, some participants experienced moderate blast exposure (peak pressure >5 psi). On day 10, 3 days post-exposure, blood was collected and compared to baseline with RNA-sequencing to establish gene expression changes. Based on dysregulation data from RNA-sequencing, followed by top gene networks identified with Ingenuity Pathway Analysis, a subset of genes was validated (NanoString). Five gene networks were dysregulated; specifically, two highly significant networks: (1) Cell Death and Survival (score: 42), including 70 genes, with 50 downregulated and (2) Cell Structure, Function, and Metabolism (score: 41), including 69 genes, with 41 downregulated. Genes related to ubiquitination, including neuronal development and repair: UPF1, RNA Helicase and ATPase (UPF1) was upregulated while UPF3 Regulator of Nonsense Transcripts Homolog B (UPF3B) was downregulated. Genes related to inflammation were upregulated, including AKT serine/threonine kinase 1 (AKT1), a gene coordinating cellular recovery following TBIs. Moderate blast exposure induced significant gene expression changes including gene networks involved in (1) cell death and survival and (2) cellular development and function. The present findings may have implications for understanding blast exposure pathology and subsequent recovery efforts.

Keywords: blast, overpressure, gene expression, RNA-sequencing, NanoString

INTRODUCTION

When an individual is in close proximity to a blast, the resulting overpressure (i.e., shock wave) can cause injury to the brain and/or body (1). The increased use of improvised explosives, sophisticated weaponry, and explosive entry techniques has led to increased risk of blast exposure. Specifically, in military personnel who deployed to recent conflicts of Operation Iraqi Freedom (3) and Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF), an estimated 300,000 service members were exposed to at least one blast from adversary attack (2), and blast overpressure from firing weapons is increasing commensurate with increases in weaponry power. High intensity blast exposure events can damage connective tissues, including the central nervous system, resulting in cerebrovascular damage and blood-brain barrier disruption. Significant overpressure can result in tearing of the long axons of neurons (diffuse axonal injury) leading to the associated deficits and comorbidities of a traumatic brain injury (TBI) (4, 5). Although there is evidence suggesting blast-induced TBI (biTBI) has distinct features from blunt-force or penetrating TBI (6), it is difficult to evaluate the consequences of blast in isolation using human subjects because there is often concomitant blunt force or penetrating TBI when objects are propelled and contact the skull (e.g., shrapnel) or the individual is thrown. These challenges contribute to the relatively poor understanding of the pathophysiologic responses to blast and lack of therapies to treat blast-exposed individuals. Moreover, the response and subsequent recovery from blast exposure represent an important line of research, which remains to be further explored and may elucidate the biological mechanisms associated with blast.

Differential gene expression is reported in a small number of clinical TBI studies (7-10), with few studies relevant to blast TBI (11-13). Gene expression regulation is imperative to appropriate cellular response to external mechanical, environmental, or biological stimuli, and the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) complex is a main transcription factor of these adaptive gene expression changes (14). More specifically, the NF-kB complex is a transcription factor central to numerous cellular pathways influencing cell survival and proliferation, including inflammatory and immune responses, gene activation, and ubiquitination (14). Animal models demonstrate that the NF-kB complex regulates the innate immune response through upregulation of proinflammatory cytokines including tumor necrosis factor (TNF) (15), interleukin 1 (IL-1) (16), and interleukin 6 (IL-6) (17). In addition, mutations and epigenetic changes within the NF-KB pathway have been linked to immune and inflammatory diseases (18). Cytokines are among a number of factors that may activate NF-kB. NF-kB becomes activated when ubiquitin degrades its inhibitory protein, IkK, freeing NF-kB to enter the nucleus and activate gene transcription (17, 19). Study of gene expression changes following blast exposure may elucidate some of these complexities surrounding the roles and relationships of ubiquitin and inflammatory cytokines following blast exposure.

Within clinical studies of TBI, changes in the NF-KB network are reported in a limited number of studies (7-10); however, they have not yet been examined in biTBI. Preclinical studies of blast exposures have demonstrated altered gene expression, including cognitive impairment (20, 21) and immune function (22). Recent work in military training that involves personnel exposure to blast has demonstrated that ubiquitin carboxyterminal hydrolase-1 (UCH-L1) is weakly correlated with repeated exposure to low-level blast (12), which is consistent with previous work in TBI (23) and blast exposure (11, 24). In particular, Heinzelmann et al. (11) found protein ubiquitination genes (associated with neuronal recovery, central regulator in IPA) to be downregulated in military personnel with chronic symptoms following blast head injury. UCH-L1 is predominately expressed in the neurons and neuroendocrine cells within the brain (25, 26) and is an enzyme responsible for protein degradation, thus providing a role in ubiquitin stability within neurons and maintaining neuronal health (27). In animal models, a mutation in the UCH-L1 gene causing a truncated protein is associated with neurodegeneration, likely due to the buildup of ubiquitin and subsequent lack of protein clearance (28). Given this limited number of clinical studies, this study sought to further examine differential gene expression pathways in a blastexposed population. The purpose of this study was to examine gene networks involving cell death and survival as well as cell structure, function, and metabolism to investigate the role of these networks specific to biTBI.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

To address the gaps in knowledge surrounding the consequences of exposure to isolated blast, a unique cohort of military personnel engaged in training on advanced techniques for breaching buildings with controlled explosives was utilized. The breaching activities were conducted under close supervision and with personal protective equipment and established safety procedures, eliminating the chance of concomitant bluntforce or penetrating TBI. Moreover, recruiting from a training environment (as opposed to real-world combat) facilitated accurate measurement of isolated blast exposures using helmets equipped with pressure sensors (see "Blast Measurement"). This novel sampling also facilitated a collection of baseline data, including pre-exposure blood draws to support assessment of gene expression changes after blast. During the 2 week training program, some participants (n = 29) experienced a moderate blast exposure with peak pressure exceeding 5 pounds per square inch (psi), which exceeded the training range limit of 4 psi and was more than 200% greater than typical exposures measured in such training [e.g., Carr et al. (12)]. The moderate blast exposure was an isolated event, and blast exposures remained ≤2 psi on all other training days. These 29 cases were studied for gene expression changes related to cell death and survival as well as cell structure, function, and metabolism from training day 1 to 10. Unbiased RNA-sequencing (RNA-seq) was used to detect dysregulated genes (13). Ingenuity pathway analysis (29) of dysregulated genes was used to identify gene networks, two

TABLE 1 Demographic and previous explosive exposure of participants exposed
to moderate blast.

	Moderate blast (N = 29)
Mean age in years (SD)	31.2 (4.4)
Mean Years of Service (SD)	11.2 (4.7)
Number of Prior Explosive Breaches and Artillery	
Fires, % (no.)	
0–9	20.7% (6)
10–39	34.8% (10)
40–99	17.2% (5)
100–199	20.6% (6)
200–399	6.9% (2)

of which were validated in the present study using NanoString's nCounter system.

Participants

All study protocols were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Boards (IRBs) at the Naval Medical Research Center and Walter Reed Army Institute of Research (NMRC#2011.0002; WRAIR#1796) as described in a past publication (12). Prior to study participation, each participant provided informed consent. The parent study from which the present study is drawn was comprised of (N = 108) male activeduty military service members who were engaged in 2 week blast training programs (as either a student or instructor). The goal of the course was to teach advanced techniques for explosive breaching, a tactic used to gain access into secured structures. All participants provided demographic and health history data at baseline, as well as blood samples. For the present study, participants (n = 29) examined were those who experienced a moderate blast exposure (≥5 psi). These 29 individuals, who provided blood samples at the end of training (day 10), were used in the present study to examine gene expression changes from baseline to 3 days post-moderate blast exposure.

Self-reported data were provided by participants at baseline included demographic, health, and blast-history information. Demographic data included age, military rank, and educational status; health information collected included smoking status and history of TBI (**Table 1**). Previous blast exposure data were also obtained through self-reports on how many blast exposures had been experienced during breaching and artillery fires using the following ordinal scale: 0, 1–9, 10–39, 40–99, 100–199, 200–399, and 400+ blast exposures. Details regarding the surveys used to collect data have been previously described (12).

Blast Measurement

Objective blast data were collected using standard Army combat helmets equipped with bilateral sensors capable of measuring blast parameters greater than a threshold of 0.4 psi on either sensor. Helmets were worn throughout training and the average of the right and left sensors was used as data to approximate levels of explosive blast each participant experienced. The sensitivity of the sensors is based on the technological specifications of the device itself (micro Data Acquisition System, μ DAS; Applied Research Associates, Inc., Albuquerque, NM) as well as considerations for signal-to-noise ratios and effects on data interpretation.

Laboratory Methods Blood Sampling

Blood samples were collected at baseline and at the end of 2 week training, which was 3 days after moderate blast. Blood was collected in PAXgene tubes and stored in a -80° C freezer until the time of batch processing.

RNA-Sequencing

Random fragmentation of complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA) followed by 5' and 3' adapter ligation was used to create a cDNA library. Average fragment length was 150–170 bp. RNA integrity was assessed using Aligent Technologies 2100 Bioanalyzer and the mean value was 8.9 with standard error of 0.05. Samples from 29 participants on day 1 and 10 were sequenced for mRNA using the Illumina HiSeq-2500 Next Generation Sequencing system (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA). Using this system, we performed RNA-seq to read paired-ends and read 101 bases per each end. Sequencing data used in the study were deposited in the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) with GEO ID GSE89866.

Ingenuity Pathway Analysis

Dysregulated genes were further explored using IPA software (build version 389077M, content version 27821452, released 2016-06-14, Qiagen, Redwood City, CA). Two pathways of interest were identified (see section Results for details and **Figures 1, 2**).

NanoString

A subset of genes examined in RNA-seq data were selected to validate gene expression changes using a direct digital detection system (NanoString Technologies, Seattle, WA). In selecting genes to validate, the extent of dysregulation, biological plausibility, and the position of the protein within the IPA pathway diagrams were considered. Two pathways were identified: one focused on cell death and survival and another focused on basic structure, function, and development. A panel was designed for each pathway to include 50 markers of interest, plus a total of nine reference genes for data normalization (Tables 2, 3). Reference genes met the following criteria: (1) not dysregulated in the RNA-seq data for the same samples; (2) not clearly implicated in traumatic brain injury, blast exposure, or a similar condition; and (4) no published evidence that this was an unstable reference gene in human blood. Probes for the 50 genes of interest and the reference genes were designed and manufactured by NanoString Technologies. NanoString was used to determine the mean copy number of each mRNA probe of interest based on manufacturer's protocol. The standard manufacturer protocol was followed for sample preparation, hybridization, and detection.



PIGNE 1 Network shows dysregulated cell death and survival pathway following moderate blast. Genes described in the text included: *DPF1*, *DPF3B*, *ARPB1*, *ZBTB7B*, *fit3*, *HIBCH*, *RPL6*, *RPL35*, *MRPL1*, *MRPL36*, and *MRPL50*. Red indicates increased measurement; green represents decreased measurement; with increased color saturation representing more extreme measurement in dataset. Solid lines represent direct interactions, non-targeting interactions, or correlations between chemicals, proteins, or RNA. Dotted lines represent indirect interactions. Purple lines denote the commonly found relationship among the two merged networks. Arrowed lines represent activation, causation, expression, localization, membership, modification, molecular cleavage, phosphorylation, protein-DNA interactions, regulation of binding, transcription. Shapes represent molecule type (double circle, complex/group; square, cytokine; diamond, enzyme; inverted triangle, kinase; circle, other; triangle, phosphatase; oval, transcription regulator; trapezoid, transporter). The network was generated through the use of IPA (QIAGEN Inc., https://www.giagenbioinformatics.com/products/ingenuity-pathway-analysis).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Overview

The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS; version 22; IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY) and NanoString's nSolver Analysis Software (version 3;

NanoString Technologies, Seattle, WA) were used for analyses.

RNA-Seq Analysis

The moderate blast exposed cases (n = 29) met QC criteria based on the RNA Integrity Number (RIN) and were subsequently



NAE1, AKT1, MBIP, COA5, and *EPB41L3.* Red indicates increased measurement; green represents decreased measurement; with increased color saturation representing more extreme measurement in dataset. Solid lines represent direct interactions, non-targeting interactions, or correlations between chemicals, proteins, or RNA. Dotted lines represent indirect interactions. Purple lines denote the commonly found relationship among the two merged networks. Arrowed lines represent activation, causation, expression, localization, membership, modification, molecular cleavage, phosphorylation, protein-DNA interactions, protein-RNA interactions, regulation of binding, transcription. Shapes represent molecule type (double circle, complex/group; square, cytokine; diamond, enzyme; inverted triangle, kinase; circle, other; triangle, phosphatase; oval, transcription regulator; trapezoid, transporter). The network was generated through the use of IPA (QIAGEN Inc., https://www.qiagenbioinformatics.com/products/ingenuity-pathway-analysis).

sequenced. In total, between 52.5 and 75.5 million read counts were completed for each sample; in 94.95% of base calls, an accuracy of at least Q30 was achieved. To establish bioinformatics quality control (QC), FastQC (version 0.11.5,

Babraham Bioinformatics, Cambridgeshire, UK) was used. Data were aligned to a reference genome (hg19) using an open-source aligner, STAR (version 2.5) (30). To count the number of reads mapped to genes, HTSeq software was used (version

TABLE 2 | Genes included in the cell death and survival pathway.

Gene symbol	Gene name	Ref seq accession	HKG	log2 fold change	Adjusted p-valu
RPL9*	Ribosomal Protein L9	NM_000661.4	-	-0.714	0.002
MRPL1*	Mitochondrial Ribosomal Protein L1	NM_020236.3	-	-0.624	0.003
MRPS14*	Mitochondrial Ribosomal Protein S14	NM_022100.1	-	-0.278	0.004
MAGEH1*	MAGE Family Member H1	NM_014061.3	-	-0.295	0.004
BIRC3*	Baculoviral IAP Repeat Containing 3	NM_182962.2	-	-0.507	0.006
ARRB1*	Arrestin Beta 1	NM_004041.3	-	0.279	0.006
TSPYL4*	TSPY Like 4	NM_021648.4	-	-0.247	0.009
TESPA1*	Thymocyte Expressed, Positive Selection Associated 1	NM_001098815.2	-	-0.261	0.010
RPL35*	Ribosomal Protein L35	NM_007209.3	_	-0.431	0.011
MRPL50*	Mitochondrial Ribosomal Protein L50	NM_019051.1	_	-0.461	0.011
MRPL46*	Mitochondrial Ribosomal Protein L46	NM_022163.3	-	-0.261	0.011
ZNF32*	Zinc Finger Protein 32	NM_006973.2	Yes	-0.356	0.013
ZNF106*	Zinc Finger Protein 106		_	0.294	0.015
STAU1*	Staufen Double-Stranded RNA Binding Protein 1	NM_017454.2	_	0.193	0.016
TPM4*	Tropomyosin 4	NM_003290.2	_	0.161	0.016
RPL11*	Ribosomal Protein L11	NM_000975.2	_	-0.423	0.017
NSMCE4A*	NSE4 Homolog A, SMC5-SMC6 Complex Component	NM_017615.2	_	-0.244	0.017
RPL30*	Ribosomal Protein L30	NM_000989.2	_	-0.408	0.017
RPL6*	Ribosomal Protein L6	NM_000970.3		-0.340	0.018
FLT3*	Fms Related Tyrosine Kinase 3	NM_004119.2	_	0.390	0.018
RNF10*			-		
	Ring Finger Protein 10	NM_014868.3	_	0.363	0.020
RPL4*	Ribosomal Protein L4	NM_000968.2	_	-0.290	0.020
ACBD4*	Acyl-CoA Binding Domain Containing 4	NM_024722.2	-	-0.199	0.020
RPL22*	Ribosomal Protein L22	NM_000983.3	-	-0.265	0.021
HMGN3*	High Mobility Group Nucleosomal Binding Domain 3	NM_004242.3	-	-0.201	0.023
RPL15*	Ribosomal Protein L15	NM_001253379.1	-	-0.285	0.023
PGK1	Phosphoglycerate Kinase 1	NM_000291.2	Yes	0.194	0.024
ZBTB7B*	Zinc Finger And BTB Domain Containing 7B	NM_015872.2	-	0.243	0.025
ZC3H15*	Zinc Finger CCCH-Type Containing 15	NM_018471.2	-	-0.335	0.027
TRMT10B	TRNA Methyltransferase 10B	NM_144964.3	-	-0.197	0.027
UPF3B*	UPF3 Regulator Of Nonsense Transcripts Homolog B (Yeast)	NM_080632.2	-	-0.202	0.027
ALAS1	5'-Aminolevulinate Synthase 1	NM_000688.4	Yes	0.243	0.028
RFX2*	Regulatory Factor X2	NM_000635.3	-	0.371	0.029
PSTPIP2*	Proline-Serine-Threonine Phosphatase Interacting Protein 2	NM_024430.3	-	0.327	0.029
MRPL3*	Mitochondrial Ribosomal Protein L3	NM_007208.2	-	-0.330	0.030
ZKSCAN3*	Zinc Finger With KRAB And SCAN Domains 3	NM_001242895.1	-	-0.254	0.031
GUSB	Glucuronidase beta	NM_000181.3	Yes	0.194	0.034
JPF1*	UPF1, RNA Helicase And ATPase	NM_002911.3	-	0.255	0.036
KCNH7*	Potassium Voltage-Gated Channel Subfamily H Member 7	NM_033272.2	-	0.441	0.038
SH3YL1*	SH3 And SYLF Domain Containing 1	NM_001159597.1	-	-0.312	0.038
PARK2*	Parkin RBR E3 Ubiquitin Protein Ligase	NM_004562.2	_	-0.462	0.039
ALOX12B*	Arachidonate 12-Lipoxygenase, 12R Type		-	-0.347	0.040
NAP1L2*	Nucleosome Assembly Protein 1 Like 2	NM_021963.3	_	-0.394	0.041
NAP1L3*	Nucleosome Assembly Protein 1 Like 3	NM_004538.4	_	-0.403	0.043
DIDO1*	Death inducer-obliterator 1	NM_001193369.1	_	-0.093	0.045
ARAP1*	ArfGAP With RhoGAP Domain, Ankyrin Repeat And PH Domain 1	NM_001040118.2	-	0.270	0.045
MRPS28*	Mitochondrial Ribosomal Protein S28	NM_014018.2	_	-0.368	0.046
GRB2*	Growth Factor Receptor Bound Protein 2	NM_002086.4	_	0.214	0.048
HIBCH*	3-Hydroxyisobutyryl-CoA Hydrolase	NM_014362.3	_	-0.137	0.049
10011	S right oxyloobatyryr oor right lab	1.002.0	_	-0.267	0.040

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Gene symbol	Gene name	Ref seq accession	HKG	log2 fold change	Adjusted p-value
BCL2L13*	BCL2 Like 13	NM_001270733.1	_	0.180	0.049
NSMCE3*	NSE3 Homolog, SMC5-SMC6 Complex Component	NM_138704.2	-	-0.139	0.070
ALOXE3*	Arachidonate Lipoxygenase 3	NM_001165960.1	-	-0.228	1.000
ABCF1	ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily F Member 1	NM_001090.2	Yes		
DECR1	2,4-Dienoyl-CoA Reductase 1, Mitochondrial	NM_001359.1	Yes		
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase	NM_002046.3	Yes		
HPRT1	Hypoxanthine Phosphoribosyltransferase 1	NM_000194.1	Yes		
IPO8	Importin 8	NM_006390.2	Yes		
–93 miR	MicroRNA 93	NR_029510.1	Yes		
TBP	TATA-Box Binding Protein	NM_001172085.1	Yes		

*Validated by NanoString; HKG, house-keeping gene.

0.6.1p1) (31). DESeq2 (version 1.12.3) (32) was used to identify differentially expressed genes, with cutoff value of false discovery rate (FDR) of 0.05. This cut off value of the false discovery rate is considered to be a conservative balance in minimizing both false positives (type I errors) and false negatives (type II errors) (33, 34).

NanoString Validation Analysis

RNA sequencing data were validated with 50 genes from each network (100 genes total), plus reference genes, using a custom NanoString codeset. Raw data were analyzed using nSolver 3.0 digital analyzer software using standard settings and quality control parameters. Raw data were normalized against reference genes. Gene expression differences before and after blast exposure were measured using *t*-tests, with the Benjamini-Yekutieli FDR method for multiple comparison corrections to conservatively balance the minimization of type I and type II errors (35). Log₂ fold changes and adjusted *p*-values were calculated for samples before and after blast exposure, with statistical significance defined at the level of p < 0.05, demonstrating congruency with RNA sequencing findings.

RESULTS

Demographic Results

Participants in the study were male military service members with a mean age of 30.42 and a mean length of service of 9.94 years (**Table 1**). Almost half of participants (46.3%) had a history of >40 prior blast exposures. No significant differences based on demographic information were noted among the cohort [described in previous report by Gill et al. (13)].

RNA-Seq Results

Results of the RNA-seq analysis demonstrated significantly dysregulated gene activity changes following moderate blast exposure. These genes were entered into IPA software (29). IPA analysis identified five significantly dysregulated networks before and after moderate blast exposure (**Table 4**). Two sets of two networks shared overlapping functions and were subsequently merged to form two networks of interest in the present study:

(1) Cell Death and Survival and (2) Cell Structure, Function, and Metabolism (**Table 4**). NanoString analysis confirmed 32 significantly differentially expressed genes in the Cell Death and Survival network (p < 0.05) and 35 significantly differentially expressed genes in the Cell Structure, Function, and Metabolism network (p < 0.05), validating differential expression of these two gene networks following blast exposure. Here, we report on the most significant gene network activity changes in the Cell Death and Survival and the Cell Structure, Function, and Metabolism networks (**Figures 1**, **2**).

Cell Death and Survival Network

One merged pathway centered on cell death and survival. Genes identified in this pathway are defined in **Table 2**. This pathway was comprised of genes implicated in apoptosis, necrosis, autophagy, mitophagy, ferroptosis, survival, regeneration, and recovery, with an IPA score of 42 (**Figure 1**). Significantly dysregulated genes include UPF1, RNA helicase and ATPase (*UPF1*), UPF3 regulator of nonsense transcripts homolog B (*UPF3B*), arrestin β 1 (*ARRB1*), zinc finger and BTB domain containing 7B (*ZBTB7B*), fms related tyrosine kinase 3 (*flt3*), 3hydroxyisobutyryl-CoA hydrolase (*HIBCH*), ribosomal proteins (*RPL6*, *-L35*), and mitochondrial ribosomal proteins (*MRPL1*, *-L3*, *-L36*, and *-L50*). Major hubs within this network include growth factor receptor bound protein 2 (*GRB2*) and staufen double-stranded RNA binding protein 1 (*STAU1*).

Cell Structure, Function, and Metabolism Network

The second merged pathway focused on development, metabolism, and cell structure/function. Genes identified in this pathway are defined in **Table 3**. This pathway consisted of genes involved in cytoskeleton, organelles, cellular metabolism, lipid metabolism, heat shock, cell motion, cell growth, and differentiation, with an IPA score of 41 (**Figure 2**). Significant genes within this network include tripartite motif containing 12 (*TRIP12*), NEDD8 activating enzyme E1 subunit 1 (*NAE1*), cytochrome C oxidase assembly factor 5 (*COA5*), and erythrocyte membrane protein band 4.1-like 3 (*EPB41L3*). AKT serine/threonine kinase 1 (*AKT1*), amyloid precursor

TABLE 3 | Genes included in the structure, function, and development pathway.

Gene symbol	Gene name	Ref Seq accession	HKG	log2 fold change	Adjusted p-value
LHFPL2*	Lipoma HMGIC Fusion Partner-Like 2	NM_005779.2	_	0.401	0.001
TMEM261*	Transmembrane Protein 261	NM_001318058.1	-	-0.465	0.003
TRIP12*	Thyroid Hormone Receptor Interactor 12	NM_004238.1	-	0.231	0.003
ZDHHC23	Zinc Finger CCHC-Type Containing 23	NM_173570.3	-	-0.521	0.004
OCIAD2	Ovarian Carcinoma Immunoreactive Antigen-Like Protein 2	NM_152398.2	-	-0.350	0.005
FAAH2	Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase 2	NM_174912.3	-	-0.499	0.006
TPRKB*	TP53RK Binding Protein	NM_016058.2	-	-0.443	0.006
EPB41L3*	Erythrocyte Membrane Protein Band 4.1 Like 3	NM_012307.2	-	0.431	0.006
NAE1*	NEDD8 Activating Enzyme E1 Subunit 1	NM_001018159.1	-	-0.324	0.007
SSH1*	Slingshot Protein Phosphatase 1	NM_018984.3	-	0.269	0.010
RAP1GAP2*	RAP1 GTPase Activating Protein 2	NM_015085.4	-	0.219	0.011
C1QB*	Complement Component 1, Q Subcomponent, B Chain	NM_000491.3	-	0.584	0.011
OARD1*	O-Acyl-ADP-Ribose Deacylase 1	NM_145063.2	-	-0.205	0.012
COPB2*	Coatamer Protein Complex Subunit Beta	NM_004766.2	-	0.193	0.012
TIGD1*	Tigger Transposable Element Derived 1	NM_145702.1	-	-0.531	0.012
CLEC5A*	C-Type Lectin Domain Family 5 Member A	NM_013252.2	_	0.437	0.014
KIAA0513*	KIAA0513 Ortholog	NM_014732.3	_	0.361	0.015
MRPL39*	Mitochondrial Ribosomal Protein L39	_ NM 017446.3	_	-0.304	0.015
DCLRE1B*	DNA Cross-Link Repair 1B	NM_022836.3	_	0.198	0.017
MBIP*	MAP3K12 Binding Inhibitory Protein 1	NM_001144891.1	_	-0.305	0.017
TP53RK*	TP53 Regulating Kinase	NM_033550.3	_	-0.213	0.018
COPA*	Coatamer Protein Complex Subunit Alpha	NM_004371.3	_	0.259	0.019
ACYP1*	Acylphosphatase 1	NM_001107.3	_	-0.329	0.019
ZRANB2*	Zinc Finger RANBP2-Type Containing 2	NM_005455.4	_	-0.404	0.019
MTX2*	Metaxin2	NM_006554.4	_	-0.369	0.020
ABCD4*	ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily D Member 4	NR_003256.2	_	-0.199	0.020
MRPL22*	Mitochondrial Ribosomal Protein L22	NM_014180.3	_	-0.361	0.023
PGK1	Phosphoglycerate Kinase 1	NM_000291.2	Yes	0.194	0.024
SSH2*	Slingshot Protein Phosphatase 2	NM_033389.3	_	0.315	0.024
FAM129A*	Family with sequence similarity 129, member A	NM_052966.2	_	0.403	0.025
C12orf65*	Chromosome 12 open reading frame 65	NM_152269.4	_	-0.204	0.026
ALAS1	5'-Aminolevulinate Synthase 1	NM_000688.4	Yes	0.243	0.028
OXSM*	3-Oxoacyl- Acyl Carrier Protein Synthase, Mitochondrial	NM 017897.2	-	-0.306	0.028
COA5*	Cytochrome C Oxidase Assembly Factor 5	NM_001008215.2	_	-0.188	0.020
ZNF706*	Zinc finger protein 706	NM_001042510.1		-0.109	0.031
RSPH3*	Radial Spoke 3 Homolog	NM_031924.4	_	0.272	0.032
TMEM237*	Transmembrane Protein 237	NM 001044385.1		-0.394	0.032
MTX3*	Metaxin3	NM_001010891.4		-0.370	0.032
PIP4K2A*	Phosphatidylinositol-5-Phosphate 4-Kinase Type 2 Alpha	NM 005028.3		0.181	0.033
APP*	Amyloid Precursor Protein	NM_000484.3	-	0.181	0.033
GUSB	Glucuronidase Beta	NM_000181.3	Yes	0.194	0.034
			Tes		
TPD52*	Tumor Protein D52	NM_005079.2	-	-0.330	0.038
CIART*	Circadian Associated Repressor of Transcription AKT Serine/Threonine Kinase 1	NM_144697.2	-	-0.475	0.038
AKT1* Map7d1*		NM_001014432.1	-	0.170	0.039 0.040
MAP7D1*	MAP7 Domain Containing 1	NM_018067.3	-	0.267	
ANKS6*	Ankyrin Repeat and Sterile Alpha Motif Domain Containing 6	NM_173551.3	-	-0.236	0.041
MSMO1*	Methylsterol Monooxygenase 1	NM_001017369.1	-	-0.238	0.041
LUC7L3*	LUC7 Like 3 Pre-MRNA Splicing Factor	NM_006107.2	-	-0.279	0.042
TCEAL8*	Transcription Elongation Factor A Like 8	NM_153333.2	-	-0.243	0.045
TOMM5*	Translocase Of Outer Mitochondrial Membrane 5	NM_001001790.2	-	-0.354	0.046
ARCN1*	Archain 1	NM_001655.4	-	0.171	0.047

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Gene symbol	Gene name	Ref Seq accession	HKG	log2 fold change	Adjusted <i>p</i> -value
TMEM263	Transmembrane Protein 263	NM_152261.2	_	-0.342	0.049
RAB5A*	RAS-Associated Protein RAB5A	NM_004162.4	-	0.182	0.136
ABCF1	ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily F Member 1	NM_001090.2	Yes		
DECR1	2,4-Dienoyl-CoA Reductase 1	NM_001359.1	Yes		
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase	NM_002046.3	Yes		
HPRT1	Hypoxanthine Phosphoribosyltransferase 1	NM_000194.1	Yes		
IPO8	Importin 8	NM_006390.2	Yes		
miR-93		NR_029510.1	Yes		
TBP	TATA-Box Binding Protein	NM_001172085.1	Yes		

*NanoString validation; HKG, house-keeping gene.

TABLE 4 | IPA Network Scores.

Network	IPA network score		
Metabolic			
Cell death and survival	42		
Post-translational modification	42		
Cancer, cell death and survival	42		
Immunological diseases	37		
Merged networks			
Cell death and survival	42		
Cell structure, function, and metabolism	41		

Network scores are numerical values used to rank fit of molecules to the network. The scores are calculated using an algorithm based on Fisher's Exact Test. Eligible molecules are compared to the Ingenuity Knowledge Base of over 1 million molecules curated from literature findings. Highly interconnected genes imply significant biological function.

protein (*APP*), and MAP3K12 binding inhibitory protein 1 (*MBIP*) are the major hubs in this network.

DISCUSSION

Activity changes in two gene networks were found after moderate blast exposure in military personnel engaged in training. Differentially regulated networks after blast included (1) Cell Death and Survival (**Figure 1**) and (2) Cell Structure, Function, and Development (**Figure 2**). Genes within these two networks relate to ubiquitination, nonsense mediated decay (NMD), apoptosis, as well as activity related to ribosomes, mitochondria, and inflammation. Findings provide novel insights for understanding the biological changes that occur following blast, which for some individuals, may result in biological changes that increase their risk for neurological or behavioral symptoms and deficits. These findings may ultimately contribute to characterizing the cellular mechanisms of blast exposure to improve diagnosis, monitoring, and prognosis of military personnel exposed to blast.

In this study, genes related to ubiquitination were increased in activity following blast exposure, including tripartite motif containing 12 (*TRIP12*), which is an E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase involved in ubiquitin fusion degradation. Protein ubiquitination

initiates the removal of oxidized and misfolded proteins following injury, and its processes can protect neurons from reactive oxidative species (ROS) that accumulate following blast exposure in pre-clinical models (36). Our findings provide further evidence of increased UCH-L1, the primary protein for ubiquitination, following repeated low-level blast (12). This finding suggests that there may also be overlap with the biological mechanisms related to recovery from TBIs in civilians, as UCHL1 increases are one of the most often reported changes following a TBI (37, 38). However, these findings are in contrast to another previous report in which the activity of genes related to ubiquitin were lower in activity in military personnel with TBIs, with many related to blast exposures, and chronic symptoms (11). Therefore, it may be that ubiquitin activity is critical to acute recovery from biTBIs, and that in some individuals, there is a reduction in activity that may place them at higher risk for chronic symptoms. In support of this, pre-clinical studies show that reductions or inactivation of ubiquitin activity results in poor outcomes, including behavioral deficits, possibly indicating longterm neurodegenerative processes (39).

Genes that may relate to neuronal recovery were altered in activity following a moderate blast. Specifically, we report gene activity changes within the NMD pathway, including UPF1 and UPF3B, which are responsible for neuronal specific cell development and repair through a reciprocal pattern of activity (40). Previous studies show an interaction in the activity of these two genes, such that when one gene is less active, the other gene will compensate, preserving the activity of this network; our findings mirror this. Here we report that UPF1 was increased in activity, whereas UPF3B was downregulated. These findings suggest that in response to the blast, injury mechanisms may have been initiated (inflammation, aberrant cellular formation, and cell death), and this initiation may result in an upregulation of UPF1, in an effort to preserve the activity of the NMD pathway. Subsequently, here we report that the expression of UPF3B is suppressed, hindering possible detrimental neurological effects. These findings suggest complex gene-activity changes following blast exposure that may be occurring to promote recovery; additional studies are needed to increase understanding of the temporal relationship of these changes and their relation to neuronal recovery.

A downregulated gene within the structure, function, and development pathway was NAE1 (NEDD8 Activating Enzyme E1 Subunit 1), a protein associated with the neddylation pathway. Vogl et al. showed that neddylation was a critical regulator of dendritic spine development, reporting that in NAE1 knockout mice, there were cognitive deficits as well as synaptic and neurotransmitter impairments (41). The down regulation observed in our military population could suggest similarly that exposure to blast hinders the neddylation pathway, which might suggest a marker of injury resulting directly from blast exposure. Additionally, recent in vitro work suggests Il-1ß may inhibit NEDD8 and neddylation in conjunction with increased ubiquitination; while activation of NEDD8 downregulates the nuclear factor kappa light-chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB) pathway (42). This finding is of interest because we also found that genes within the NF-KB network show activity changes, with most genes becoming more active. The NF-KB network is a dominant activator of the immune system following TBI, and this activity is essential because it initiates secondary injury mechanisms required for neuronal recovery. However, if activity of this pathway is too high, or too long-lasting, it can be detrimental to neuronal recovery (43). One such gene is ARRB1(arrestin β 1), which is increased following blast exposure. This gene has been reported to play a role in the betaadrenergic receptor kinase (BARK) mediated desensitization of beta-adrenergic receptors. In TBI patients, catecholamine surge after injury has been linked to immunosuppression and greater mortality risk that is reversed through β -blocker treatment (44). ZBTB7B (zinc finger and BTB domain containing 7B) is also upregulated after blast and linked to reductions in CD8-cytotoxic activity (45), which could be a mechanism to prevent further cellular damage after blast injury.

In addition to the activation of genes within the NF-KB network, AKT1 is another immune-related gene with increased activity. AKT1 is a hub with 14 connections in the structure, function, and development network. AKT1 encodes for a serinethreonine protein kinase (AKT1), which is known to regulate a vast number of cellular processes including neuronal survival, glucose uptake, protein and fatty acid synthesis, cell proliferation, and the previously mentioned role in apoptosis (46, 47). Additionally, AKT1 may function in the inflammatory response as an upstream activator of NF-kB (48). Interestingly, in this population, significantly elevated levels of the cytokines tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFa) and interleukin 6 (IL-6) have been reported during the acute period following moderate blast (49). This finding is relevant because NF-KB is recognized as a master regulator of cytokines including TNF α and IL-6 (47, 50). The NF-κB pathway has been implicated in the regulation of proinflammatory cytokines during meningitis (51) and in bloodbrain barrier permeability (52). Moreover, the NF-κB pathway has been found to be dysregulated in clinical studies of acute and subacute TBI (7-10). Upregulation of AKT1 in this sample suggests activation of the NF-κB pathway; a finding that supports these prior studies, although the specific role of AKT1 in blast effects on the central nervous system remains to be examined.

Also showing increased activity in this study was the *Flt3* (dimer), which encodes for a receptor tyrosine kinase and is also

related to NF- κ B pathway. *Flt3* is implicated in multiple signaling pathways including regulation of the proliferation and survival of hematopoietic cells, which ultimately relates to the number of intermediate monocytes (53). Because intermediate monocytes promote production of inflammatory cytokines within the NF- κ b network, including TNF- α and Il-1 β (54), these findings suggest the possibility of a pro-inflammatory response through increased production of intermediate monocytes.

Our findings of changes in activity of apoptosis-related genes following blast are of interest because preclinical models show that blast exposure results in astrocytic and microglial activation, oxidative stress, axonal and vascular damage, and inflammation, which ultimately contribute to programmed cell-death (55-58). Specifically, we found activation of caspase complexes, a family of cysteine-dependent proteases, which have been previously associated with neuronal and oligo-dendroglial cell death in both pre-clinical and human brain injuries (59). Otherwise referred to as apoptosis executioners, caspase-3 and -7 are both indirectly activated by MBIP, a major hub of the cell structure, function, and metabolism network. Increased expression in caspase-3 and -7 complexes have also been previously linked to TBIs in pre-clinical models (60, 61) and to mortality in patients with severe TBIs (62). We also report increased activity of other apoptosis genes following blast including EPB41L3, or erythrocyte membrane protein band 4.1-like 3, and EPB41L3, a tumor suppressor gene strongly expressed in the brain that promotes apoptotic pathways and inhibits cellular proliferation (63). These findings suggest that moderate blast results in expression of apoptosis inducing genes, and that mitigating these activities may be protective.

Lastly, several mitochondrial genes and genes connected with the mitochondrial gene network are dysregulated, including *COA5*, *HIBCH*, *RPL6*, *RPL35*, as well as mitochondrial ribosomal genes *MRPL50*, *MRPL1*, *MRPL3*, and *MRPL46*. Although the function of mitochondria is not yet well-understood in blast exposures, it is worth noting that mitochondrial dysfunction has been implicated in preclinical TBI pathology. Previous studies have indicated that following TBI an influx of intracellular calcium leads to disruption of the mitochondrial membrane potential, impairing ATP production and creating ROS, activating cell death pathways and leading to neuronal damage associated with cognitive impairments (64, 65). The biological mechanisms specific to blast effects on the central nervous system in the context of mitochondrial genes are not yet known.

Alterations in these gene expression pathways may have translational implications for blast-related neuropathology if replicated. In this military training population, dysregulation in gene expression pathways related to ubiquitination, NMD, apoptosis, inflammation, and ribosomal and mitochondrial activity were observed, suggesting a role for these pathways following acute blast exposures. Examination of related, downstream proteins may indicate potential diagnostic or prognostic biomarkers. Mapping temporal changes in gene expression, downstream proteins, and symptomology may shed light on the role of these pathways in underlying neuropathological processes and clinical outcomes.

Limitations

Although these initial findings provide novel insights into geneactivity changes following blast, this study has a number of limitations. First, the secondary data analysis in this study precluded the comparison of control personnel who were engaged in blast training, but did not sustain a moderate blast; therefore, gene expression changes related to normal daily training activities or other activities of daily living such as circadian rhythm or diet cannot be determined. In addition, a sub-portion of the moderate blast cohort were experienced trainers with previous blast exposures, and thus were not naïve to blast. However, this sample represents typical training cohorts. Second, blast exposure may affect cell types throughout the body in addition to brain-related pathways. Preclinical models demonstrate that the CNS is affected by blast exposure (66, 67); however, at this time translating this information to clinical populations presents difficulty as accessing the CNS requires intensive, invasive procedures. Third, due to the exploratory nature of this work, clinical symptomology measures were not collected.

These limitations represent important considerations for future work. Additional studies in clinical blast exposure will need to collect samples from unaffected control cohorts, not only a priori matched samples, in order to differentiate possible causative and confounding agents such as blast exposure vs. training effects. We are addressing this design limitation in future studies. Next, considering the limitation in directly studying the CNS in clinical populations, an exciting future direction for this work would be the ability to measure brain-specific peripheral biomarkers, in order to differentiate brain-related pathways from other cellular processes influenced by blast exposures. Finally, the significant gene expression changes found in this study warrant further research into possible symptomology that may be experienced following blast exposure utilizing validated clinical measures and mapping these symptoms to biomarker changes. Notably, this study identified altered gene expression pathways, which may be the focus of more specific biological mechanisms significant to blast exposure in future studies.

CONCLUSION

The initial findings reported here show that there are robust gene activity changes following a moderate blast exposure in a sample of military personnel. Notably, this study's findings are important to distinguish the effects of blast exposure without the co-occurring impact of blunt-force injuries that take place in combat stations. Findings from this study suggest that additional studies are needed to examine gene-activity related to blast exposure, in order to examine the impact of previous blast exposures on biomarker changes, relationships to neurological

REFERENCES

 Jones E, Fear NT, Wessely S. Shell shock and mild traumatic brain injury: a historical review. Am J Psychiatry. (2007) 164:1641–5. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07071180 impacts, and subsequent clinical symptoms. Thus, these findings provide novel insights into gene network dysregulation observed following objectively measured blast exposure that warrant future clinical studies to advance the understanding of neuropathology related to blast exposure.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Sequencing data used in the study were deposited in the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) with GEO ID GSE89866.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Boards at the Naval Medical Research Center and Walter Reed Army Institute of Research (NMRC#2011.0002; WRAIR#1796). All subjects gave written informed consent prior to participation in the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KE, JG, NO, and H-SK contributed to the conception or design of the study. KE, VM, SY, Y-EC, and CL contributed to lab analysis, interpretation of the data, and drafting of the work. KE, SY, Y-EC, CL, KD, WC, PW, SA, ML, AY, AT, and JG contributed to the collection, interpretation of the data, and drafting and editing of the work. All authors contributed to critical revision of the manuscript, read and approved the submitted version, and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institute of Nursing Research Intramural Program, the US Army Medical Research and Materiel Command, and the US Navy Bureau of Medicine (NMRC#2011.0002; WRAIR#1796). While producing this article, KE was supported as a Jonas Nurse Leader Scholar.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the leadership and Soldiers of the military units studied for their service to our nation and their participation in the study. The authors acknowledge the helpful comments provided by Dr. Kathleen Valentine, Dr. Julia Eggert, and Dr. Mary Beth Steck of the Clemson University Healthcare Genetics Program, and by Dr. Sheila Alexander of the University of Pittsburgh School of Nursing. The authors thank Dr. Jim McDonell of Clemson University for his statistical advice.

 Tenielien T, Jaycox L. Invisible Wounds of War: Psychological and Cognitive Injuries, Their Consequences, and Services to Assist Recovery. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Center for Military Health Policy Research (2008). doi: 10.1037/e5276120 10-001

- Meerlo P, Sgoifo A, Suchecki D. Restricted and disrupted sleep: effects on autonomic function, neuroendocrine stress systems and stress responsivity. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2008) 12:197–210. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2007. 07.007
- Yurgil KA, Barkauskas DA, Vasterling JJ, Nievergelt CM, Larson GE, Schork NJ, et al. Association between traumatic brain injury and risk of posttraumatic stress disorder in active-duty Marines. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2014) 71:149–57. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.3080
- Mac Donald CL, Johnson AM, Wierzechowski L, Kassner E, Stewart T, Nelson EC, et al. Outcome trends after US military concussive traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2016) 34:2206–9. doi: 10.1089/neu.2016.4434
- Courtney A, Courtney M. The complexity of biomechanics causing primary blast-induced traumatic brain injury: a review of potential mechanisms. *Front Neurol.* (2015) 6:221. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2015.00221
- Livingston WS, Gill J, Cota M, Olivera A, O'Keefe JL, Martin C, et al. Differential Gene Expression Associated with Meningeal Injury in Acute Mild TBL J Neurotrauma. (2016) 34:853–86. doi: 10.1089/neu.2016.4479
- Cho YE, Latour LL, Kim H, Turtzo LC, Olivera A, Livingston WS, et al. Older age results in differential gene expression after mild traumatic brain injury and is linked to imaging differences at acute follow-up. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2016)8:168. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00168
- Gill J, Merchant-Borna K, Lee H, Livingston WS, Olivera A, Cashion A, et al. Sports-related concussion results in differential expression of nuclear factor-kappaB pathway genes in peripheral blood during the acute and subacute periods. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (2016) 31:269–76. doi: 10.1097/HTR.00000000000191
- Merchant-Borna K, Lee H, Wang D, Bogner V, van Griensven M, Gill J, et al. Genome-wide changes in peripheral gene expression following sports-related concussion. J Neurotrauma. (2016) 33:1576–85. doi: 10.1089/neu.2015.4191
- Heinzelmann M, Reddy SY, French LM, Wang D, Lee H, Barr T, et al. Military personnel with chronic symptoms following blast traumatic brain injury have differential expression of neuronal recovery and epidermal growth factor receptor genes. *Front Neurol.* (2014) 5:198. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00198
- Carr W, Yarnell AM, Ong R, Walilko T, Kamimori GH, da Silva U, et al. Ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase-ll as a serum neurotrauma biomarker for exposure to occupational low-level blast. *Front Neurol.* (2015) 6:49. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2015.00049
- Gill J, Cashion A, Osier N, Arcurio L, Motamedi V, Dell KC, et al. Moderate blast exposure alters gene expression and levels of amyloid precursor protein. *Neurol Genet.* (2017) 3:e186. doi: 10.1212/NXG.000000000000186
- Hayden MS, Ghosh S. Shared principles in NF-kappaB signaling. Cell. (2008) 132:344–62. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.020
- Bohuslav J, Kravchenko VV, Parry GC, Erlich JH, Gerondakis S, Mackman N, Ulevitch RJ. Regulation of an essential innate immune response by the p50 subunit of NF-kappaB. J Clin Invest. (1998) 102:1645–52. doi: 10.1172/JCI3877
- Lawrence T. The nuclear factor NF-kappaB pathway in inflammation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. (2009) 1:a001651. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a001651
- Baeuerle PA, Baltimore D. NF-kappa B: ten years after. *Cell*. (1996) 87:13–20. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81318-5
- Courtois G, Gilmore TD. Mutations in the NF-kappaB signaling pathway: implications for human disease. *Oncogene*. (2006) 25:6831–43. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209939
- Chen ZJ, Bhoj V, Seth RB. Ubiquitin, TAK1 and IKK: is there a connection? Cell Death Differ. (2006) 13:687–92. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401869
- Bailey ZS, Sujith Sajja VS, Hubbard WB, VandeVord PJ. Blast induced neurotrauma leads to changes in the epigenome. *Biomed Sci Instrum.* (2015) 51:423–30.
- 21. Tweedie D, Rachmany L, Rubovitch V, Li Y, Holloway HW, Lehrmann E, et al. Blast traumatic brain injury-induced cognitive deficits are attenuated by preinjury or postinjury treatment with the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist, exendin-4. *Alzheimers Dement.* (2016) 12:34–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2015.07.489
- 22. Struebing FL, King R, Li Y, Chrenek MA, Lyuboslavsky PN, Sidhu CS, et al. Transcriptional changes in the mouse retina following ocular blast injury: a role for the immune system. *J Neurotrauma*. (2017) 35:118–29. doi: 10.1089/neu.2017.5104
- 23. Papa L, Lewis LM, Silvestri S, Falk JL, Giordano P, Brophy GM, et al. Serum levels of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase distinguish mild

traumatic brain injury from trauma controls and are elevated in mild and moderate traumatic brain injury patients with intracranial lesions and neurosurgical intervention. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg.* (2012) 72:1335–44. doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e3182491e3d

- 24. Tate CM, Wang KK, Eonta S, Zhang Y, Carr W, Tortella FC, et al. Serum brain biomarker level, neurocognitive performance, and self-reported symptom changes in soldiers repeatedly exposed to low-level blast: a breacher pilot study. *J Neurotrauma*. (2013) 30:1620–30. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2683
- Doran JF, Jackson P, Kynoch PA, Thompson RJ. Isolation of PGP 9.5, a new human neurone-specific protein detected by high-resolution two-dimensional electrophoresis. J Neurochem. (1983) 40:1542–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1983.tb08124.x
- Leroy E, Boyer R, Polymeropoulos MH. Intron-exon structure of ubiquitin c-terminal hydrolase-L1. DNA Res. (1998) 5:397–400. doi: 10.1093/dnares/5.6.397
- 27. Osaka H, Wang YL, Takada K, Takizawa S, Setsuie R, Li H, et al. Ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 binds to and stabilizes monoubiquitin in neuron. *Hum Mol Genet*. (2003) 12:1945–58. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddg211
- Saigoh K, Wang YL, Suh JG, Yamanishi T, Sakai Y, Kiyosawa H, et al. Intragenic deletion in the gene encoding ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase in gad mice. *Nat Genet.* (1999) 23:47–51. doi: 10.1038/12647
- Morganti JM, Riparip LK, Rosi S. Call off the Dog(ma): M1/M2 polarization is concurrent following traumatic brain injury. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0148001. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148001
- Dobin A, Davis CA, Schlesinger F, Drenkow J, Zaleski C, Jha S, et al. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*. (2013) 29:15–21. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts635
- Anders S, Pyl PT, Huber W. HTSeq-a Python framework to work with high-throughput sequencing data. *Bioinformatics*. (2015) 31:166–9. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu638
- Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol.* (2014) 15:550. doi: 10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8
- 33. Glickman ME, Rao SR, Schultz MR. False discovery rate control is a recommended alternative to Bonferroni-type adjustments in health studies. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2014) 67:850–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2014.03.012
- Li J, Witten DM, Johnstone IM, Tibshirani R. Normalization, testing, and false discovery rate estimation for RNA-sequencing data. *Biostatistics*. (2012) 13:523–38. doi: 10.1093/biostatistics/kxr031
- Benjamini Y, Daniel Y. The control of the false discovery rate in multiple testing under dependency. Ann Stat. (2001) 29:1165–88. doi: 10.1214/aos/1013699998
- 36. Kochanek PM, Dixon CE, Shellington DK, Shin SS, Bayir H, Jackson EK, et al. Screening of biochemical and molecular mechanisms of secondary injury and repair in the brain after experimental blast-induced traumatic brain injury in rats. *J Neurotrauma*. (2013) 30:920–37. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.2862
- Toman E, Harrisson S, Belli T. Biomarkers in traumatic brain injury: a review. J R Army Med Corps. (2016) 162:103–8. doi: 10.1136/jramc-2015-000517
- Diaz-Arrastia R, Wang KK, Papa L, Sorani MD, Yue JK, Puccio AM, et al. Acute biomarkers of traumatic brain injury: relationship between plasma levels of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 and glial fibrillary acidic protein. *J Neurotrauma*. (2014) 31:19–25. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3040
- Svetlov SI, Prima V, Kirk DR, Gutierrez H, Curley KC, Hayes RL, et al. Morphologic and biochemical characterization of brain injury in a model of controlled blast overpressure exposure. *J Trauma*. (2010) 69:795–804. doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e3181bbd885
- Kurosaki T, Maquat LE. Nonsense-mediated mRNA decay in humans at a glance. J Cell Sci. (2016) 129:461–7. doi: 10.1242/jcs.181008
- Vogl AM, Brockmann MM, Giusti SA, Maccarrone G, Vercelli CA, Bauder CA, et al. Neddylation inhibition impairs spine development, destabilizes synapses and deteriorates cognition. *Nat Neurosci.* (2015) 18:239–51. doi: 10.1038/nn.3912
- Yan F, Guan J, Peng Y, Zheng X. MyD88 NEDDylation negatively regulates MyD88-dependent NF-kappaB signaling through antagonizing its ubiquitination. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2017) 482:632–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.11.084
- 43. Jassam YN, Izzy S, Whalen M, McGavern DB, El Khoury J. Neuroimmunology of traumatic brain injury: time for a paradigm
shift. Neuron. (2017) 95:1246-65). doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017. 07.010

- Schroeppel TJ, Fischer PE, Zarzaur BL, Magnotti LJ, Clement LP, Fabian TC, et al. Beta-adrenergic blockade and traumatic brain injury: protective? J Trauma. (2010) 69:776–82. doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e3181e981b8
- 45. Wang L, Wildt KF, Castro E, Xiong Y, Feigenbaum L, Tessarollo L, et al. The zinc finger transcription factor Zbtb7b represses CD8-lineage gene expression in peripheral CD4+ T cells. *Immunity*. (2008) 29:876–87. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.09.019
- Vergadi E, Ieronymaki E, Lyroni K, Vaporidi K, Tsatsanis C. Akt signaling pathway in macrophage activation and M1/M2 polarization. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198:1006–14. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601515
- Oeckinghaus A, Ghosh S. The NF-kappaB family of transcription factors and its regulation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2009) 1:a000034. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a000034
- Lian S, Xia Y, Khoi PN, Ung TT, Yoon HJ, Kim NH, et al. Cadmium induces matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression via ROS-dependent EGFR, NF-small ka, CyrillicB, and AP-1 pathways in human endothelial cells. *Toxicology*. (2015) 338:104–16. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2015.10.008
- Gill J, Motamedi V, Osier N, Dell K, Arcurio L, Carr W, et al. Moderate blast exposure results in increased IL-6 and TNFalpha in peripheral blood. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2017) 65:90–4. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017. 02.015
- Neumann M, Naumann M. Beyond IkappaBs: alternative regulation of NF-kappaB activity. *Faseb J.* (2007) 21:2642–54. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-7 615rev
- Barichello T, Generoso JS, Simoes LR, Elias SG, Quevedo J. Role of oxidative stress in the pathophysiology of pneumococcal meningitis. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2013) 2013:371465. doi: 10.1155/2013/371465
- 52. Merrill JE, Murphy SP. Inflammatory events at the blood brain barrier: regulation of adhesion molecules, cytokines, and chemokines by reactive nitrogen and oxygen species. *Brain Behav Immun.* (1997) 11:245–63. doi: 10.1006/brbi.1997.0496
- 53. Zawada AM, Schneider JS, Michel AI, Rogacev KS, Hummel B, Krezdorn N, et al. DNA methylation profiling reveals differences in the 3 human monocyte subsets and identifies uremia to induce DNA methylation changes during differentiation. *Epigenetics*. (2016) 11:259–72. doi: 10.1080/15592294.2016.1158363
- Wong KL, Chen W, Balakrishnan T, Toh YX, Fink K, Wong SC. Susceptibility and response of human blood monocyte subsets to primary dengue virus infection. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e36435. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0036435
- 55. Saljo A, Mayorga M, Bolouri H, Svensson B, Hamberger A. Mechanisms and pathophysiology of the low-level blast brain injury in animal models. *Neuroimage*. (2011) 54(Suppl 1):S83–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.05.050
- Agoston DV, Elsayed M. Serum-based protein biomarkers in blast-induced traumatic brain injury spectrum disorder. *Front Neurol.* (2012) 3:107. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2012.00107
- Agoston DV, Gyorgy A, Eidelman O, Pollard HB. Proteomic biomarkers for blast neurotrauma: targeting cerebral edema, inflammation, and neuronal death cascades. J Neurotrauma. (2009) 26:901–11. doi: 10.1089/neu. 2008.0724
- Goodrich JA, Kim JH, Situ R, Taylor W, Westmoreland T, Du F, et al. Neuronal and glial changes in the brain resulting from explosive blast in an experimental model. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2016) 4:124. doi: 10.1186/s40478-016-0395-3
- Schoch KM, Madathil SK, Saatman KE. Genetic manipulation of cell death and neuroplasticity pathways in traumatic brain injury. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2012) 9:323–37. doi: 10.1007/s13311-012-0107-z
- Larner SF, McKinsey DM, Hayes RL, Wang WKK. Caspase 7: increased expression and activation after traumatic brain injury in rats. J Neurochem. (2005) 94:97–108. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.0 3172.x

- Clark RS, Kochanek PM, Watkins SC, Chen M, Dixon CE, Seidberg NA, et al. Caspase-3 mediated neuronal death after traumatic brain injury in rats. J Neurochem. (2000) 74:740–53. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.740740.x
- Zhang X, Alber S, Watkins SC, Kochanek PM, Marion DW, Graham SH, Clark RS. Proteolysis consistent with activation of caspase-7 after severe traumatic brain injury in humans. *J Neurotrauma*. (2006) 23:1583–90. doi: 10.1089/neu.2006.23.1583
- Li X, Zhang Y, Zhang H, Liu X, Gong T, Li M, et al. miRNA-223 promotes gastric cancer invasion and metastasis by targeting tumor suppressor EPB41L3. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2011) 9:824–33. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-10-0529
- Walker KR, Tesco G. Molecular mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction following traumatic brain injury. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2013) 5:29. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2013.00029
- 65. Ohta M, Higashi Y, Yawata T, Kitahara M, Nobumoto A, Ishida E, et al. Attenuation of axonal injury and oxidative stress by edaravone protects against cognitive impairments after traumatic brain injury. *Brain Res.* (2013) 1490:184–92. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.09.011
- Li Y, Yang Z, Liu B, Valdez C, Chavko M, Cancio LC. Low-level primary blast induces neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in rats. *Mil Med.* (2019) 184:265–72. doi: 10.1093/milmed/usy330
- Bugay V, Bozdemir E, Vigil FA, Holstein DM, Chun SH, Elliot W, et al. A mouse model of repetitive blast traumatic brain injury reveals post-trauma seizures and increased neuronal excitability. *J Neurotrauma*. (2019) 37:248– 61. doi: 10.1089/neu.2018.6333

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The opinions and assertions in this manuscript are those of the authors and are not to be construed as official as reflecting true views of the Department of Navy, Department of the Army, Department of Defense, the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, U.S. Government, the Center for Neuroscience and Regenerative Medicine or any other agency of the U.S. government. This study was funded by National Institutes of Health, Intramural Department of Research, and the US Army Medical Research and Material Command and the US Navy Bureau of Medicine (NMRC#2011.0002; WRAIR#1796). The study protocol was approved by the Walter Reed Army Institute of Research/Naval Medical Research Center Institutional Review Boards in compliance with AR 70-25 and all applicable Federal regulations governing the protection of human subjects. Some of the authors are military service members or employees of the U.S. Government. This work was prepared as part of their official duties. Title 17 U.S.C. §105 provides that "Copyright protection under this title is not available for any work of the United States Government." Title 17 U.S.C. §101 defines a U.S. Government work as a work prepared by a military service member or employee of the U.S. Government as part of that person's official duties. Material has been reviewed by the Walter Reed Army Institute of Research. There is no objection to its presentation and/or publication.

At least a portion of this work is authored by Katie A. Edwards, Vida Motamedi, Nicole D. Osier, Hyung-Suk Kim, Young-Eun Cho, Chen Lai, Kristine C. Dell, Walter Carr, Peter Walker, Stephen Ahlers, Matthew LoPresti, Angela Yarnell, Anna Tschiffley and Jessica M. Gill on behalf of the U.S. Government and, as regards Katie A. Edwards, Vida Motamedi, Nicole D. Osier, Hyung-Suk Kim, Young-Eun Cho, Chen Lai, Kristine C. Dell, Walter Carr, Peter Walker, Stephen Ahlers, Matthew LoPresti, Angela Yarnell, Anna Tschiffley and Jessica M. Gill and the U.S. Government, is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Foreign and other copyrights may apply. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Delayed Symptom Onset Following Pediatric Sport-Related Concussion

Ashley Olson¹, Michael J. Ellis^{2,3,4,5,6,7}, Erin Selci^{3,6} and Kelly Russell^{3,6,7*}

¹ Max Rady College of Medicine Sciences, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ² Department of Surgery, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ³ Pediatrics and Child Health, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ⁴ Section of Neurosurgery, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ⁵ Pan Am Concussion Program, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ⁶ Childrens Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ⁷ Canada North Concussion Network, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

Objective: (1) To examine the prevalence of delayed symptom onset (DSO) among pediatric sport-related concussion (SRC) patients as well as the effect of symptom onset on initial symptom severity, length of recovery, and development of delayed recovery; (2) to evaluate the impact of symptom onset on sideline management.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jack Tsao, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States

Reviewed by:

Jason Luck, Duke University, United States Christopher Vaughan, Children's National Hospital, United States

> *Correspondence: Kelly Russell krussell@chrim.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 08 May 2019 Accepted: 09 March 2020 Published: 03 April 2020

Citation:

Olson A, Ellis MJ, Selci E and Russell K (2020) Delayed Symptom Onset Following Pediatric Sport-Related Concussion. Front. Neurol. 11:220. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00220 **Methods:** We conducted a prospective study of pediatric SRC patients (<20 years of age) evaluated at a multi-disciplinary concussion program. Patients underwent initial medical assessment by a single neurosurgeon and a structured interview by a research assistant. Patients were classified as experiencing early symptom onset (symptom onset <15 min from the time of the suspected injury; ESO) or DSO (\geq 15 min from the time of the suspected injury).

Results: A total of 144 SRC patients (61.1% male; mean age 14.6 years, SD 1.8) evaluated a median of 5.0 days (IQR 4.0, 9.0) post-injury were included in the study. Among these patients, 120 (83.3%) reported experiencing ESO while 24 (16.7%) experienced DSO following injury. Among those that experienced DSO the median length of time from the suspected injury to symptom onset was 60.0min (IQR 20.0, 720.0). No significant differences were observed in symptom severity at initial medical assessment (median Post-Concussion Symptom Scale score 20.0 vs. 18.0, p = 0.35), length of physician-document clinical recovery (median 22.0 vs. 24.0 days; p = 0.46) or the proportion of those who developed delayed physician-documented clinical recovery (34.4 vs. 42.1%, p = 0.52) among patients with ESO or DSO. Patients who reported experiencing ESO were significantly more likely to be immediately removed from play at the time of their suspected injury compared to those who experienced DSO (71.6% vs. 29.2%; p < 0.0001).

Conclusions: This study suggests that an important proportion of children and adolescents who sustain an acute SRC experience DSO. DSO is associated with lower rates of immediate removal from play at the time of suspected injury. Secondary study findings highlight the need for improved sport stakeholder concussion education and standardized concussion protocols that mandate the immediate and permanent removal of all youth with a suspected concussion until they undergo medical assessment.

Keywords: sports-related concussion, pediatric, symptom onset, delayed symptoms, clinical outcomes

BACKGROUND

Concussion is a condition caused by the transmission of biomechanical forces to the brain leading to temporary impairments in neurological functioning that often resolve spontaneously (1). Advanced laboratory and neuro-imaging studies suggest that concussion is associated with acute alterations in cellular metabolism, white matter tract injury, and disruptions in cerebral blood flow regulation that may confer an increased risk to additional trauma (2). Athletes who sustain an acute concussion and continue to participate in sports are at risk of sustaining additional injuries that may be associated with more severe or prolonged symptoms or in rare cases, fatal or disabling injuries related to second impact syndrome or diffuse cerebral edema (3, 4).

In order to prevent these adverse outcomes, current national, and international guidelines recommend that all youth athletes who sustain a suspected concussion during a sporting activity be immediately removed from play and undergo standardized sideline assessment by a licensed healthcare professional (1, 5–7). Where licensed healthcare professionals are not available, urgent referral to a physician for medical assessment is recommended (1). Despite the development of additional sideline screening tools and standardized concussion protocols, proper recognition, and removal of athletes with suspected concussion continues to remain a challenge, and is highly dependent on the athlete's timely recognition and reporting of their own symptoms. Although previous studies have examined clinical outcomes among athletes who continued to play despite a symptomatic sport-related concussion (SRC) (8, 9), little research attention has been paid to athletes who experience delayed symptom onset (DSO) and may be at risk of additional injury during continued sport participation (10-12). One prospective study among collegiate athletes found that athletes who underwent delayed removal from play were more likely to have reported DSO (13). To date, no prospective studies have examined the prevalence of DSO among children and adolescents with acute SRC and its effect on clinical outcomes and athlete sideline management.

Therefore, the primary objectives of this study were to examine the prevalence of DSO among pediatric SRC patients referred to a multi-disciplinary concussion program and evaluate the effect of self-reported symptom onset on clinical outcomes such as initial symptom severity, length of clinical recovery, and risk of delayed clinical recovery. The secondary objective was to describe patients' symptom onset, sideline assessment and management after their concussion.

METHODS

Study Design and Recruitment

Pediatric SRC patients included in this study were prospectively recruited from the Pan Am Concussion Program in Winnipeg, Manitoba. The Pan Am Concussion Program is a governmentfunded, multi-disciplinary pediatric concussion clinic that receives referrals for acute SRC patients from primary care, sports, and emergency medicine physicians, and through standardized sport-specific concussion protocols (11). Inclusion criteria for the study included: (1) age 19 years or younger; (2) physician diagnosis of concussion; (3) injury occurring during a sport or recreational activity; and, 4) symptomatic at the time of initial assessment. Exclusion criteria included: (1) no definitive injury date; (2) self-reported symptom onset >1week from the date of suspected injury; (3) diagnosed with persistent post-concussion symptoms (symptoms >28 days) at initial visit; and, (4) patients who reported transient non-specific symptoms during sporting activities but who did not meet the clinical criteria for concussion as assessed by the physician. Following initial medical assessment by a neurosurgeon, eligible patients and their parents underwent informed assent and consent, respectively, by a research assistant. Afterwards, consented patients completed a structured 20-min oral interview that included open and closed-ended questions that allowed researchers to collect details regarding the mechanism of injury, symptom onset, whether, and how timely they were removed from play, how truthful they were during sideline assessment, whether they returned to play, and if they sustained additional instances of body or head contact. The research assistant recorded the responses on the structured data collection form. In the event that a sideline assessment was performed, the treating physician and research assistants did not have access to this data. No data was collected from sideline assessments provided by sideline healthcare providers (e.g., athletic therapists). The study was approved by the University of Manitoba Bannatyne Research Ethics Board.

Clinical Assessment and Management

At the time of initial medical assessment at the concussion program, all patients completed a standardized data collection form that included demographic data, past medical history, and the Post-Concussion Symptom Scale (PCSS), a valid and reliable post-concussion symptom inventory (14, 15). All patients subsequently underwent assessment by a single neurosurgeon including a clinical history and physical examination that included evaluation of cranial nerve, motor, sensory, reflex, cerebellar, balance, vestibulo-ocular, and cervical spine functioning. Following medical diagnosis of SRC, patients were seen in follow-up on a weekly basis or as dictated by their rate of recovery and sport schedules. In general, patients met the criteria for physician-documented clinical recovery when they were asymptomatic or back to their pre-injury neurological status at rest, were tolerating full-time school without symptoms, and had a normal physical examination including no evidence of vestibulo-ocular or cervical spine dysfunction (16, 17). Patients were also required to complete the International Consensus on Concussion in Sport graduated Return-to-Play protocol that was specific to their sport where applicable (18). Based on the discretion of the neurosurgeon, some patients underwent graded aerobic treadmill testing and/or neuropsychological testing to confirm clinical recovery. These supplemental tests were considered in patients with more complex medical histories and pre-existing conditions that present with concussion-like symptoms (e.g., migraine, mental health disorders, previous concussions) and those returning to sports with a higher risk of concussion (e.g., hockey, football).

Definitions and Outcome Measures

The diagnosis of SRC was made by the neurosurgeon based on definition set forth by the International Consensus on Concussion in Sport (18). SRC was diagnosed in patients who reported sustaining a traumatic force or blow to the head, neck, face, or body and presented with new concussion-like symptoms identified on clinical interview or the PCSS including symptoms such as headaches, sensitivity to light or sound, dizziness, or difficulty with remembering or concentrating that could not be attributed to a more appropriate medical diagnosis.

At the time of this study, the authors were not aware of any standardized definitions for delayed symptom onset (DSO) following SRC. Therefore, for the purposes of this study we defined DSO as the onset of initial self-reported concussionlike symptoms \geq 15 min from the time of the suspected injury. Patients who experienced the onset of concussion-like symptoms <15 min from the time of the suspected injury were classified as those with early symptom onset (ESO). Fifteen minutes was chosen as a cut-off time point because this is the estimated amount of time it would take for a licensed healthcare professional to remove an athlete with a suspected concussion from play and perform a sideline assessment that does or does not include the use of the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool 5 (SCAT5) or Child SCAT5 (19).

Length of physician-documented clinical recovery was defined as the time from the date of injury to the date of the final follow-up visit in which clinical recovery was documented by the treating neurosurgeon. Because the majority of pediatric concussion patients recover within 1 month, delayed physiciandocument clinical recovery was defined as a patient who achieved physician-documented clinical recovery >28 days postinjury (20).

Data Analysis

Normally distributed data were summarized as means and standard deviations and were compared using an unpaired *t*-test. Skewed continuous data were reported as the median with the interquartile range (IQR) and were compared using the rank sum test. Proportions were calculated for dichotomous or polychotomous data and differences were compared using a chi squared test or Fisher's exact test as appropriate. A p < 0.05 was defined as statistically significant.

A sensitivity analysis was performed to determine if there were any systematic differences in baseline characteristics between those patients who were followed to physician-documented clinical recovery and those who were lost to follow-up. A second sensitivity analysis was conducted to look at time to recovery or lost to follow-up by symptom onset status.

RESULTS

From September 2016 to April 2018, 152 SRC patients were approached to participate in the study; however, eight were excluded due to non-sport related mechanisms of injury (n

= 2), clinically asymptomatic at time of initial assessment (n = 2), no definitive injury date (n = 2), presenting with PPCS (n = 1), and self-report of symptom onset more than 1 week from the time of suspected injury (n = 1). No patient who met study eligibility and was approached declined to participate.

Overall, 144 SRC patients (61.1% male; mean age 14.6 years, SD 1.8) were included in the study. The median time from injury to initial medical assessment at the concussion program was 5.0 days (IQR 4.0, 9.0) and the median PCSS score at initial presentation was 20.0 (IQR 10.3, 32.0). Additional baseline characteristics are summarized in **Table 1**.

Among these patients, 120 (83.3%) reported experiencing ESO while 24 (16.7%) experienced DSO following injury. Among those who experienced DSO the median length of time from the suspected injury to symptom onset was 60.0 min (IQR 20.0, 720.0). Sports-related concussion patients who experienced DSO underwent initial medical assessment at the concussion program a median of 6.5 days (IQR 2.0, 15.5) post-injury while those with ESO were assessed a median of 5.0 days (IQR 2.0, 19.0) post-injury (p = 0.52). No significant differences were observed between those with ESO and DSO when considering baseline characteristics including age, sex, personal and family medical histories, setting of sport, and sport played at the time of concussion. There were no significant differences in median symptom severity at initial medical assessment between those with ESO vs. DSO (20.0 vs. 18.0, p = 0.35).

At the end of the study period, 115 (79.9%) patients achieved physician-documented clinical recovery, 26 (18.1%) were lost to follow-up, and 3 (2.1%) remained in treatment. The median length of physician-documented recovery for the entire cohort was 22.0 days (IQR: 16.0, 34.0). Among those who achieved physician-documented clinical recovery, 41 (35.7%) experienced delayed physician-documented clinical recovery and symptom onset was not associated with the development of delayed physician-documented clinical recovery (ESO: 34.4 vs. DSO: 42.1%, p = 0.52). There was also no significant difference in days until physician-documented recovery among those who experienced ESO or DSO (22.0 vs. 24.0 days; p = 0.46) (**Table 2**).

Overall, 26 participants (18.1%) were lost to follow-up (DSO 5, ESO = 21); however, the proportion of lost to follow-up did not significantly differ between the two groups (p = 0.70). The only significant differences in baseline characteristics was significantly higher proportion of family history of psychiatric disorders among those lost to follow-up (p = 0.049) and significantly longer time between injury and initial consult (p = 0.04). A sensitivity analysis was conducted where the length of time from injury to medical clearance for those who received a physician diagnosed medical clearance was combined with the length of time from injury to the last appointment date for those who were lost to follow-up. Those with DSO were medically cleared or attended their last follow-up appointment at a median of 23.0 days (IQR: 17.0, 32.0) after their injury, and those with ESO were medically cleared or attended their last follow-up appointment at a median of 21.0 days (IQR: 15.0, 32.0) following injury (p = 0.53).

	Total N = 144	DSO N = 24 (16.7%)	ESO N = 120 (83.3%)	<i>P</i> value ^a
Mean age (SD)	14.6 (1.8)	14.2 (2.0)	14.68 (1.7)	0.24*
Male	88 (61.1%)	15 (62.5%)	73 (60.8%)	0.88 [†]
Median days from injury to medical assessment (IQR)	5.0 (2.0, 17.4)	6.5 (2.0, 15.5)	5.0 (2.0, 19.0)	0.52 [‡]
Median PCSS score (IQR) at initial medical assessment	20.0 (10.3, 32.0)	18.0 (8.0, 26.0)	20.0 (11.0, 32.8)	0.35 [‡]
Loss of consciousness	14 (9.7%)	0 (0.0%)	14 (11.7%)	0.13 [§]
Post-traumatic amnesia	34 (23.6%)	3 (12.5%)	31 (25.8%)	0.20^{t}
History of previous concussion	58 (40.3%)	9 (37.5%)	49 (40.8%)	0.76 [†]
History of headache or migraine	10 (6.9%)	1 (4.2%)	9 (7.50%)	1.00 [§]
History of a learning disorder or ADHD	6 (4.2%)	1 (4.2%)	5 (4.2%)	1.00 [§]
History of depression	4 (2.8%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (3.3%)	1.00 [§]
Family history of mental health disorder	34 (23.6%)	4 (16.7%)	30 (25.0%)	0.43 [§]
Concussions occurring during a game ^a	116 (80.6%)	19 (79.2%)	97 (80.8%)	0.85 [†]
Concussions occurring during a contact sport ^b	137 (95.1%)	23 (95.8%)	114 (95.0%)	1.00 [†]
SPORT PLAYED AT TIME OF	CONCUSSION			
Hockey	61 (42.4%)	10 (41.7%)	51 (42.5%)	
Football	24 (16.7%)	4 (8.3%)	20 (16.7%)	
Soccer	18 (12.5%)	4 (8.3%)	14 (11.7%)	
Basketball	11 (7.6%)	0 (0.0%)	11 (9.2%)	
Other ^c	30 (20.8%)	6 (25.0%)	24 (20.0%)	

^aComparison between ESO versus DSO (*Two sample t-test; [†]Chi-square test; [‡]Two sample Mann-Whitney rank sum; [§]Fishers exact test).

^bCompared to concussions that occurred during an organized practice or a supervised gym class.

^cContact sports: basketball, dodgeball, football, hockey, judo, ringette, rugby, soccer, volleyball, waterpolo, and wrestling.

Non-contact sports: dance, gymnastics, snowboarding, and speedskating.

SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range; ADHD, attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder; PCSS, Post-Concussion Symptom Scale; ESO, early symptom onset; DSO, delayed symptom onset.

At the time of suspected injury, 86 (71.6%) of athletes who experienced ESO underwent immediate removal from play, 13 (10.8%) underwent delayed removal and 21 (17.5%) remained in the same game or practice. Among those who experienced DSO, 7 (29.2%) underwent immediate removal, 3 (12.5%) underwent delayed removal and 14 (58.3%) remained in the same game or practice after the time of the suspected injury. Overall, SRC patients who reported experiencing ESO were significantly more likely to be immediately removed from play compared to those who experienced DSO (71.6 vs. 29.2%; p < 0.0001). Additional data regarding sideline assessment and management for this cohort is presented in **Figures 1**, **2**.

DISCUSSION

This study provides important insight into the heterogeneity in symptom onset following pediatric SRC and the relationship between delayed symptom onset and clinical outcomes and athlete sideline management.

In this prospective study of pediatric SRC patients who were evaluated at a multi-disciplinary concussion program a median of 5 days post-injury, 16.7% reported experiencing delayed onset of post-concussion symptoms following injury. Among those who experienced DSO, the median duration of time from the suspected concussive injury to symptom onset was

TABLE 2 | Symptom severity and recovery outcomes in sport-related concussion patients with early and delayed symptom onset.

	Total	DSO	ESO	P value ^a
	<i>N</i> = 115	N = 19 (16.7%)	N = 96 (83.3%)	
Days to physician documented clinical recovery (median, IQR)	22.0 (16.0, 34.0)	24.0 (17.0, 32.0)	22.0 (15.0, 34.0)	0.465*
Experienced delayed physician diagnosed delayed recovery (>28 days)	41 (35.7%)	8 (42.1%)	33 (34.4%)	0.520 [†]

^aComparison between ESO vs. DSO (*Two sample Mann-Whitney rank sum; [†]Chi-square test).

Analysis completed for patients with complete medical follow-up.

IQR, interquartile range; PCSS, Post-Concussion Symptom Scale; ESO, early symptom onset; DSO, delayed symptom onset.





60 min. Despite evaluating a number of baseline demographic and clinical variables, no specific risk factors for DSO were identified. Although patients who experienced DSO underwent initial medical assessment at the concussion program a median of 1.5 days later than those with ESO, no significant differences in initial symptom burden were observed between the two groups. Overall, there were no significant differences in the length of physician-documented recovery or the proportion of patients who experienced delayed physician-documented clinical recovery among those with ESO and DSO.

Although SRC has been historically viewed as a condition that typically results in the rapid onset of short-lived neurological impairment following the transmission of biomechanical forces to the head (1), limited studies have examined the onset of symptoms following this injury and its effect on clinical outcomes. In a study of collegiate athletes, Duhaime et al. (10) found that symptom onset among 44 acute concussions was immediate in 54%, delayed in 25% (no standardized definition) and unknown in 20%. In a previous retrospective study of SRC patients presenting to our multi-disciplinary pediatric concussion program, 28.1% of acute SRC patients reported that the majority of their symptoms started more than 1 h post-injury (11). In addition, Morgan et al. (12) performed a retrospective case-control study of pediatric SRC patients evaluated at a tertiary sport concussion clinic who recovered within 3 weeks postinjury and those that developed persistent symptoms lasting >3months. They found that 2.5% of patients who recovered within 3 weeks and 25% of patients who developed persistent symptoms experienced delayed symptom onset (symptom onset >3 h post-injury), and that delayed symptom onset was associated with a greater odds of developing persistent symptoms lasting >3 months.

In addition to examining the effect of symptom onset on traditional clinical outcomes such as initial symptom burden, length of recovery, and the risk of developing delayed recovery, this study also provides important insight into how symptom onset may complicate the sideline assessment and management of children and adolescents with suspected acute SRC. Current international and national guidelines recommend that youth athletes with a suspected concussion be immediately removed from play and undergo sideline assessment by a licensed healthcare professional (1, 5-7). In instances where a licensed healthcare provider is not available, urgent referral to a physician for medical assessment is recommended (1). Although sideline tools such as the ChildSCAT5 and SCAT5 contain objective measures of cognitive and balance functioning that demonstrate some sensitivity to acute concussion (21), experts warn that these tests may be normal in the setting of acute concussion, leaving sideline healthcare professionals and sport stakeholders to rely heavily on the athlete's recognition and reporting of their concussion-like symptoms to determine the appropriate management of the athlete. Previous studies suggest that athletes who undergo delayed removal from play, following a symptomatic SRC, experience more severe symptoms and take longer to achieve clinical recovery (8, 9). In instances where an athlete has sustained an injury that is sufficient to cause a concussion but results in DSO, there is a similar

risk that the athlete will remain in play or be returned to play in an asymptomatic state which may be associated with increased vulnerability to additional injury and could lead to more severe or prolonged symptoms as well as more severe forms of traumatic brain injury (3, 4). In a recent study of collegiate athletes, Asken et al. (13) found that those athletes who were immediately removed from their sporting activity reported less severe initial concussion symptoms, experienced a shorter duration of symptoms, and were at lower risk of taking >14 and >21 days to recovery from their injury. Among this cohort, 36% reported experiencing DSO (no standardized definition of delayed symptoms was provided). Although a significantly higher proportion of athletes who underwent delayed removal from their sporting activity were found to experience delayed (48.1%) vs. immediate (15.1%) symptom onset, there was no main effect of symptom onset or interaction between symptom onset and removal from sport status on recovery outcomes. In the present study, SRC patients who experienced ESO were significantly more likely to be immediately removed from play compared to those who experienced DSO; however, the impact of removal status on patient outcomes was difficult to assess in this sample given the heterogeneity in sideline assessment and management reported by these athletes. Indeed a significant proportion of athletes included in this study reported experiencing concussion symptoms but were not removed from play while others who did report experiencing concussion symptoms and were evaluated on the sidelines were also returned to play.

The results of this study have important implications for concussion education and public health policy in Canada. These findings suggest that an important proportion of youth athletes who sustain acute concussion experience DSO, which can lead to challenges in early identification and removal of these athletes from sports. This study also suggests that a notable proportion of youth athletes with suspected concussion are being allowed to return to the same sport activity where they are at risk of being exposed to additional and potentially life-threatening brain injuries. To address these knowledge gaps in Canada, Parachute has partnered with the Public Health Agency of Canada and national leaders in sport to develop the Canadian Guideline on Concussion in Sport (7). This guideline recommends that all sport stakeholders including athletes, parents, coaches, teachers, and officials review a standardized Pre-season Concussion Education Sheet that provides information on the signs and symptoms of concussion, indicates that concussion symptoms can develop immediately and in a delayed fashion following injury, and recommends that all youth with a suspected concussion be immediately and permanently removed from play until they undergo medical assessment regardless of the results of sideline assessment. In those athletes who sustain an injury but do not report symptoms or demonstrate signs of concussion, the guideline recommends that the athlete may be returned to play but should be followed for delayed symptom. Since the release of this guideline in 2017, Sport Manitoba and other community leaders have begun work to develop harmonized sport-specific concussion protocols for school divisions and youth sport organizations throughout the province that encourage all sport stakeholders to undergo pre-season education using this national resource (22–24). However, at the time of the present study there were no provincial sport- or school protocols mandating pre-season concussion education for youth sports, which may have contributed to the inconsistent and sub-optimal sideline management that some athletes received during this study period.

This study has several important limitations. First, much of the collected data included in this study was based on patient self-report and therefore is subject to recall bias and can also be impacted by post-traumatic amnesia in some instances. Data on symptom onset and sideline care depended entirely on accurate recognition and reporting by patients as well as collateral history provided by parents. Patient impressions regarding what constituted a sideline assessment or an unstructured encounter with a coach or parent may have differed between study subjects. Given that all patients were in the presence of one of their parents during initial assessment by the physician and structured interview by the research assistant, this may have influenced how patients reported the events of their injury. This is a common limitation of concussion research and without obtaining collateral history from sideline sport stakeholders (i.e., team trainers or coaches) or utilizing technology such as video replay, it is impossible to create an accurate reconstruction of injury events and sideline management among this cohort. Second, 18.1% of participants were lost to follow-up. This limitation is common among those conducted at tertiary concussion clinics; however, a sensitivity analysis revealed that the baseline characteristics among those lost and not lost to follow-up were similar with the exception of those who were lost to follow-up were more likely to have family history of psychiatric disorders. Timing of symptom onset was not associated with being lost to follow-up. Finally, study participants were recruited from a multi-disciplinary pediatric concussion program and therefore may represent a patient population with more severe injuries. It is possible that the proportion of youth with DSO vs. ESO in this study may not be reflective of the general pediatric SRC population; however, these results are likely an accurate reflection of SRC patients evaluated at tertiary concussion clinics.

In conclusion, this prospective study confirms that children and adolescents who suffer an SRC can experience delayed onset of self-reported concussion symptoms following injury. Although SRC patients who experienced DSO were less likely to be immediately removed from play, we observed no significant differences in symptom burden at initial assessment, length of

REFERENCES

- McCrory P, Meeuwisse WH, Dvorak J, Echemendia RJ, Engebretsen L, Feddermann-Demont N, et al. 5th international conference on concussion in sport (Berlin). Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:837. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097878
- Kamins J, Bigler E, Covassin T, Henry L, Kemp S, Leddy JJ, et al. What is the physiological time to recovery after concussion? A systematic review. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:935–40. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-097464

physician-documented clinical recovery, or the development of delayed physician-documented clinical recovery. The sideline care of youth athletes with suspected concussion would benefit from the development of accurate and reliable sideline diagnostic tools that do not rely on athlete symptom reporting and can be administered in sport settings with limited access to sideline healthcare professionals. Until such tests are available, additional work is needed to improve concussion education among all sport stakeholders and reinforce the message that all youth athletes with a suspected concussion during sport or recreational activities should be immediately and permanently removed from play until they undergo medical assessment.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets for this article are not publicly available because the participants did not consent to their data being publically available. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to Shelly Rempel-Rossum at Shelly.rempel-rossum@umanitoba.ca.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Research Ethics Board Guidelines, University of Manitoba Bannatyne Campus Research Ethics Board with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the University of Manitoba Bannatyne Campus Research Ethics Board.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KR and ME conceptualized and designed the study, carried out the data collection and analysis, drafted the initial manuscript, critically reviewed and revised the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript as submitted. AO and ES carried out data collection and analysis, critically reviewed and revised the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript as submitted. All authors agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work ensuring that questions related to the accuracy and integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the University of Manitoba (UM Project #463232).

- Kamins J, Giza CC. Concussion-mild traumatic brain injury: recoverable injury with potential for serious sequelae. *Neurosurg Clin N Am.* (2016) 27:441–52. doi: 10.1016/j.nec.2016.05.005
- Tator CH. Concussions and their consequences: current diagnosis, management and prevention. CMAJ. (2013) 185:975–9. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.120039
- Broglio SP, Cantu RC, Gioia GA, Guskiewicz KM, Kutcher J, Palm M, et al. National athletic trainers' association position statement: management of sport concussion. J Athl Train. (2014) 49:245–65. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-49.1.07

- Harmon KG, Drezner JA, Gammons M, Guskiewicz KM, Halstead M, Herring SA, et al. American medical society for sports medicine position statement: concussion in sport. Br J Sports Med. (2013) 47:15–26. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091941
- Parachute. Canadian Guideline on Concussion in Sport. (2017). Available online at: http://www.parachutecanada.org/injury-topics/item/canadianguideline-on-concussion-in-sport (accessed April 24, 2019).
- Asken BM, McCrea MA, Clugston JR, Snyder AR, Houck ZM, Bauer RM. "Playing Through It": delayed reporting and removal from athletic activity after concussion predicts prolonged recovery. *J Athl Train*. (2016) 51:329–35. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-51.5.02
- Elbin RJ, Sufrinko A, Schatz P, French J, Henry L, Burkhart S, et al. Removal from play after concussion and recovery time. *Pediatrics*. (2016) 138:e20160910. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-0910
- Duhaime AC, Beckwith JG, Maerlender AC, McAllister TW, Crisco JJ, Duma SM, et al. Spectrum of acute clinical characteristics of diagnosed concussions in college athletes wearing instrumented helmets: clinical article. *J Neurosurg*. (2012) 117:1092–9. doi: 10.3171/2012.8.JNS112298
- Ellis MJ, Ritchie LJ, McDonald PJ, Cordingley D, Reimer K, Nijjar S, et al. Multidisciplinary management of pediatric sports-related concussion. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2017) 44:24–34. doi: 10.1017/cjn.2016.312
- Morgan CD, Zuckerman SL, Lee YM, King L, Beaird S, Sills AK, et al. Predictors of postconcussion syndrome after sports-related concussion in young athletes: a matched case-control study. *J Neurosurg Pediatr.* (2015) 15:589–98. doi: 10.3171/2014.10.PEDS14356
- Asken BM, Bauer RM, Guskiewicz KM, McCrea MA, Schmidt JD, Giza CC, et al. Immediate removal from activity after sport-related concussion is associated with shorter clinical recovery and less severe symptoms in collegiate student-athletes. *Am J Sports Med.* (2018) 46:1465–74. doi: 10.1177/0363546518757984
- 14. Kontos AP, Elbin RJ, Schatz P, Covassin T, Henry L, Pardini J, et al. A revised factor structure for the post-concussion symptom scale: baseline and postconcussion factors. *Am J Sports Med.* (2012) 40:2375–84. doi: 10.1177/0363546512455400
- Lovell MR, Iverson GL, Collins MW, Podell K, Johnston KM, Pardini D, et al. Measurement of symptoms following sports-related concussion: reliability and normative data for the post-concussion scale. *Appl Neuropsychol.* (2006) 13:166–74. doi: 10.1207/s15324826an1303_4
- Ellis MJ, Cordingley D, Vis S, Reimer K, Leiter J, Russell K. Vestibulo-ocular dysfunction in pediatric sports-related concussion. *J Neurosurg Pediatr.* (2015) 16:248–55. doi: 10.3171/2015.1.PEDS14524

- Ellis MJ, McDonald PJ, Olson A, Koenig J, Russell K. Cervical spine dysfunction following pediatric sports-related head trauma. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (2019) 34:103–10. doi: 10.1097/HTR.000000000 000411
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse WH, Aubry M, Cantu B, Dvorak J, Echemendia RJ, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport: the 4th international conference on concussion in sport held in Zurich, November (2012). Br J Sports Med. (2013) 47:250–8. doi: 10.1097/JSM.0b013e318 28b67cf
- Echemendia RJ, Meeuwisse W, McCrory P, Davis GA, Putukian M, Leddy J, et al. The sport concussion assessment tool 5th edition (SCAT5): background and rationale. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:848–50. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097506
- Davis GA, Anderson V, Babl FE, Gioia GA, Giza CC, Meehan W, et al. What is the difference in concussion management in children as compared with adults? A systematic review. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:949–57. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-097415
- Echemendia RJ, Broglio SP, Davis GA, Guskiewicz KM, Hayden KA, Leddy JJ, et al. What tests and measures should be added to the SCAT3 and related tests to improve their reliability, sensitivity and/or specificity in sideline concussion diagnosis? A systematic review. *Br J Sports Med.* (2017) 51:895–901. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-097466
- Basketball Manitoba. Available online at: http://www.basketballmanitoba.ca/ p/concussions.html (accessed April 24, 2019).
- 23. Sport Manitoba. Available online at: http://www.sportmanitoba.ca/concussion (accessed April 24, 2019).
- 24. *Winnipeg School Division*. Available online at: http://www.winnipegsd.ca/ concussionprotocol/Pages/Default.aspx (accessed April 24, 2019).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Olson, Ellis, Selci and Russell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Performance on the DANA Brief Cognitive Test Correlates With MACE Cognitive Score and May Be a New Tool to Diagnose Concussion

Jennifer R. Pryweller¹, Brandon C. Baughman^{1,2}, Samuel D. Frasier³, Ellen C. O'Conor¹, Abhi Pandhi¹, Jiajing Wang⁴, Aimee A. Morrison⁵ and Jack W. Tsao^{1,6,7*}

¹ Department of Neurology, College of Medicine, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ² Semmes Murphey Clinic, Memphis, TN, United States, ³ Department of Otolaryngology – Head and Neck Surgery, Naval Medical Center Portsmouth, Portsmouth, VA, United States, ⁴ Division of Biostatistics, Department of Preventative Medicine, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ⁵ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁶ Memphis Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ⁷ Children's Foundation Research Institute, Le Bonheur Children's Hospital, Memphis, TN, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Firas H. Kobeissy, University of Florida, United States

Reviewed by:

Mohammad M. Herzallah, Al-Quds University, Palestine Ralph George Depalma, United States Department of Veterans Affairs, United States Hailong Song, University of Pennsylvania, United States

> *Correspondence: Jack W. Tsao jtsao@uthsc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 16 April 2019 Accepted: 06 July 2020 Published: 02 September 2020

Citation:

Pryweller JR, Baughman BC, Frasier SD, O'Conor EC, Pandhi A, Wang J, Morrison AA and Tsao JW (2020) Performance on the DANA Brief Cognitive Test Correlates With MACE Cognitive Score and May Be a New Tool to Diagnose Concussion. Front. Neurol. 11:839. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00839 Nearly 380,000 U.S. service members between 2000 and 2017 were, and at least 300,000 athletes annually are, diagnosed with concussion. It is imperative to establish a gold-standard diagnostic test to guickly and accurately diagnose concussion. In this non-randomized, prospective study, we examined the reliability and validity of a novel neurocognitive assessment tool, the Defense Automated Neurobehavioral Assessment (DANA), designed to be a more sensitive, yet efficient, measure of concussion symptomatology. In this study, the DANA Brief version was compared to an established measure of concussion screening, the Military Acute Concussion Evaluation (MACE), in a group of non-concussed service members. DANA Brief subtests demonstrated low to moderate reliability, as measured by intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC; values range: 0.28–0.58), which is comparable to other computerized neurocognitive tests that are widely-implemented to diagnose concussion. Statistically significant associations were found between learning and memory components of the DANA Brief and the diagnostic MACE cognitive test score (DANA Brief subtests: CDD: $R^2 = 0.05$, p = 0.023; CDS: R^2 = 0.10, p = 0.010). However, a more robust relationship was found between DANA Brief components involving attention and working memory, including immediate memory, and the MACE cognitive test score (DANA Brief subtests: GNG: $R^2 = 0.08$, p = 0.003; PRO: $R^2 = 0.08$, p = 0.002). These results provide evidence that the DANA Rapid version, a 5-min assessment self-administered on a hand-held portable device, based on the DANA Brief version, may serve as a clinically useful and improved neurocognitive concussion screen to minimize the time between injury and diagnosis in settings where professional medical evaluation may be unavailable or delayed. The DANA's portability, durability, shorter test time and lack of need for a medical professional to diagnose concussion overcome these critical limitations of the MACE.

Keywords: mTBI, concussion, DANA, MACE, military, neurocognitive assessment

INTRODUCTION

According to the Defense and Veterans Brain Injury Center, US service members (a person serving in the armed forces) sustained nearly 380,000 cases of traumatic brain injury (TBI) between 2000 and 2017. Of these, 82.3% were classified as mild (1). According to the Department of Defense guidelines, mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI), also called concussion, is diagnosed when an injury event has occurred and the individual experiences one or more of the following: (1) an alteration of consciousness lasting <24 h, (2) loss of consciousness (LOC) from 0 to 30 min, or (3) post traumatic amnesia from 0 to 1 days (2).

Concussion is also common among athletes. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), at least 300,000 athletes are diagnosed with concussions per year (3). Sport-related concussions are defined as a mTBI induced by biomechanical forces and, because of their potential to have rapidly changing and sometimes unpredictable clinical symptoms, are often difficult to diagnose (4, 5). Exposure to these biomechanical forces triggers a complex neurometabolic cascade, described by Giza and Hovda as a series of microcellular events, including ionic shifts, abnormal energy metabolism, diminished cerebral blood flow, and impaired neurotransmission (6). Because of the underlying pathophysiology of mTBI, conventional imaging (i.e., CT, MRI) is not considered diagnostic and frequently does not provide useful clinical information. Additionally, reliance on athlete/patient self-report is itself problematic. Delaney et al. report that 63-70% of contact sport athletes reported symptoms; however, only 20-23% realized that these symptoms constituted concussion (7). In some cases, concussion symptoms are known but not reported for various reasons. McCrea et al. reported on confidential surveys of 1,500 high school football players, 40% of which acknowledged the presence of concussive symptoms but deliberately failed to disclose the information out of fear of being removed from play (8).

A concussion can result in a variety of acute symptoms, including, but not limited to, nausea, headache, dizziness, fatigue, balance problems, sensitivity to light, and memory and concentration deficits (9, 10). Typically, symptom recovery occurs within 7-10 days post-injury (11, 12). Recovery of cognitive function, however, can take anywhere from 1 to 3 months (13, 14). It is, therefore, possible that individuals may present as clinically recovered (asymptomatic), but still have lingering cognitive deficits. In the absence of a gold-standard biomarker for concussion, clinicians often utilize neurocognitive testing methods to diagnose and determine recovery status (4). The utility of objective neurocognitive testing is wellestablished, with several studies showing measurable decrements in performance during the initial hours to weeks post-injury (15-17). Additionally, resolution of measured cognitive impairment via objective assessment tends to be on the magnitude of 2-14 days, which is similar to symptom recovery (11).

The United States Department of Defense currently uses the Military Acute Concussion Evaluation (MACE) as its

designated method for evaluating suspected concussion (18-20). The MACE is composed of three parts: history of the injury, cognitive examination, and neurological screening. The cognitive component of the MACE includes questions that are heavily weighted toward memory functions. The aggregate of these subtests generates the MACE cognitive test score, which can help to determine cognitive impairment. There are normed cut-off values for the MACE which, when abnormal, are helpful in clinical evaluation. Normal values, however, cannot rule out the presence of concussion, which remains a clinical diagnosis based upon the history of events surrounding the injury. Also, if the MACE is administered more than 12 h after a concussive event, the cognitive examination section has been shown to lack sensitivity and specificity, thereby limiting its utility for early and accurate identification of concussion (20, 21). Additionally, the MACE must be administered by a trained professional, decreasing its functionality as a quick and easy method to diagnose concussion and track its recovery.

Unlike the MACE, the Defense Automated Neurobehavioral Assessment (DANA) is a durable and portable neurocognitive assessment tool that can be self-administered on a handheld device, making it well-suited for military operations and/or extreme environments as well as the sideline of a sports field. The DANA has three test battery versions: the DANA Rapid (5 min), DANA Brief (15 min), and DANA Standard (45 min). Each test varies in subtest composition and duration. The DANA Rapid focuses on basic reaction time measures (one of the more sensitive measures of impairment after concussion) and is the shortest of the three batteries (5 min). The DANA Brief builds on the Rapid and consists of a 15-min battery of tests plus additional psychological screening tools for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, and insomnia. The DANA Standard is the most comprehensive of the versions, containing the DANA Standard subtests as well as additional neurocognitive and psychological tests, and takes approximately 45 min to administer (22).

Since it is well established that cognitive impairment as a result of concussion is quite heterogeneous, previous studies have suggested concussive cognitive sequelae tend to follow a subcortical phenotype characterized by difficulties in attention, processing speed, executive function and memory recall (vs. encoding). While the MACE assesses attention, learning and memory items, the DANA extends the breadth of cognitive task domains that are assessed, with the inclusion of measures of reaction time, visuomotor processing speed, and measures of executive function (i.e., cognitive control). A more detailed discussion of the individual components in the MACE and DANA is presented in the Methods section below.

Because of the clinical ramifications of undiagnosed concussion, which can lead to further brain injury, it is imperative to establish a gold-standard diagnostic test to quickly and accurately diagnose this injury. A gold-standard neurocognitive test should ideally rely on purely objective measures and be rapidly self-administrable in diverse environments where professional medical evaluation is unavailable or delayed. This would benefit service members, professional athletes, and other individuals who have sustained a concussion by minimizing the time between injury and diagnosis.

This study was a prospective, non-randomized study comparing results from the DANA Brief subtests to the MACE cognitive test score in a group of non-concussed military service members in a remote, deployed environment. The primary objective of this study was to determine which individual of DANA Brief subtests were most correlated with the MACE cognitive test score in a remote, isolated, austere environment. We hypothesized that subtests related to memory on the DANA Brief [Code Substitution Simultaneous (CDS) and Code Substitution Delayed (CDD)] would be significantly correlated with the MACE cognitive test score. This hypothesis was based on the fact that the CDS and CDD assess short-term memory, where roughly 57% of the MACE cognitive test score is memory-task dependent. The investigators acknowledged that the cognitive constructs assessed by the CDS and CDD are diverse. Specifically, the CDS involves visual processing speed and attention. Further, the memory paradigm assessed in the CDS and CDD is primarily one of incidental learning and memory, as opposed to the more intentional learning that is screened as part of the MACE cognitive subtests. Nonetheless, we hypothesized that there would be greater overlap between the CDS and CDD DANA Brief subtest scores and the MACE cognitive test score, than between the DANA Brief simple reaction time subtests [Simple Reaction Time (SRT1 and SRT2)] and the MACE cognitive test score. A secondary objective of this study was to examine successive iterations of performance on the DANA Brief in the same group of volunteers. We also hypothesized that repeated administrations of the DANA Brief would result in improvements in an individual's performance due to a learning curve.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Volunteers

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the United States Army Medical and Materiel Command, which had regulatory oversight over all human subjects research in Afghanistan. A total of forty male United States Marines from an infantry unit deployed to Afghanistan volunteered to participate in the study (mean age \pm SD = 22.6 \pm 3.8). Inclusion criteria were defined as active duty military service members who had a Glasgow Coma Scale score of at least 15 at the time of consent and who had not experienced blast exposure, collisions, rollovers or direct blows to the head within the past 24 h (2, 22). Exclusion criteria included sustaining a concussion within 3 months prior to study participation.

Military Acute Concussion Evaluation (MACE)

The MACE is a three-part, 15-min test battery based on the SAC, and is the primary screening tool used in military populations for the acute evaluation of concussion. The first part consists of open-ended and yes or no clinical history questions, such as how the head injury occurred, what symptoms were experienced, and whether there was a LOC. The second part is a scored cognitive

exam with four subtests: orientation (5 points); immediate verbal memory (15 points; recall of a 5-item word list presented over three consecutive learning trials); concentration (5 points; reverse digit sequencing and reversal naming of calendar months); and delayed memory (5 points; recall of the previous 5-item word list). From this exam, a total score out of 30 points, called the MACE cognitive test score, is generated based on adding the scores from each subtest. The mean MACE cognitive test score in military populations is 28, and a score of <25 points (2 standard deviations from the mean) represents potentially clinically relevant cognitive impairment. A neurologic exam follows the cognitive exam with special focus on examining pupil reactivity, speech fluency, and motor deficits (18).

Defense Automated Neurobehavioral Assessment (DANA) Brief

The DANA Brief consists of seven subtests, including four from the DANA Rapid: Simple Reaction Time (SRT) assessing basic reaction time (administered twice, once at the beginning of the test battery and once at the end, giving two subtests, SRT1 and SRT2), Procedural Reaction Time (PRO) measuring attention and processing speed, and Go/No-Go (GNG) which assesses speed, accuracy, and response omissions and commissions. Additional subtests on the DANA Brief include Code Substitution Simultaneous (CDS) assessing visual scanning, processing speed, attention, learning and immediate memory; Spatial Discrimination (SPD) which measures spatial manipulation, and Code Substitution Delayed (CDD) which assesses visual recognition memory. It also includes a Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ), a Primary Care PTSD screen (PC-PTSD), and an Insomnia Screening Index (ISI).

Three scores are calculated and reported for each DANA subtest: mean reaction time (RT; ms), RT correct (RT of correct responses; ms), and a mean throughput score, which is calculated using the following equation:

$$Mean throughput score = \frac{\% \ correct \ responses}{mean \ RT \ correct}$$
(1)

Test Administration

The MACE was administered to forty non-concussed service member volunteers by a clinician in a remote, deployed environment medical tent, which was the standard medical treatment (Role 1) field facility. Immediately following the MACE administration, the DANA Brief was self-administered on a commercially available handheld computer with a touch screen (Trimble Nomad). The total administration time for both the MACE and DANA Brief was 30 min. All forty volunteers were reassessed on a single follow up day, 24 h after baseline assessment, for the second iteration of testing. This testing session consisted of a repeat administration of the MACE and DANA Brief. Twenty of the forty volunteers were assessed again on a subsequent follow-up day, 48 h after baseline assessment, for a total of three MACE and DANA Brief test iterations. Testing order was not randomized (the MACE was always administered prior to the DANA Brief).

N		Test Iteration		
	1	2	3	
	40	40	20	
DANA Brief Subtest	$Mean \pm SD$	Mean \pm SD	Mean \pm SD	ICC (95% CI)
CDD	54.76 ± 14.86	54.92 ± 13.68	41.94 ± 18.18	0.28 (0.09, 0.49)
CDS	49.42 ± 8.62	51.77 ± 7.79	48.39 ± 8.45	0.58 (0.40, 0.73)
GNG	121.47 ± 15.72	121.78 ± 17.17	102.10 ± 20.46	0.58 (0.40, 0.73)
PRO	100.99 ± 15.18	104.52 ± 13.37	98.84 ± 17.01	0.58 (0.40, 0.73)
SPD	35.65 ± 7.82	39.51 ± 9.20	37.06 ± 11.46	0.58 (0.40, 0.73)
SRT1	200.70 ± 24.03	194.82 ± 26.29	180.43 ± 30.20	0.58 (0.40, 0.73)
SRT2	192.56 ± 24.99	189.05 ± 28.24	156.28 ± 43.79	0.58 (0.40, 0.73)
MACE Cognitive Test	Mean ± SD	Mean \pm SD	Mean \pm SD	
MCTS	27.10 ± 2.06	27.63 ± 1.73	26.90 ± 2.94	0.58 (0.40, 0.73)

TABLE 1 | Group summary statistics and reliability, as measured by intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC), for DANA Brief mean throughput scores and the MACE cognitive test scores for each test iteration.

DANA Brief subtests: CDD, Code Substitution Delayed; CDS, Code Substitution Simultaneous; GNG, Go/No-Go; PRO, Procedural Reaction Time; SPD, Spatial Discrimination; SRT1, Simple Reaction Time (first administration); SRT2, Simple Reaction Time (second administration); MCTS, MACE cognitive test score.

Statistical Analysis

For each DANA Brief subtest, a repeated measures ANOVA was used to assess the association between each DANA Brief subtest mean throughput score (subtest_score) and volunteer's corresponding MACE cognitive test score (MCTS). The full model of each DANA brief subtest included the following dependent and independent variables: DANA Brief subtest mean throughput score (continuous variable), iteration (categorical variable), age (continuous variable) and the interaction term between DANA Brief subtest score and iteration (Equation 2).

$$MCTS = \beta_0 + \beta_1 subtest_score + \beta_2 iteration + (\beta_3 subtest_score * iteration) + \beta_4 age + \beta$$
(2)

For each DANA Brief subtest, the final mixed model was determined by a backward model selection and included the following dependent and independent variables: MCTS (continuous variable), DANA Brief subtest mean throughput score (continuous variable) and age (continuous variable) (Equation 3). Reliability of the final mixed model was evaluated based on the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) in the final mixed model with 95% confidence intervals calculated based on a single rater, absolute agreement, one-way random effects model. Validity was assessed based on the correlation between each of the DANA Brief subtests and the MACE cognitive test score. Eta-squared was calculated to obtain effect size, which measures the strength of the relationship between DANA Brief subtests and the MACE cognitive test score. Statistical analyses were performed using SAS 9.4.

$$MCTS = \beta_0 + \beta_1 subtest_score + \beta_2 age + \beta$$
(3)

Results

Group summary statistics for DANA Brief mean throughput scores and the MACE cognitive test scores for each test iteration are reported in **Table 1**. DANA Brief performance was not

significantly different between baseline and testing 24 to 48h later (**Table 2**). DANA Brief subtests demonstrated low to moderate reliability, with a range of ICCs from 0.28 to 0.58 (**Table 1**). The association between CDD ($R^2 = 0.05$, p = 0.023), CDS ($R^2 = 0.10$, p = 0.010), GNG ($R^2 = 0.08$, p = 0.003), PRO ($R^2 = 0.08$, p = 0.002) DANA Brief mean throughput scores and the corresponding MACE cognitive test score were all statistically significant; however, SPD, SRT1 and SRT2 mean throughput scores were not significantly associated with the MACE cognitive test score. Eta-squared values for the DANA Brief subtests ranged from 0.4 to 9.5%, where CDS ($\eta^2 = 9.5\%$) and GNG ($\eta^2 = 7.4\%$) had the highest effect sizes, explaining the proportion of total variance can be accounted for by DANA Brief subtests in the final mixed model. Results are reported in **Table 3**.

DISCUSSION

While there is no gold-standard test for the assessment of concussion, any new tool has to be equivalent or better than established screening tools such as the MACE. This study examined the reliability and validity of a novel measure (the DANA Brief), designed to be a more sensitive, yet efficient, measure of cognitive performance following a concussion. In this non-randomized, prospective study, the DANA Brief was compared to an established measure of concussion screening (the MACE).

Low to moderate test-retest reliability of the DANA Brief subtests is an unsurprising reflection of ICCs commonly reported in studies of widely-implemented computerized neurocognitive tests (CNTs) to assess and diagnose concussion. The present study found ICC values that range from 0.30 to 0.63. Although results of repeat testing in non-concussed individuals should not change in theory, some inherent level of measurement error can be expected in any test and is reflected by low reliability (23). Reliability values associated with CNTs such as the DANA

TABLE 2 Results of comparison between the DANA Brief subtest mean
throughput scores and MACE cognitive test scores in the linear mixed model
(Equation 2).

Variables	β	p-value	η² (%)	R ²
CDD	0.013	0.642	2.8	0.03
Iteration	-0.249	0.715	-1.7	
Iteration*CDD	0.009	0.480	-1.0	
Age	0.050	0.475	0.8	
CDS	0.085	0.047*	8.4	0.08
Iteration	0.865	0.435	-2.0	
Iteration*CDS	-0.015	0.493	-1.0	
Age	0.086	0.209	3.0	
GNG	0.054	0.017*	7.2	0.07
Iteration	1.831	0.125	-1.2	
Iteration*GNG	-0.013	0.210	-0.9	
Age	0.102	0.161	3.0	
PRO	0.073	0.002*	7.9	0.08
Iteration	2.218	0.066	-0.1	
Iteration*PRO	-0.021	0.078	1.0	
Age	0.076	0.249	3.0	
SRT1	0.024	0.096	2.3	0.03
Iteration	1.934	0.146	-0.5	
Iteration*SRT1	-0.009	0.208	1.4	
Age	0.052	0.456	1.1	
SRT2	0.018	0.250	4.0	0.04
Iteration	0.932	0.460	0.3	
Iteration*SRT2	-0.004	0.594	0.8	
Age	0.046	0.500	0.7	
SPD	0.082	0.068	0.5	0.01
Iteration	1.537	0.032*	-0.92	
Iteration*SPD	-0.037	0.053	0.1	
Age	0.069	0.351	2.5	

 β , validity; η^2 , effect size. DANA Brief subtests: CDD, Code Substitution Delayed; CDS, Code Substitution Simultaneous; GNG, Go/No-Go; PRO, Procedural Reaction Time; SPD, Spatial Discrimination; SRT1, Simple Reaction Time (first administration); SRT2, Simple Reaction Time (second administration); *p < 0.05.

Brief may be biased by various factors. Given the conflicting implications of moderating variables in the present study, future studies would benefit from a larger sample size to increase power and allow for the comparison of these variables to better understand the basis of the DANA Brief subtest ICCs reported in this study.

In addressing the validity of the DANA Brief, of particular interest was the relationship between measures of incidental visual memory and recognition, inherent in several DANA Brief subtests and the MACE cognitive test. In this preliminary investigation, we found evidence to support our hypothesis regarding the correlation between learning and memory components of the DANA Brief (i.e., CDD, CDS) and the MACE cognitive test score. However, a more robust relationship was found between the GNG and PRO subtests and the MACE cognitive test score. This is not surprising given that several components of the MACE cognitive test score involve attention **TABLE 3** | Results of comparison between the DANA Brief subtest mean throughput scores and MACE cognitive test scores in the final linear mixed model (Equation 3).

Variables	β	p-value	η ² (%)	R ²
CDD	0.027	0.023*	3.5	0.05
Age	0.051	0.461	0.9	
CDS	0.064	0.010*	9.5	0.10
Age	0.086	0.203	3.0	
GNG	0.030	0.003*	7.4	0.08
Age	0.097	0.179	2.9	
PRO	0.040	0.002*	6.9	0.08
Age	0.077	0.243	1.9	
SRT1	0.007	0.267	0.8	0.02
Age	0.053	0.449	0.6	
SRT2	0.010	0.071	2.7	0.04
Age	0.048	0.482	0.4	
SPD	0.017	0.463	0.4	0.02
Age	0.068	0.358	2.0	

 β , validity; η^2 , effect size. DANA Brief subtests: CDD, Code Substitution Delayed; CDS, Code Substitution Simultaneous; GNG, Go/No-Go; PRO, Procedural Reaction Time; SPD, Spatial Discrimination; SRT1, Simple Reaction Time (first administration); SRT2, Simple Reaction Time (second administration); *p < 0.05.

and working memory, including immediate memory. It is well established that attentional control and focus to task influences initial encoding and immediate memory performance. This is relevant in the current study, as 50% of MACE cognitive test score points come from immediate memory. Further, studies have suggested that the primary memory problem in concussed individuals tends to be one of initial encoding, requiring greater attentional demand, as opposed to delayed retrieval (24). Taken together, findings that DANA Brief measures of more direct reaction time and processing speed (SRT1 and SRT2) were not significantly associated with the MACE cognitive test score, and that GNG and PRO subtests explain the most variance in the final mixed model, suggests the DANA Brief is an instrument tapping an additional, unique cognitive construct relevant in the context of concussion/mTBI. These results, in the context of other study findings, further support preliminary evidence that the DANA Rapid version may serve as a clinically useful and improved neurocognitive concussion screen where professional medical evaluation is unavailable or delayed.

From a practical standpoint, the clinical definition of concussion has, historically, relied upon observable signs (e.g., LOC); however, we also know that a high percentage of concussions (90%) do not present with LOC, and the U.S. Department of Defense uses either an alteration of consciousness or LOC in its definition of concussion (11, 25, 26). Accordingly, there is a need for instruments that assess beyond observable symptoms. Based on our findings, the DANA Brief appears to meet this need. It can be used acutely in the remote and austere setting, and provides accurate assessment, including the assessment of cognitive constructs above and beyond those of other established measures (i.e., the MACE). Current findings

provide at least preliminary evidence that the DANA Rapid may be a reasonable alternative to the more extended DANA Brief. Specifically, although the DANA Rapid excludes memorybased subtests, it includes the GNG and PRO, which appear to be more sensitive in the current analysis. It also includes two administrations of SRT, a measure of basic reaction time, which is one of the more sensitive measures of impairment after concussion.

Regarding our second hypothesis, since repeat testing over multiple days did not result in significantly improved DANA subtest performance, we did not find support for practice effects with repeated administration of the DANA Brief. It is unclear whether this was a function of the specific cognitive constructs assessed with the DANA Brief, as the extant neuropsychological literature suggests that practice effects do not respect any one domain or type of test (27). This is not a negative finding, as the goal of psychometric test development, used in serial monitoring, is to avoid practice effects (28).

The current findings have clear implications for the methodology or clinical practice of concussion assessment in multiple acute settings (e.g., emergency room, athletic field sideline). There is a need for future studies to assess the utility of the DANA Brief over longer injury and recovery intervals, as well as in concussed individuals. As discussed by McCrea, et al., the effect sizes of brief test instruments tend to diminish within the first week after injury (11). While this aligns with typical recovery curves in patients with uncomplicated mTBI, there is a subset that will continue to experience symptoms, including those in the cognitive domain. Therefore, showing sensitivity beyond these brief intervals, especially in concussed vs. non-concussed individuals, would further extend the utility of the DANA Brief. Future studies should counterbalance the administration of the DANA and the MACE to eliminate the potential of an order effect. In addition, there is certainly a need for generalizability, which may also be addressed in future studies by the use of a larger sample size. Studies have shown differential recovery curves, with interactions noted between age, gender, and symptom subset (29, 30). Including females, nonmilitary, and age-varied participants would be worthwhile in this regard, as it would address the primary limitations of the current study. Although the cognitive assessment portion of the recently released MACE 2 is the same as is used in the MACE, the MACE 2 incorporates additional clinical assessment, including vestibularocular-motor screening. Therefore, more comprehensive future studies should compare the DANA and MACE 2. Finally, future studies would benefit from a larger sample size to increase power and reliability coefficients, bolstering the interpretation of diagnostic data.

REFERENCES

- 1. DoD Worldwide Numbers for TBI (2018). Retrieved from: http://dvbic.dcoe. mil/dod-worldwide-numbers-tbi
- STATEMENTS, Q. VA/DoD clinical practice guideline for management of concussion/mild traumatic brain injury. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2016) 46:CP1–68. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2009.06.0076

While current findings provide at least preliminary evidence that the DANA Rapid version may serve as a clinically useful and improved neurocognitive concussion screen where professional medical evaluation is unavailable or delayed, future studies are needed to validate this potential by addressing identified study limitations. The use of the DANA Rapid in multiple acute settings would benefit service members, athletes and other individuals with concussion by minimizing the time between injury and diagnosis.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the United States Army Medical and Materiel Command. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JT conceived of the study. JT and AM designed the study. JT and SF were responsible for the acquisition of data. JP designed and reviewed the biostatistical analysis, which was conducted by JW. JP and BB interpreted the data. JP was the primary author responsible for the collaborative effort of drafting (JP, BB, EO'C, and AP) and revising (JP, BB, AM, SF, JW, and JT) the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by start-up funds from the University of Tennessee Health Science Center, the National Institute of Neurological Disorders, and Stroke of the National Institutes of Health under award number R21NS110410 (JT).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge Kyla D. Gibney for her work on the preliminary analyses for this paper. We would also like to thank the United States Marines who volunteered their time to participate in this study.

CDCP. Sports-related recurrent brain injuries – United States. Morbid Mortal Weekly Rep. (1997) 46:224–7.

McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvorak J, Aubry M, Bailes J, Broglio S, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport—the 5th international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:2–3. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-098065

- Putukian M. The acute symptoms of sport-related concussion: diagnosis and on-field management. *Clin Sports Med.* (2011) 30:49-61. doi: 10.1016/j.csm.2010.09.005
- Giza CC, Hovda DA. The pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury. In: Lovell MR, Echemendia RJ, Barth JT, Collins MW, editors. *Traumatic Brain Injury in Sports*. Lisse: Swets & Zeitlinger (2004). p. 45–70.
- Delaney JS, Lacroix VJ, Leclerc S, Johnston KM. Concussions among university football and soccer players. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2002) 12:331– 8. doi: 10.1097/00042752-200211000-00003
- McCrea M, Hammeke T, Olsen G, Leo P, Guskiewicz K. Unreported concussion in high school football players: implications for prevention. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2004) 14:13–7. doi: 10.1097/00042752-200401000-00003
- Aubry M, Cantu R, Dvorak J, Graf-Bauman T, Johnston K, Kelly J, et al. Summary and agreement statement of the 1st International Conference on Concussion in Sport, Vienna 2001. Br J Sports Med. (2002) 36:6– 7. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.36.1.6
- Wilk JE, Herrell RK, Wynn GH, Riviere LA, Hoge CW. Mild traumatic brain injury (concussion), posttraumatic stress disorder, and depression in US soldiers involved in combat deployments: association with postdeployment symptoms. *Psychosom Med.* (2012) 74:249–57. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e318244c604
- McCrea M, Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, Barr W, Randolph C, Cantu RC, et al. Acute effects and recovery time following concussion in collegiate football players: the NCAA Concussion Study. *JAMA*. (2003) 290:2556– 63. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.19.2556
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse WH, Aubry M, Cantu B, Dvorak J, Echemendia RJ, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport—the 4th International Conference on Concussion in Sport held in Zurich, November 2012. PM&R. (2013) 5:255–79. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2013.02.012
- McCrea M, Iverson GL, McAllister TW, Hammeke TA, Powell MR, Barr WB, et al. An integrated review of recovery after mild traumatic brain injury (MTBI): implications for clinical management. *Clin Neuropsychol.* (2009) 23:1368–90. doi: 10.1080/13854040903074652
- McInnes K, Friesen CL, MacKenzie DE, Westwood DA, Boe SG. Mild Traumatic Brain Injury (mTBI) and chronic cognitive impairment: A scoping review. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0174847. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0174847
- Barr WB, McCrea M. Sensitivity and specificity of standardized neurocognitive testing immediately following sports concussion. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2001) 7:693–702. doi: 10.1017/S13556177017 66052
- Echemendia RJ, Putukian M, Mackin RS, Julian L, Shoss N. Neuropsychological test performance prior to and following sportsrelated mild traumatic brain injury. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2001) 11:23–31. doi: 10.1097/00042752-200101000-00005
- McCrea M, Kelly JP, Randolph C, Cisler R, Berger L. Immediate neurocognitive effects of concussion. *Neurosurgery*. (2002) 50:1032–40. doi: 10.1227/00006123-200205000-00017
- French L, McCrea M, Baggett M. The military acute concussion evaluation (MACE). J Spec Oper Med. (2008) 8:68–77.
- Conaton E. DoD policy guidance for management of mild traumatic brain injury/concussion in the deployed setting (DoD Instruction [DoDI] Number 6490.11). Washington, DC: Department of Defense (2012).

- Coldren RL, Kelly MP, Parish RV, Dretsch M, Russell ML. Evaluation of the Military Acute Concussion Evaluation for use in combat operations more than 12 hours after injury. *Milit Med.* (2010) 175:477-81. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-09-00258
- Naunheim RS, Matero D, Fucetola R. Assessment of patients with mild concussion in the emergency department. J Head Trauma Rehabil. (2008) 23:116–22. doi: 10.1097/01.HTR.0000314530.30401.70
- Lathan C, Spira JL, Bleiberg J, Vice J, Tsao JW. Defense automated neurobehavioral assessment (DANA)—psychometric properties of a new field-deployable neurocognitive assessment tool. *Milit Med.* (2013) 178:365– 71. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-12-00438
- Farnsworth JLII, Dargo L, Ragan BG, Kang M. Reliability of computerized neurocognitive tests for concussion assessment: a meta-analysis. J Athlet Train. (2017) 52:826–33. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-52.6.03
- DeLuca J, Schultheis MT, Madigan NK, Christodoulou C, Averill A. Acquisition versus retrieval deficits in traumatic brain injury: implications for memory rehabilitation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2000) 81:1327– 33. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2000.9390
- West TA, Marion DW. Current recommendations for the diagnosis and treatment of concussion in sport: a comparison of three new guidelines. J Neurotrauma. (2014) 31:159–68. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3031
- Guskiewicz KM, Weaver NL, Padua DA, Garrett WE Jr. Epidemiology of concussion in collegiate and high school football players. *Am J Sports Med.* (2000) 28:643–50. doi: 10.1177/03635465000280050401
- 27. Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Wesnes KA, Snyder PJ, Schneider LS. Practice effects due to serial cognitive assessment: implications for preclinical Alzheimer's disease randomized controlled trials. *Alzheimer's Dement*. (2015) 1:103–11. doi: 10.1016/j.dadm.2014.11.003
- Randolph C, McCrea M, Barr WB. Is neuropsychological testing useful in the management of sport-related concussion? J Athlet Train. (2005) 40:139.
- Kerr ZY, Zuckerman SL, Wasserman EB, Vander Vegt CB, Yengo-Kahn A, Buckley TA, et al. Factors associated with post-concussion syndrome in high school student-athletes. J Sci Med Sport. (2018) 21:447– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017.08.025
- Zuckerman SL, Apple RP, Odom MJ, Lee YM, Solomon GS, Sills AK. Effect of sex on symptoms and return to baseline in sport-related concussion. J Neurosurg Pediatr. (2014) 13:72–81. doi: 10.3171/2013.9.PEDS13257

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer HS declared a shared affiliation with one of the authors AM, to the handling editor at time of review.

Copyright © 2020 Pryweller, Baughman, Frasier, O'Conor, Pandhi, Wang, Morrison and Tsao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

